

### Isolation and evaluation of beneficial microorganisms for their potential use in agriculture as microbial biostimulants

Miriam Briones Sendra

**ADVERTIMENT**. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

**ADVERTENCIA**. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

**WARNING**. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.



# Isolation and evaluation of beneficial microorganisms for their potential use in agriculture as microbial biostimulants

Miriam Briones Sendra

Evolutive Biology, Ecology and Environmental Sciences Department

Plant Physiology Section

Universitat de Barcelona

Barcelona, 2024





# Isolation and evaluation of beneficial microorganisms for their potential use in agriculture as microbial biostimulants

Thesis presented by Míriam Briones Sendra to obtain the degree of Doctor from the Universitat de Barcelona.

This work is part of the doctoral program in Ecology, Environmental Sciences, and Plant Physiology of the Department of Evolutionary Biology, Ecology, and Environmental Sciences (BEECA) at the Faculty of Biology, Universitat de Barcelona, in collaboration with the company Biocontrol Technologies S.L.

The present work has been conducted under the direction and supervision of Dr. Maria Isabel Trillas Gay, and at the company Biocontrol Technologies S.L., under the direction of Dr. Guillem Segarra Braunstein



## Acknowledgments

M'agradaria expressar el meu més profund agraïment a totes les persones que han estat essencials en la realització d'aquesta tesi doctoral.

En primer lloc, vull agrair sincerament a la meva tutora i director de tesi, la Dra. Maria Isabel Trillas, i al Dr. Guillem Segarra Braunstein, per la seva constant ajuda, suport, consell i guia durant tot el procés d'investigació i redacció. També vull fer una menció a les meves companyes de laboratori, en particular a la Rosa Maria Noguera i a la Patricia Gjakoni, per la seva dedicació, cura i col·laboració en els experiments al llarg d'aquests anys. Tanmateix m'agradaria dedicar-li aquesta tesi al Dr. Joan Romanyà, per la seva disposició constant per resoldre dubtes i per la seva valuosa ajuda en la investigació. Agraeixo també al Javier Méndez Viera pel seu traspàs de coneixement en el camp de la microbiologia i pel seus ànims constants.

Secondly, I dedicate this thesis to Dr. Do Thi Xuan from Can Tho University, to whom I am deeply grateful for giving me the opportunity to do an Erasmus+ internship and work with her laboratory team. I am very thankful for her support, teachings, constant help, as well as the warm welcome I received during my stay. I also want to thank my lab partner during those months, Trinh Nguyễn Trường, for his patience and perseverance in teaching me despite the language barriers, and the rest of her team.

També m'agradaria dedicar aquesta tesi a la meva família i amics, que han estat un pilar fonamentals en aquest camí. Gràcies per l'ànim i el suport continu, per la tendresa en l'escolta, i per ser-hi al meu costat en els moments d'alegria i però també en els de frustració. En particular, vull agrair al Pau Torner per inspirar-me amb la seva passió per l'acadèmia i encoratjar-me a començar el doctorat; a la meva germana Marta Briones per la seva ajuda amb la coberta tan bonica, una part de tu queda aquí, gracies; i a l'Andrea Garriga, per treure'm de casa, per ajudar-me a desconnectar de la feina, per compartir moments de riures i llàgrimes, així com per les seves paraules d'ànim que no han faltat fins l'últim moment.

Finalment, vull dedicar aquesta tesi en especial al meu pare, Lluís Briones, per totes les cures especialment durant el procés d'escriptura, pel despatx que em vas preparar per tenir un espai de concentració i silenci, per tots els dinars preparats metre treballava a la tesi, pel teu suport constant, i per la teva motivació en trobar articles, vídeos i webs relacionats amb el tema que em poguessin ajudar, gràcies. La teva dedicació i amor han estat imprescindibles en aquest viatge.







This work was sustained by an industrial PhD scholarship (2020 DI 19) for the period 2020-2024 between the Universitat de Barcelona and Biocontrol Technologies S.L. The scholarship was granted by AGAUR (Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca). Generalitat de Cartalunya.

### **Summary**

Conventional agricultural practices often rely on the extensive application of fertilizers to ensure maximum crop yields, leading to significant economic costs and negative environmental impacts. Nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are critical nutrients for plant growth; however, excessive nitrogen use contributes to ecosystem pollution and disrupts the nitrogen cycle, while phosphorus, typically derived from limited mining sources, necessitates constant applications to maintain nutrient levels and high yields. In this context, microbial biostimulants emerged as a promising alternative to conventional chemical fertilizers, being defined as materials containing one or more microorganisms that, when applied to plants or the rhizosphere, stimulate natural processes to enhance nutrient use efficiency, seed quality, plant growth promotion, and accessibility on confined nutrients in soil. Promising microorganisms for biostimulant development include Bacillus subtilis, Pseudomonas fluorescens, Azospirillum spp., and Azotobacter spp., for their abilities to solubilize phosphorus, fix nitrogen, promote plant growth, and improve soil health. This thesis is part of an industrial PhD program, a scholarship from Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca (AGAUR, Resolution EMC/460/2020), Biocontrol Technologies, S.L. and Universitat de Barcelona. The general objective of the research was to isolate, characterize, and explore the potential application of these genera to plants, with the aim, to develop a microbial biostimulant that complies with Spanish regulations (Royal Decree 999/2017) or European regulations (Regulation (EU) 2019/1009) by combining in vitro characterization experiments, plant trials, and soil studies. The isolation and characterization identified several strains of interest, including 16 Bacillus subtilis, 16 Pseudomonas fluorescens, 4 Azotobacter spp., and 9 Azospirillum spp. with some P. fluorescens excelling for Indole-3-Acetic acid production (IAA), B. subtilis for IAA, siderophores production and phosphorus solubilizing capacities while Azotobacter spp. demonstrated higher mineral phosphorus solubilization and Azospirillum spp. nitrogen fixing capabilities. Plant trials revealed Bacillus subtilis B7 and B17 as promising candidates for the development of biofertilizers according to Spanish regulations when applied at the substrate at a concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> which significantly enhanced seed germination by 10% and 13%, respectively, and promoted plant growth in cucumber, lettuce, and maize compared to non-inoculated plants. Furthermore, with the inoculation of B7 and B17 applied at the plant rhizosphere at a concentration of 107 CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> the maize phosphorus use efficiency was improved under conditions of soluble phosphorus limitation, where B7 increased maize biomass by 34% and B17 enhanced plant phosphorus accumulation by 59% compared to non-inoculated plants. Moreover, Azospirillum brasilense 21F221 and Azospirillum aestuarii 21F226 were selected as candidates for the development of microbial biostimulants under European regulations due to their significant increase in nitrogen use efficiency when applied to maize and rice seeds at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g seed<sup>-1</sup> cultivated with different N fertilization regimes. Strain 21F221 notably

enhanced plant growth (16% and 4%) and plant nitrogen accumulation (33% and 34%) and 21F226 boosted plant biomass (20% and 11%) and yield (148% and 37%) compared to noninoculated plants in maize and rice respectively, suggesting the possibility to significantly reduce fertilizer. The study of these *Azospirillum spp*. strains' effects on soil dynamic revealed no nitrogen fixing in the absence of plants and efficient nutrient mining from organic matter, as well as significant impacts on native microbial populations, underscoring the need for tailored application strategies. The studies conducted in the framework of this PhD thesis successfully bridges academic research with industrial application, supporting the initial steps for the development of a microbial biostimulant that meets stringent Spanish and European regulatory standards. Further studies would be necessary focused on development of growth, sporulation and formulation methods of selected strains, optimization of application strategies and field trials to validate these strains under diverse agricultural conditions.

# Table of contents

Acknowledgments	V
Summary Table of contents Glossary Introduction 1. Plant nutrition 1.1. Essential nutrients 1.2 Plant nutrient uptake	IX
	XI
	XV
2. Nitrogen and phosphorus	
2.2. Nitrogen and phosphorus biogeochemical cycles	
<ul> <li>2.2 Nitrogen and phosphorus plant deficiency</li></ul>	
6.1. Maize	
<ul><li>6.2. Rice</li><li>7. Biocontrol Technologies S.L</li></ul>	
Aims of this work	
Case Studies	
Chapter 1: Bacillus spp. and Pseudomonas spp. as potential candidates to	
Introduction	
Objectives	
Materials and methods	
1. Isolation	
2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro	

3. Assessment of plant growth-promoting capacity tested in vivo	46
4. Statistical analysis	50
Results	51
1. Isolation and analysis of soil samples	51
2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro of the isolated strains	52
3. Assessment of isolates' efficacy as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) in	
plant	56
Discussion	
1. Isolates and sampling site	65
2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro	65
3. Effect of inoculation in plant	67
Conclusions	69
Chapter 2: Azospirillum spp. and Azotobacter spp. isolation and characterization in vitro	71
Introduction	73
Objectives	77
Material and methods	78
1. Isolation of strains with nitrogen fixing capacity	78
2. In vitro analysis	80
Results	83
1. Isolation and analysis of soil samples	83
1.3 Selected Azospirillum spp. and Azotobacter spp.	86
2. In vitro analysis	87
Discussion	93
1. Nitrogen-fixing isolate sampling site	93
2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro	94
Conclusion	97
Chapter 3: Efficacy of <i>Azospirillum spp.</i> and <i>Azotobacter spp.</i> isolates as biostimulants in greenhouse and field experiments	99
Introduction	101
Objectives	103
Material and methods	104
1. Assay on the effect of the microbial inoculation on phosphorus solubilization	104
2. Experiments to assess the impact of inoculation on nitrogen use efficiency and plant production	105
3. Statistical analysis	
Results	
1. Effect of microbial inoculation on phosphorus solubilization	

2. Effect of microbial inoculation in plant nitrogen use efficiency	112
3. Inoculation effects of selected isolates on relevant agronomic indices related to nitr use efficiency	•
Discussion	122
1. Impact of <i>Azotobacter</i> inoculation on phosphorus solubilization and nutrient use efficiency	122
2. Impact of Azospirillum inoculation on nitrogen uptake and utilization	123
3. Agronomic indices related to nutrient use efficiency	127
Conclusions	127
Chapter 4: Biochemical and ecological characterization of selected strains	129
Introduction	131
Objectives	
Material and methods	
1. Rhizosphere and root colonization	134
2. Biochemical characterization of the strains	135
3. Impact of the selected strains inoculation on two soils with different fertilization reg	•
4. Statistical analysis	
Results	139
1. Rhizosphere colonization dynamics	139
2. Biochemical strain characterization	140
3. Soil incubations	141
Discussion	147
1. Rhizosphere colonization dynamics	147
2. Biochemical tests	148
3. Incubations	149
Conclusions	152
General Discussion	157
Pseudomonas fluorescens as a candidate to develop a biofertilizer	157
Bacillus subtilis as a candidate to develop a biofertilizers	158
Azotobacter spp. as candidates to develop a microbial biostimulant	160
Azospirillum spp. as candidates to develop a microbial biostimulant	162
Conclusions	167
References	171

## Glossary

**AE**: Agronomic efficiency of applied nutrient

API: Analytical profile index

ARA: Acetylene reduction assay

CaCO<sub>3</sub>: Calcium carbonate

CAS: Chrome Azurol Sulfate

CECT: Colección Española de Cultivos Tipo

**CEN**: European Committee for Standardization

CFU: Colony forming units

CMC: Component Material Category

**DSMZ**: Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen

EC: Electrical conductivity

**FeEDTA**: Iron-Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid

FeMo-Co: Iron-molybdenum cofactor

FPR: Fertilizer Products Regulation

**HDTMA**: Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide

**HPLC**: High-Performance Liquid Chromatography

IAA: Indole-3-acetic acid

**IE**: Internal utilization efficiency of a nutrient

KOH: Potassium hydroxide

LB: Lennox: Luria-Bertani Lennox

**MALDI-TOF**: Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization

Min-N: Mineral nitrogen

N: Nitrogen

NA: Nutrient agar

**NBI**: Nitrogen balance index **NBRIP**: National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate growth medium **NBS**: Nutrient broth solution **NE**: Nutrient export NFB: Nitrogen-fixing bacteria NH<sub>4</sub>+: Ammonium N-NO<sub>3</sub>/ NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: Nitrate NO: Nitric oxide **NPK**: Nitrogen phosphorus potassium **NR**: Nitrate reductase **NUE**: Nutrient use efficiency NVZs: Nitrate Vulnerable Zones **OM**: Oxidable organic matter **P**: Phosphorus PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction PE: Physiological efficiency of applied nutrient **PFC**: Product Function Categories **PFP**: Partial factor productivity of applied nutrient PGPR: Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria PSB: Phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria RC: Red Congo **RE**: Recovery efficiency of applied nutrient **RH**: Relative humidity SIR: Substrate induced respiration SOM: Soil organic matter **SON**: Soluble organic nitrogen

TC: Technical committee

TNO: Total oxidable nitrogen

# Introduction

### Introduction

#### 1. Plant nutrition

#### **1.1. Essential nutrients**

Plant nutrition is a central area of study in plant biology that has been developed over decades since Liebig established mineral nutrition as a scientific discipline by identifying essential elements for plant growth. This scientific discipline allowed the commercial production of mineral fertilizers and the crop production improvement early in the 20th century, in the developed countries (Marschner, 2011).

While plants largely meet their basic life needs with light, CO<sub>2</sub>, and water, they require a list of elemental nutrients from the soil to develop. Essential nutrients for plants can be classified into macronutrients and micronutrients, based on the amount required by the plant (Singh et al., 2022). Macronutrients include nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), potassium (K), sulphur (S), magnesium (Mg), and calcium (Ca). Nitrogen represents 1-5% of total plant matter and is integral to various vital components, such as proteins, nucleic acids, chlorophyll, coenzymes, phytohormones, and secondary metabolites (Marschner, 2011; Zewide, 2021). Phosphorus, another crucial nutrient, is part of nucleic acids, membrane lipids, and energy transfer molecules, boosts grain quality and increase resistance to abiotic stress (Havlin, 2016; Poirier & Bucher, 2002). Potassium is the most abundant cation in the cells and plays an essential role in osmoregulation, transport of assimilates, and protein synthesis, significantly influencing fruit quality (Clarkson & Hanson, 1980; Leigh et al., 1984). Magnesium is vital for chlorophyll production, photophosphorylation and protein synthesis, sulphur is found in amino acids, vitamins and phytochelatins, helping regulate oxidative stress (Narayan et al., 2023) and calcium is crucial for cell structure, division, and signalling (Burstrom, 1968).

Micronutrients being iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), molybdenum (Mo), nickel (Ni), and chlorine (Cl) usually are part of enzymatic cofactors, facilitating energy conversion, protein synthesis, and genetic regulation (Ravet & Pilon, 2013). Copper is involved in electron transport and redox control (Andresen et al., 2018); iron is crucial for photosynthesis and cellular respiration; and manganese in redox balance (Pirson et al., 1952; Woo et al., 2000). Molybdenum and nickel are essential in nitrogen absorption (Andresen et al., 2018; Hoffman et al., 2014; Schwarz & Mendel, 2006), and zinc is necessary for protein synthesis and genetic regulation (Noguero et al., 2013; Rowlett, 2010; Tran et al., 2010).

#### 1.2 Plant nutrient uptake

Growth stage of plants and nutrient availability in soil influence the pattern by which plants absorb nutrients. Nutrient absorption usually starts slow at initial stages with rapid increase during peak dry matter production and then decreases as crops approach maturity. During germination, plants require high levels of nitrogen to promote initial growth and leaf development (Weil & Brady, 2017), then during vegetative growth there is usually a gradual daily increase in nutrient uptake that peaks during the major growth spurt and, at later stages, the absorption of phosphorus and potassium becomes crucial for root development and fruit maturation (Bruulsema & Garcia, 2015). These patterns of nutrient absorption are dependent of plant species and influenced by environmental factors such as temperature, soil pH, and microbial activity, which can alter nutrient availability (Epstein, 1972). Understanding and leveraging absorption patterns can lead to more effective fertilization strategies, enhancing both crop yield and soil health over time.

#### 2. Nitrogen and phosphorus

#### 2.2. Nitrogen and phosphorus biogeochemical cycles

The nitrogen and phosphorus cycles are fundamental biogeochemical processes that regulate the availability of different forms of these essential nutrients in ecosystems. It is important to understand these cycles to optimize agricultural practices and ensure sustainable food production, as both nutrients play vital roles in plant growth (Alewell et al., 2020; Robertson & Groffman, 2015).

Until recently, most biologists assumed that the biogeochemical nitrogen cycle followed a straightforward path in which free-living or symbiotic dinitrogen gas-fixing microbes transform nitrogen from the air (N<sub>2</sub>) and provide ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) for assimilation, nitrifying microbes oxidize excess ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) via nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub>) to nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>), and finally, denitrifying microorganisms return the oxidized nitrogen species back to N<sub>2</sub>, thereby closing the cycle (Strous et al., 2006) as depicted in Figure 1A. However, in the last decade, extensive research has revealed an enormous biodiversity and metabolic capability of nitrogen conversions by microorganisms, like aerobic ammonium oxidation, nitrate reduction to dinitrogen gas, nitrite-oxidizing phototrophs, nitrite-dependent anaerobic methane oxidation, and hyperthermophilic N<sub>2</sub>-fixing methane-producing archaea (Kibret, 2021).

The biogeochemical cycle of phosphorus is a crucial process in natural ecosystems regulating the availability of this essential element for life (Vitousek et al., 2010). The cycle begins with the release of phosphorus from rocks and minerals through physical processes such as erosion and

weathering releasing inorganic phosphate ions into the soil (Turner, 2008). Once in the soil, phosphorus can be absorbed by plants and utilized in various metabolic processes, such as energy transfer through ATP, or in the formation of nucleic acids and cellular membranes (Vitousek et al., 2010). After being absorbed by plants, phosphorus enters into the food chain when herbivores consume the plant biomass and it is transferred to higher trophic levels. Later, when organisms excrete waste or die and decompose, phosphorus is returned to the soil, where it can be taken up by plants again or undergo further microbial transformations, thereby completing the cycle (Vitousek et al., 2010) as described in Figure 1B. The availability of phosphorus to plants is regulated by adsorption and desorption rates; adsorption means the binding process of phosphate ions to soil particles making them less available for plant uptake, while desorption is the release of the bound phosphates back into the soil solution (Barrow & Hartemink, 2023). All of these biogeochemical rates are influenced by the soil chemical composition and microbial activity, as microbes play a key role in transforming phosphorus into the soil (Richardson et al., 2009).



#### 2.2 Nitrogen and phosphorus plant deficiency

Advances in our understanding of plant nutrient requirements have led to substantial progress in agricultural food production, as a result, most farmers in Western Europe and the USA routinely apply N, P, and K fertilizers. However, despite these efforts, nutrient deficiencies regularly occur even in fertilized fields due to the chemical and physical properties of the soil, which can lead to reduced mobility, absorbance, or leaching of individual nutrients (Amtmann & Blatt, 2009). These nutrient deficiencies have various consequences at molecular and plant phenotypic levels (Gong et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2022). In natural soils, for instance, only a small fraction of P in soils

and bedrocks is available to plants because HPO<sub>4</sub>-<sup>3</sup>, the form of P which can be absorbed by plants, is produced by weathering which is a very slow process (Alewell et al., 2020),

Nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are crucial nutrients that significantly affect crop yield and plant development. Nitrogen is a primary constituent of proteins, nucleic acids, phytohormones, and chlorophylls and its deficiency severely impacts the photosynthesis process, first leading to the yellowing of lower leaves which hinder plant development, while severe deficiency causes spots on the tips and edges of leaves, stunted growth, and early flowering and fruiting affecting the yield and quality of the crops (Mu & Chen, 2021; Zhao et al., 2005). Similarly, phosphorus deficiency presents a significant impact on plant growth, showing stunted plants, narrow leaf insertion angles, dark green opaque colour, chlorotic points in internerval regions, necrosis, upward curved leaf edges and inhibited root development, phosphorus deficiency also delays and reduces flowering and fruiting, prolonging the time needed for crops to ripen and affecting the shape and size of fruits (Chen et al., 2021; Dar et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2023).

#### 3. Fertilizers

#### 3.1 Mineral and organic fertilizers

Fertilizers are defined as materials of natural or synthetic origin used to supply nutrients to plants, either applied directly to plant tissues or indirectly to the soil (Scherer et al., 2009). Fertilizers are classified based on the number of nutrients they supply as straight fertilizers providing a single nutrient and multi-nutrient or complex fertilizers which provide two or more nutrients. The primary nutrients provided by fertilizers are the three essential macronutrients N, P, and K (Yahaya et al., 2023). Additionally, fertilizers can be also categorized by their origin into mineral and organic fertilizers (Jones, 2012).

Mineral fertilizers, also known as inorganic fertilizer, are a type of fertilizers produced industrially from natural minerals, containing essential nutrients in forms that plants can quickly absorb (Havlin., 2016). Mineral fertilizers have played a transformative role in global food production, leading to an 800% increase in output between 1961 and 2019 although they have also caused serious environmental issues (Mbow et al., 2020). Mineral nitrogen fertilizers began to be produced following the discovery of the Haber-Bosch synthesis in 1909, which allows the conversion of atmospheric nitrogen into ammonia (Vicente & Dean, 2017). Since then, mineral nitrogen fertilizers have been used and the most used forms today are amide, nitrate, and N-reduced forms (Kumar et al., 2013; Sinha & Tandon, 2020). Regarding mineral phosphorus fertilizers, all forms are produced from rock phosphate subjected to high temperatures or through acidulation, to release P in the form of  $P_2O_5$  (Blaise et al., 2014). The most common phosphate

fertilizers used are single superphosphate (SSP), monoammonium phosphate (MAP), triple superphosphate (TSP) and diammonium phosphate (DAP) (Sinha & Tandon, 2020).

Organic fertilizers are a type of fertilizers derived from natural organic matter such as plant and animal residues (Havlin, 2016). They provide essential nutrients in smaller quantities compared to synthetic fertilizers but offer significant benefits for soil health and the environment (Dhaliwal et al., 2019). These benefits include the slow release of nutrients, which can help reduce nutrient leaching and improve long-term soil fertility, and contribute to the build-up of soil organic matter, enhancing soil carbon sequestration and mitigating climate change (Lal, 2004). The most common organic sources used are manure, compost, and bone meal (Shepherd et al., 2002).

#### 3.2 Biofertilizers / Microbial biostimulants

Microbial biostimulants or biofertilizers comprise a group of microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi which alone or combined, applied to soil, seeds or plants, can supply or make more accessible essential nutrients and promote plant growth (Mahanty et al., 2017; Mahmud et al., 2020). This arises as a promising instrument to upgrade horticultural efficiency while decreasing reliance on agrochemicals, thereby enhancing agricultural yields, and promoting sustainable agricultural development (Stewart & Roberts, 2012).

The microorganisms found in biofertilizers use a variety of strategies, either nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, or production of substances to stimulate plant growth or all such traits working simultaneously (Mahmud et al., 2020). Biological nitrogen fixation and phosphate solubilization are two critical processes driven by soil microorganisms that impact nutrient availability for plants and, consequently, crop productivity (Bashan et al., 2014). Kumar et al. (2022) categorizes nitrogen-fixing microbes in three main types based on their ecological niches being "symbiotic nitrogen-fixing microbes" collective termed Rhizobium which are the ones that form symbiotic structures with legume roots; "free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria" including those that fix nitrogen without root association, such as Azotobacter spp. found in neutral to alkaline soils and in non-legume crops rhizosphere (cotton, wheat, rice, and vegetables) (Jain et al., 2021) and the "associative nitrogen-fixing microbes" being the ones that live in close proximity to plant roots within the rhizosphere or loosely interact with root surfaces, which include Azospirillium spp. This genus is commonly isolated from the rhizosphere of diverse plants, particularly grasses, and which is prevalent in both agricultural and non-agricultural soils (Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000). Additionally, Pseudomonas fluorescens and Bacillus subtilis are also described, as phosphate-solubilizing/mobilizing microbes, P. fluorescens inhabiting water, soil and plant tissues (Garrido-Sanz et al., 2017), while B. subtilis, known for its versatility, is commonly found in soil and associated with the rhizosphere of diverse plant species (Madika et al., 2019). Several studies have shown that inoculation with these nitrogen-fixing and phosphate-solubilizing bacteria can enhance crop yields under a variety of soil and climatic conditions (Bashan et al., 2014; Bhattacharyya & Jha, 2012).

However, challenges remain in developing effective bioinoculants formulations suitable for diverse applications and environmental conditions (Cassán et al., 2020). These include inconsistent performance influenced by environmental factors, short shelf-life demanding precise storage conditions, formulation complexities, competition with native soil microorganisms, regulatory and quality control issues, limited awareness among farmers, economic concerns, and technological and research gaps. Overcoming these obstacles necessitates a multifaceted approach involving scientific research, technological innovation, policy development, and comprehensive education and support programs for farmers (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016).

#### 4. Environmental challenges of fertilizer use

#### 4.1 Environmental impact

The extensive use of fertilizers has had significant environmental and ecological consequences, as the misuse of chemical fertilizers disrupted soil pH, promoted pest infestations, caused soil acidification and crusting, reduced soil organic carbon and beneficial organisms and consequently these changes have affected plant growth, decreased yields, and contributed to greenhouse gas emissions (Krasilnikov et al., 2022). Among the most significant pollution processes resulting from the application of fertilizers, we find nitrate and phosphorus leaching into groundwater, nitrous oxide emissions and contamination by heavy metals in soils (Chien et al., 2009) being agriculture the responsible for the 10.3% of the European greenhouse gas emissions (European Commission, 2020).

Over the past century, the overuse of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers has led to a doubling of nitrogen compounds in water, soil and air, making nitrogen a serious pollutant that damages ecosystems, endangers human health, and fuels climate change by releasing powerful greenhouse gases like nitrous oxide (Galloway et al., 2004). Additionally, the synthesis of mineral nitrogen fertilizers relies on fossil fuels, emitting carbon dioxide and nitrogen oxides that pollute the air (Galloway et al., 2004; Socolow, 1999).

Providing an optimal phosphorus fertilization is another critical challenge in modern agriculture, as despite phosphorus being very abundant in the lithosphere, the form available for plants, inorganic orthophosphate, is insoluble and diffuses slowly in soils, leading to widespread deficiency, as a result, the 43% of the world's cultivated area is lacking in phosphorus (Chen et al., 2021; Turner & Blackwell, 2013). Moreover, phosphorus fertilization is highly inefficient,

with only 15–25% of the applied phosphorus being absorbed by plants, and the remainder leaches into water bodies, causing eutrophication, and contributes to soil degradation (Sharpley, 1995) Additionally, rock phosphate supplies are finite, potentially leading to a shortage of phosphorus fertilizers by the end of the century (Cordell et al., 2009).

To address these issues, sustainable agricultural practices must be developed, including the use of organic fertilizers and bio-fertilizers that improve soil properties and enhance crop productivity without the adverse effects of synthetic fertilizers (Krasilnikov et al., 2022).

#### 4.2 European Union response to mitigate fertilizers pollution

In response to the excessive use of fertilizers and the pollution produced, Europe exercises regulation on fertilizer use, the Nitrates Directive (91/676/EEC) and the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) particularly addressing the use of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) in agriculture. Furthermore, the Farm to Fork Strategy was presented in 2020 by the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions also regulating fertilization inputs (European Commission, 2020).

The Nitrates Directive sets mandatory standards to reduce water pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources, designating Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZs) where specific action programs must be implemented to manage and limit the use of nitrogen fertilizers to protect water resources from nitrate contamination and improve water quality. Examples of NVZs include intensive agricultural areas such as the Netherlands or Belgium, and certain regions of France, Italy, and Spain, where intensive fertilizer use and high livestock density increase the risk of nitrate pollution. Specific regions in Spain, such as Catalonia, the Valencian Community, Andalucia, Castilla y León, Murcia, Aragón, and Galicia, have also been designated as NVZs (European Council, 1991).

The Water Framework Directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC) is a regulation which affects N and P fertilization as aims to achieve good ecological and chemical status for EU waters by implementing measures to control diffuse pollution from nutrients. This directive requires Member States to develop river basin management plans that limit fertilizer application and improve agricultural practices (European Parliament and Council, 2000).

Farm to Fork Strategy is an essential element from the European Green Deal which sets out how to make Europe climate-neutral continent by 2050, assessing a climate target plan for 2030, to reduce emissions. With a specific objective to reduce the excess of nutrients losses in the environment, especially nitrogen and phosphorus, by at least 50%, while ensuring that there is no deterioration in soil fertility, reducing the use of fertilizers at least 20% by 2030. By developing

an integrated nutrient management action plan with the Member States and work to extend the precise fertilization techniques and sustainability agricultural practices.

#### 5. Microbial biostimulant regulation

#### 5.1. European biostimulant regulation

The market for microbial inoculants is constantly evolving, facing both regulatory and commercial challenges. In Europe, the legislation on microbial biostimulants is framed by the EU Fertilizer Products Regulation 2019/1009 (FPR), which came into effect on July 16, 2022. This regulation establishes harmonized provisions for fertilizer commercialization products within 27 EU Member States from the European Union (European Parliament and Council, 2019).

Article 47, section 2, defines a plant biostimulant as "an EU fertilizer product whose function is to stimulate plant nutrition processes independently of the product's nutrient content, with the sole aim of improving one or more of the following plant or plant rhizosphere characteristics: nutrient use efficiency, tolerance to abiotic stress, quality traits, or availability of confined nutrients in the soil or rhizosphere". Microbial biostimulants are further defined in Annex I, which outlines the Product Function Categories (PFC) under section 6, subsection A and in Annex II under the Component Material Category 7 (CMC 7), which is defined as a plant biostimulant formulated with one or many microorganisms. In PFC (A) it is specified the constitution of the product, the maximum number of human pathogens allowed (Salmonella spp, Esterichia coli, Listeria monocitogenes, Vibrio spp., Shigella spp., Staphylococcus aureus, Enterococcus) and pH specifications for liquid formulations. In CMC7 defines that an EU fertilizer product belonging to PFC 6 (A) may contain microorganisms, including dead microorganisms or empty cells, and non-harmful residues from their growth medium, provided they have undergone no treatment other than drying or lyophilization and the microorganisms accepted, at the present moment include Azotobacter spp., mycorrhizal fungi, Rhizobium spp., and Azospirillum spp. The regulation also defines labelling characteristics for these products (Annex II part II) (European Parliament and Council, 2019).

The efficacy of microbial biostimulant products must be supported by solid scientific evidence and is meticulously reviewed during the certification process. The European Committee for Standardization (CEN) and specifically the CEN/TC 455 which focuses on plant biostimulants sets the procedures for demonstrating agronomical claims (e.g., nutrient use efficiency, tolerance to abiotic stress, crop quality traits) through the standardization of sampling, denominations, specifications including safety requirements, marking, and test methods that verify product claims for plant biostimulants, including microorganisms. In this thesis, we will focus on the draft document Fertilising Products Regulation Committee for Standardization (FprCEN/TS 17700), published by the Slovenian standard kSIST-TS committee, which defines the scope, normative references, terms and definitions, claim terminology, assessment indices to validate claims, and performance specifications for agronomic traits (Slovenski standard kSIST-TS committee, 2021). This document has five parts corresponding to general specifications and the claims defined.

Part 1 (FprCEN/TS 17700-1) defines the general specifications, the necessary information to demonstrate efficacy, the types of tests to be conducted, the specifications, labelling terminology, quality evaluation criteria, and data to be presented, it is notable that to justify a claim, at least three tests with positive results are required. These must include a control treatment (not inoculated) under the same management practices, and all treatments should be irrigated with the same concentration of water. Additionally, the number of replicates should be four under controlled conditions and in a minimum plot of 20 m<sup>2</sup> under field conditions. Likewise, in the evaluation criteria section, given the variable nature of the effects of plant biostimulants, a confidence level of 90% (p < 0.1) is recommended under controlled conditions and 85% (p < 0.1) 0.15) in the field, between the treatment and the control, regardless of this last detail, in the studies of this thesis, we have used a more stringent confidence level (p < 0.05) to identify highly effective microorganisms performing an ANOVA and Tukey's tests for the trials in vitro and Dunett's test for the experiments on plant to compare each treatment and the control (non-inoculated plants). Part 2 (FprCEN/TS 17700-2) establishes the framework to validate the claim regarding the biostimulant's ability to improve nutrient use efficiency and Part 5 (FprCEN/TS 17700-5) the biostimulant's ability to improve the availability of confined nutrients in the soil or rhizosphere. These sections define various agronomic indices and ways to calculate them, as well as mentions that each index can be used independently to justify a claim (Slovenski standard kSIST-TS committee, 2021).

#### 5.2. Spanish regulation

In Europe, beside the mentioned Regulation (EU) 2019/1009, there are different national regulations among the Member States. So far, the companies willing to commercialize a microbial biostimulant can chose to follow the national or the European regulation.

In Spain, the regulatory framework for microorganism-based fertilizers is defined by Royal Decree 999/2017, published on November 24, 2017. The decree includes annexes that introduce new product types (Annex I), update identification and labelling provisions (Annex II), modify tolerance margins (Annex III), establish analysis methods for these new products (Annex VI), and correct an error in the instructions for including a new type of fertilizer (Annex VII) (Gobierno de España, 2017).

Introduction

Among the fertilizer product types, group 4.4 includes "special products based on microorganisms," defined as non-mycorrhizal microorganism-based products. To register a product in this category, the minimum necessary information includes the identification of microbial strains (molecular sequences) and a minimum inoculum for each microorganism present, which must be at least  $10^7$  CFU ml<sup>-1</sup> or  $10^7$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> unless efficiency is demonstrated according to the protocol defined in Annex VIII. Additionally, items in section 4 of group 4 of Annex I must submit a technical report at the time of application, as referenced in Article 24.1. This report must be produced by an independent organization and according to a standardized model and should contain two sections: Identification and characterization of the microorganisms and the demonstration of the agronomic efficiency of the product to be registered (Gobierno de España, 2017).

The microorganism identification and characterization must include the genus and species based on the 16S gene sequence in prokaryotes, a description of isolation and quantification methods, growth conditions in the laboratory, and PCR conditions for amplifying the sequence, including primer sequences. The demonstration of the product's agronomic efficiency must be specific to the formulation being registered signed by a field-experienced trial manager from an independent organization, following the testing protocol approved by the Directorate General for Agricultural Production and Markets. This protocol includes a favorable conclusion on the product's agronomic efficiency, summarizing the conditions of use; authorization for specific crop groups where agronomic efficiency has been demonstrated (horticultural, herbaceous, woody, or plant production); a complete product composition description and field trials conducted in Spain (Gobierno de España, 2017).

#### 6. Crops

#### 6.1. Maize

Maize (*Zea mays*) is an annual plant from the *Poaceae* family and correspond to the C4 pathway group, first dated from Mesoamerica before 5000 B.C. (Ranum et al., 2014). This plant is characterized to have a robust and erect stem that can reach up to three meters tall with broad leaves arranged alternately along the stem. Maize plants reproduce through monoecious cross-pollination and has male flowers (tassels) at the top of the plant and female flowers (ears) which are covered in protective green bracts; inside each ear numerous flowers develop into rows of kernels along the rachis (Nuss & Tanumihardjo, 2010). Maize types are classified based on the size and composition of the kernel endosperm being dent, flint, waxy, flour, sweet, pop, Indian, and pod corn (Ranum et al., 2014).

#### Introduction

Maize, along with wheat, rice and barley in 2022 accounted for 90 percent of total world cereal production as it is cultivated on 156 million hectares annually in nearly 100 countries with almost 1.2 billion tonnes produced. Maize production accounted for 44 million tonnes with a 4% decrease from 2021 to 2022 due to drought in European counties (Brown et al., 1988; FAO, 2023). In Spain on 2021 maize cultivated surface was 458.3 thousand hectares with a production of 4.6 million tonnes, being the principal producing regions Castilla - León, Extremadura and Aragón (MAPA, 2022). Maize is a very demanding plant and requires significant levels of NPK fertilizer, specifically for N the recommended application is about 150 to 200 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> during vegetative growth stages (Fageria et al., 2010) and for P applications of 40 to 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> are necessary to prevent deficiencies (Havlin, 2016).

#### 6.2. Rice

Rice (*Oryza sativa*) is an annual plant also from the *Poaceae* family but contrary to maize from the C3 pathway group. This plant is characterized to have round, hollow, and jointed stems that support panicles, when mature the plant typically has a main stem and several lateral branches (tillers). It is a diploid plant and is normally self-pollinated (Izawa & Shimamoto, 1996). Rice growth is divided into three stages: vegetative (from germination to panicle initiation) where the shoot apical meristem produces leaves, and tillers emerge from leaf axils; reproductive (from panicle initiation to flowering) that involves stem elongation, panicle initiation and differentiation, flowering, maturation and grain filling or maturation (from flowering to maturity) where rice grains increase in size and weight, accumulating sugars, starches, storage proteins, and other compounds (Wang & Li, 2005).

In 2024, over 167 million hectares of rice were cultivated globally, producing approximately 530.1 million tonnes corresponding to one of the most important food crops, feeding more than half population. In the world, the major rice-producing regions include Asia, Latin America, and Africa, notably being Vietnam the fifth world largest producer with 43.5 million tonnes production in 2023 with the major field surface in Mekong and Red River Delta (FAO, 2024). Spain is also a rice productor with 84 thousand hectares cultivated in 2021 with 72 thousand tonnes produced in 2022, the mayor autonomous communities' producers of rice are Andalusia, Extremadura, and Catalonia, significantly contributing to the national rice production (MAPA, 2022).

In rice production nitrogen and phosphorus are vital for achieving high rice yields, being N important in the vegetative growth, with recommended applications of 100 to 150 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Fageria et al., 2010) and P is essential for root development and grain maturation, with recommended applications of 30 to 60 kg/ha (Havlin., 2016).

#### 7. Biocontrol Technologies S.L.

This doctoral research is conducted within the framework of the Industrial Doctorate supported by the Catalan Government (Generalitat de Catalunya) with the Universitat de Barcelona, and Biocontrol Technologies S.L. This company is specialized in biological control of crop diseases, with the *Trichoderma asperellum* strain T34 (T34) CECT No. 20417 being its leading product, commercialized against several soil and foliar diseases, in example *Fusarium oxysporum*, *Rhizoctonia solani, Pythium aphanidermatum, Sclerotinia spp.*, and *Botrytis cinerea*. The company was founded in 2004 as a spin-off from the University of Barcelona, this emerged from the discovery of the efficiency of *T. asperellum* strain T34 to supress *Fusarium* wilt of tomato by the Professor and Doctor M. I. Trillas and the doctoral student L. Cotxarrera (Cotxarrera et al., 2002). In 2002, the patent for this strain was registered in Spain (ES 2188385 B1) and later was registered to several other countries in the EU (EP 1400586 B1) and the United States (US 7553657 B2). This product has been authorized as microbial Plant Protection Product in different countries, USA, Canada, Peru, Egypt, Morocco, and in several EU States forming part of the Annex I by the Commission Implementing Regulation No. 1238/2012 and with Article 80(1)(a) of Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009.

Since then, the company has been dedicated to the development of new uses of *T. asperellum* strain T34 and the research of other microorganisms for biological crop control. Additionally, it has been working on the development of new products, including microbial biostimulants. In 2023, the company funded a chair with the University of Barcelona, the UB Biocontrol Technologies Chair of Microorganisms for Agriculture. The objective is promoting research, training, and dissemination activities on biological control and plant nutrition using microorganisms, to achieve a more sustainable and secure agriculture, aligning with the European Green Deal (European Commission, 2019) and the Sustainable Development Goals (United Nations, 2015).

# Aims of this work

## Aims of this work

This thesis is part of an Industrial PhD program from Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca (AGAUR, Resolution EMC/460/2020) in collaboration with Biocontrol Technologies, S.L. and Universitat de Barcelona. As part of the research project with an industrial perspective, the general aim of this thesis was to isolate, characterize, and evaluate the *in vitro* and *in vivo* the functionality and capacities of the plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria isolated, in order to develop a microbial biostimulant that complies with Spanish regulations (Royal Decree 999/2017) and/or European regulations (Regulation (EU) 2019/1009).

The specific aims were:

- 1. Reviewing effective methodologies and stablishing protocols for the isolation, preservation, growth and classification of plant growth promotion rhizobacteria.
- 2. Develop a new collection of isolates with nitrogen-fixing and phosphorus-solubilizing capabilities, specifically focusing on *Bacillus subtilis* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* in compliance with Spanish regulations, as well as *Azospirillum spp. and Azotobacter spp.* strains adhering to European regulations.
- 3. To evaluate the *in vitro* capacities of interest by performing various techniques being indole-3-acetic acid and siderophore production, phosphorus solubilization and nitrogen fixing capacity.
- 4. To evaluate the *in vivo* efficacy of the top-performing *in vitro* candidate strains in enhancing seed quality traits, promoting growth, and improving phosphorus and nitrogen use efficiency across various plant species, with a primary focus on maize and rice, under both greenhouse and field conditions.
- 5. The biochemical and ecological characterisation of the selected strains, on soils with different fertilization background (organic and mineral), to gain deeper knowledge for its better performance in soil.

# **Case Studies**
#### Introduction

During their growth and development, plants establish continuous interactions with soil-dwelling microorganisms. Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria (PGPR) represent a diverse group of microorganisms inhabiting the rhizosphere of plants, where they play a critical role in influencing plant growth and development through various mechanisms. By enhancing the availability of essential nutrients for plants, reduce heavy metals, and produce phytohormones (Goswami et al., 2016; Shailendra Singh, 2015; Singh et al., 2019). Additionally, can aid in disease control by producing substances that trigger systemic resistance and enhance competition for nutrients and niches (Bjelić et al., 2018; Di Salvo & García de Salamone, 2019; Etesami & Maheshwari, 2018; Vejan et al., 2016), as well as, promote soil health (Etesami, 2018; He et al., 2019).

PGPR among their notable multifaceted mechanisms that contribute to their beneficial effects on plants, is the capacity to enhance the availability of essential nutrients. For instance, PGPR possess the capacity to fix atmospheric nitrogen, converting it into a form that plants can utilize effectively, thereby enhancing soil fertility and plant growth (Dobbelaere et al., 2003). As well as some PGPR can solubilize inorganic phosphate, making it more accessible to plants, thus bolstering the absorption of this vital nutrient (Ahmed & Shahab, 2009). Another key aspect of the beneficial interaction between PGPR and plants is their ability to synthesize and release plant growth regulators, these are organic substances very similar to the phytohormones synthesized by plants, such as auxins, cytokinins, and gibberellins (Vejan et al., 2016) and act as chemical signals that regulate a variety of growth and development processes in plants, including cell elongation, cell division, and root formation (Cassán et al., 2014).

The capacity of PGPR to enhance nutrient availability, promote plant growth and development, and protect against soil pathogens makes them promising candidates in the quest for more efficient and environmentally friendly food production solutions. However, various studies describe that their effectiveness can vary among different plants and varieties, this specificity between PGPR and genotype underscores the importance of understanding the specific interactions between strains and particular crops, as well as testing their effectiveness across different species and varieties (Bhattacharyya & Jha, 2012; Glick, 2012). This targeted approach can significantly improve the overall efficacy of PGPR and their use as biofertilizers.

Biofertilizers comprise live formulations of beneficial microbes, such as PGPR or arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, among others, that assist in nutrient availability and promote plant growth (Mohanty et al., 2021; Vejan et al., 2016). These products when applied to seeds, plant surfaces, or

soil, colonize the rhizosphere or the interior of the plant, promoting plant growth by increasing the supply or availability of primary nutrients for the host plant (Etesami & Maheshwari, 2018; He et al., 2019; Rao & Kishore, 2006; Vessey, 2003). The use of biofertilizers is becoming increasingly important in organic agriculture and plays a crucial role in the economy and agricultural production on a global scale, as they provide a sustainable solution for improving soil health and enhancing crop productivity.

In Spain, the production and commercialization of biofertilizers are subject to two fundamental regulations: the European regulation established by the EU Fertilizer Regulation (2019/1009) of the European Parliament and the Council, and the national regulation, specifically through Real Decreto 999/2017, of November 24th. This regulatory framework establishes guidelines and requirements for the manufacturing, registration, and proper use of biofertilizers, ensuring their effectiveness and safety in agriculture. In the Spanish regulatory framework for the production, registration, and commercialization of microbial fertilizers. Article 18 bis specifies that only microorganisms that have demonstrated, alone or mixed with fertilizers, their capacity to improve nutrient absorption, tolerance to abiotic stress, or crop quality can be registered in the Registro de Productos Fertilizantes. In this regulation, it is permissible to register any microorganism that meets the requirements specified in Annex VIII, which demands the identification and characterization of the microorganisms, as well as a demonstration of their agronomic efficiency (La Presidencia y para las Administraciones Territoriales, 2017). However, European regulation is more restrictive, allowing the registration of only four specific genera: *Rhizobium spp.*, mycorrhizae, *Azotobacter spp.*, and *Azospirillum spp.* 

The selection of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* as subjects of our study to evaluate their characteristics as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and their subsequent use in creating a biofertilizer is based on a series of fundamental reasons. *B. subtilis* is one of the most studied and utilized genera among plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPR). This microorganism plays a fundamental role in improving plant growth and development through various mechanisms. For instance, *B. subtilis* can promote plant growth and control pathogens by enhancing nutrient availability, modulating phytohormones, and producing antimicrobials (Arkhipova et al., 2005). Additionally, its ability to form resistant spores makes it a remarkably versatile microorganism that exhibits a wide variety of states and behaviours, enabling it to cope with diverse environmental challenges, as it can withstand abiotic stresses such as drought, temperature, and nutrient limitation (Losick, 2020; Schisler et al., 2004). This adaptability and plasticity make it an attractive candidate for studying its potential as a PGPR and its application in agriculture. The interaction between plants

and *B. subtilis* constitutes a symbiotic relationship, wherein both bacteria and the host plant mutually benefit; on one hand, plants secrete organic substances (approximately 30% of the carbon fixed through photosynthesis is secreted through root exudates), and these substances serve as a nutrient source for bacteria associated to the rhizosphere and in return, plants receive compounds and bacterial activities that promote their growth and shield them against stress. This exchange occurs through the root surface, where *B. subtilis* forms a thin biofilm for long-term colonization of the rhizosphere (Hashem et al., 2019). Moreover certain species of *Pseudomonas* for example *P. fluorescens*, have been described to have the ability to increase the absorption of essential plant nutrients (nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium), produce phytohormones in the rhizosphere such as indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and cytokinins, promoting plant growth and can act as biocontrol agents against phytopathogenic fungi (Santoro et al., 2016). Its versatility in promoting plant growth and protection make it a valuable component as PGPR in sustainable agriculture and improving crop yields.

The production of phytohormones and its impact on the development and growth of plants is an area of research of great relevance (Vejan et al., 2016). Auxins play a fundamental role in regulating a variety of processes such as cell division, elongation, differentiation, tropisms, and flowering, among others (Bajguz & Piotrowska-Niczyporuk, 2023). Microorganisms present in the rhizosphere have the ability to synthesize and release auxins in response to the presence of root exudates. PGPR, such as *B. subtilis* or *P. fluorescens*, play a crucial role in actively altering the homeostasis of plant growth hormones, by the induction of their production in plants through secreted compounds (Arkhipova et al., 2005; Cassán et al., 2014). One of the most studied phytohormones in plants, being part of the auxins group, is indole-3-acetic acid (Merzaeva & Shirokikh, 2010; Suansia & Senapati, 2023; Tsavkelova et al., 2006). Although IAA, is not necessary for seed germination, studies on the expression of genes related to auxins indicate that IAA is present at the radicle tip during and after seed germination (Miransari and Smith, 2014).

Furthermore, PGPR have phyto-stimulating effects by intervening in biochemical cycles and enhancing nutrient availability, including iron uptake and phosphorus solubilization, processes relevant to counteract the loss of efficiency of fertilizers due to biochemical processes such as sorption, fixation, and immobilization (Bargaz et al., 2021; Stutter et al., 2012). By rendering these nutrients accessible to plants, these bacteria contribute to greater nutrient use efficiency and reduce environmental pollution associated with excessive fertilizer application. Iron uptake efficiency by PGPR is determined by their capacity to produce siderophores, low molecular weight compounds that bacteria produce to chelate ferric iron [Fe(III)], facilitating its transport and absorption by microorganisms (Mohamed & Gomaa, 2012). The transport and absorption is different between gram

positives and gram negatives, in the case of *P. fluorescens*, a gram-negative bacterium, iron is transported through receptors in the outer membrane that recognize iron-siderophore complexes and are released into the plasmatic space (Krewulak & Vogel, 2008). In *B. subtilis*, a gram-positive bacterium, there are no outer membrane receptors, instead the iron-siderophore complexes are directly recognised by the periplasmic siderophore binding proteins of the periplasmatic membrane and brought into de cell (Fukushima et al., 2013).

Phosphate solubilization by PGPR can significantly improve the availability of this essential nutrient for plants, resulting in more vigorous plant growth and higher crop productivity (Stutter et al., 2012). Some PGPR solubilize inorganic phosphorus by producing a variety of organic compounds that can solubilize inorganic phosphorus present in the soil (Bargaz et al., 2021; Saeid et al., 2018). These organic acids, such as citric acid, acetic acid, and malic acid have the ability to chelate phosphate ions, converting them into soluble forms that plants can easily absorb (Bargaz et al., 2021). This process is of utmost importance, especially in soils with low phosphorus availability, as phosphorus is an essential macronutrient for plant growth and plays a vital role in photosynthesis, energy transfer, and organic compound synthesis.

#### **Objectives**

The general objective was to isolate *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* strains, characterize and evaluate them *in vitro* and *in vivo* to determine if they have PGPR properties in order to develop microbial-based fertilizers

For this purpose, the following specific objectives were stablished:

- 1. Creating a new collection of isolates along with establishing protocols for their conservation and growth.
- 2. Evaluate the characteristics of interest of the new collection of isolates *in vitro*: i) the phytohormone production (IAA), ii) siderophore production capacity iii) phosphorus solubilization capacity from different sources.
- 3. Test on plants the isolates with the best *in vitro* results; i) improvement in germination ii) plant growth promotion iii) plant phosphorus use efficiency.

#### **Materials and methods**

#### 1. Isolation

Several strains of *Bacillus spp.* (22 in total) and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* were isolated from rhizosphere or bulk soil of wheat (*Tricum aestivum*) or maize (*Zea mays*) plants growing in different soils from Catalonia, named A, B, C, D and Compost. Non-rhizospheric microorganisms were isolated mixing 10 g of soil with 90 mL of saline solution during 30 min with a rotatory shaker (150 rpm). In addition, rhizospheric microorganisms were isolated from the soil attached to the roots by dipping and gentle shaking in water under aseptic conditions.

To isolate *Bacillus spp.* strains, both type of suspensions were diluted ( $10^{-2}$  and  $10^{-4}$ ) and placed in 80°C for 10 min and then NA (peptone 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, meat extract 10 g L<sup>-1</sup>, agar powder 15 g L<sup>-1</sup> and pH adjusted to 7) plates were inoculated. *P. fluorescens* were isolated by diluting the solutions at  $10^{-2}$  and  $10^{-4}$  colony forming units (CFU) mL<sup>-1</sup> in King's B plates (Proteose peptone 20 g L<sup>-1</sup>, glycerol 10 mL L<sup>-1</sup>, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 1.5 gL<sup>-1</sup>, MgSO4 1.5 g L<sup>-1</sup> and Agar 15 gL<sup>-1</sup>) at 30 °C after 24 h and only the ones showing florescence were selected.

As a first screening to select isolates belonging to the *B. subtilis* group and to exclude members of *B. cereus* a PCR with primers Bsub5F and Bsub3R was performed following Wattiau et al., (2001) methodology. Those primers are designed to amplify a fragment only in the case of *B. subtilis* group. DNA was extracted through a simple extraction by boiling the microbial solutions and immediately putting them in ice. The quality and concentration of DNA were determined on a Nanodrop spectrophotometer. The protocol for the PCR was: initial denaturation set at 95°C for 2 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, annealing at 59°C for 30 s and extension at 72°C for 60 s, followed by a final elongation step at 72°C for 5 min. The PCR products were observed in an agarose gel after electrophoresis. To confirm our results the selected strains were also sent to the Laboratory of Instrumental Techniques at University of León where they were classified taxonomically by either Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization (MALDI-TOF) analysis or sequencing of the 16S gene and 13 strains were selected from 22 in total.

Each microorganism of the collection was grown in triplicate in liquid growth media NA for *P. fluorescens* and LB (Tryptone 10 g L<sup>-1</sup>, yeast extract 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaCl 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) for *Bacillus spp.* in a rotatory shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C for 24h. After that time, each aliquot was measured spectrophotometrically at 600 nm and serial dilutions were made ( $10^{-5}$ ,  $10^{-6}$ ,  $10^{-7}$ ,  $10^{-8}$  and  $10^{-9}$  in sterile saline solution (NaCl 9 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and plated in solid media NA and LB (same described above

with agar 15 g  $L^{-1}$ ) for 24h at 30°C, then colonies were counted. The correlation between the microorganism concentration and the absorbance at 600 nm, was calculated.

#### 2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro

#### 2.1 Idole-3-acetic acid determination

The presence of IAA-like substances was detected and quantified following the method of Gordon & Weber (1951) in L-tryptophan liquid medium. *P. fluorescens* stains were grown in NA solid plates for 48 h and *B. subtilis* were grown in LB plates for 24 h at 30°C. Flasks containing 5 mL of liquid growth medium (NA for *P. fluorescens*, LB for *B. subtilis*) enriched with 0.1% (m v<sup>-1</sup>) with L-tryptophan and inoculated with one full loop of each isolate in triplicate and incubated in a rotatory shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C for 24 h. Then 1.5 mL of the liquid culture was centrifuged at 10000 x g for 5 min. IAA-like substances in the supernatant were determined by the freshly prepared Salkowski reagent (Gang et al., 2020) and incubated in the dark for 30 min for development of pink color. Each aliquot was measured spectrophotometrically at 530 nm using IAA as standard.

The amount of bacterial protein was quantified from the inoculated liquid growth medium. Proteins were quantified using Bradford reagent (Bradford, 1976) with bovine serum albumin as standard. The absorbance was measured at 595 nm. The quantity of indole acetic acid was expressed as mg mg<sup>-1</sup> protein. To determine the auxin production peak and growth rate it was performed the same procedure as it is described above after 24 h, 48 h, 72 h, and 96 h.

#### 2.2 Siderophore production

The siderophore production was performed using a modified technique of the Chrome Azurol Sulfate (CAS) composed of Chrome Azurol S 60.5 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (HDTMA) 72.9 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, FeCl<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, HCl 10 mL L<sup>-1</sup>, PIPES buffer 30.24 g L<sup>-1</sup> and Agar 15 g L<sup>-1</sup>. CAS medium was prepared in Petri dishes as described by (Neilands, 1987). In this method, the Petri plates were divided into two sections when solidified: one half with CAS medium and the other half with LB or NA growth medium to avoid the toxicity of HDTMA that affects *Bacillus spp*. Each medium was placed next to the other avoiding any space between them.

Microorganisms were placed in triplicate in the growth medium as far as possible form de borderline between the two media. Bacteria were incubated in the dark at 30°C for 7 days. Microorganisms capable of producing siderophores caused a colour swerve in CAS medium from blue to orange, and then the length between the colony border and the colour swerve in CAS was measured.

#### 2.3 Phosphorus solubilizing capacity

The isolated strains were cultivated in different liquid media enriched with four different P sources in order to examine de capacity of each microorganism to mobilize phosphate. *Bacillus spp.* strains and *P. fluorescens* strains were cultivated in National Botanical Research Institute's Phosphate (NBRIP) composed of glucose 10 g L<sup>-1</sup>, MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, MgCl<sub>2</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O 0.25 g L<sup>-1</sup>, KCl 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 0.1 g L<sup>-1</sup> and adjusted to pH of 7 (Nautiyal, 1999).

Each media was enriched with four different sources of P corresponding to 4 different treatments. P was applied at 0.23 g L<sup>-1</sup> as either monopotassium phosphate (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), hydroxyapatite, phytate and iron phosphate (III). *Bacillus spp.* and *P. fluorescens* strains were then inoculated at the initial concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> per tube in triplicate and placed in a rotatory shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C. After 7 days of the inoculation, the media were passed through a cellulose nitrate filter of 0.22  $\mu$ m pore size and the molybdate reactive P was determined according to Murphy & Riley (1962). A solution of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (1.15 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) was used as a standard and the absorbance was measured at 882 nm.

#### 2.4 Quantification of organic acids production

*B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 were cultured by quadruplicate in liquid NBRIP media containing hydroxyapatite at a concentration of 0.23 g L<sup>-1</sup>. Inoculation was performed by introducing one full loop of bacteria into a tube with 15 mL of NBRIP and placing it on a rotatory shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C. Additionally, a control (NBRIP with insoluble phosphate) without inoculation was included in quadruplicate for this experiment.

After 7 days, a 2 mL sample was extracted to determine the organic acids, the remaining aliquot was used to assess the concentration of microorganisms in each tube and their pH. The 2 mL samples were passed through a cellulose nitrate filter with a pore size of 0.45  $\mu$ m and then used to quantify citric acid, malic acid, acetic acid, succinic acid, gluconic acid, lactic acid, oxalic acid, fumaric acid, propionic acid, and glycolic acid by Furlani et al., (2006) methodology. By injecting 100  $\mu$ L of filtered samples in the HPLC with an Aminex HPX-87H column (300 x 7.8) from BioRad and detected with a Diode Array Detector DAD (UV) fixed at 210 nm. The eluent used was H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 0.01 M, with a flow rate of 0.8 mL min<sup>-1</sup> at a temperature of 60°C. Organic acid peaks were determined based on the characteristic spectra of standards and calibration curves were built by injection of known concentrations of pure standards.

#### 3. Assessment of plant growth-promoting capacity tested in vivo

#### **3.1 Improvement in germination**

The role of *B. subtilis* (B7 and B17) on the improvement of germination was evaluated using seeds of *Solanum lycopersicum* cv "Roma" (tomato). To prepare the microorganism inoculum, a fully colonized Petri dish was used to inoculate 300 mL of LB Lennox medium in a 500 mL bottle. The glass bottles were placed in a rotatory shaker at 150 rpm with a temperature of 30°C for 72 h. the bacterial concentration was measured by spectrophotometry at 600 nm and compared with a calibration curve previously calculated. The aliquots were then centrifuged at 4000 g for 10 min to get rid of the growing media and resuspended to a final concentration of  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> with saline solution (9 g NaCl L<sup>-1</sup>). The microorganism were prepared on the same way for all experiments in this chapter (section 3.2 and 3.3), that is for media, incubation time and evaluation of spectrophotometry concentration.

The setup of the experiment was performed in the greenhouse of the Faculty of Biology of the Universitat de Barcelona ( $41^{\circ}23'06.4"N 2^{\circ}07'12.8"E$ ) being a Latin square of 4 factors corresponding to non-inoculated substrate (control), inoculated with strain B7, inoculated with strain B17 and the combination of both, with 4 replicates per each. The replicates corresponded to 4 aluminium trays with 500 g of plant growth substrate inoculated and 20 tomato seeds. Inoculation of the substrate was performed with 50 mL of each inoculum for 500 mL substrate to a final concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> of substrate. The trays were watered every other day with 100 mL of tap water per each tray.

The plant growth substrate used in this study was a Jiffy peat composed of a mixture of peat moss and black peat (Jiffy GO M8) with a pH of 5.5 and EC of 0.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup> with a basal nutrient content (160-200 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of N, 180-280 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, 200-350 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of K<sub>2</sub>O, 80-150 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of Mg and 1.5 g L<sup>-1</sup> of KCl) and prehydrated with 100 mL of distilled water per litter. The substrate and the hydration were used for all germination experiments but also for growth promotion assays described in the next section 3.2.

The same experiment was performed three times (A, B and C) following the exact same procedure explained above, each of the experiments lasted one week. (A) Performed from the 14<sup>th</sup> to the 22<sup>ond</sup> of March 2022 with temperature average of 17.03  $\pm$  3.61 °C and humidity 65.48  $\pm$  12% RH. (B) Performed from the 9<sup>th</sup> to the 16<sup>th</sup> of May 2022 with temperature average of 24.24  $\pm$  6.29 °C and humidity of 47.38  $\pm$  15% RH. (C) Performed from the 29<sup>th</sup> of June until the 6<sup>th</sup> of July 2022 with temperature average of 26.87  $\pm$  4.13 °C and humidity of 57.14  $\pm$  13.29% RH.

At sampling point, the number of germinated plants and the development stage of the seedlings were tracked every day. The development stages were set according to BBCH Monograph (Meier, 2001), being defined as 007 when the hypocotyl with cotyledons was breaking through the seed coat, 009 when the seedling was emerging, and the cotyledons were breaking through the soil surface and 100 when the cotyledons were totally unfolded. The plant was considered germinated when reached stage 009 and 100 when the cotyledons were observed, and plants were pulled out once half of the seeds were at a development stage of 101: the first true leaf on the main shoot was completely unfolded. The measurements performed were the height, the fresh weight for each development stage and treatment and the total fresh weight.

The parameters calculated were related to seed quality traits as percentage of germination, time to reach the 50% of germination, seed vigour, and seedling establishment. The seed vigour was calculated as the percentage of germination multiplied by the height of the seedling. The seed establishment was calculated as the number of seedlings divided by the number of seeds sown per cent, and the seedling weight was calculated with a precision scale. In all cases, a seedling corresponded to plants at a development stage of 101.

#### **3.2 Plant growth promotion capacity**

The microorganisms' inoculum were prepared, according to descriptions mentioned on point 3.1, using the media previously mentioned, incubation time and cell concentrations. As well as the same plant growth substrate (Jiffy GO M8).

Three experiments (i, ii and iii) were performed to analyse the effect of inoculation in plant growth promotion all conducted in the greenhouse of the Faculty of Biology in the Universitat de Barcelona. The setup of the experiments was performed as following:

(i) The first experiment was performed with the leading producers of IAA in various crops and was composed of four treatments corresponding to non-inoculated substrate and substrate inoculated with *P. fluorescens* (P10) and two *B. subtilis* (B7 and B17) at a final concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> of substrate. It was used five different plants species: native *Zea Mays* cv "Tía María" (corn), *Helianthus annuus* cv "Russian Giant" (sunflower), *Cucumis sativus* cv "País" (cucumber), *Lactuca sativa* cv "Morella" (lettuce), and *Glycine max* cv Azurra (soya) non-treated ecological seeds from Les Refardes SCLL (Mura, Spain). The plants were seeded in trays with 16 seeds per treatment and plant species, each with 250 mL of substrate, randomly distributed into two blocks with 8 plants per each, trays were rotated every two days to alleviate the environmental positional effect, and plants were watered every other day with tap water with a volume of 250 mL per tray. The experiment lasted 3

weeks (15<sup>th</sup> of June until the 6<sup>th</sup> of July 2022) within the average temperature  $26.02 \pm 3.83$  °C and average relative humidity  $63.94 \pm 13.89$ % RH.

(ii) In this experiment it was assess the second-best IAA producers in maize plants (*Zea Mays* cv "Tía María"). The *experiment* design was composed of eight treatments corresponding to non-inoculated substrate, substrate inoculated with *P. fluorescens* (P2a and P7) and *B. subtilis* (B3, B7, B9 and B12) at a final concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> of substrate. Another treatment was added: *Trichoderma asperellum* (T34) from the commercial formulation T34 Biocontrol® (Biocontrol Technologies S.L) at the concentration of  $10^4$  CFU L<sup>-1</sup> of substrate. The plants were seeded in trays with 12 seeds per treatment and plant species, each with 250 mL of substrate, randomly distributed into two blocks with 6 plants per each, the trays were rotated every two days to alleviate the environmental positional effect. Plants were watered every other day with tap water with a volume of 10 mL per plant. The experiment lasted 3 weeks (6<sup>th</sup> until the 20<sup>th</sup> of September 2022) within the average temperature 26.71 ± 3.72 °C and average relative humidity 63.65 ± 13.28% RH.

(iii) In this experiment it was assessed the growth promotion effect of *B. subtilis* strain B7 in four different maize cultivars and two-inoculum concentrations ( $10^7$  and  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>). The experiment design was composed of three different treatments corresponding to non-inoculated substrate and substrate inoculated with *B. subtilis* strain B7 with four different maize cultivars, "Hatay" (Fitó S.L), "Palomero" (Batlle S.A), "Tía María" and "Cruz" (Les Refardes S.L). Twelve seeds were sown for treatment and B7 concentration in pots of 125 mL and placed in a random distribution; also, plants were rotated every two days to alleviate the environmental positional effect. Plants were watered every other day with tap water with a volume of 10 mL per plant. The experiment lasted 18 days ( $16^{th}$  of June until the 4<sup>th</sup> of July 2022) within the average temperature 27.4 ± 4.07 °C and average relative humidity 59.14 ± 15.08 % RH.

The same growth measurements, including plant length and fresh and dry shoot weight, were conducted in all three experiments. However, root weight measurements were only performed in the first experiment. The plant length was measured from the plant base to the tip of the last leaf and the stem length from the base to the first node. The shoot fresh weight was measured at harvest and the shoot dry weight, after plants were left at 90°C for 72 h. To measure root fresh and dry weight the roots were meticulously washed 3 times, the excess of moisture was removed, and roots were weighed for fresh weight and the dry root weight was performed after drying at 90°C for 72 h.

#### **3.3 Effect of inoculation on phosphorus solubilization and plant uptake**

Microorganisms' inoculums were prepared on the same way as described above in section 3.1 with a final concentration of the inoculum 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. Although in this assay, the inoculation was performed directly to the plant and not mixed with the substrate.

In these experiments the substrate used was a mix of coconut fibre and perlite (2:1 v:v) mixed with 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of insoluble rock phosphate (Fertiagro S.L). The substrate was fertilized with 100 mL per litre of the substrate with a complete Hoagland solution for non-inoculated plants corresponding to the positive control treatment (C+) and a P-free Hoagland solution for non-inoculated plants as negative control and inoculated plants. The complete Hoagland solution was prepared according to Hoagland & Arnon (1950) and the P-free Hoagland solution was prepared with KCl instead of KH<sub>2</sub>PO. In this case, seeds were surface sterilized by soaking them in ethanol 70% for 3 min and rinsing them with distilled water for 6 times. Then the substrate was placed in plastic pots of 1L and two seeds per pot were sown to guarantee that at least one germinates then were distributed randomised on the greenhouse table, and temperature and humidity were monitored. After 2 weeks, plants were inoculated adding 1 ml of each microorganism aliquot by adding it to the base of the plant with an automatic pipette. For control treatments (C+ and C-), 1 mL of saline solution was added instead of microorganisms. Plants were watered with 40 mL of tap water twice a week and with 40 ml Hoagland solutions with and without P once a week. The measurements performed in the plants were the same as in section 3.2 trials, as described above.

Three experiments (I, II and III) were performed to analyse the effect of inoculation on phosphorus solubilization and plant uptake, all were conducted in the greenhouse of the Faculty of Biology in the Universitat de Barcelona. The setup of the experiments was performed as following:

(I) To assess the effect of inoculation by the leading phosphorus solubilizers in various crops, the experiment design was composed of six treatments corresponding to non-inoculated (C+ and C-), *P. fluorescens* (P2b), *B. subtilis* (B7, B17) and *B. megaterium* (MB18) at a final concentration of  $10^{8}$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>, and five different plants species: maize, sunflower, lettuce, cucumber, and soya, the same species as defined in section 3.2 (experiment i). For each treatment and plant species, 10 pre-sterilized seeds were sown and 5 were left for inoculation. The experiment lasted 6 weeks (5<sup>th</sup> of July 2021 to the 16<sup>th</sup> of August 2021), when the lack of phosphorus was observed. The average temperature was  $27 \pm 4$  °C and the relative humidity was  $67.47 \pm 13\%$ . In this experiment macronutrients (Ca, Fe, K, Mg, P, S and Si) content in plants were analysed for the whole plant. Plants were grinded to obtain plant particles  $\leq 2$  mm, then a representative subsample of 100 mg was further grinded with the help of 3 stainless steel balls in a rotor ball mill (Mixer Mill MM 400) for 3 min at 1500 oscillations min<sup>-</sup>

<sup>1</sup>. A 45 mg of sample was attacked overnight in Teflon reactors with 1 ml HNO<sub>3</sub> and 0.5 ml  $H_2O_2$  at 90 °C and analysed by an inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES), using a Perkin–Elmer apparatus, model Optima-3200RL.

(II) To confirm the effect of phosphorus solubilization and phosphorus uptake on maize (*Zea mays* cv "Tía María") plants by the inoculation of *B. subtilis* B7 and B17 strains an experiment design was composed of four treatments corresponding to non-inoculated plants (C+ and C-) and plants inoculated by two *B. subtilis* at a final concentration of  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. For each treatment, 20 presterilized seeds were sown and then 10 plants were left for inoculation. The experiment lasted 7 weeks (11<sup>th</sup> of October 2021 to the 29<sup>th</sup> of November 2022), within the average temperature  $17 \pm 5$  °C and relative humidity  $63 \pm 17\%$  RH.

(III) To assess the effect of inoculation of strains B7 and B17 on radish, the experiment design was composed of four treatments corresponding to non-inoculated plants (C+ and C-) and plants inoculated by two *B. subtilis* at a final concentration of  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. For each treatment, 24 presterilized seeds were sown and 12 plants of *Raphanus sativus* cv. Rabanito (Fitó SL) were inoculated and grown. In this case, plants were pregerminated in the greenhouse and after a week were transplanted in pots of 0.5 mL, inoculated and left in a growing chamber. The experiment lasted 5 weeks ( $2^{nd}$  of May 2022 until the  $9^{th}$  of June 2022), plants grew under constant controlled environmental conditions, with a photoperiod of 14 h at  $23^{\circ}$ C /  $25^{\circ}$ C day/ night temperature, 70% RH, and 22 W m<sup>-2</sup> light intensity.

#### 4. Statistical analysis

All data was analysed with the SPSS software package version 27.0. For the assessment of biochemical capacities *in vitro*, analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) and the post- hoc Tukey's test were used with a significance level of 95% for each parameter analysed to assess differences between isolated strains. In molybdate reactive phosphate content also a more general statistics was performed by a two-way ANOVA (isolated strains and phosphorus source as fixed factors) and post hoc Tukey's test to determine differences between insoluble phosphorus sources with a significance level of 95%.

For the experiments in assessment of plant growth-promoting capacity tested *in vivo* Dunnett's test was performed making the comparison of the different inoculation treatments with the non-inoculated control plants and, using a significance level of 95%.

#### Results

#### 1. Isolation and analysis of soil samples

Table 1 provides a comprehensive characterization of the soils used for the isolation of *Bacillus subtilis*. and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. The selected soils were evaluated based on reference values from Chapman & Pratt (1973). In terms of pH levels, the soils were identified as alkaline with a pH range: 7.6- 8.5, except for Compost being categorized as very alkaline (9.1 pH value). For electrical conductivity (EC), the soils were generally non-saline (reference range: 0- 2 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), except for Compost, which was considered slightly saline (2- 4 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). Regarding oxidable organic matter (OM), all soil types were deemed suitable for intensive irrigated crops like maize (reference range: 2.0- 3.2% OM), while Soil C and the compost were regarded as excessive (> 4.5% OM). When examining calcium carbonate equivalent content (CaCO<sub>3</sub>), Soil C exhibited low values (< 5% CaCO<sub>3</sub>), Soil A and Compost fell within the normal range (5- 25% CaCO<sub>3</sub>), and Soil B and D showed high carbonate levels (> 25% CaCO<sub>3</sub>). For nitrate content (N-NO<sub>3</sub>), none of the soils were within the appropriate range (20- 25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), Soils B and D, along with Compost, had low nitrate content (< 20 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), whereas Soil A and Soil C showed very high values (> 25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>).

Soil Type	рН	EC <sup>a</sup> (dS m <sup>-1</sup> )	OM <sup>a</sup> (%)	CaCO <sub>3</sub> <sup>a</sup> (%)	N-NO3 <sup>a</sup> (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Texture
Soil A	7.90	0.461	2.98	8	28	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Soil B	7.93	0.427	2.50	34	7	Loam- Sandy
Soil C	7.13	0.530	4.60	< 5	69	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Soil D	8.00	0.528	2.78	26	14	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Compost	9.10	3.0	6.3	7	18	-

Table 1 Characterization of soil samples for nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolation

<sup>a</sup> Parameters analysed meaning; EC to electrical conductivity, OM to oxidable organic matter, CaCO<sub>3</sub> to calcium carbonate equivalent and N-NO<sub>3</sub> to nitrate content

The majority of isolated *B. subtilis* strains were found in Compost (69%), with a few from different soil types, specifically Soils A, B, and D, with most strains being found in bulk soil (85%) except for strain B20 and B21, which were isolated from maize rhizosphere (Table 2). For *P. fluorescens* slightly more than half of the isolated strains were found in Soil B (54%), with the remainder in Compost (31%) and Soil A (15%), being equally found between bulk soil and the maize and wheat rhizosphere (Table 2). No strains were isolated from Soil C (Table 2).

Pseu	domonas flor	escence	Bacil	lus subtilis		Bacillus megaterium	
ID <sup>a</sup>	Soil Type <sup>b</sup>	Isolation site	ID <sup>a</sup>	Soil Type <sup>b</sup>	Isolation site	ID <sup>a</sup>	Collection <sup>c</sup>
P1	Compost	Bulk soil	B1	Compost	Bulk soil	MB2	Biocontrol
P2a	Compost	Bulk soil	B3	Compost	Bulk soil	MB10	Biocontrol
P2b	Compost	Bulk soil	B4b	Compost	Bulk soil	MB16	Biocontrol
P2c	Compost	Bulk soil	B5	Compost	Bulk soil	MB17	Biocontrol
P3	Soil B	Bulk soil	B7	Compost	Bulk soil	MB18	Biocontrol
P4a	Soil A	Bulk soil	B9	Compost	Bulk soil	MB19	Biocontrol
P4b	Soil A	Bulk soil	B10	Compost	Bulk soil		
P5	Soil B	Rhizosphere (wheat)	B12	Soil A	Bulk soil		
P6	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)	B13	Soil A	Bulk soil		
P7	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)	B16	Compost	Bulk soil		
P8	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)	B17	Compost	Bulk soil		
P10	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)	B20	Soil D	Rhizosphere (maize)		
P20	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)	B21	Soil B	Rhizosphere (maize)		

**Table 2** Comprehensive list of all microbial isolates included in this chapter, with soil type and their sources and associated plant species.

<sup>a</sup>Code for the identification of each of the isolated strains

<sup>b</sup> Soil type from which the strain was isolated being Soil A, B, C and D and Compost

<sup>c</sup> Isolates from Biocontrol Technologies S.L Collection

#### 2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro of the isolated strains

# 2.1 Indole-3-acetic acid, siderophores production and phosphorus solubilizing capacity

Table 3 shows that *B. subtilis* strains B5 and B7, followed by B17, as well as the *P. fluorescens* strains P10 and P7, yielded promising outcomes as IAA producers. Among the *Bacillus strains*, B5 stood out by demonstrating a mean production of  $34.5 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ . However, the *Pseudomonas* strains P7 and P10 exhibited the highest levels of production, ranging between  $46 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$  and  $61 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ , respectively, after the incubation period.

ID <sup>a</sup>	Indole-3-acetic acid	Phosphate solubi	ilizing	capacity (µg molybdate reactive	phosphorus mL <sup>-1</sup> )	Siderophores (	cm colony halo)
	(µg mg protein <sup>-1</sup> )	Hydroxyapatite		Phytate	Iron Phosphate (III)	5 DAI	10 DAI
B3	$10.34 \pm 2.9$ abc	$10.95 \pm 1.4 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.00 \pm 0.1$ a $\alpha$	$0.38 \pm 1.3 \text{ ab}  \alpha$	nd	nd
B4b	$9.60 \pm 3.1 \text{ ab}$	$10.71 \pm 1.1 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.00\pm 0$ a $lpha$	$0.72 \pm 1.4$ abc $\alpha$	nd	nd
B5	34.50 ± 1.2 c	$7.35 \pm 1.1 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.12 \pm 1.2$ b $\alpha$	$0.80 \pm 1.5 \text{ abc } \alpha$	nd	nd
B7	30.63 ± 3.5 c	$16.29 \pm 2.1$ ab	β	$0.00\pm0.3$ a $\alpha$	$0.31 \pm 1.3 \text{ ab}  \alpha$	$0.23\pm0.06~\text{a}$	$0.25\pm0.08~a$
B9	$11.94 \pm 1.4 \text{ abc}$	$5.45 \pm 10.4 ab$	β	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	<b>0.90 <math>\pm</math> 1.5 bc <math>\alpha</math></b>	nd	nd
B10	$9.08\pm2.1$ ab	nd		nd	nd	nd	nd
B12	$9.84\pm0.6~abc$	16.93 ± 7.6 b	β	$0.00\pm0.2$ a $\alpha$	$0.62 \pm 1.4$ abc $\alpha$	$0.17 \pm 0.03$ a	$0.45\pm0.05\;ab$
B13	$0.67 \pm 0.2$ a	$0.00 \pm 0.4$ a	β	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	$0.45 \pm 1.4 \ ab \ \alpha$	nd	nd
B16	$3.48\pm0.1~ab$	$6.60 \pm 2.9 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.00\pm0.8$ a $\alpha$	$0.11 \pm 1.2$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
B17	$21.45 \pm 2.1$ bcd	$13.99 \pm 1.7 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\alpha$	$0.28 \pm 1.3 \text{ ab}  \alpha$	$0.2\pm0.08$ a	$0.45\pm0.12$ ab
B20	nd <sup>a</sup>	$14.31 \pm 1.8 \text{ ab}$	β	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	$0.51\pm1.4~ab~\alpha$	$0.2\pm 0$ a	$0.48\pm0.04~ab$
MB2	nd	$1.18 \pm 1.7$ a	β	$0.00 \pm 1.2$ a $\alpha$	$0.55\pm1.4~b~~\alpha$	nd	nd
MB10	nd	$15.77\pm1.1~\text{b}$	β	$0.01 \pm 1.2 \ \mathbf{ab} \ \alpha$	$0.05\pm1.2~b~~\alpha$	nd	nd
MB16	nd	$16.05\pm0.9~b$	β	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	$0.00\pm0$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
MB17	nd	$22.43 \pm 1.5$ bc	β	$0.00\pm0.8$ a $\alpha$	$0.20 \pm 1.3 \text{ b}$ a	nd	nd
MB18	nd	$\textbf{33.08} \pm 5.9 \text{ c}$	β	$0.00\pm0.8$ a $\alpha$	$5.08 \pm 2.9$ c $\alpha$	nd	$0.98 \pm 0.07$ c
MB19	nd	$19.95\pm0.6\ b$	β	$0.00\pm0.7~a$ $\alpha$	$0.81 \pm 1.5 \ b  \alpha$	nd	$0.85 \pm 0.12$ bc
P1	$5.07 \pm 1.1$ a	$14.16 \pm 5.5 \text{ abc}$	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.6$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	$0.2\pm0.0$ a	$0.78\pm0.14$ a
P2a	$10.94 \pm 1.6$ a	$23.48 \pm 3.5$ cd	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.1$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 1.3$ a $\alpha$	$0.5\pm0.0$ a	$0.83\pm0.02$ a
P2b	$4.11 \pm 0.5 \text{ a}$	$21.61 \pm 1.4$ cd	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.4$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\alpha$	$1.1 \pm 0.12$ a	$1.93 \pm 0.03$ b
P2c	$5.88 \pm 0.6$ a	$17.23 \pm 5.2$ bcd	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.7$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
Р3	$4.64 \pm 0.3$ a	$8.54 \pm 2.3$ abc	δ	$0.00\pm0.7$ a $~\beta$	$0.00\pm0.4$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P4a	$3.52 \pm 1.4$ a	$8.62 \pm 2.3$ abc	δ	$0.00 \pm 0$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P4b	$10.20 \pm 1.0$ a	33.51 ± 2.9 d	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 2.3$ a $\alpha$	$0.1\pm0.0  a$	$0.88\pm0.43~a$
P5	$6.80 \pm 1.0$ a	$0.35 \pm 1.1 \text{ ab}$	δ	$0.00 \pm 1.2$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P6	nd	$6.85 \pm 0.7$ abc	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.1$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P7	$46.53 \pm 0.4$ ab	$0.00\pm0.6~a$	δ	$0.01 \pm 1.3$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P8	$11.20 \pm 0.6$ a	$7.05 \pm 3.7$ abc	δ	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P10	61.41 ± 5.6 b	$6.59 \pm 1.3 \text{ abc}$	δ	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\beta$	$0.00 \pm 0.2$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd
P20	$0.88 \pm 0.8$ a	$15.81 \pm 7$ abcd	δ	$0.00 \pm 0.9$ a $\beta$	$0.00\pm0.1$ a $\alpha$	nd	nd

Chapter 1: *Bacillus spp.* and *Pseudomonas spp.* as potential candidates to develop a biofertilizer Table 3 *In vitro* evaluation of indole-3-acetic acid production, phosphate solubilizing capacity and siderophores production of *Bacillus spp.* and *P. fluorescens.* 

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n= 3). Values marked with lowcase letter are significantly different between isolates (ID) and values marked with a greek letter are significant different between phosphorus sources determined through a two-way ANOVA and Tukey's analysis test (with p-value < 0.05). \* Non-determined (nd.)

The response of phosphorus solubilization by the microorganisms also varied depending on the source of insoluble phosphorus, higher solubilization values were observed in the hydroxyapatite-enriched NBRIP medium compared to the phytate and iron phosphate-enriched media (Table 3). In terms of hydroxyapatite solubilizing capacity stand out *B. megaterium* strains MB18 and MB17 and *B. subtilis* strain B12 which exhibited notable phosphorus solubilizing capacity after 7 days, showcasing an increment of molybdate reactive phosphorus of 14%, 9.7% and 8.6% respectively. Among phytate solubilizing capacity of the strains, the highest values were observed in strains B5 and MB10 with increments of 0.05% and 0.004%, and in iron phosphate (III) higher values were obtained with MB18 and B9 strains by increasing a 2% and 0.3% molybdite reactive phosphorus solubilization nor in phytate or iron phosphate (III) enriched NBRIP medium, although in hydroxyapatite-enriched media a significant higher solubilization was observed in some strains such P4b, P2a and P2b sowing a 14%, 10% and 9% increment of molybdate reactive P, compared to others.

Regarding siderophore production values *Bacillus* spp. strains MB18 and MB19 did not exhibit apparent siderophore production effects within the initial 5 days, however, after 10 days, a noticeable halo appeared, with substantial diameter of 0.98 cm and 0.85 cm, respectively. As well as *P. fluorescens* strain P2b displayed halo colour change with 1.93 cm halo diameter after 10 days.

## 2.2 Rate of indole-3-acetic acid production by *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* top producers

The peak of IAA production in *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 was observed at 72 hours, as indicated by the black dots in Figure 1. In contrast, the *P. fluorescens* represented strains did not show a well-defined peak, specifically strain P7, while strain P10 displayed a continuous increase in IAA production after 72 and 96 hours. Further time points were not sampled, so the exact timing of the production peak remains undetermined.

The progression of protein concentration identified in the medium is depicted in Figure 1, represented by white dots. The increase in protein follows a different pattern compared to IAA production. In *B. subtilis* strains, protein levels showed a consistent increase from 48 to 96 hours. For *P. fluorescens* strains, there was an increase in protein concentration after 48 hours (strain P10), followed by a stabilization over time. In cultures of *P. fluorescens* and *B. subtilis*, the IAA content typically ranged between 5  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> and 20  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>, but for P10 strain of *P. fluorescens* exhibited a remarkable increase in IAA content, from 20  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> to 100  $\mu$ g mL-1 after 96 hours. These results highlight the uniqueness and potential impact of the P10 strain on auxin production.



#### 2.3 Phosphorus solubilizing capacity, organic acids and pH determination

*B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 exhibited high levels of molybdate reactive phosphorus in the medium enriched with hydroxyapatite, along with a lower pH compared to non-inoculated medium. Specifically, in NBRIP media inoculated with strain B7 the pH decreased from 6.8 to 5.7 and in the medium inoculated with strain B17 it decreased to 5.9 (Table 4). Among the organic acids identified, malic acid was the most abundant, followed by gluconic and acetic acid in both strains. Additionally, fumaric acid was significantly more abundant in the medium inoculated by *B. subtilis* strain B7 compared to B17 (Table 4).

**Table 4** Phosphorus solubilizing capacity of *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 and pH and organic acid content in National Botanical Research Institute's Phosphate medium enriched with hydroxyapatite

ID <sup>a</sup>	PSC <sup>b</sup>	рН°	Organic acid production (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )						
			Malic	Gluconic	Oxalic	Glucuronic	Fumaric	Acetic	Lactic
B7	16.29 ± 2.1	5.7 ± 0.03 *	26.36 ± 6	0.01 ± 0	3.09 ± 0.9	14.74 ± 2.1	0.07 ±0*	9.60 ± 0.9	8.27 ± 0
B17	13.99 ± 1.7	$\begin{array}{c} 5.9 \\ \pm \ 0.05 \end{array}$	26.03 ± 8	-	$\begin{array}{c} 1.32 \\ \pm \ 0.3 \end{array}$	5.28 ± 0.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ \pm 0 \end{array}$	9.26 ± 1	3.11 ± 7

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n= 4). Asterisks represent significant differences between B7 and B17 strains determined through a t-student test (p-vale < 0.05)

<sup>a</sup> ID microorganisms

<sup>b</sup> Phosphorus solubilizing capacity (PSC) by increment of molybdate reactive in the medium with units mg L<sup>-1</sup> <sup>c</sup> pH compared to non-inoculated medium pH (6.8)

### 3. Assessment of isolates' efficacy as plant growth-promoting

#### rhizobacteria (PGPR) in plant

#### 3.1 Improvement in germination

*B. subtilis* (B7) showed a significant increase in germination percentages of 11% and 17% in Experiments A and C, respectively, compared to non-inoculated plants (C). Similarly, *B. subtilis* (B17) exhibited higher germination percentages of 10% and 13% in Experiments B and C, respectively (Figure 2). Regarding seed quality traits, there were no discernible differences in the days to reach 50% seed germination between treatments. However, noteworthy variations were apparent across experiments; for instance, the germination period in Experiment A was comparatively longer, ranging from 4 days in Experiments B or C to over 7 days in Experiment A. The same pattern was observed in seed vigour values and seedling weights, with higher values recorded in Experiments B and C (Table 5). On the other hand, seedling establishment values exhibited consistency across both experiments and treatments, except for combination treatment at experiment A (lowest values). No significant improvement for any of the studied parameters and experiment were observed for the combination of B7 and B17 strains.

The most notable improvement in quality traits among the plants was observed in the seed vigour values, in this regard, *B. subtilis* strain B17 demonstrated significantly higher values compared to non-inoculated seeds (C), showing a remarkable increase of 60% in Experiment B (Table 5).



**Figure 2**: Effect of bacterial treatments on *Solanum lycopersicum* cv "Roma" seeds germination. Data is organized in tree experiments conducted A (March 2021), B (May 2021) and C (June 2021). In each set, black bars represent non- inoculated control plants, while the other bars indicate plants inoculated with *Bacillus subtilis* strains B7, B17 and the combination of both (B7+B17) at a concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> of substrate. Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3) represented with error bars. Values marked with asterisks are significantly different compared to the control (p-value < 0.05), determined through Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (Control).

Exp <sup>a</sup>	Treatment <sup>b</sup>	Time 50% (days)	Seed vigour	Seedling establishment (%)	Seedling weight (g)
А	Control	>7	$80.00\pm5.2$	$56.67 \pm 4.4$	$0.022\pm0$
	B7	>7	$92.50\pm10.4$	$51.67\pm4.4$	$0.025\pm0$
	B17	>7	$57.29 \pm 11.9$	$41.67 \pm 1.7$	$0.023\pm0$
	B7+17	>7	$21.19 \pm 11.8$	$28.33\pm 0.1$	$0.021\pm0$
В	С	$4.25 \pm 1$	$181.13\pm17.1$	$60.00\pm4.6$	$0.120\pm0$
	B7	$6.25\pm0.8$	$185.55\pm38.9$	$42.50\pm10.5$	$0.099\pm0$
	B17	$3.25\pm0.6$	286.98 ± 13.4 *	$68.75 \pm 10.5$	$0.153\pm0$
	B7+17	$3.50\pm0.9$	$251.23\pm28.3$	$67.50\pm5.2$	$0.150\pm0$
С	С	$4.25\pm0.3$	$236.56\pm24.3$	$52.50\pm 6.6$	$0.954 \pm 0.1$
	B7	$4.00\pm0$	$217.81\pm25.6$	$57.50\pm 6$	$1.100\pm0.2$
	B17	$4.00\pm0$	$221.25\pm25.6$	$58.75 \pm 10.5$	$0.861 \pm 0.1$
	B7+17	$4.75\pm0.3$	$205.31\pm37$	$51.25\pm9.7$	$0.888\pm0.2$

**Table 5** Seed quality traits of *Solanum lycopersicum* cv. "Roma" as defined in the technical guide

 Bio-stimulants Regulation CEN/TS 17700-2

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=3 blocks). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (Control) for each experiment (A, B and C)

<sup>a</sup> Data organized across three experiments (A - March 2021, B - May 2021, C - June 2021)

<sup>b</sup> Treatments are as follows: Control (no inoculation), *Bacillus subtilis* B7 and B17 strains at 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> substrate and the combination of both (B7+B17)

#### **3.2 Growth promotion capacity**

#### 3.2.1 Growth promotion by the leading producers of indole-3 acetic acid in

#### various crops

In cucumber plants, significant differences were observed in the aerial height of plants between the control and those treated with B7 and B17 (Table 6). Specifically, B17-treated plants displayed a remarkable 14.17% increase in shoot length, while B7-inoculated plants exhibited a 10.50% rise compared to the control. Moreover, plants treated with *B. subtilis* strain B17 demonstrated a higher shoot fresh weight with an increase of 21.7% compared to non-treated plants.

In maize plants, there were significant differences in shoot length between inoculated and noninoculated plants (Table 6). All microbial inoculations (P10, B7, and B17) contributed to increased plant height. For shoot weight, significant differences were noted in B7 compared to the control plants, both in fresh and dry weight, with an increase of 31.55% in fresh weight and 15.30% in dry weight. However, no differences were observed in root fresh and dry weight.

In lettuce plants, significant differences between non-treated and inoculated plants were observed in plant length and shoot fresh and dry weight (Table 6). In particular, the inoculated lettuce plants

showed significant improvements in these parameters compared to the non-treated ones.

Conversely, no notable differences were noted in root measurements.

Plant specie	Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Shoot length (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)
Cucumber	Control	$11.93\pm0.3$	$1.38\pm0.1$	$0.09\pm0.0$	$0.77\pm0.01$	$0.04\pm0.003$
	P10	$12.62\pm0.4$	$1.48\pm0.1$	$0.10\pm0.1$	$0.88\pm0.01$	$0.04\pm0.002$
	B7	$13.33 \pm 0.3$ *	$1.55\pm0.1$	$0.11\pm0.1$	$0.88\pm0.01$	$0.04\pm0.004$
	B17	13.9 ± 0.3 *	1.68 ± 0.1 *	$0.11\pm0.1$	$0.87\pm0.01$	$0.04\pm0.003$
Maize	Control	$29.26 \pm 1.1$	$1.54\pm0.1$	$0.13\pm0.1$	$1.93\pm0.01$	$0.16\pm0.010$
	P10	$34.53 \pm 0.9$ *	1.96 ± 0.1 *	$0.17\pm0.1$	$2.06\pm0.01$	$0.16\pm0.008$
	B7	34.56 ± 1.2 *	$2.20 \pm 0.1$ *	$0.18 \pm 0.1$ *	$2.08\pm0.01$	$0.16\pm0.009$
	B17	33.92 ± 1.3 *	1.89 ± 0.1 *	$0.17\pm0.1$	$1.80\pm0.01$	$0.14\pm0.011$
Lettuce	Control	$7.1\pm0.3$	$0.46\pm0.04$	$0.02\pm0.02$	$0.17\pm0.002$	$0.01\pm0.002$
	P10	$7.93 \pm 0.2$ *	$0.67 \pm 0.03$ *	$0.03 \pm 0.02$ *	$0.21\pm0.002$	$0.02\pm0.002$
	B7	$8.58 \pm 0.2$ *	$0.76 \pm 0.04$ *	$0.03 \pm 0.02$ *	$0.20\pm0.002$	$0.03\pm0.014$
	B17	8.15 ± 0.2 *	$0.68 \pm 0.04$ *	$0.03\pm0.02$ *	$0.19\pm0.003$	$0.01\pm0.001$

**Table 6 Effect of bacterial treatments on** plant growth in Zea mays cv. "Tía María", Helianthus annuus cv "Russian Giant", Glycine max cv "Palafolls", Cucumis sativus cv "del país" and Lacttuca sativa cv "Morella."

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=16). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (Control)

<sup>a</sup> Treatment as follows: non-inoculated (Control) and inoculated with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (P10) and *Bacillus subtilis* (B7 and B17) at a concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> substrate.

#### 3.2.2 Growth promotion of the second-best auxin producers in maize plants

#### (Zea mays cv. Tía María)

Notable differences were observed in shoot fresh and dry weight between the control plants and those inoculated with *B.subtilis* (B7) (Table 7). Plants inoculated with B7 exhibited a 20% and 7.86% higher shoot fresh and dry weight, respectively, compared to the non-inoculated plants. No significant differences were observed in root biomass or plant height for all the other tested *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* strains, as well as by the inoculation with *T. asperellum* T34.

Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Shoot lenght (cm)	Plant lenght (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)
Control	$9.44\pm0.7$	$40.77\pm1.5$	$2.08\pm0.1$	$0.13\pm0.01$	$1.86\pm0.1$	$0.16\pm0.02$
P2a	$9.36\pm0.5$	$38.09\pm 1.3$	$2.16\pm0.1$	$0.14\pm0.01$	$1.83\pm0.2$	$0.13\pm0.01$
P7	$8{,}22\pm0.7$	$\textbf{33,88} \pm \textbf{1.4}$	$1.77\pm0.1$	$0.11\pm0.01$	$1.49\pm0.1$	$0.14\pm0.01$
T34	$8.8\pm 0.5$	$35.4 \pm 1.4$	$1.87\pm0.1$	$0.12\pm0.01$	$1.94\pm0.1$	$0.13\pm0.01$
B3	$10.66\pm0.4$	$39.44 \pm 1.2$	$2.26\pm0.1$	$0.15\pm0.01$	$1.67\pm0.1$	$0.11\pm0.01$
B7	$10.25\pm0.5$	$41.8\pm1$	$2.50 \pm 0.2$ *	0.18 ± 0.01 *	$2.02\pm0.1$	$0.11\pm0.01$
B9	$8.22\pm0.7$	$33.88 \pm 1.4$	$1.77\pm0.1$	$0.11\pm0.01$	$1.49\pm0.1$	$0.14\pm0.01$
B12	$9.95\pm0.4$	$40.5\pm0.7$	$2.28\pm0.1$	$0.15\pm0.01$	$2.11\pm0.1$	$0.14\pm0.01$

Table 7 Effect on Zea mays cv. "Tía María" plant growth by the second-best auxin producers

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=12). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (Control)

<sup>a</sup> Treatment as follows; non-inoculated (Control) and inoculated with *Bacillus subtilis* (B3, B7, B9 and B12), with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (P2a and P7) at a concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> substrate and with *Trichoderma asperellum* (T34) at a concentration of 10<sup>4</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>

#### 3.2.3 Growth effect of B. subtilis strain B7 in four different maize cultivars

In the "Hatay" maize cultivar differences in plant length were noted after 18 days between noninoculated (control) and *B. subtilis* B7-inoculated plants, particularly at a concentration of  $1 \cdot 10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>, resulting in a 7.6% increase. Similarly, for "Palomero" maize cultivar, significant differences were observed in the shoot fresh weight by inoculation of strain B7 at a concentration of  $1 \cdot 10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>, leading to a 17.5% increase (Table 8). For the "Tía María" cultivar, differences were observed in both fresh and dry shoot biomass between untreated plants and those treated with the highest concentration of *B. subtilis* (1.55 \cdot 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>). In the "Cruz" maize cultivar, there was a 10% increase in shoot dry weight at a B7 concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> (Table 8).

Cultivar <sup>a</sup>	Treatment <sup>b</sup>	Plant lengh (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)
Hatay	Control	$3.37\pm0.1$	$0.54\pm0.05$	$0.03\pm0$
	B7 10 <sup>7</sup>	$3.95 \pm 0.2$ *	$0.57\pm0.05$	$0.04\pm0$
	B7 10 <sup>8</sup>	$3.54\pm0.2$	$0.52\pm0.05$	$0.04\pm0$
Palomero	Control	$2.77\pm0.1$	$0.4\pm0.02$	$0.04\pm0$
	B7 10 <sup>7</sup>	$2.95\pm0.1$	$0.47 \pm 0.04$ *	$0.03\pm0$
	B7 10 <sup>8</sup>	$3\pm0.2$	$0.44\pm0.04$	$0.03\pm0$
Tía María	Control	$9.86\pm0.3$	$2.31\pm0.09$	$0.24\pm0.01$
	B7 10 <sup>7</sup>	$10.08\pm0.3$	$2.2\pm0.15$	$0.22\pm0.01$
	B7 10 <sup>8</sup>	$9.83\pm0.3$	$2.39 \pm 0.09$ *	$0.28 \pm 0.01$ *
Cruz	Control	$11.08\pm0.4$	$2.22\pm0.22$	$0.23\pm0.02$
	B7 10 <sup>7</sup>	$10.04\pm0.7$	$2.27\pm0.16$	$0.25 \pm 0.01$ *
	B7 10 <sup>8</sup>	$10.61\pm0.4$	$2.22\pm0.13$	$0.21\pm0.01$

Table 8 Effect of inoculation of Bacillus subtilis strain B7 in different Zea mays varieties

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=12). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between the two B7 concentrations inoculum and Control plants. <sup>a</sup> Different maize cultivars being "Hatay," "Palomero," "Tía María," and "Cruz".

<sup>b</sup> Treatment as follows; non-inoculated (Control) and inoculated with *Bacillus subtilis* strain B7 at two different concentrations 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and 1.55·10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>

#### 3.3 Phosphorus solubilizing capacity

#### 3.3.1 Impact of top isolates (strains P2b, B7, B17 and MB18) in maize and

#### sunflower fertilized with P-free nutrient solution

When comparing non-inoculated plants fertilized with a phosphorus-free Hoagland solution (C-P) to those fertilized with a complete Hoagland solution (C+P), significant differences were observed (Table 9). In sunflower plants, the C+P treatment resulted in higher shoot fresh and dry weights, while in maize, there were significant increases in plant length, shoot fresh and dry weights, and root fresh and dry weights. These findings highlight the critical role of phosphorus in plant development, as the complete Hoagland solution significantly enhanced plant growth. Additionally, a significant increase in sunflower shoot fresh weight when inoculated with all tested isolates, with P2b, B7, B17, and MB18 resulting in increases of 13%, 44%, 52%, and 32%, respectively, compared to non-inoculated plants without phosphorus fertilization (C-P). Additionally, differences were observed in shoot dry weight between non-inoculated plants and those inoculated with B7 and B17, showing increases of 46% and 53%, respectively. For root dry weight, only plants inoculated with strain B17 exhibited a notable difference, with values 68% higher than those of non-phosphorus fertilized sunflower plants (Table 9).

In the evaluated maize parameters, various differences were observed concerning the effect of inoculation compared to the values obtained from non-inoculated maize plants fertilized without soluble phosphorus (C-P) (Table 9). Firstly, significant differences were noted in leaf number due to the inoculation with strains P2b, B7, and MB18, also differences in plant length were also observed, particularly with plants inoculated with *B. subtilis* strains B7, B17, and *B. megaterium* MB18, showing increases of 30%, 28%, and 26%, respectively. Additionally, variations in biomass values were evident, significant differences were noted in shoot fresh weight due to the inoculation with strains P2b, B7, B17, and MB18 with increases of 61%, 81%, 84% and 57% respectively compared to non-inoculated plants (C-P), which were later reflected in substantial differences in shoot dry weight, by inoculation with P2b, B7, and B17 which led to increases of 70%, 48%, and 91%, respectively, compared to non-inoculated maize plants. Furthermore, differences were observed in underground biomass values, with B7 inoculation resulting in increases of 95% and 110% in fresh and dry root weight, respectively, and B17 inoculation resulting in a 93% increase in dry root weight compared to non-inoculated plants (C-P).

Plant specie	Treat. <sup>a</sup>	Number of leaves	Plant length (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)
Sunflower	C+P	14,6 ± 0.6 *	$82.8\pm4.1$	36.01 ± 1.4 *	3.85 ± 0.1 *	$11.21 \pm 1$	$0,\!83\pm0,\!1$
	C-P	$12,5 \pm 0.4$	$72.5\pm5.3$	$16.79\pm1.5$	$2.28 \pm 0.2$	$10.57\pm0.5$	$0,73 \pm 0$
	P2b	$12,\!2\pm0.8$	$74.7\pm4.7$	18.98 ± 1.4 *	$2.51\ \pm 0.2$	$10.48\pm0.3$	$0,78\pm0$
	B7	$13{,}4\pm0.2$	$82.4\pm3.4$	24.20 ± 1.5 *	$3.32 \pm 0.2 *$	$10.74 \pm 1$	$0,74\pm0,1$
	B17	$12,\!6\pm0.6$	$79.8\pm 3.8$	25.59 ± 1.4 *	$3.49 \pm 0.4 *$	$10.72\pm0.9$	1,23 ± 0,2 *
	MB18	$14,\!4\pm0.4$	$84.8\pm2.7$	22.14 ± 1 *	$2.85\ \pm 0.1$	$10.50\pm0.5$	$0,\!79\pm0,\!1$
Maize	C+P	$9,2 \pm 0.5$	140.4 ± 6 *	70.38 ± 5.2 *	12.74 ± 2 *	24.79 ± 3.7 *	2,01 ± 0,3 *
	C-P	$8,4 \pm 0.4$	97.6 ± 10	$25.22\pm5.3$	3.47 ± 1	$11.30\pm3.3$	$1,03 \pm 0,3$
	P2b	10,0 ± 0.4 *	$120.7\pm2.3$	40.71 ± 1.4 *	5.89 $\pm$ 0.9 *	$18.41 \pm 1.1$	$1,\!61 \pm 0,\!1$
	B7	10,0 ± 0.3 *	126.8 ± 4.8 *	45.69 ± 2.5 *	5.13 ± 0.2 *	22.09 ± 1.2 *	2,17 ± 0,2 *
	B17	$8{,}6\pm0.3$	125.3 ± 8 *	43.92 ± 1.9 *	6.62 ± 1 *	$19.58\pm0.6$	1,99 ± 0,1 *
	MB18	10,2 ± 0.2 *	123.0 ± 5.8 *	39.71 ± 2.4 *	$4.01\pm0.1~\text{a}$	$14.58\pm0.7$	$1,\!47\pm0,\!1$

Table 9 Effect in Zea mays cv "Tía María" and Helianthus annuus cv "Russian Giant" plant growth by the phosphorus solubilizing top isolates

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=5). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (C-P)

<sup>a</sup> Treatment as follow: to non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland (C-P), plants non-inoculated and fertilized with complete Hoagland solution (C+P), and plants fertilized with free-P Hoagland and inoculated with *Pseudomonas florescens* strain P2b, *Bacillus subtilis* strains B7 and B17 and *Bacillus megaterium* strain MB18 at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>

Regarding the analysed nutrient content in maize plants (Table 10) inoculated with *B. subtilis* strain B17 exhibited a significant increase of 59% in phosphorus per plant compared to non-

inoculated plants, also the calcium content was significantly higher (44%) than in the inoculated plants.

Conversely, in sunflower plants, there was no significant increase in phosphorus content per plant between inoculated and non-inoculated groups, although a tendency to increase phosphorus content was observed in plants treated mainly with *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 (Table 10). Although significant differences are observed in potassium content between non-inoculated plants without phosphorus fertilization (C-P) and plants inoculated with *B.subtilis* strain B17 with a content increase of 47% (Table 10).

Table 10 Effect of nutrient content in Zea mays and Helianthus annuus inoculated with the phosphorus solubilizing top isolates

Plant	Treat. <sup>a</sup>			Nutrient conten	nt (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )		
specie		Potassium (K)	Calcium (Ca)	Magnesium (Mg)	Iron (Fe)	Phosphorus (P)	Sulphur (S)
Sunflower	C+P	329 ± 16.5 *	$31.67\pm3.2$	15.02 ± 1.4 *	$0.22\pm0.03$	10.94 ± 0.6 *	8.36 ± 0.8 *
	C-P	$153\pm4.4$	$20.65\pm4$	$8.55\pm0.9$	$0.20\pm0.06$	$1.31\pm0.2$	$4.09\pm0.5$
	P2b	$171\pm19.7$	$23.80\pm2.3$	$9.14\pm0.3$	$0.16\pm0.02$	$1.64\pm0.1$	$4.59\pm0.2$
	B7	$197\pm12.7$	$25.87\pm2.2$	$9.94 \pm 1.3$	$0.29\pm0.07$	$2.10\pm0.4$	$4.97\pm0.7$
	B17	225 ± 27.8 *	$30.64\pm5.2$	$11.97 \pm 1.3$	$0.22\pm0.03$	$2.02\pm0.3$	$6.05\pm1.5$
	MB18	$191 \pm 11.1$	$25.52\pm0.9$	$10.08\pm0.7$	$0.14\pm0.02$	$1.65\pm0.1$	$4.45\pm0.2$
Maize	C+P	664 ± 98.9 *	26.29 ± 4.7 *	26.59 ± 4.7 *	1.04± 0.22 *	21.32 ± 2.7 *	15.32 ± 1.7 *
	C-P	$217\pm56.5$	$7.03\pm1.5$	$7.64 \pm 2$	$0.40\pm0.04$	$2.23\pm0.3$	$4.50\pm1.0$
	P2b	$297\pm57.7$	$10.18\pm2.1$	$10.89\pm2.3$	$0.51\pm0.23$	$3.27\pm0.6$	$6.40\pm1.3$
	B7	$292\pm9.8$	$9.56\pm0.7$	$10.14\pm0.2$	$0.31\pm0.02$	$2.95\pm0.2$	$5.84\pm 0.4$
	B17	$347\pm49.06$	12.17 ± 0.8 *	$12.67 \pm 1.7$	$0.51\pm0.09$	$3.55 \pm 0.6$ *	$6.91\pm0.8$
	MB18	$234\pm13.53$	$7.91\pm0.7$	$8.90\pm 0.7$	$0.28\pm0.05$	$2.19\pm0.1$	$4.85\pm 0.4$

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=5). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (C-P)<sup>a</sup> Treatments as follow: non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland (C-), and inoculated with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain P2b, *Bacillus subtilis* strains B7 and B17 and *Bacillus megaterium* strain MB18 at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>

3.3.2 Confirmatory effect of Bacillus subtilis strain B7 and B17 in phosphate

uptake in maize fertilized with P-free nutrient solution.

In the context of plants fertilized without soluble P, significant differences emerged between noninoculated and inoculated maize plants in terms of shoot fresh and dry weight, notably, plants inoculated with *B subtilis* strain B7 exhibited a 5% higher value in fresh shoot weight and a 9% higher value in dry weight compared to non-inoculated plants (Table 11). Interestingly, there were no discernible differences in plant length among treatments, including between plants fertilized without soluble P and those with a complete Hoagland solution. Maize plant length exhibited a consistent pattern of increase across all plants, irrespective of inoculation status (Table 11).

Treat. <sup>a</sup>	1	Shoot le	enght (cm) <sup>b</sup>		Shoot fresh	Shoot dry	
	T1	T2	T3	T4	weight (g)	weight (g)	
C+P	$16.15\pm0.1$	$20.75\pm0.2$	$29.90\pm0.2$	$40.35\pm0.2$	$68.33 \pm 0.6$ *	6.41 ± 0.06 *	
C-P	$15.65\pm0$	$19.80\pm0.1$	$27.75\pm0.3$	$38.85\pm0.3$	$54.55\pm0.3$	$5.50\pm0.04$	
B7	$16.95\pm0$	$21.40\pm0.1$	$30.05\pm0.2$	$40.20\pm0.2$	57.77 ± 0.2 *	6.07 ± 0.05 *	
B17	$16.35\pm0.1$	$20.55\pm0.2$	$28.80\pm 0.4$	$40.45\pm0.6$	$55.67\pm0.7$	$5.44\pm0.06$	

Table 11 Plant growth promotion of maize inoculated with B. subtilis strains B7 and B17

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=10). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (C-P)

<sup>a</sup> Treatments as follow: non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland (C-), non-inoculated plants and fertilized with complete Hoagland solution (C+), and plants inoculated with Bacillus subtilis strain B7 and strain B17 at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>b</sup> Stem length at first week (T1), second week (T2), third week (T3) and fourth week (T4) after inoculation

#### 3.3.3 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* strain B7 and strain B17 in phosphate uptake in radish plants fertilized with P-free nutrient solution

To assess the impact of microbial inoculation on radish plants, we compared non-inoculated plants fertilized with a complete Hoagland solution (C+) to those treated with a P-free Hoagland solution (C-). The results revealed a significant increase in plant growth when the complete Hoagland solution was applied, indicating a phosphorus deficit in radish plants (Table 12). When evaluating differences in shoot dry weight between non-inoculated plants and those inoculated with B. subtilis strain B7 at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>, a notable increase of 20% in plant values was observed (Table 12). However, no significant difference in radish root weight was observed between inoculated and non-inoculated plants.

Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Leaves number	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)
C+P	$6{,}45\pm0{,}2$	11,67 ± 0,5 *	1,17 ± 0,09 *	20,08 ± 1,3 *	1,54 ± 0,06 *
C-P	$5,91 \pm 0,2$	$5,19 \pm 0,2$	$0,56 \pm 0,02$	$13,94 \pm 0,8$	$1,02 \pm 0,06$

 $1,09 \pm 0,03$ 

 $1,08 \pm 0,05$ 

**B**7

B17

Table 12 Effect of inoculation of B. subtilis strains B7 and B17 in Raphanus sativus cv "Rabanito" plant growth

Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=12). Significantly different values are marked with an asterisk based on Dunnett's analysis test (p-value < 0.05) between inoculated and non-inoculated plants (C-P)

 $0,69 \pm 0,05 *$ 

 $0,59 \pm 0,05$ 

 $13,9 \pm 0,4$ 

 $14,89 \pm 0,6$ 

 $5,58 \pm 0,3$ 

 $5,35 \pm 0,1$ 

 $5,5 \pm 0,1$ 

 $5,58 \pm 0,2$ 

<sup>a</sup> Treatment as follow: to non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland (C-), plants non-inoculated and fertilized with complete Hoagland solution (C+), and plants fertilized with free-P Hoagland and inoculated with Bacillus subtilis strain B7 and strain B17 at a concentration of 108 CFU ml-1

#### Discussion

#### 1. Isolates and sampling site

*Bacillus subtilis* strains were predominantly isolated from compost samples, with some strains of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* also identified. These findings align with previous research highlighting the fundamental role of these species in the composting process and also in promoting plant growth and soil health (Cariello et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2014). Compost, with its alkaline pH, high electrical conductivity, and abundant organic matter, creates an optimal environment for the growth and activity of bacteria involved in organic material decomposition (Ancuţa & Renata, 2011), specially Falcón et al., (1987) found that the majority of microorganisms that were identified during the initial mesophilic phase of composting belonged to *Bacillus spp.*, with *B. subtilis* being particularly prominent.

In addition, our study revealed that the maize rhizosphere harbours an abundant presence of *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* highlighting the significance of this environment in agricultural contexts. These microorganisms, find a conducive niche for their development and activity in the maize rhizosphere (Mumtaz et al., 2017) as previous research has underscored notable differences between the microbiota present in the maize rhizosphere and that in the surrounding soil (Niu et al., 2017). These differences not only reflect the direct influence of host plants on the microbial composition of their environment but also highlight the complexity of plant-microorganism interactions in agricultural soils.

#### 2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro

Our study elucidates the *in vitro* capabilities of *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* isolates in the production of IAA, consistent with the findings documented in the literature, these species possess the remarkable capability to secrete IAA, one of the most physiologically active phytohormones in soil, thus contributing to plant growth (Spaepen et al., 2007). Egorshina et al., (2012) showed that the *B. subtilis* 11BM strain can synthesize indole compounds *in vitro* and stimulate the growth of wheat plants by seed inoculation. Similarly, the study by Ribeiro et al., (2018) revealed that the *B. subtilis* B2084 strain produced 24.4  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> of IAA *in vitro*, while strain B2088 produced 55.8  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>. These results are aligning with those acquired in our study by strains B5, B7 and B17.

The IAA production pattern, where the concentration of IAA in suspension is maximum and then decreases are consistent with the studies of Khianngam et al. (2023) who reported that IAA production in the VR2 and MG9 strains of *B. subtilis* began at 24 hours after incubation, peaked at 48 hours, and then gradually decreased. Similarly, Panigrahi et al. (2020) and Wagi & Ahmed (2019) observed that IAA production gradually decreased after 24 hours in the *B. cereus* So3II and *B. subtilis* Mt3b strains, respectively. Furthermore Patten & Glick, (2002) confirms the ability

of *P. fluorescens* to produce IAA, and Sethia et al., (2015), observed that the *P. fluorescens* FP10 strain reached a maximum production of 70  $\mu$ g mL<sup>1</sup> after 72 hours. These results are in agreement with those obtained by our P10 strain.

The ability of *Bacillus spp.* and *P. fluorescens* to produce siderophores as it is observed in our results has been extensively documented in the scientific literature. *Bacillus spp.* is recognized for its ability to produce siderophores when grown on CAS medium agar plates, as evidenced by studies by Di et al. (2023), Ahmad et al. (2021) and Ribeiro et al. (2018). Specifically, *B. megaterium* is been described as a siderophore producer associated with the ability to chelate heavy metals such as Mn(II), Zn(II), and Cu(II) (Yin et al., 2022) as observed in our study by MB18 and MB19 strains. There are also studies demonstrating the siderophore production capacity of *P. fluorescens*, where the main siderophore described is pyoverdine (De Vleesschauwer et al., 2009; Mohamed & Gomaa, 2012; Trapet et al., 2016) in accordance with the results obtained by strain P2b.

The ability of *Bacillus spp*. and *P. fluorescens* to mobilize sparingly available phosphorus through solubilization and mineralization, has been extensively documented in the scientific literature (Alori et al., 2017; Babalola et al., 2005; Manzoor et al., 2017). It is remarkable the capacity for phosphate solubilization using hydroxyapatite ( $Ca_5(PO_4)_3OH$ ) as the mineral phosphate source observed in our study by *B. subtilis, B. megaterium*, and *P. fluorescens*. As it is described in Wang et al., (2020) who defined the capacity of the *B. subtilis* BPM12 strain isolated from *Z. mays* rhizosphere to solubilize mineral phosphate and Rodríguez & Fraga, (1999) that described an increase in soluble phosphate in media enriched with hydroxyapatite by *B. megaterium*. These results are in agreement with the values obtained in our study with the MB17 and MB18 strains.

Other literature describes the ability to solubilize insoluble inorganic phosphate compounds, particularly strains isolated from the rhizosphere of *Z. mays* (Li et al., 2017; Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999; Mumtaz et al., 2017). *Pseudomonas spp.* has also been described in the literature as having the ability to solubilize insoluble inorganic phosphate and promote P absorption (Rezakhani et al., 2019). Likewise, Li et al., (2017) describe the ability of *P. fluorescens* strain B10 isolated from *Z. mays* to solubilize both inorganic and organic phosphate. Regarding the results obtained with iron phosphate (Fe-P), our observation does not reveal a significant effect on solubilization by either *B. subtilis.* or *P. fluorescens* a conclusion consistent with the findings of Wang et al., (2020). However, the *B. megaterium* MB18 strain exhibited the highest Fe-P solubilization and also produced the most siderophores, thus underscoring the potential role of siderophores in iron phosphate solubilization, as pointed out by Cui et al. (2022).

Concerning the ability to mineralize organic phosphate (phytate) by the *Bacillus spp.* and *P. fluorescens* strains, there were no indications of solubilization in our study. Therefore, we

hypothesize that his phenomenon could be attributed to the inactivation of alkaline phosphatase enzyme activity which is influenced by temperature and pH (Mingmongkolchai & Panbangred, 2019). In our case the temperature was 30°C and the pH 6,8, since the optimal temperature for enzyme production is 27°C, it is possible that exceeding this temperature affected enzyme activity (Li et al., 2013).

The technique used in our study to measure phosphate solubilization, through the molybdate reactive phosphorus method in suspension in culture broth enriched with insoluble phosphate sources, is generally considered more reliable than culturing on Pikovskaya's agar medium, however, it is important to note that this estimation has a significant limitation in not accounting for the phosphorus used by the microbial cells during growth (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999).

The main mechanisms involved in phosphorolysis include the production of organic acids. Manzoor et al., (2017) observed that the maximum drop in pH was correlated with the highest phosphate solubilization, consistent with the results obtained in our study. This is due to a decrease in the concentration of surrounding metal ions or a reduction in the pH of the substrate; finally, hydrogen ions replace various metallic elements or Ca<sup>2+</sup>, resulting in the release of phosphorus (Glickmann & Dessaux, 1995; Seshachala & Tallapragada, 2012). Among the organic acids, Di et al., (2023) observed the production of acetic and malic acids as part of the mineral phosphate solubilization process by *B. subtilis*. Similarly, Alori et al., (2017) observed the production of gluconic acid. In our research, we also observed the ability of *B. subtilis* strain B7 and B17 to produce several organic acids mainly malic acid for both strains and glucuronic, fumaric and lactic acids for B7 strain.

#### 3. Effect of inoculation in plant

The genus *Bacillus*, particularly the species *Bacillus subtilis*, has been the subject of numerous studies investigating its impact on the germination of various seeds. Luna Martínez et al., (2013) and Mehta et al., (2015) demonstrated that different strains of *Bacillus* significantly increase the germination percentage in tomato seeds ranging from 6.1% to 14.56%. These results are in agreement with those obtained in our study where the inoculation of both *B. subtilis* tested (B7 and B17) increased tomato germination within the same percentage range, additionally Girish & Umesha, (2005) demonstrate that the *B. subtilis* strain GBO3 not only enhanced tomato germination has also been investigated in various other plant species, such as radish (Kaymak et al., 2009), lettuce (Malkoclu et al., 2017) or in pearl millet seeds (Raj et al., 2003).

Although there are studies where the inoculation of *B. subtilis* did not affect tomato seed germination, a faster growth in seedlings and a significant increase in stem and root length was observed (Cabra Cendales et al., 2017; Ozaktan et al., 2017). Within this context Rojas-Badía et

al., (2020) and Ajilogba et al., (2013) agree in that certain strains of *B. subtilis* can improve stem diameter and the fresh weight of roots and aerial parts of tomato plants. The diversity in the impact of *B. subtilis* inoculation on plant germination and seedling physiological aspects was also evident in our study across three distinct experiments. This variability could be attributed to the varying temperature and light conditions observed during March, May, and June 2021.

When examining the plant growth promotion effect of *B. subtilis* and *P. fluorescens* isolates inoculated in lettuce, cucumber, and maize, a consistent positive impact of *B. subtilis* inoculation on plant growth and yield is evident in the literature. Malkoclu et al., (2017) and De Leon et al., (2020) observed a significant increase in lettuce growth, specifically in terms of dry shoot biomass increment, attributed to *B. subtilis* inoculation yields findings that are consistent with those garnered in our study by B7 and B17 strains. Additionally, Sahin et al., (2015) not only noted a substantial growth enhancement but also reported elevated nutrient content, relative water content, and stomatal conductance. In the case of cucumbers, in our studies, the inoculation of *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 exhibited a significant impact on plant growth. This effect was underscored by Li et al., (2023) where the *B. subtilis* strain K424 notably enhanced photosynthetic capacity and nutritional content, further supported by Xu et al., (2022). In our investigation, we also observed a promotion in maize growth by inoculation of *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17. These findings align with existing literature, where the application of various *B. subtilis* strains has consistently led to significant enhancements in shoot and root length, as well as fresh and dry weight of plants (Misra & Chauhan, 2020; Ouhaddou et al., 2023).

Regarding the impact of *P. fluorescens* inoculation on maize and lettuce growth, our findings are consistent with existing literature. In the case of maize, Chavéz-Díaz et al., (2022) reported that *P. fluorescens* inoculation enhanced the length of the aerial parts and the fresh weight of the seedlings, similarly, Sandini et al., (2019) noted improvements in plant growth and grain yield. Regarding lettuce, studies by Someya et al., (2018) and Cipriano et al., (2016) corroborate these effects, demonstrating increased plant length and shoot weight, similarly to observations made in or studies with the P10 strain.

Moreover, the investigation into how the inoculation of the same *B. subtilis* strain affects different varieties of the same plant species remains relatively unexplored in current research. Similarly, De Leon et al., (2020) observed diverse responses to the inoculation of arbuscular mycorrhizae across six distinct wheat cultivars, underscoring the significance of considering varietal disparities in microbial interactions. Nevertheless, we encountered a study by Singh et al., (2023) that parallels to our findings, showcasing distinct growth promotion effects when inoculating a *B. subtilis* strain in different maize varieties. Moreover, in our case there was not a dosage effect.

In our research, we operated under the assumption that higher biomass correlates with increased final plant yield production. This assumption is supported by recent studies that have established a strong linear relationship between biomass production and crop yield (Kang et al., 2017; Munns et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2022). Specifically, in maize studies, Ghassemi-Golezani, (2012) demonstrated there was a tight association between crop yield and both aerial and total plant biomass, while (Singh et al., 2023) by a long-term study demonstrate that, under adequate water conditions, increased biomass accumulation is the primary factor contributing to improve yield. All this research underscores the validity of conducting short-term trials that assess biomass without reaching harvest, as a tool for screenings.

In our studies of the effects of isolate inoculation on phosphorus uptake and accumulation in plants grown in environments with limited or insoluble phosphate, we observed significant growth enhancements in maize, sunflower, and radish plants due to the action of *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17, moreover, B17 inoculation led to an increase in the total phosphorus concentration in plants. These findings are consistent with prior research indicating the positive impact of specific *B. subtilis* strains on phosphate solubilization and phosphorus assimilation in maize plants, which can result in increased plant biomass in environments with limited phosphorus availability (Li et al., 2017; Lobo et al., 2019). Furthermore, in the study by Pereira et al., (2020), not only demonstrate the beneficial effect of *B. subtilis* inoculation on phosphorus plant use efficiency, but also in plant grain yield consequently.

The findings from these studies underscore the consistent impact of *B. subtilis* inoculation on various aspects of plant growth and phosphorus uptake. Shehzad et al., (2014) demonstrated a remarkable increase in root growth in maize plants grown with phosphate rock, mirroring our own results where strain B7 inoculation led to a 52% increase in root dry weight. Similarly, Ahmad et al., (2021) confirmed a significant enhancement in plant phosphorus concentration following *B. subtilis* inoculation by a 43%, aligning closely with our observations of strain B17's effect, which resulted in a 59% increase in phosphorus plant accumulation. Moreover, the literature consistently highlights the role of *B. subtilis* as a phosphorus solubilizing bacterium, with documented effects on the growth of sunflower (López-Valdez et al., 2011) and radish (Mohamed & Gomaa, 2012), which are in line with the outcomes of our study involving strain B7.

#### Conclusions

A new collection of isolates was successfully created, most of the strains of interest were free living bacteria isolated from compost, resulting in 26 strains of interest: 13 *P. fluorescens* and 13 *B. subtilis*, which are added to the existing list of 75 bacteria already in our collection.

Regarding the evaluation of *in vitro* characteristics, the *P. fluorescens* strain P10 stood out for its capacity to produce IAA, although the *B. subtilis* strains B5, B7, and B17 also presented good values. Several strains also exhibited the ability to produce siderophores. Additionally, referring to the ability to solubilize phosphate in the form of hydroxyapatite, the best results were obtained from *B. megaterium* strains MB17 and MB18, along with *P. fluorescens* strains P2a and P4b. Furthermore, the phosphate solubilizing capacity in B7 and B17 strains was associated with a decrease in the pH of the medium, along with the production of organic acids.

The strains that achieved a combination of the best *in vitro* results were inoculated in plants. These trials revealed a positive effect on tomato germination and seed quality traits due to the inoculation with *B. subtilis* (B7 and B17). Additionally, growth promotion effects were observed with *B. subtilis* strain B7 at a concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> in various crops, with the effect also being associated with the cultivar used. Similarly, in experiments evaluating the effect of inoculation on plants with soluble phosphorus deficiency, it was observed that *B. subtilis* strain B17 at a concentration of  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> exhibits profound capabilities as a phosphorus solubilizer associated with the plant, thereby enhancing phosphorus uptake in maize plants, leading to a consequential increase in biomass and phosphorus accumulation in the aerial parts of the plants.

In the present study, the findings shed light on the potential of *Bacillus subtilis* strains B7 and B17 as biofertilizers. The multiple plant growth-promoting (PGP) traits exhibited by these strains reveal promising results for further exploration in agricultural practices, particularly in enhancing yield and minimizing fertilizer usage.

# Chapter 2: *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* isolation and characterization *in vitro*
## Introduction

The diversity of bacterial populations in soil is remarkable, with significant variations in their composition observed at different locations or points within the same soil (Torsvik & Ovreas, 2002). A considerable portion of these soil microbes, however, remains uncultivable under laboratory conditions. Despite this challenge, understanding the native bacterial population, their relative abundance in soil, and optimizing their growth conditions are crucial to comprehending the performance and diversity of indigenous bacteria in specific crop soils (Yaghoubi et al., 2021). This knowledge is fundamental for harnessing the potential of soil microbial communities to support sustainable agriculture and enhance crop productivity.

In the rhizosphere, the space surrounding roots, microbial communities harbour beneficial members known as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) (Wang & Song, 2022). As described in Chapter 1, these bacteria can regulate plant growth and development by multifaceted mechanisms, including phytohormones production (Richardson et al., 2009) and the enhancement of plant nutrition through nitrogen fixation and phosphate solubilization (Zhou et al., 2024). In agricultural practices, PGPR are commonly used for inoculation purposes as microbial biostimulants.

At European level, beneficial microorganisms which are not plant protection products can be commercialized under national regulations or according to the Fertilizers Regulation (EU) 2019/1009 as microbial biostimulants. According to the European Regulation, eligible microorganisms for inclusion as microbial biostimulants include *Azotobacter spp.*, mycorrhizal fungi, *Rhizobium spp.*, and *Azospirillum spp.*, as these genera are considered harmless to human health and certification procedure simply requires efficacy information to support the claims stated in the product label as well as formulation information. Following this regulation, our research has focused on these microbial genera for subsequent commercialization as microbial biostimulants at European level.

The nitrogen cycle and the phosphorus cycle encompass fundamental biological processes that significantly contribute to soil health and crop productivity, where microorganisms play a key role in making nutrients available to plants (Elmerich & Newton 2007). Diazotrophic bacteria from genera such as *Azospirillum*, *Azotobacter*, *Bradyrhizobium*, and *Rhizobium* are typically utilized as biostimulants to boost plant nitrogen levels. Additionally, some of these nitrogen-fixing bacteria, as well as strains of *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas*, are commonly employed for phosphate-solubilizing purposes.

Nitrogen fixation ranks among the most important biological processes and is regarded as a crucial microbial activity on Earth's surface as it provides a means of recycling nitrogen (N) and

plays a critical role in nitrogen homeostasis in the biosphere (Wani et al., 2017). Nitrogen fixation occurs via nitrogen-fixing bacteria (NFB) such as *Rhizobium*, *Azospirillum*, and *Azotobacter*, which are soil free-living or establish symbiotic associations with plant roots (Vessey et al., 2004; Elmerich & Newton, 2007). The process of nitrogen fixation in bacteria operates by reducing carbon from carbohydrates and lipids, providing the electrons and energy required for N<sub>2</sub> fixation, that is transferred to nitrogenase to stepwise the reduction of N<sub>2</sub> to ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), most of which is instantly converted to ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>+) at typical intracellular pH (Inomura et al., 2020). Consequently, the amounts of fixed nitrogen between different nitrogen-fixing bacteria species vary, but, in simple terms, free-living N<sub>2</sub>-fixers fix much less nitrogen than nodule-forming bacteria systems where host plants directly provide the microsymbiont with energy and shield the nitrogenase enzyme from being deactivated by oxygen (Jehani et al., 2023).

The measurement of nitrogen fixation is usually carried out using the acetylene reduction assay (ARA) technique, which analyses the activity of the nitrogenase enzyme by measuring the reduction of acetylene ( $C_2H_2$ ) to ethylene ( $C_2H_4$ ) (Crews et al., 2001). However, ARA has limitations such as the manual labour involved and the difficulty in monitoring ethylene reduction in real time (Payá-Tormo et al., 2022). Currently, other techniques are used, such as sequencing of the nifH gene, which encodes for the iron-molybdenum protein subunit of nitrogenase known as iron-molybdenum cofactor (FeMo-Co), although these techniques are often costly (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016). Another technique which is rapid and economic, is analysing the ammonium concentration produced by a pure bacterial strain cultured in a free N-growth medium, through the variation of absorbance caused by the colour change of bromothymol blue (Chalk, 2016; Cordova-Rodriguez et al., 2022; Smercina et al., 2019).

In addition to nitrogen fixation, NFB can also play a crucial role in phosphorus recycling cycle. Phosphorus (P) is an essential nutrient for plants involved in various biochemical processes, including lipid metabolism and the biosynthesis of nucleic acids and cell membranes (Ha & Tran, 2014). However, P is one of the most limiting nutrients in global agricultural ecosystems (Lin et al., 2016), applied to soils can accumulate in non-labile forms due to its high-affinity chemical reactions and occlusion to soil minerals and organic matter, leading to insoluble phosphorus (Gatiboni et al., 2020). This situation presents an ecological paradox: while there are limited quantities of soluble phosphorus for plant growth, there are substantial amounts of non-labile forms, even in native soils. This contradictory scenario in phosphorus availability has driven the natural selection of microorganisms capable of solubilizing phosphorus into forms usable by plants, as a survival strategy (Goldstein, 1986). These microorganisms are known as phosphate-solubilizing bacteria and they play a critical role accumulating and transforming P and accounting for 68–78% of total P in biomass (Fan et al., 2018) and used as biostimulants may be considered

a cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and long-term biological solution to address soil P deficiency.

Phosphate-solubilizing bacteria participate directly in the increase of soluble and absorbable phosphorus by plants through two processes: P mineralization and inorganic P solubilization. As well as, indirectly, influencing the structure of the rhizosphere microbial community and the configuration of the root system (Al-Ali et al., 2018). Phosphorus mineralization is the process by which organic phosphorus present in organic matter such as plant residues, animal remains, and other organic detritus, is converted into inorganic forms of phosphorus through the action of decomposing microorganisms (Al-Ali et al., 2018). Inorganic P in soil is typically present bond to calcium under neutral to alkaline soil conditions and bound to iron or aluminium under acidic conditions (Kumar et al., 1999). The solubilization of inorganic phosphorus involves breaking down inorganic phosphate compounds, converting them into more plant-available soluble forms of phosphorus. This can occur through the production of organic acids or other compounds that dissolve inorganic phosphates in the soil (Cheng et al., 2023). Organic acids are low molecular weight compounds produced by phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria through fermentation, respiration, and oxidation of organic compounds. Their involvement in the phosphorus solubilization process is characterized by the release of hydrogen ions (H+), effectively reducing the pH of the medium, thereby promoting the dissolution of insoluble phosphorus compounds and enhancing phosphorus availability for plant uptake (Rawat et al., 2021).

Azospirillum are gram-negative vibrio or spirillum-shaped bacteria of 1 µm diameter, possessing peritrichous flagella with short wavelengths used for swarming and polar flagellum used for swimming. Poly-β-hidroxybutirate granules fill most of the bacteria cell that's why colonies develop a pink pigment and usually, they proliferate under both anaerobic and aerobic conditions but are preferentially microaerophilic (Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, 1994). They are considered a nitrogen fixing bacteria (NFB) recognized as PGPR, in agronomic contexts, they are of particular interest as biostimulants due to their capacity to enhance plant growth through nitrogen fixation, production of phytohormones, polyamines, and trehalose potentially boosting crop productivity and reducing reliance on synthetic nitrogen fertilizers (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010; García et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017b). The genus *Azospirillum*, belonging to the  $\alpha$ -subclass of the proteobacteria, encompasses 21 species with varying genome sizes (Lin et al., 2016; Martin-Didonet et al., 2000; Miransari, 2016) (Figure 1), notably, recent research by Xu et al., (2023) has identified a new species, A. aestuarii. The Azospirillum nitrogen fixation ability is explained as the ability to convert atmospheric nitrogen into ammonium under microaerobic conditions and low nitrogen levels, through the nitrogenase complex (Burris & Roberts, 1993). Although the nitrogen fixation from Azospirillum spp is a recognized processes involved in promoting plant growth it is not clear if it is the main reason of growth promotion, as the transfer of fixed nitrogen to the plant is limited (Çakmakçi et al., 2007; Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000).



Azotobacter spp. are gram-negative oval-shaped bacterium of 1-3  $\mu$ m wide and 2–10  $\mu$ m long some species produce yellow-green, or red-violet, or brownish-black pigments (Das, 2019). They are considered a genus of free-living NFB also recognized as PGPR and utilized as biostimulants to enhance the yield of non-leguminous crops, owing to their diverse array of plant growthpromoting attributes. These attributes encompass nitrogen fixation, production of growth hormones, fungicidal compounds, siderophores, and the ability to solubilize phosphate (Narula et al. 2000). Such characteristics serve to booster nutrient availability for plants, thereby contributing to heightened crop productivity. The genus *Azotobacter* belongs to the  $\gamma$ -subclass of the proteobacteria and includes 7 species corresponding to *A. armeniacus, A. beijerinckii, A. chroococcum, A. nigricans, A. paspali, A. salinestri, A. tropicalis, and A. vinelandii* (Özen & Ussery, 2012) (Figure 2). This genus is characterized for producing exopolysaccharides, which are involved in processes such as encystment induction, protection of nitrogenase from oxygen, and support for biofilm formation, contribute to salt stress tolerance, desiccation tolerance, and tolerance to pesticides/insecticides, furthermore, these exopolysaccharides can also provide nutritional benefits by acting as surface-active agents, serving as a carbon source, promoting soil aggregation, and facilitating nutrient solubilization (Gauri et al., 2012).



## **Objectives**

The general objective was to develop a collection of isolates capable of nitrogen fixation and phosphorus solubilization, particularity isolates from the *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* genus, with the aim of characterizing their *in vitro* potential as biostimulants.

The specific objectives were:

- 1. Establish a new collection of isolates belonging to the species accepted under the European Union Fertilizer Regulation (2019/1009).
- 2. Characterize their nitrogen-fixing capacities by analysing growth and ammonium production in nitrogen-free media.
- Characterize their phosphorus-solubilizing capacities by studying the conversion of insoluble phosphorus to soluble forms, monitoring pH changes, and measuring the production of organic acids.

## Material and methods

## 1. Isolation of strains with nitrogen fixing capacity

To isolate nitrogen-fixing bacteria, two methods were employed: microorganisms were isolated from plants grown in pots or from field soils.

In the first method, the pot experiment, specific plant species were grown in various soil types (Soil A, B, C, D and Compost) the same as described in Chapter 1 (Material and Methods, 1-Isolation). In this case the plants used for isolating nitrogen-fixing bacteria included *Solanum tuberosum* (potato), *Oryza sativa* (rice), *Beta vulgaris* (beetroot), *Triticum aestivum* (wheat), *Zea mays* (corn), *Cynodon dactylon* (grass), *Sorghum bicolor* (sorghum), *Olea europea* (olive tree), and *Vicia faba* (broad bean). The seeds were sown, and the pots were placed in a greenhouse at the Campus de l'Alimentació de Torribera from the Universitat de Barcelona (41°27'47.9"N 2°12'52.7"E). The plants received water through a drip irrigation for 2 minutes, three times a week. Isolation was carried out when the plants were fully developed and had set fruit, typically one or two months after planting, depending on the specific plant. Strains were isolated from rhizospheric and bulk soil as well as from plant roots.

In the second method, field soil samples were collected from various sampling points, specifically targeting areas where the plants of interest were growing. At each location, both bulk soil and plants with their rhizosphere were carefully gathered to isolate strains of interest. The sampling points included soil from Mediterranean forests, specifically from Tarradell (41°52'01.3"N, 2°17'21.7"E) and Canonges (42°11'52"N, 1°37'48"E); soil from conventional agricultural fields in Sevilla (37°29'49.0"N, 5°59'26.4"W) and Segarra (41°42'27.1"N, 1°28'18.3"E); soil and grass from an urban park in Lleida (41°37'43.3"N, 0°38'33.7"E); and from organic garden practicing regenerative agriculture in Bossòst (42°47'15"N, 0°41'37"E), and Collserola (41°26'44.0"N, 2°09'26.6"E). In Collserola, samples were taken from four closely located points: north (41°26'45.7"N, 2°09'28.4"E), south (41°26'43.4"N, 2°09'27.9"E), east (41°26'44.4"N, 2°09'29.0"E), and west (41°26'44.3"N, 2°09'24.7"E).

To isolate free-living bacteria and rhizosphere bacteria from bulk and rhizosphere soil Baldani et al., (2014) method was used, 10 g of soil were mixed with 90 mL of sterile saline solution (9 g NaCl L<sup>-1</sup>). The mixture was then placed in a rotary shaker at 150 rpm for one hour. With the resulting aliquot three dilutions being 10<sup>-1</sup>, 10<sup>-2</sup>, 10<sup>-3</sup> colony forming units (CFU) mL<sup>-1</sup>, were prepared and placed in a selective semisolid media. To isolate nitrogen-fixing bacteria likely to be *Gluconacetobacter diazotrophic* and *Azospirillum brasilense* two types of selective semisolid media was used LGIP (Glucose 100 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl 0.25 g L<sup>-1</sup>, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 0.25 g L<sup>-1</sup>, MgSO<sub>4</sub> (7H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.25 g L<sup>-1</sup>, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 0.6 g L<sup>-1</sup>, CaCl<sub>2</sub> (2H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.02 g L<sup>-1</sup>, FeCl<sub>3</sub> (6H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.01 g L<sup>-1</sup>, Bromothymol

blue 0.5% 5 mL, Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub> (2H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.002 g L<sup>-1</sup>, and agar 1.75 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and NFb (D-L Malic acid 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 0.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, MgSO<sub>4</sub> (7H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaCl 0.1 g L<sup>-1</sup>, CaCl<sub>2</sub> (2H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.02 g L<sup>-1</sup>, 4 mL FeEDTA solution at 1.64%, 2 mL Bromothymol blue 0.5%, 2 mL microelement solution, and agar 1.75 g L<sup>-1</sup>) respectively.

To isolate endophytic bacteria from roots, samples were sterilized in chloramine solution 1% (w/v) for 15 minutes, then dipped in sterilized distilled water for 5 min, in phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7) for 5 min and washed with sterilized distilled water for 5 more minutes. The roots, stems, and leaves were separated using a sterilized scalpel and transferred to a microtube, then grounded in a ball mill for 6 minutes at 3000 rpm, with 2-minute intervals. After grinding, 1 mL of saline solution was added, and the mixture was vortexed. The resulting mixture was let stand for 1 hour, then mixed with a rotary shaker for 5 min at 150 rpm and 100  $\mu$ L were inoculated in the corresponding selective semisolid media. All microorganisms were grown in an incubator for 4 days at 30°C and then placed in a fresh semisolid (LGIP and NFb) media for 4 more days, the different strains were then separated by placing them in a selective solid media enriched with yeast extract (0.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and each colony morphology was inoculated in a new fresh semisolid media.

A total of 158 strains from 399 bacterial samples were selected as good candidates based on their pellicle growth in semisolid media and colony morphology, these strains were then coded and stored at -70°C.

To isolate species of the genus *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* we followed the methodology proposed by Caceres (1982) and Martinez-Toledo et al. (1985), respectively. Soil and roots obtained from both methodologies (pot experiment and agricultural soil experiment) defined in the above section were used.

To isolate *Azospirillum spp.*, roots were previously washed twice and sterilized as described before. On the other hand, bulk and rhizospheric soil samples were weighed (2 g) and transferred to 18 mL of NFb semisolid media and placed in the incubator at 37°C for 72 hours until a dense pellicle formed approximately 1-4 mm below the surface. Once the pellicle was grown, one mL of each sample was transferred to 9 mL of saline solution (9 NaCl g L<sup>-1</sup>), and serial dilutions were made (10<sup>-1</sup> to 10<sup>-5</sup>) and placed in semi-selective solid media RC (K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>0.5 gL<sup>-1</sup>, MgSO<sub>4</sub>(7H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaCl 0.1 g L<sup>-1</sup>, yeast extract 0.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, FeCl<sub>3</sub>(6H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.015 g L<sup>-1</sup>, DL-malic acid 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, KOH 4.8 g L<sup>-1</sup> and agar 20 g L<sup>-1</sup>). After 48 h, *Azospirillum spp.* colonies appeared as small pink colonies, turning scarlet after 72 h. These scarlet colonies were confirmed to be Gram negative using the potassium hydroxide (KOH) method (Silva Romeiro, 2001), involving placing a drop of 3% KOH and full loop of each colony on a glass slide. After 30 seconds, if no mucus appeared when the slide was separated about 3 cm from the glass plate it denoted Gram-negative bacteria.

Additionally, colonies were observed under the microscope (Olympus optical 50,60Hz) at 100x magnification with immersion liquid (MOIL- T02- 100 from Labkem S.L), revealing that *Azospirillum spp.* bacteria exhibited motility and a bacilli shape.

To isolate *Azotobacter* spp. soil and roots were transferred to tubes with 18 mL of liquid and semisolid Burk's media (glucose 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 0.64 g L<sup>-1</sup>, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 0.16 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaCl 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, MgSO<sub>4</sub>(7H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>, CaSO<sub>4</sub> (2H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.05 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaMoO<sub>4</sub> (2H<sub>2</sub>O) 0.01 g L<sup>-1</sup>, FeSO<sub>4</sub> 0.003 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and agar 1.75 g L<sup>-1</sup>. Tubes were left 48 hours at 28-30°C at 150 rpm for liquid media, then 2 mL of the cloudy aliquots were transferred to a new Burk's liquid tube and left for an additional 48 hours at 28-30°C. This process was repeated four times until a loop of the aliquot was transferred to Burk's solid plate and incubated at 28-30°C for 48 hours until white mucous colonies appeared. These mucous colonies were confirmed to be Gram-negative using the KOH method (Silva Romeiro, 2001) and observed under the microscope (Olympus optical 50/60Hz) at 100x magnification with immersion liquid (MOIL- T02- 100 from Labkem S).

A total of 84 strains from 227 bacterial isolates were selected as good candidates based on their pellicle growth in semisolid media and colony morphology, these strains were then coded and stored at -70°C.

## 2. In vitro analysis

## 2.1 Evaluation of nitrogen fixing capacity

#### 2.1.1 Growth in nitrogen free medium

To assess the nitrogen-fixing capacity, 158 strains that grew in nitrogen-free media (indicating potential nitrogen fixation) and 84 colonies selected through semi-specific isolation protocols for *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* were evaluated. To assess the nitrogen-fixing capacity of isolated strains, an estimative method was employed based on measuring growth through the pellicle formed by these strains in a nitrogen-free semi-solid medium. Isolates were streaked on NBS growth medium and incubated for 48 hours at 30°C. Subsequently, a selected colony was picked and transferred to a tube containing semi-solid medium, NFb enriched with 0.02 % of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl medium for other isolates, the colony was positioned on the medium surface and with Burk's medium used for *Azotobacter spp.* like colonies, and the tubes were taken after 1, 3, and 5 days. The thickness of the pellicle was measured, and its appearance was recorded as very thin, thin, intense, or very intense with a score of 1, 2, 3 or 4, respectively. Based on these data, a value was generated by multiplying the thickness in centimetres by the score ranging from 1 to 4 corresponding to the appearance. These measurements allowed extrapolating greater growth to a

higher nitrogen-fixing capacity, thus creating a ranking of candidates with potentially higher nitrogen-fixing ability.

After performing this trial, 34 strains from the 158 strains that grew in nitrogen-free media and 29 strains from 84 selected through semi-specific isolation protocols for *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* were sent to the Laboratory of Instrumental Techniques at University of León, for taxonomical identification. Samples underwent either Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization (MALDI-TOF) analysis or sequencing of the 16S genes.

#### 2.1.2 Ammonium production

To assess the nitrogen-fixing ability of strains corresponding to the species *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.*, we conducted an analysis of ammonia production in nitrogen-free liquid medium, specifically using Burk's medium for *Azotobacter spp.* and Nfb for *Azospirillum spp.* 

The isolates were placed on NBS growth medium and incubated for 48 hours at 30°C. Subsequently, two selected colonies were picked and transferred to a tube containing 10 mL of nitrogen-free liquid medium, followed by vortexing for 5 seconds. This process was repeated three times for each strain. The tubes were then sealed and agitated for 72 hours at 140 rpm at 28°C. After the incubation period, tenfold dilution plates were prepared to determine the concentration of each bacterium.

For the ammonium measurement Sparks et al. (1996) methodology was applied. Several reagents were prepared as follows: Reagent A consisted of 7 g phenol and 34 mg sodium nitroprusside, made up to 100 mL with distilled water. Reagent B was prepared by mixing 1.48 g NaOH with 4.96 g NaHPO<sub>4</sub>, adding 70 mL distilled water and 20 mL NaClO, and then adjusting the volume with distilled water to 100 mL. Reagent C was prepared by mixing Sodium EDTA and adjusting the pH to 7 with distilled water. Additionally, a standard solution (1000 ppm NH<sub>4</sub>) was prepared using 2.97 g ammonium and diluted to 100 mL with distilled water. This standard solution was further diluted to create a stock solution of 1 ppm to construct a standard curve of 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, and 2.5 ppm. For sample preparation, 2 mL aliquots of the growth media of each microorganism cultivated for 72 h were centrifuged at 800 rpm for 10 minutes, and 1 mL of the supernatant was transferred to a test tube to create the samples, subsequently, under an extractor cabinet 0.5 mL of each sample was mixed with 2 mL of distilled water with 0.5 mL of Reagent C, 1 mL of Reagent A, and 2 mL of Reagent B. The tubes were left in darkness for 30 minutes, after which the optical density was measured at 636 nm using a spectrophotometer. The resulting colour was blue and remained stable for 20 minutes. The ammonium concentration in the control without inoculation was subtracted from the concentration measured in the inoculated samples.

### 2.2 Phosphorus solubilizing capacity

## 2.2.1 Mineral phosphorus solubilizing in National Botanical Research Institute's Phosphate medium

To assess the capacity to mobilize phosphorus by the nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolates, these were cultivated in liquid media National Botanical Research Institute's Phosphate (NBRIP) composed of glucose ( $10 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O ( $5 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), MgCl<sub>2</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O ( $0.25 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), KCl ( $0.2 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ), (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO4 ( $0.1 \text{ g L}^{-1}$ ) with a pH adjusted to 7 (Nautiyal, 1999) enriched with tree different forms of insoluble phosphate at 0.23 g L<sup>-1</sup> of hydroxyapatite, phosphate rock, tri-calcium phosphate and iron phosphate (III).

First, the nitrogen-fixing bacteria were tested to check if they could survive in liquid NBRIP media. Then each microorganism strain was cultivated in triplicate in NBRIP with the different phosphate sources. The inoculation was performed by introducing one loop in 10 mL of each NBRIP medium and placed in a rotary shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C. In addition, a control (NBRIP with insoluble phosphate) without inoculation was included in this experiment in triplicate. After 3, 5 and 7 days 2 mL were extracted from each sample and passed through a cellulose nitrate filter of 0.22  $\mu$ m pore size. To calculate the solubilized phosphate produced on the medium the filtered solutions were processed according to the protocol Murphy & Riley (1962) where the molybdate reactive P was measured. The standard curve was prepared with KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and the absorbance was measured at 882 nm. On the last sampling (7 days after the inoculation of the growth medium), the pH was also measured and serial dilutions from (10<sup>-5</sup> to 10<sup>-7</sup>) were made to determine the final concentration of the bacteria.

### 2.2.2 Organic acids production

Nitrogen-fixing bacterial isolates were cultured in liquid NBRIP media containing hydroxyapatite at a concentration of 0.23 g L<sup>-1</sup>. Inoculation was performed by introducing a full loop into a tube with 15 mL of NBRIP and placing it on a rotary shaker (150 rpm) at 30°C. Additionally, a control without inoculation was included in triplicate for this experiment. After 7 days, 2 mL were extracted from each sample and passed through a cellulose nitrate filter with a pore size of 0.45  $\mu$ m. The remaining sample was used to assess the concentration of microorganisms in each tube and their pH.

To quantify the production of organic acids (citric, malic, acetic, succinic, gluconic, lactic, oxalic, fumaric, propionic, and glycolic acids) produced by de isolates, the Furlani et al., (2006) method was used. Samples were analysed by an HPLC with an Aminex HPX-87H column (300 mm x 7.8 mm) from BioRad equipped with a diode array detector (UV) at 210 nm. The eluent used was  $H_2SO_4 0.01$  M, with a flow rate of 0.8 ml min<sup>-1</sup> at a temperature of 60 °C. Peaks that presented an

absorbance spectrum incompatible with that typical of organic acid spectrum were not considered. The filtered NBRIP samples (inoculated or not with the bacteria) were injected in the HPLC system (100  $\mu$ L) and peaks were selected based on the retention times and spectra of the standards of each organic acid. Once the detection peaks were obtained, the areas were obtained, and the concentration of organic acids for each sample was calculated based on the calibration curves prepared with the standards.

#### 2.3 Statistical analysis

All data were analysed using the SPSS software package version 27.0. For the assessment of biochemical capacities *in vitro*, regarding ammonium production, and organic acids quantification, were analysed by a one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test with a significance level of 95%, considering as factor each strain. Additionally, a Pearson correlation analysis was performed between the concentration of these strains and ammonium production, with a significance level of 95%. Data from molybdate reactive phosphate content was analysed by a three-way factorial repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test at significance levels of p-value < 0.05, considering as factors days after inoculation, strain and insoluble phosphorous sources (hydroxyapatite, tricalcium phosphate and phosphate rock) and the interaction between factors.

## Results

## 1. Isolation and analysis of soil samples

## 1.1 Isolation from soil and plants grown in pots

Soils used isolate microorganisms are characterized in Table 1 and described in Chapter 1 (Results, 1-Isolation and analysis of soil samples).

Soil Type	рН	EC <sup>a</sup> (dS m <sup>-1</sup> )	OM <sup>a</sup> (%)	CaCO <sub>3</sub> <sup>a</sup> (%)	N-NO3 <sup>a</sup> (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Texture
Soil A	7.90	0.461	2.98	8	28	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Soil B	7.93	0.427	2.50	34	7	Loam- Sandy
Soil C	7.13	0.530	4.60	<5	69	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Soil D	8.00	0.528	2.78	26	14	Loam-Clay-Sandy
Compost	9.10	3	6.3	7	18	-

Table 1 Characterization of soil samples for nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolation

<sup>a</sup> Parameters analysed meaning; EC to electrical conductivity, OM to oxidable organic matter, CaCO<sub>3</sub> to calcium carbonate equivalent and N-NO<sub>3</sub> to nitrate content

Figure 1 illustrates the percentage of nitrogen-fixing isolates selected being the best grown in nitrogen free medium and stored (34 total) obtained from the rhizosphere of potted plants according to each soil type and plant species. Concerning soil type (Figure 1A), most nitrogen fixers were isolated from Soil A constituting 32.96 % of the isolates. The soil type that yielded the fewest nitrogen fixers was Compost (14.48 %), but values are fairly balanced across different soil types. Regarding the origin of the isolated microorganisms (Figure 1B), all microorganisms were isolated from the rhizosphere of plants; no microorganisms were isolated from bulk soil or endophytic microorganisms through this methodology. The microorganisms that were isolated were associated with the rhizosphere of various plants, as summarized in Figure 1B. Predominantly, nitrogen-fixing microorganisms were obtained from the rhizosphere of gramineous plants, comprising 27.47 % from grass and 23.08 % from rice, followed by maize with 13.74 % of isolates. Sorghum contributed only a small proportion of selected microorganisms, accounting for merely 3.85 % of isolates. Interestingly, even in the rhizosphere of beans, the presence of nitrogen-fixing organisms was scarce, constituting only 3.85 %.



**Figure 1**: Percentage of nitrogen-fixing isolates obtained from the rhizosphere of potted plants according to: (A) different soil types and (B) plants species.

## 1.2 Isolation from soil and plants grown in fields

The selected soils were evaluated based on reference values from Chapman & Pratt (1973). Concerning pH of the various soils sampled, levels ranged from neutral to alkaline, varying from 6.6 in Tarradell soil to 8.3 in Sevilla and Segarra soils (Table 2). In terms of EC, the analysed soils are predominantly non-saline (0-2 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), except for the soil from Lleida which falls into the slightly saline category (2.3 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). It was observed variability in organic matter among the different soil types; the levels are relatively low in Segarra (2.19 %), Sevilla (3.14 %), and West Collserola (3.22 %), while they are high in Lleida (10.76 %), Canonges (10.02 %), East Collserola

(9.65 %), and North Collserola (9.36 %), the remaining values fall within the moderate range (Table 2).

In relation to calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) content, values are highly variable, with low levels in Tarradell and Bossòst soils (0 and < 3 %, respectively), normal levels in soils from West, South and East Collserola (7.06, 9.49 and 14.10 %, respectively), and elevated levels in the other soil types. Additionally, nitrate (N-NO<sub>3</sub>) levels are high in all soil types except for soil from West Collserola (9.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), which is considered to have adequate values and in reference to sodium content (Na), low values (< 46 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) are observed in Canonges, West Collserola, Tarradell and Bossòst soils, being high (230- 690 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) in Lleida soil and moderated (46-230 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) in all other soil types. Regarding soil texture, it was observed that almost all of them contained a combination of loam and sandy textures, except for Tarradell soil, which was sandy, and Sevilla soil, classified as loam-clay (Table 2).

Soil Type	pН	EC <sup>a</sup> (dS m <sup>-1</sup> )	OM <sup>a</sup> (%)	CaCO <sub>3</sub> <sup>a</sup> (%)	N-NO3 <sup>a</sup> (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Na <sup>a</sup> (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Texture
South Collserola	7.7	0.25	6.82	9.40	27	55	Loam
North Collserola	7.8	0.30	9.36	20.17	38	69	Loam-Sandy
East Collserola	7.6	0.43	9.65	14.10	110	131	Loam-Sandy
West Collserola	8.1	0.16	3.22	7.06	9.6	28	Loam-Sandy
Tarradell	6.6	0.34	5.94	0	160	15	Sandy
Canonges	7.7	0.60	10.02	29.54	> 200	41	Loam-Sandy
Sevilla	8.3	0.36	3.14	41.64	28	147	Loam-Clay
Segarra	8.3	0.27	2.19	32.34	29	48	-
Lleida	7.5	2.30	10.76	31.55	>200	323	-
Bossòst	7.2	0.44	5.19	< 3	190	13	-

Table 2 Characterization of soil samples for nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolation

<sup>a</sup> Parameters analysed meaning; EC to electrical conductivity, OM to oxidable organic matter, CaCO<sub>3</sub> to calcium carbonate equivalent, N-NO<sub>3</sub> to nitrate content and Na to sodium content

Figure 2 illustrates the percentage of nitrogen-fixing isolates selected being the best grown in nitrogen free medium and stored (29 in total) from each agricultural field location and whether it was isolated from the bulk soil or the rhizosphere of the plant. Examining Figure 2A the majority of nitrogen-fixing bacteria were isolated from Tarradell soil constituting 17.88% of the total isolates, and from South Collserola soil accounting for 15.53% of the total isolates. Both locations exhibited moderate to high concentrations of organic matter (MO) and low concentrations of calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>). Following closely, 12% of the isolates were found in Lleida a soil rich in high electrical conductivity (EC), oxidizable organic matter, and nutrient concentrations (CaCO<sub>3</sub>, N-NO<sub>3</sub>, and Na). Among the other types of soil used for isolation, the relative percentage is evenly distributed. When examining whether the isolates were free-living or associated with the rhizosphere (Figure 2B), we observed that the majority of the isolates were associated with

the plants (83%). Among these, 16% were endophytes and 84% were part of the soil attached to the roots (rhizosphere). Additionally, most nitrogen-fixing isolates were obtained from meadows where grass was growing, constituting 37.68% of the isolates, following this, a significant proportion of nitrogen-fixing isolates (15%) were free-living, isolated directly form the soil. In third place, in the rhizosphere of wheat, sweet potato, and beans, an average of 5- 13% of the isolates were obtained. The percentage of isolates in the rhizosphere of other analysed crops was much lower.



**Figure 2**: Percentage of nitrogen-fixing isolates distribution in: (A) different soil types from which microorganisms were isolated (B) site from the rhizosphere of plants.

## 1.3 Selected Azospirillum spp. and Azotobacter spp. strains

After sequencing of the 16S gene and MALDI-TOF analysis, 9 and 4 isolates were identified as belonging to the species *Azospirillum spp* and *Azotobacter spp.*, respectively form the 63 strains selected and stored. The most effective method for isolating these species was from agricultural field crops (76.92 %), compared to isolation from plant pots (23.08%) (Table 3). On one hand, from agricultural field crops, Collserola soils had the highest percentage of *Azospirillum spp.*, constituting 30.8 % of the total isolates selected (21F221, 21F222, 21F224, and 21F226). The soil with the highest percentage of *Azotobacter spp.* isolated was the Sevilla soil, representing 15.4% of the total isolates selected (21F200 and 21F201). The majority of the selected *Azospirillum spp.* were found in the rhizosphere of plants (67%) compared to free-living forms, and the majority were associated with grass rhizosphere (21F220, 21F221, 21F224, and 21F226). All *Azotobacter spp.* were associated with plant rhizosphere with a 50 % associated with maize and the other 50 % associated with wheat. On the other hand, regarding the potted soil method only three microorganisms from the selected genus were isolated, one from Soil D (*Azotobacter* 

*chroococcum* strain 21F209) from wheat rhizosphere and two from Soil B (*Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F210 and *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213) from soil rhizosphere of wheat and in bulk soil, respectively.

ID <sup>a</sup>	Specie	Soil Type	Isolation site
21F200	Azotobacter salinestris	Sevillla	Rhizosphere (maize)
21F201	Azotobacter salinestris	Sevilla	Rhizosphere (maize)
21F203	Azospirillum brasilense	Segarra	Rhizosphere (wheat)
21F205	Azospirillum brasilense	Canonges	Bulk soil
21F209	Azotobacter chroococcum	Soil D	Rhizosphere (wheat)
21F210	Azospirillum brasilense	Soil B	Bulk soil
21F213	Azotobacter salinestris	Soil B	Rhizosphere (wheat)
21F220	Azospirillum oryzae	Lleida	Rhizosphere (grass)
21F221	Azospirillum brasilense	South Collserola	Rhizosphere (grass)
21F222	Azospirillum brasilense	West Collserola	Rhizosphere (maize)
21F224	Azospirillum oryzae	East Collserola	Rhizosphere (grass)
21F226	Azospirillum aestuarii	North Collserola	Rhizosphere (grass)
21F227	Azospirillum sp.	Tarradell	Bulk soil

Table 3 Strains of Azospirillum spp and Azotobacter spp isolated and taxonomically identified.

<sup>a</sup> Identification of the strains

## 2. In vitro analysis

## 2.1 Evaluation of nitrogen fixing capacity by ammonium production

The nitrogen fixing capacity of the isolates was measured by ammonium production *in vitro* being the most effective ammonium producers *Azospirillum spp*. strains 21F221 and 21F226, followed by strains 21F224 and 21F227 (Table 4). While *Azotobacter spp*. exhibited lower ammonium production values.

Figure 3 illustrates that the *Azospirillum spp.* strains that exhibited higher ammonium production also showed a high concentration after 72 hours, being 21F221, 21F224, 21F226, and 21F227 indicated by the upper-right cluster of white data points on the graph. These findings suggest a strong and significant relationship ( $\rho = 0.611$ , p-value < 0.001) between the bacterial concentration of the isolated strains and their biochemical capacity for ammonium production, supporting their potential in nitrogen-fixing capacity.

ID	Ammonium (µg mL <sup>-1</sup> )	Concentration (·10 <sup>8</sup> CFU mL <sup>-1</sup> )
21F200	$22.14 \pm 1.5$ a	$1.13 \pm 0.76 \text{ ab}$
21F201	$24.98\pm2.4~a$	$1.20 \pm 0.44 \text{ ab}$
21F203	$31.93\pm7.4~ab$	$1.70 \pm 0.29 \text{ ab}$
21F205	$6.76\pm0.6$ a	$1.93 \pm 0.43 \text{ ab}$
21F209	$23.47 \pm 1.6$ a	$0.49 \pm 0.16$ a
21F210	$18.42 \pm 2.5$ a	$2.64 \pm 0.16$ ab
21F213	$21.61 \pm 1.4$ a	$1.22 \pm 0.55 \text{ ab}$
21F220	$29.48\pm3.1  ab$	$1.94 \pm 0.18 \text{ ab}$
21F221	$72.06 \pm 7.5$ c	$3.73 \pm 0.16 \text{ ab}$
21F222	$18.01 \pm 2.9$ a	$0.68\pm0.08~ab$
21F224	$58.55 \pm 13.0$ bc	$2.15 \pm 0.21$ ab
21F226	69.60 ± 10.7 c	$3.36 \pm 0.44$ b
21F227	$56.50 \pm 0.7$ bc	$1.99 \pm 0.12 \text{ ab}$

Table 4 Ammonium production capacity and microorganism concentration after 72h

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3). Values marked with different letters are significantly different (p-value < 0.05), determined through a one-way ANOVA and Tukey's analysis test.



**Figure 3**: Scatterplot depicting *Azospirillum spp*. and *Azotobacter spp*. strains (black points in the graphic), where the x-axis represents the concentration of the different strains, and the y-axis represents the ammonium concentration produced in nitrogen-free media (Burk's or Nfb) after 72h.

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3) and analysed by Pearson's correlation value ( $\rho$  value) being a positive correlation between parameters (p-vale < 0.05)

## 2.2 Phosphorus solubilizing capacity

## 2.2.1 Phosphorus solubilization in National Botanical Research Institute's

## Phosphate medium

The soluble phosphate concentration (molybdate-reactive P), calculated by subtracting the values of the non-inoculated media from the inoculated media, shows significant differences obtained by a three-way ANOVA, between days after inoculation, treatments and insoluble phosphorus sources, as well as, in all the doble interactions (Table 5).

The increase in soluble phosphate concentration, was notably pronounced in the media enriched with hydroxyapatite and tricalcium phosphate when compared to those with phosphate rock, except for the medium inoculated with 21F201 with higher values in phosphate rock solubilization compared to tricalcium phosphate (Table 5). This variation among insoluble P sources could be attributed to the natural leaching of phosphorus by phosphate rock, as in the non-inoculated medium containing phosphate rock, as 3, 5, and 7 days passed, the concentration of molybdate-reactive phosphorus increased by 35.51  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>, 41.91  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>, and 44.30  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> respective. In contrast, for hydroxyapatite, the baseline values of soluble phosphorus in media without inoculation remained within the range of 2.16-3.21  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>.

The microorganism with a higher phosphorus solubilization capacity *in vitro* was *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213, this was observed across all three insoluble substrates (hydroxyapatite, tricalcium phosphate, and phosphate rock) over 3, 5 and 7 days after inoculation. With the most significant increase occurring in the hydroxyapatite medium after 3 days post inoculation (Table 5), however, the highest solubilization in tricalcium phosphate was observed after 5 days, and in phosphate rock after 7 days. Additionally, some differences are observed in the solubilization of hydroxyapatite after 7 days and phosphate rock after 3 days by strain 21F200, as well as phosphate rock solubilization by strain 21F201 after 3 days.

ID <sup>a</sup>	Days after inocuation	Phosphate solubilizing capacity ( $\mu g$ molybdate reactive P mL <sup>-1</sup> )						
		Hydroxyapat	ite	Tricalcium Ph	nosphate	Phosphate	Rock	
21F200	3	$33.33\pm2.8$	cαA	0.00	aαA	$11.28 \pm 0.3$	bβB	
	5	$53.3\pm3.2$	bβA	$40.29\pm9.6$	abαA	$9.55\pm0.9$	aβA	
	7	$147.38 \pm 7.2$	bγB	$38.09\pm35.8$	aα	0.00	aαA	
21F201	3	$20.07\pm5.2$	bαA	0.00	aαA	$15.57 \pm 2.7$	bαB	
	5	$29.49\pm 0.8$	cβA	0.00	aαA	$10.64\pm2$	bαA	
	7	$39.15\pm4.8$	bβA	0.00	aαA	$15.01 \pm 8.4$	bαAB	
21F203	3	$4.27\pm0.1$	bαA	0.00	aαA	0.00	aαA	
	5	$12.64 \pm 1.6$	bβA	0.00	aαA	$3.6\pm5$	bαA	
	7	$18.14\pm7.3$	bβA	0.00	aαA	$39.91\pm7$	bβAB	
21F205	3	$3.39\pm0.4$	aαA	$95.68 \pm 7.2$	bαA	$0.92 \pm 2.6$	aαA	
	5	$3.42\pm 0.3$	ααβΑ	$120.47\pm13.9$	bβA	$5.22\pm2.5$	aβA	
	7	$13.78\pm2.5$	abβA	$92.58\pm2.2$	bαAB	$9.7\pm2.4$	aβAB	
21F209	3	$14.04\pm1.3$	bαA	$19.41 \pm 1.4$	cαA	0.00	aαA	
	5	$34.76\pm2.6$	bβA	$53.22\pm1.1$	cβAB	0.00	aαA	
	7	$67.35\pm4.2$	bβAB	$77.42\pm4$	bβAB	$27.18\pm25$	aβAB	
21F210	3	$4.3\pm0.3$	aαA	$4.18\pm0$	aαA	$6.16 \pm 4.7$	aαAB	
	5	$4.48\pm0.4$	ααβΑ	$3.56 \pm 1$	ααβΑ	$18.49\pm9.2$	ααβΑ	
	7	$15.8\pm1.1$	aβA	$7.99\pm 4.9$	aβA	$25.08\pm2.6$	bβAB	
21F213	3	119.54 ± 1.8	bαB	$10.45 \pm 1.3$	aαA	$6.41 \pm 1.2$	aαAB	
	5	$145.31 \pm 10.7$	7 aαB	$108.28\pm43.6$	aβB	$42.47\pm32$	ααβΑ	
	7	$179.5 \pm 12.3$	aαB	$156.27\pm4.9$	aβB	91.44 ± 9.9	aβB	
21F220	3	$12 \pm 2.4$	aαA	$4.29 \pm 1.1$	aαA	$3.48 \pm 1$	aβAB	
	5	$46.93 \pm 4.7$	bβAB	$13.95\pm1.7$	abβA	0.00	aαA	
	7	$20.07\pm5.2$	aαA	$18.21\pm10.1$	aβAB	$0.91\pm2.7$	aαA	
21F221	3	$28.33\pm3.6$	bαA	$7.24\pm0.6$	aαA	2.81 ± 1	aαAB	
	5	$34.67\pm4.2$	bαA	$7.79\pm2.7$	aαA	$5.3\pm3.3$	aαA	
	7	$89.2\pm29.2$	bαAB	$9.03\pm19.2$	aαA	0.00	aαA	
21F222	3	0.00	aαA	$1.27\pm0.1$	aαA	$1.74\pm0.5$	aαA	
	5	$41.7\pm2.4$	bαβΑ	$30.36\pm21.1$	bαβΑ	$4.07 \pm 1.8$	ααβΑ	
	7	$22.95\pm7.8$	bβAB	$23.16\pm2.9$	bβAB	$5.4\pm0.6$	aβA	
21F224	3	$22.95\pm7.8$	bαA	$32.89\pm6.1$	bαA	$0.79 \pm 1.2$	aαA	
	5	$39.29\pm2.9$	bαβΑ	$54.21\pm2$	bαβAB	$1.32\pm1.4$	ααβΑ	
	7	$89.2\pm29.2$	bβAB	$52.42\pm1$	bβAB	$4.84 \pm 7.4$	aβA	
21F226	3	$24.29\pm2.3$	bαA	$52.42 \pm 1$	bαA	0.00	aαA	
	5	$20.27\pm3.9$	bαA	$16.67 \pm 1.7$	bαA	0.00	aαA	

**Table 5** Phosphorus solubilization supplied as various forms of insoluble P by *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter spp.* isolates in *in vitro* conditions

	7	$19.88\pm2.7$	bαA	$25.23\pm1.7$	bαAB	$0.86\pm0$	aαA
21F227	3	$22.14\pm1.9$	bαA	$22.03\pm1.4$	bαA	$4.38\pm2.3$	aαAB
	5	$31.93\pm3.6$	bαA	$27.61 \pm 1.4$	bαA	$3.51\pm2$	aαA
	7	$45.24\pm7.2$	bαAB	$32.05\pm1.7$	bαAB	$6.8\pm1.6$	aαA

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3). A three-way factorial ANOVA was performed and Tukey's tests (p-value<0.05); lowercase letters (a, b) correspond to differences among phosphorus sources, greek letters ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) differences between time and capital letters (A, B) between strains determined through an ANOVA and Tukey's test (p-value < 0.05). Significant differences were obtained in all factors analysed (phosphorus sources, time and strains) as well as, in double interactions (time\*sources; time\*strains, sources\*strains).

<sup>a</sup> Identification of the strains as follow: *Azospirillum brasilense* (strains 21F203, 21F205, 21F210, 21F221, 21F222), *Azospirillum aestuarii* (21F226), *Azospirillum spp.* (strain 21F227), *Azotobacter salinestris* (strains 21F200, 21F201, and 213), *Azotobacter chroococcum* (21F209) and *Azotobacter oryzae* (strains 21F220 and 21F224)

#### 2.1.2 Organic acids production

Table 6 presents the data on the production of organic acids by isolated nitrogen-fixing microorganisms (*Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.*) in relation to the pH reduction of the NBRIP medium enriched with hydroxyapatite, with an initial pH of  $6.8 \pm 0.1$ . In this scenario, *Azotobacter spp.* exhibited a more pronounced decrease in pH compared to *Azospirillum spp.* Specifically, two *Azotobacter salinestris* strains, 21F200 and 21F213 demonstrated the most substantial reduction with 44 % and 37 %, respectively, transforming the pH from 6.8 to 3.8 and 4.3 respectively. Upon examining the specific concentration of organic acids by these two strains, they exhibit high production of gluconic, glucuronic and acetic acid, with acetic acid concentration being the highest. Furthermore, the production of other types of acids such as of malic acid is also shown in *Azotobacter salinestris* 21F213 strain and oxalic acid in *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F200.

ID <sup>a</sup>	Concentration	pH <sup>b</sup>	Organic acids production (µg mL <sup>-1</sup> )						
$(x10^8 \text{ CFU mL}^{-1})$		Malic	Gluconic	Oxalic	Glucuronic	Glicolic	Acetic	Lactic	
21F200	$2.76\pm1.6$	<b>3.8</b> a	$0\pm0.2$ a	$50.4 \pm 9.3$ b	$10.20 \pm 3.4$ b	151.90 ± 5.4 b	-	501.82 ± 58 b	-
21F201	$6.45\pm0.5$	<b>4.</b> 7 b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
21F203	$1.56\pm1.3$	6.6 de	-	-	-	-	-	-	$9.50\pm1.4~a$
21F205	$0.94\pm0.3$	6.0 cd	$0.17\pm0.9~\text{a}$	$0.02\pm0.01~\text{a}$	$0.37\pm0.04~a$	-	-	$9.86 \pm 1.8$ a	-
21F209	$7.53\pm0.6$	<b>4.8</b> b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
21F210	$0.80\pm0.1$	6.5 cde	-	$0.05\pm0.04~a$	-	-	$3.57\pm0.5\ a$	-	-
21F213	$5.12\pm0.3$	4.3 ab	465.8 ± 74 b	$53.8\pm8.4~b$	-	$246.3 \pm 54$ b	-	$460.05 \pm 56 \text{ b}$	-
21F220	$0.0005 \pm 0.0003$	6.7 de	$1.14\pm0.8~\text{a}$	-	-	-	-	-	-
21F221	$0.01\pm0$	6.3 cde	-	-	$2.35\pm0.04~a$	$17.60 \pm 10.2$ a	-	$14.57\pm2$ a	-
21F222	$0.001\pm0$	6.8 e	-	-	$0.53\pm0.4~a$	-	$4.42\pm0.3~a$	-	-
21F224	$0.57\pm0.4$	6.0 c	$50.54\pm21$ a	$0.46\pm0.3~a$	-	-	$16.0 \pm 6.2$ a	-	-
21F226	$0.57\pm0.4$	6.6 cde	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
21F227	$1.32\pm0$	6.4 cde	$73.80\pm17~a$	-	-	$47.21\pm7.5~a$	-	-	-

**Table 6** Concentration of the isolates, pH and organic acids production by *Azotobacter spp.* and *Azospirillum spp.* cultivated in National Botanical Research

 Institute's phosphate medium enriched with hydroxyapatite for 72 h.

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3). Values marked with a letter are significantly different values between isolates measured in each organic acid produced (p-value < 0.05), determined through a one-way ANOVA and Tukey's analysis test.

<sup>a</sup> Identification of the strains as follow: *Azospirillum brasilense* (strains 21F203, 21F205, 21F210, 21F221, 21F222), *Azospirillum aestuarii* (21F226) *Azospirillum spp.* (strain 21F227), *Azotobacter salinestris* (strains 21F200, 21F201, and 213), *Azotobacter chroococcum* (21F209) and *Azotobacter oryzae* (strains 21F220 and 21F224) <sup>b</sup> pH referenced to pH non-inoculated media (6.8)

## Discussion

## 1. Nitrogen-fixing isolate sampling site

Recent studies have demonstrated that soil properties significantly influence microbial populations, including nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Fierer, 2017). In our experiment the higher concentration of nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from plants cultivated in potted soil was observed in Soil A which was characterized by an alkaline pH and a moderate concentration of organic matter and nutrients (calcium carbonate, and nitrate). As highlighted by Inomura et al., (2020) maintaining an optimal nutrient balance can foster a favourable environment for microbial activity, encompassing nitrogen-fixing bacteria. Similarly, all three soil types (A, B and D) which generated the highest percentage of nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolates, had the presence of clay particles. As proposed by Liu et al., (2016), the inclusion of clay in the soil improves water and nutrient retention, ultimately enhancing soil structure which leads to a higher concentration of microorganisms, and consequently, nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

In our study, we observed that field soil samples yielded a higher number of nitrogen-fixing strains compared to other potted soil samples. Notably, soils from Taradell and Lleida, which are undisturbed agroecosystems, demonstrated this trend. Undisturbed soils, such as those in forest ecosystems, tend to promote extensive colonization of the rhizosphere, potentially leading to greater diversity within the bacterial community (Dong et al., 2019). Additionally, the soil from South Collserola, which also yielded a high number of nitrogen-fixing bacteria, is managed under regenerative agricultural practice, this include avoiding tillage and incorporating carbon-rich compost, which are known to increase the soil's carbon content (Schmidt & Martínez, 2019) and higher carbon content in soil promotes microbial growth (Khanghahi et al., 2019), likely explaining the increased presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

In the context of isolation areas, most of the identified nitrogen-fixing organisms were predominantly located in the rhizosphere of non-leguminous plants, being the 100% of the isolates from plant pots and the 69% isolates from field samples while the others were endophytes isolated from the root interior (16%) or not associated with any rhizosphere (15%) aligning with the findings described by Elmerich & Newton (2007) and Neyra & Dobereiner (1977) respectively.

The majority of nitrogen-fixing bacteria were isolated from gramineous plants, predominantly from maize and grass rhizosphere samples, associations extensively studied in both natural and cultivated ecosystems (Baldani & Baldani, 2005). These findings are supported with specific references; where nitrogen-fixing bacteria associated with maize plants is studied by Castellano-Hinojosa et al., (2018); Pelapudi et al., (2021) and Zahid et al., (2015), also the presence in grass rhizosphere correlates with previous studies like the ones performed by Wright & Weaver, (1981)

and Nelson et al., (1977), as well as research on the association with other perennial grasses such as dune grasses (Dalton et al., 2004) or switchgrass (Bahulikar et al., 2014).

With regards to the specific isolation of *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.*, Ahmad et al., (2008) and El Zemrany et al., (2007) meticulously categorize them as nitrogen-fixing bacteria with associative and endophytic attributes in plants. This classification supports our findings, where these genera were effectively isolated from the soil rhizosphere in association with various grass and cereal crops, such as maize and wheat. Numerous studies in the literature have documented the isolation of *Azospirillum spp.* from maize, grass, and wheat (Eckert et al., 2001; Mehnaz et al., 2007; Stets et al., 2015) along with *Azotobacter spp.* isolated from maize and wheat (Martinez-Toledo et al., 1985; Qaisrani et al., 2019; Stets et al., 2015). Additionally, it is important to highlight that some strains were also isolated from bulk soil, verifying that *Azospirillum spp.* species can also live independently of plant association, thus classifying them as free-living N<sub>2</sub>-fixing diazotrophs (Jehani et al., 2003; Fallah et al., 2023 and Wang et al., 2020).

## 2. Assessment of biochemical capacities in vitro

Our study aligns with the extensive literature supporting the nitrogen-fixing capacity of *Azospirillum spp*. (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, 1994.; Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000) and *Azotobacter spp*. (Prajapati et al., 1970; Boddey et al., 1995; Sumbul et al., 2020) specifically, *Azospirillum brasilense's* nitrogen-fixing ability *in vitro* is well-documented through other methods, as detailed in Okon et al., (1983) and Wang et al., (2017) and similarly, the nitrogen-fixing capacity of *Azospirillum oryzae* has been described by Xie & Yokota, (2005). However, while these and other studies on *Azospirillum spp*. and *Azotobacter spp*. species do not determine the nitrogen-fixing capacity through ammonium released in the medium, this technique has been used for other nitrogen-fixing species such as *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, Kosakonia oryzae*, and *Acinetobacter pittii*, yielding similar ammonium production ranges, 42.06, 35.48, and 18.33 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Cordova-Rodriguez et al., 2022).

While ammonium measurement may suggest nitrogen-fixing activity, it's crucial to recognize that it does not directly quantify the amount of fixed nitrogen, as it does not account for the nitrogen used by bacteria for their own growth (Cordova-Rodriguez et al., 2022; Das & De, 2018). In our study, the measurement of nitrogen fixation was not aimed at direct quantification, but rather at detecting the fixing capacity, and ultimately, and most importantly, evaluating its associated effect on plant development and nitrogen use efficiency. This effect on plant development and nitrogen use efficiency is studied and discussed in the following chapter (Chapter 3).

It is also crucial to acknowledge that while several studies have indicated a potential increase in nitrogen availability to plants through nitrogen fixation by *Azospirillum spp.*, the boosted yield of inoculated plants is predominantly linked to enhancements in root development and the efficiency of water and mineral absorption by roots, with a lesser contribution from biological nitrogen fixation (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010; Kennedy et al., 1997; Okon et al., 1983; Giller, 2003). Hence in our study, despite conducting *in vitro* measurements, all isolates were deemed suitable candidates for evaluation in plants; however, it is important to note that some isolates performed better than others in *in vitro* conditions, indicating various degrees in their effectiveness and providing a valuable ranking that supports their potential for plant application. Therefore, to gain a clearer understanding of these strains' capabilities, additional tests in plant systems were performed, which will allow us to assess the actual impact of bacterial strains on plant growth and determine their effectiveness as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and their potential application.

In the context of *Azotobacter's* biochemical capacities *in vitro*, previous studies have predominantly focused on its biological nitrogen fixation, although some researchers have delved into its potential to solubilize phosphate compounds (Aasfar et al., 2021; Cheng et al., 2023; Farajzadeh et al., 2012; Garg et al., 2001; Kumar et al., 1999), as highlighted in our research. Specifically, *Azotobacter salinestris* has been noted in a few articles as a phosphorus solubilizer, consistent with our findings with strain 21F213 (Chennappa et al., 2016; Omer et al., 2016).

During the growth of the culture, the concentration of soluble phosphate exhibits diverse patterns. While some strains display a linear increase over time (21F213), others demonstrate an oscillating behaviour (ex. 21F205 and 21F220), characterized by peaks and valleys. This phosphorus solubilization behaviour aligns with observations by Illmer & Schinner, (1992), Coutinho et al., (2012) and Saber et al., (2009) who attribute this variability to factors such as phosphate precipitation or disparities in the rate of phosphate release and uptake. In summary, when the uptake rate surpasses the solubilization rate, a decline in phosphate concentration in the medium can occur (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999).

The solubilization in our study was analysed using three sources of insoluble phosphate minerals corresponding to hydroxyapatite, tricalcium phosphate, and phosphate rock. Several reports have examined the ability of different bacterial species to solubilize insoluble inorganic phosphate compounds, such as tricalcium phosphate, dicalcium phosphate, hydroxyapatite, and rock phosphate (Goldstein, 1986; Kumar et al., 1999). For instance, Reyes et al., (2006) showcased that *Azotobacter spp*. species efficiently dissolve hydroxyapatite when provided with glucose, sucrose, and/or mannitol as carbon sources, and ammonia and/or nitrate as nitrogen sources, however, Jokkaew et al., (2022) found no evidence of hydroxyapatite solubilization capacity in

*A. vinelandii.* Despite this, the *A. salinestris* hydroxyapatite solubilizing capacity by 21F213 strain, observed in our research, remains undefined in current literature. Concerning to *A. salinestris* tricalcium phosphate and phosphate rock solubilizing capacity Rashad et al., (2023) describe its capacity to solubilize phosphorus by measuring the acid phosphatase activity and Chennappa et al., (2018) describe tricalcium phosphate solubilization by *A. salinestris* with by halo measurement in Pikovskaya agar medium (Nautiyal, 1999). Regarding the solubilization values of *A. salinestris* in suspension method, in the article by (Janati et al., 2022) obtained solubilization values very similar and comparable to those obtained in our study, from strain 21F213, for instance, in NBRIP enriched with tricalcium phosphate they obtained phosphate solubilization values of 75.61-147.62  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>, and for rock phosphate the solubilization ranged from 15.41-25.16  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>.

*Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213 exhibited an enhanced phosphorus solubilization, concomitant with a decline in pH and the synthesis of organic acids, including malic, gluconic, acetic, and glucuronic acids. These findings are in agreement with prior studies emphasizing the role of phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria in releasing organic acids, acidifying the medium, and promoting phosphorus solubilization (Azaroual et al., 2020; Marra et al., 2012). Specifically, this solubilization mechanism has been described in *Azotobacter spp*. (Gauri et al., 2012), *Azotobacter chroococcum* (Kumar et al., 1999; Yi et al., 2008), and *Azotobacter vinelandii* (El-Badry et al., 2016; Hafez et al., 2016). While no literature explicitly demonstrates the capacity for organic acid production related to phosphorus solubilization in the species *Azotobacter salinestris*, that is the species of strain 21F213, it is worth noting that articles exist in reference to the production of organic acids in other contexts, such as calcite-solubilizing capacity (Rashad et al., 2023).

The correlation between phosphorus solubilization and the synthesis of organic acids is ascribed to the formation of chelates with cations, primarily protons (H+) or calcium (Ca), through their hydroxyl and carboxyl groups, which bind to phosphate, thereby converting it into soluble forms (Glick, 2012; Nobahar et al., 2017). Our findings regarding the significant production of malic acid (465  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) and gluconic acid (246  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) by strain 21F213 align with the observations of Kpomblekou-A & Tabatabai, (2003) who highlighted the enhanced efficiency of dicarboxylic and tricarboxylic acids in phosphorus solubilization and Krishnaraj & Dahale, (2014) which observed that along with 2-ketogluconic acid, gluconic acid appears to be the most frequently observed acid produced during mineral phosphate solubilization.

Contrary to this, strains 21F200 (*Azotobacter salinestris*) and 21F209 (*Azotobacter chroococcum*) reduced the pH without a corresponding increase in phosphorus solubilization. This result suggests that, while reduction of pH by organic acids is important, other factors may influence phosphorus solubilization (Yi et al., 2008). For instance, the activity of acid phosphatase, could

contribute to the reduction of the medium's pH through dephosphorylation actions, and so affect indirectly the solubilization of inorganic phosphorus (Achal et al., 2007).

It is noteworthy that each strain within the same species behaved differently in terms of its phosphate-solubilizing activity and the amount and type of acid secreted. This highlights the remarkable strain-specific nature of phosphate-solubilizing activity, prompting a deeper consideration of the distinctive characteristics exhibited by each strain. Such discernment becomes pivotal when evaluating their respective contributions to phosphorus solubilization and soil nutrient dynamics (Chen et al., 2006).

## Conclusion

A new collection of nitrogen-fixing bacterial isolates that is compatible with the European Union Fertilizer Regulation (2019/1009) was successfully established. This collection comprises 4 strains of *Azotobacter spp.* and 9 strains of *Azospirillum spp.* of a total 242 nitrogen-fixing strains. Our findings consistently show that the majority of isolates from the genera *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* were sourced from the rhizosphere of gramineous plants, specifically grass (31%), wheat (23%), and maize (23%), indicating a preferential association with this group of plants.

Regarding *in vitro* nitrogen-fixing capacity, we found that *Azospirillum spp*. strains, especially strains 21F221, 21F224, 21F226, and 21F227, showed more promising results in terms of growth and ammonium production after 72 hours with 72, 59, 70 and 56  $\mu$ g NH<sub>4</sub> mL<sup>-1</sup> produced respectively. In the context of phosphorus solubilization, isolates from the genus *Azotobacter spp*., especially strain 21F213, stood out as the most effective, solubilizing hydroxyapatite (119 to 179  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>), tricalcium phosphate (10 to 156  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>), and phosphate rock (6 to 91  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) after 3, 5, and 7 days of incubation. This strain also exhibited a remarkable ability to reduce the pH of the medium from 6.8 to 4.3 and produce high levels of organic acids, specifically gluconic acid and malic acid.

## Introduction

Agriculture is at a crucial point, where the need to produce food sustainably and efficiently is becoming increasingly clear. Among the key crops to sustain global food supply are wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*), maize (*Zea mays L.*), which along with rice (*Oryza sativa*), account for over 60% of the calories in the human diet (FAO, 2024). In the Spanish context, in 2022, wheat, maize and rice occupied approximately 35, 11 and 1 %, of the total cultivated area respectively. Specifically in Catalonia, cereals dominate the agricultural landscape, covering an area of 338661 hectares, with maize responsible for 12 %, rice for 6 % and wheat for 5 % of the total cultivated area, in this region, maize primarily is grown in Lleida and Baix Ebre, rice is concentrated in the Ebro delta and wheat in Lleida (DARP, 2022). These crops, essential for the agricultural economy, play a crucial role in both animal and human nutrition, as well as being key components in the food industry and biofuel production.

Cereal crops have the ability to associate with numerous beneficial bacteria, commonly known as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) these can generate direct and indirect beneficial effects on plant growth by different mechanisms, already described in Chapter 1. In this context, live formulations of beneficial microorganisms for agricultural crop inoculation, known as microbial biostimulants, emerge as a promising tool to enhance agricultural productivity and reduce dependence on agrochemicals (García de Salamone et al., 2012). Although to fully harness the potential of PGPR, it is crucial to understand the mechanisms through which they influence agricultural systems, which entails not only identifying desirable characteristics of growth-promoting bacteria but also ensuring their environmental safety and ability to tolerate abiotic stress (Mohanty et al., 2021)

The legal framework regulating the commercialization of microbial biostimulants in the European Union is defined in the EU Fertilizer Products Regulation 2019/1009 (FPR), which came into effect on July 16, 2022. This regulation defines microbial biostimulant as a formulation of one or many microorganisms whose function is to stimulate plant nutrition processes, with the sole aim of improving nutrient use efficiency (NUE), tolerance to abiotic stress, production quality traits, or availability of confined nutrients in the soil or rhizosphere. This regulation through the CEN/TC, specifically CEN/TC 455, sets the procedures for demonstrating agronomically relevant properties of the microbial biostimulants. In this chapter, we will focus to express the results obtained to align with the terms and definitions, terminology, validation indices, and performance criteria for the claim "Improvement in nutrient use efficiency" described on the draft document Fertilising Products Regulation Committee for Standardization (FprCEN/TS 17700) written by Slovenski standard kSIST-TS committee (2021).

In this context, research into the application of beneficial microorganisms in agriculture for commercialization as microbial biostimulants has garnered increasing interest, being Bayer Crop Science AG the leading biofertilizer company in the world and Symborg S.L. the most important biofertilizer company in Spain (Singh & Kumar, 2024). Some examples of commercial formulations of microbial biostimulants include Nitragin®, a product based on Rhizobium leguminosarum used in sova plants (Furtak et al., 2020), products formulated with the Azospirillum brasilense strain Az39 for wheat, maize, and sorghum like; Azovisdas® from Microvidas S.R.L, Nitragin Wave® from Novocynes or AzobioMax® from Forbio S.L. (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Coniglio et al., 2019; Grellet Naval et al, 2017) or Twin N<sup>®</sup> from Mapleton Agri Biotec Pvt. Ltd. composed of a combination of Azospirillum and Azotobacter (Singh & Kumar, 2024). In Spain there are 72 products registered as microbial based fertilizers, of which 15 contain Azospirillum spp., 5 contain Azotobacter spp., and 33 contain Bacillus spp., with notable examples including Nutribion® from Ceres Biotics S.L., a formulation of Azotobacter salinestris and Contribute ibN® from Alltech S.L., formulated with Azospirillum brasilense with similar applications to those we aim to develop and the remaining 19 products corresponded to other microbial genera. Regarding the European market, it is important to note that while Azotobacter spp. and Azospirillum spp. are permitted under the new fertilising product regulation (FPR 2019/1009), specific certified products containing these bacteria may still be limited, representing an opportunity for researchers and companies to develop new microbial biostimulants that comply with the updated regulatory framework.

Varius strains form the genus *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* have demonstrated significant capabilities which may promote plant growth and productivity, including nitrogen fixation, phosphorus solubilization, production of plant growth substances, as well as, effect on enhancing plant resistance to biotic and abiotic factors (Barnawal et al., 2017; Cassán et al., 2020; Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016). Specifically, the inoculation of plants with *Azospirillum spp.* has been shown to increase root development, improve nutrient and water uptake, and positively impact crop yields, with notable increases observed in winter cereals (14.0%), summer cereals (9.5%), and legumes (6.6%) (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016). Similarly, *Azotobacter spp.* have been linked to improved plant growth and significant yield enhancements in various crops, including cereals and pulses, with yield increases of up to 40% (Aasfar et al., 2021). These benefits underscore the successful use of these genera as microbial biostimulants to boost crop yields, particularly in cereals (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Gassmann et al., 2016; Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, 1994).

However, research on the inoculation of PGPR in agricultural fields reveals a significant discrepancy between theoretical potential and practical results (Bashan, 1999). Although this technique promises to increase agricultural production at a lower cost than conventional chemical

fertilizers, its effectiveness is influenced by a series of interrelated factors. Among these factors are the complex interactions between native and inoculated microorganisms, plant genotypes and environmental factors (Di Salvo et al., 2018; Dobbelaere et al., 2001; García de Salamone et al., 2012; Rani & Goel, 2013). In this context, several studies have demonstrated a significant interaction between inoculated strains of *Azospirillum* and plant genotype in crops such as maize, rice, and wheat (García de Salamone et al., 2012; Garcia De Salomone et al., 1996; Naiman et al., 2009) and complex interaction among bacteria, plants, inoculation methods, and cultivation conditions, soil type, crop rotation, and nutrient management (Díaz-Zorita & Fernández-Canigia, 2009). For example, the response to *Azospirillum sp.* inoculation may be greater in wheat and maize crops grown in less fertile soils and rotated with sunflower or maize compared to soils richer in organic matter or rotated with pasture and/or the inoculation response can be lower in soils with high nitrogen levels (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016). Despite these challenges, some strains of *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* show promising potential to enhance both aerial and root biomass production recurrently in various cereal crops (Aasfar et al., 2021; Escobar Ortega et al., 2021; Kapulnik et al., 1983; Naiman et al., 2009).

## **Objectives**

The main objective was to determine the effect of the inoculation with the best isolates of *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp.* selected based on the *in vitro* results, on extensive crops such as maize and rice, observing the effect on growth parameters, nutrient accumulation, and crop production. The specific objectives were:

- 1. Evaluate the effectiveness of *Azotobacter salinestris* 21F213 on phosphorus solubilization and phosphorus use efficiency in greenhouse experiments
- Evaluate the effectiveness of selected *Azospirillum spp*. strains in enhancing nitrogen utilization efficiency and increasing yield at different nitrogen fertilization regimes under controlled and field conditions.
- To study the results under the point of view of the European Fertilizer Regulation and specifically align with the claims outlined in the Technical Specifications CEN/TC 455 for microbial biostimulants.

## Material and methods

# **1.** Assay on the effect of the microbial inoculation on phosphorus solubilization

## **1.1 Plant inoculation method**

In this experiment, it was measured the capacity of *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213 to solubilize phosphate in combination with maize plants, as it had shown the best results *in vitro*. Microorganisms were stored in glycerol in the freezer (-80°C), to prepare the inoculum one full loop of the microorganism was placed in a liquid growth medium NBS (Beef extract 3.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>, Peptone 5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup> and Sodium chloride 5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>). The inoculum was placed on a rotary shaker at 150 rpm with a temperature of 30°C for 72 h, after that time the absorbance was measured in a spectrophotometer to determine the cell concentration and the volume necessary to have the inoculum at 10<sup>8</sup> colony forming units (CFU) mL<sup>-1</sup>. Then the cells were centrifugated at 4000 g for 10 min to wash the growth medium and then resuspended with saline solution (9 g L<sup>-1</sup> NaCl).

### **1.2 Set up of the experiment**

The experiment was set up in the greenhouse in the "Serveis de Camps Experimentals" at the Faculty of Biology, Universitat de Barcelona (41.385018, 2.120436), for 35 days from the 20<sup>th</sup> of June 2022 until the 25<sup>th</sup> of July 2022 with a temperature and humidity average of  $27.66 \pm 4^{\circ}$ C and  $60 \pm 13$  % RH respectively.

The experiment was performed with *Zea Mays* cv. "Tía María" from Les Refardes S.L (Mura, Spain). The design consisted of a Latin square with three treatments concerning a positive control, a negative control and plants inoculated with *A. salinestris* strain 21F213 with 10 replicates per treatment corresponding to 10 pots with one plant each. Plants were sown in pots of 0.8 L, the substrate used was peat, vermiculite, and perlite (2:1:1 v/v/v) mixed with hydoxyapatite (1g L<sup>-1</sup> of substrate) and pre-hydrated with 100 mL of tap water. Two seeds per pot were sown and before inoculation only one plant was left in each pot. The microbial treatments were applied on the substrate next to the base of plantlets, one week after sowing with a pipette with 5 mL of inoculum suspension and 5 mL of saline solution (9 g L<sup>-1</sup> NaCl) for non inoculated treatments. Serial dilutions and plating were made to confirm that the inoculum concentration was adjusted to  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>.

Plants were watered twice a week with tap water and once a week with complete or P-free Hoagland depending on the treatment (Hoagland & Arnon, 1950). The positive control corresponded to non-inoculated plants fertilized with complete Hoagland while the negative control corresponded to non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland solution and all

inoculated plants received P-free Hoagland solution. The P-free Hoagland was prepared with KCl (0.05 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) instead of KH<sub>2</sub>PO.

## **1.3 Plant growth parameters**

The number of leaves and the length of each plant were tracked once a week by measuring from the base of the plant until the last leaf junction.

On harvest day, plants were pulled out and cut at the base of the plant, just after cutting, the plants were weighted to have the fresh weight. Then the samples were kept in paper bags in an oven at 60 °C for 72 h and then weighted to have the dry weight.

# 2. Experiments to assess the impact of inoculation on nitrogen use efficiency and plant production

## 2.1 Preparation of the microbial inoculum and seed inoculation

The 13 nitrogen-fixing *Azospirillum spp.* and *Azotobacter spp* isolates were selected to asses their impact in plant nitrogen use efficiency, corresponding to three *Azotobacter salinestris* (21F200, 21F201, and 21F213), five *Azospirillum brasilense* (21F203, 21F205, 21F210, 21F221 and 21F222), one *Azotobacter chrococcum* (21F209), two *Azotobacter oryzae* (21F220 and 21F224), one *Azospirillum aestuarii* (21F226) and one *Azospirillum spp.* (21F227). Additionally, two reference strains of *Azospirillum brasilense* were included being CECT 590T from the CECT (Colección Española de Cultivos Tipo) and DSM 1843 from the DSMZ (German collection of microorganisms and cell cultures) corresponding to AP1 and AP2, respectively. Also, for the 75% N experiments, the Vietnamese formulation tested was S(04), a combination of two different mycorrhiza genera 68,56% *Glomus spp.* and 31,36% *Acaulospora spp.* In addition, in all experiments non-inoculated seeds were added as a negative control (Control).

When preparing the seed inoculum for 0% N and 60% N experiments two steps were performed as follow: preparation of the inoculum and seed inoculation. First, to prepare the inoculum one loop from each strain stored at -80°C as glycerol stocks, was placed in Burks solid plates (Burks, 1956) for *Azotobacter spp.* and RC solid plates (Caceres, 1982) for *Azospirillum spp.* and left at 30°C for 48 h, the grown colonies were transferred to tubes with 20 mL of NBS liquid media and left with adequate aeration and agitation (150 rpm) for 72 h at 30 °C. After that time, cell concentration was measured by spectrophotometry at 600 nm and compared with a calibration curve. Second, for seed inoculation, aliquots were centrifugated (Hettich model UNIVERSAL 320) at 4000 g for 10 min and resuspended in sterile NBS liquid medium to obtain a concentration of  $10^{10}$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. The seed inoculum was performed by mixing 10 g of maize seeds (*Zea mays* cv. "Tía María") with 0.1 g of Jiffy GO M8 peat (sieved with a 0.71 mm mesh), 0.1 mL of bacterial

inoculum adjusted at  $10^{10}$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and 0.35 mL of 1% (w/v) carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) to have a final concentration of  $10^8$  CFU g seeds<sup>-1</sup>. Serial dilutions and plating were made to confirm the purity and the concentration the inoculum. Additionally, in one experiment fertilized with 60% N, an inoculum consisting of a mixture of strains 21F221 and 21F226 was applied, inoculating the seeds with a concentration of  $0.5 \cdot 10^8$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seeds for each strain.

When preparing the seed inoculum for 75%N five steps were performed as follows; determination of seed germination rate, preparation of the inoculum, seed sterilization, seed pre-germination and inoculation. First, the seed germination rate was assessed to calculate the number of seeds needed to obtain 60 pre-germinated seeds per treatment. Second, the inoculum was prepared as described for the 0% and 60% N experiments (explained in the previous paragraph) once the concentration of the bacterial culture was calculated, it was centrifuged (Hettich model UNIVERSAL 320) at 4000 g for 10 min and re-suspended in LB liquid media at a concentration of  $5.5 \cdot 10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for maize and 1,5 · 10<sup>9</sup> CFU ml<sup>-1</sup> for rice, to have a final concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seeds. Third, the seeds were sterilized by soaking them in ethanol (70% v/v) for 3 minutes, after the excess moisture was removed and then soaked in NaClO (1% v/v) for 10 minutes and then washed 3 times with sterilized distilled water. Fourth, to pre-germinate the seeds, the already sterile maize and rice seeds were soaked in sterilized distilled water at a temperature of 50 °C for 3 hours for maize and 12 hours for rice, and then placed in a box with a humid sterile cloth for 48 hours at darkness and room temperature. Fifth, for seed inoculation pre-germinated and sterilized maize (Zea mays cv "hybrid waxy maize MX10") and rice seeds (Orvza sativa cv "OM5451") were placed inside the bacterial inoculum tubes, in agitation at 150 rpm for 6 h in darkness before sowing them in the pots at the greenhouse or field, for non-inoculated plants (Control treatment), sterilized pre-germinated seed were soaked in LB liquid media previously sterilized.

## 2.2 Set up of the experiments

## 2.2.1 Assays performed with nitrogen-free fertilization regime (0% N

#### fertilization)

For the assays performed with no nitrogen fertilization three different assays were performed in the same way (A, B and C) but in different moments. The experiments were all conducted in the greenhouse of the "Serveis de Camps Experimentals" from the Universitat de Barcelona with maize plants (*Zea Mays*) cv "Tía María" from Les Refardes S.L. (Mura, Spain) non-treated and ecological seeds. The experiment design was composed of 16 different treatments; non-inoculated plants as control, AP1, AP2, and the abovementioned 4 *Azotobacter spp.* and 9 *Azospirillum spp.* strains with 10 replicates per treatment corresponding to 10 pots with one plant each.

Seeds were inoculated as described in section 2.1. Plants were sown in pots with a mixture of peat, vermiculite, and perlite (2:1:1 v/v/v) pre-hydrated with 100 mL of tap water per litre of the

substrate, two inoculated seeds per pot were sown and after a week only one plant was left in each pot. Seeds were sown in pots of 392 mL and watered twice a week with tap water and once a week with N-free Hoagland for all treatments except for positive control plants that were fertilized with complete Hoagland solution (Hoagland & Arnon, 1950). The N-free Hoagland was prepared with CaCl<sub>2</sub> and KCl instead of Ca (NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>.

There were performed a set of three experiments. Experiment (A) lasted 28 days, from the  $23^{rd}$  of May to the  $20^{th}$  of June 2022, the average temperature during that period was  $24.84 \pm 2.84$  °C and the humidity was around  $68.3 \pm 3.14$  % RH. The experiment (B) lasted 21 days, from the  $18^{th}$  of July to the  $8^{th}$  of August 2022, the average temperature during that period was  $28.53 \pm 3.25$  °C and the humidity was  $63.63 \pm 12.57$  % RH. The experiment (C) lasted 27 days, from the  $5^{th}$  of August to  $1^{st}$  of September 2022, the average temperature during that period was  $28.30 \pm 3.83$  °C and the humidity was  $61.68 \pm 12.6$  % RH.

## 2.2.2 Assays performed with 60% nitrogen fertilization regime

For the assays performed with 60% nitrogen fertilization two different assays were performed (A and B). Seeds were inoculated as described in section 2.1 and the experiments set up procedure was performed as for the experiments with N-free fertilization regime described at section 2.2.1 with some differences. Plants were sown in 1 L pots and were watered twice a week with tap water and with 60% N Hoagland once a week during the first 3 weeks, twice a week for the following 2 weeks and three times a week for the weeks before harvest. The 60% N Hoagland was prepared with (NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> (47.2 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and KNO<sub>3</sub> (4 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), CaCl<sub>2</sub> (11.8 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and KCl (1 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>).

There were performed a set of two experiments. Experiment (A) lasted 35 days, from  $18^{th}$  of August until the  $22^{th}$  of September 2022, the temperature average during that period was  $27 \pm 4$  °C and the humidity was  $62.78 \pm 13.4$  %RH. The experiment (B) lasted 50 days, from  $1^{st}$  of August until the  $19^{th}$  of September 2023, the temperature average during that period was  $27.96 \pm 3.7$  °C and the humidity was  $62.45 \pm 12.87$  %RH.

## 2.2.3 Assays performed with 75% nitrogen fertilization regime

The experiment was conducted in the greenhouse of the Agricultural Faculty at Can Tho University, Vietnam (10.028510, 105.766676) with maize variety plants, *Zea mays* cv "hybrid waxy maize MX10" from Southern Seed Corporation SSC, (Ho Chi Minh, Vietnam) and Vietnamese rice variety plants, *Oryza sativa* variety long grain white rice "OM5451". The experiment design was composed of 10 different treatments; non-inoculated plants as Control, S(04), AP1, AP2, 21F210, 21F213, 21F220, 21F221, 21F222, and 21F226, the seed inoculum was performed as described at section 2.1. For maize, 5 replicates per treatment corresponding to 5
pots with one maize plant each was performed and for rice 3 replicates per treatment corresponding to 3 pots with five rice plants each was performed.

For maize four pre-germinated and inoculated seeds were sown in pots of 8 L with 6 kg of a mixture of sand: soil (1:1 w/w) pre-hydrated with 2 L of water two days before sowing, and for rice ten pre-germinated and inoculated seeds were sown in pots of 6 L with 6 kg of a mixture of sand: soil (1:1 w/w) pre-hydrated at the saturation point of water (4L) two days before sowing then pots were placed in the greenhouse in a random distribution. After a week just one maize plant per pot and five rice plants per pot were left.

The sand used in this experiment was washed for 7 days 3 times a day with tap water, due to a high content of aluminium. After washing the mixture, it was measured by triplicate: the pH value, electrical conductivity (EC), the organic content (OC %), the organic matter (OM %), the phosphorus available ( $P_2O_5$ ) and the total nitrogen (N total %) (Table 1).

Sample	рН	$EC^{a}(dS m^{-1})$	OC <sup>a</sup> (%)	OM <sup>a</sup> (%)	$P_2O_5^a$ (%)	N <sup>a</sup> (%)
Soil	5.44	1550	5.3	9.14	0.022	0.19
Mixture soil:sand (1:1)	4.78	793	1.99	3.43	0.002	0.125

Table 1 Analysis of the soil sample and the mixture sand: soil

<sup>a</sup> Parameters analysed meaning: EC, electrical conductivity; OC, organic content; OM, oxidable organic matter; P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, total phosphorus; N, total nitrogen content

Plants were watered twice a week with tap water and the fertilization regime was topdress by solid application with a reduced nitrogen regime equivalent to 75% N of the standard fertilization regime. For maize 75 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of nitrogen by urea (46%N), 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> by super phosphate (18% P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>), and 90 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of K<sub>2</sub>O by potassium chloride (60% K<sub>2</sub>O) were applied as follows: at sowing day total content of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> with 1/3 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied, after 11 days 2/10 N was applied, at 19 days after sown 1/2 N was applied and after 37 days after sown 3/10 N with 2/3 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied. For rice 75 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of nitrogen, 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, and 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of K<sub>2</sub>O were applied as follows: at sowing day total content of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, after 8 days 1/5 N was applied, at 19 days after sowing 2/5 N with 1/2 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied and after 42 days after sown 2/5 N with 1/2 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied.

The maize experiment lasted 80 days in total, from the sowing of the seeds until harvest, from the 8<sup>th</sup> of December 2022 to 16<sup>th</sup> of February 2023 and the average temperature during that period was  $28.67 \pm 1.7$  °C and the humidity  $71.3 \pm 1$  %RH, respectively. Rice experiment lasted 90 days in total from sowing the seeds until harvest from 1<sup>st</sup> of December 2022 to 28<sup>th</sup> of February 2023 and the temperature average during that period was  $27.33 \pm 2.1$  °C and the humidity was around  $66.6 \pm 12.2$  %RH.

#### 2.2.4 Assays performed in field conditions

The experiment was conducted in an agronomic field in the countryside of Can Tho city, Vietnam (10.059059, 105.690437). The experiment design was composed of 10 different treatments; non-inoculated plants as Control, S(04), AP1, AP2, 21F210, 21F213, 21F220, 21F221, 21F222, and 21F226, the seed inoculum was performed as described at section 2.1. Each treatment had 3 replicates corresponding to 3 plots of with 500 g rice seeds per each treatment. The plots were built one week before sowing and the total surface per plot was 25 m<sup>2</sup> from which 20 m<sup>2</sup> corresponded to the sown surface, excluding the borders. The plots were divided in the field into three rows with 10 plots per row; plots were saturated with water before sowing, and treatments were distributed randomly. The field soil was characterized corresponding to values expressed in the first row of Table 1 corresponding to "Soil" (Section 2.2.3)

Plants were watered twice a week with tap water for the first 3 weeks and three times a week for the rest, the fertilization regime was by topdress according to the agronomical fertilization doses with a 25% reduction in N fertilization with 75 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of nitrogen, 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, and 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of K<sub>2</sub>O were applied as follows At sowing day total content of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, after 8 days 1/5 N was applied, at 19 days after sowing 2/5 N with 1/2 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied and after 42 days after sown 2/5 N with 1/2 K<sub>2</sub>O was applied. The experiment lasted 90 days from 9<sup>th</sup> of December 2022 to 8<sup>th</sup> of March 2023, during that time plants were exposed to the weather conditions of temperature, humidity, and rain, the average temperature during that period was 27.37 ± 1.8 °C and the humidity was 65.7 ± 10.7 % RH, also, the precipitation average ranged 9.15 ± 1.7 mm with 61.2 ± 9.9 rainy hours.

#### 2.4 Plant growth, nutrient content and yield analysis

For the N-free fertilization and 60% N experiment, plant length was measured by tracking the distance from the base to the last leaf node, while chlorophyll content and the nitrogen balance index (NBI) were assessed using Dualex on the first emerged non-dry leaf of each plant, i.e. the first counting from the base of the plant, once a week. Upon harvest, plant length and shoot fresh and dry weight were measured. The rhizosphere samples were collected from the plant with the highest and lowest weight values for each treatment to determine the microbial populations

For the assays conducted under the 75% N fertilization regime for maize, growth measurements were taken at 15, 30, 45, 60, and 80 days after sowing, including parameters such as plant height, leaf count, and stem diameter. For rice, measurements were recorded at 15, 30, 45, 60, 75 and 90 days post-sowing, focusing on plant height and stem count. On the day of harvest, maize yield parameters such as ear length, fresh ear weight, total kernels per ear, fresh kernel weight per ear, yield, 100-kernel dry weight at 14% humidity, and fresh weight of 100 kernels were measured also biomass measurements included shoot dry weight and root length, and root dry weight. For

rice, yield parameters included number of panicles per pot, number of panicles per plant, number of spikelets per panicle, panicle length, 1000-grain weight at 14% humidity, wet grain weight, grain humidity percentage, grain weight at 14% humidity, yield at 14% humidity based on filled grain weight, weight of unfilled grain at 14% humidity, unfilled spikelet percentage, filled spikelet percentage, estimated number of plants per 1 m<sup>2</sup>, estimated yield based on component parameters, and dried straw biomass.

For samples showing significant differences with the non-inoculated plants, nitrogen and carbon content was analysed. Whole plant samples were ground using a coffee grinder, with careful washing after each sample, a representative sample of 100 mg was taken and placed in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube. A second grind was performed by adding 3 stainless steel balls to the Eppendorf tubes and placing them in a rotor ball mill (Mixer Mill MM 400) for 3 min at 1500 rpm. Nitrogen (N) and carbon (C) analyses were conducted using elemental Analysis, for Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry (EA-IRMS Delta V) from Thermo Fisher Scientific.

With the values obtained and the nutrient parameters established in the experimental setup, the commercially relevant agronomic parameters (potential claims to be stated in the label of commercial microbial biostimulants) were calculated following Dobermann (2007) as described in FprCEN/TS 17700. These parameters include: apparent crop recovery efficiency of applied nutrient (RE), partial factor productivity of applied nutrient (PFP), internal utilization efficiency of a nutrient (IE), physiological efficiency of applied N (PE), agronomic efficiency of applied nutrient (AE) and nitrogen export (NE). All these parameters were calculated based on the total plant nutrient uptake in aboveground biomass at maturity in plants that received fertilizer (U) and those that did not receive fertilizer (U<sub>0</sub>), crop yield with applied fertilizer (Y) and without fertilizer (Y<sub>0</sub>), the amount of fertilizer nutrient applied (F), and the concentration of the plant nutrient in the part of interest (C). The formulas used for each index of nutrient use efficiency were: RE=(U - U<sub>0</sub>)/F; PE=(Y-Y<sub>0</sub>)/(U-U<sub>0</sub>); IE=Y/U; AE=(Y - Y<sub>0</sub>)/F; PFP=Y/F and NE=Y\*C.

## 3. Statistical analysis

All data were analysed using the SPSS software package version 27.0.

To assess the effect of inoculum on phosphorus solubilization, a Dunnett's test was conducted to compare non-inoculated plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland solution (Control -) with plants inoculated with *A. salinestris* strain 21F213, using a significance level of 95%. Additionally, data from non-inoculated plants fertilized with complete Hoagland solution (Control +) were included in the statistical test to provide an indication of phosphorus deficiency in the plants.

To analyse the data from the assays on the effect of inoculation on plant nitrogen use efficiency under different nitrogen fertilization regimes (0% N, 60% N, and 75% N), the following approaches were taken:

For the experiments with free-N Hoagland solution (0% N) the data from the three experiments (A, B, and C) were treated together as a one-way ANOVA with the experiment as a fixed factor was conducted, evaluating five parameters: NBI, shoot fresh and dry weight, and nitrogen and carbon content and no significant experiment effect was observed. Subsequently, a Dunnett's test was performed to compare the non-inoculated plants (Control) with the different inoculation treatments, using a 95% significance level. Additionally, a Pearson's correlation analysis was performed between the plant shoot dry weight data from experiment A and the rhizosphere strains population, with a significance level of 95%.

For the experiments with 60% N, the data from the two different experiments performed (A and B) were treated separately as they were not comparable as a two-way T-student test with the experiment as a fixed factor showed significant differences (p-value < 0.05), primarily due to differences in sampling times, with plants in experiment B being more developed at the time of sampling. Subsequently, a Dunnett's test was performed to compare the non-inoculated plants (Control) with the different inoculation treatments, using a 95% significance level for both A and B data separately.

For the pot and field experiments with a 75% N fertilization regime were analysed using a Dunnett's test, comparing the non-inoculated substrate (Control) with the different inoculation treatments, using a 95% significance level.

## Results

## 1. Effect of microbial inoculation on phosphorus solubilization

When evaluating the effect of inoculation with the *Azotobacter salinestris* 21F213 strain on maize plants fertilized with P-free Hoagland solution, no significant differences were observed compared to non-inoculated Control (-) plants, either in terms of plant height or weight (Table 2).

On the other hand, significantly higher height and weight were observed in non-inoculated plants fertilized with soluble phosphorus (Control (+)) compared to non-inoculated plants fertilized without soluble P (Control (-) (Table 2).

Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Height (t1) <sup>b</sup> (cm)	Height (t2) <sup>b</sup> (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g plant <sup>-1</sup> )	Shoot dry weight (g plant <sup>-1</sup> )
Control (+)	$20.75 \pm 0.6$ *	$40.35 \pm 0.7$ *	68.34 ± 1.9 *	6.41 ± 0.2 *
Control (-)	$19.80\pm0.5$	$38.85 \pm 1.2$	$54.56\pm1$	$5.51\pm0.1$
21F213	$20.40\pm0.7$	$39.50\pm 1.4$	$55.16\pm2$	$5.61\pm0.1$

**Table 2** Effect of A. salinestris inoculation on Zea mays cv. "Tía María" growth fertilized with soluble phosphorus free fertilization

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=10). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different (p-value < 0.05), determined through a Dunnett's test between Control (-) and the other treatments (Control +, and 21F213) <sup>a</sup> Treatments are as follows: Control (+) non inoculated with complete Hoagland; Control (-) non inoculated, and *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213 inoculated at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> with P-free Hoagland grown with hydroxyapatite mixed in the substrate at a concentration 1 g L<sup>-1</sup>

<sup>b</sup> Shoot length expressed in cm measured 2 weeks (t1) and 4 weeks after inoculation (t2)

## 2. Effect of microbial inoculation in plant nitrogen use efficiency

#### 2.1 Inoculation effect on plants with no nitrogen fertilization (0% N)

Table 2 illustrates the main outcomes derived from three experiments (A, B, and C) with fertilization lacking N (0% N). Concerning the nitrogen balance index (NBI), no significant differences were noted in NBI values (Table 3). In terms of biomass, plants treated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 demonstrated superior biomass compared to their non-inoculated counterparts, displaying 20% and 9% higher values in shoot fresh and dry weight, respectively (Table 3). Similarly, those treated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 exhibited increased shoot fresh and dry weight, surpassing non-inoculated plants by 20% and 17%, respectively. Furthermore, N content was significantly higher in plants treated with strain 21F221 and 21F226 compared to non-inoculated plants (Control), demonstrating increases of 28% and 25%, respectively. Similarly, this trend extended to C content, where values were significantly higher in plants inoculated with 21F221 and 21F226 strains compared to non-inoculated plants, displaying increases of 30% and 31%, respectively. It is noteworthy that plants inoculated with the reference strains AP1 and AP2 did not show any significant difference respect to non-inoculated control plants in any of the evaluated parameters (Table 3).

The final rhizosphere *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* population after 4 weeks in experiment A, revealed that all microorganisms exhibited a rhizosphere population of approximately  $10^6$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> (Table 4). Interestingly, no correlation was found between shoot dry weights and its rhizosphere isolates population (p-value > 0.05) (Table 3).

Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Nitrogen balance index	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	N content (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )	C content (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )
Control	$4.76\pm0.3$	$2.9\pm0.2$	$0.47\pm0.03$	$2.52\pm0.1$	$191.88\pm 6.9$
AP1	$5.24\pm0.3$	$3.21\pm0.1$	$0.48\pm0.02$	$2.35\pm0.1$	$173.08\pm1.6$
AP2	$5.29\pm0.2$	$2.96 \pm 0.1$	$0.45\pm0.02$	nd <sup>b</sup>	nd
21F200	$5.33\pm0.3$	$3.13\pm 0.2$	$0.51\pm0.03$	nd	nd
21F201	$5.41\pm0.3$	$3.03\pm0.2$	$0.49\pm0.02$	nd	nd
21F203	$5.27\pm0.3$	$2.87 \pm 0.2$	$0.47\pm0.02$	nd	nd
21F205	$5.1\pm0.3$	$3.04 \pm 0.1$	$0.52\pm0.04$	$2.67\pm0.1$	$198.72\pm 6.9$
21F209	$5.4\pm0.2$	$2.94 \pm 0.2$	$0.47\pm0.02$	nd	nd
21F210	$5.55\pm0.3$	$2.75\pm0.2$	$0.44\pm0.03$	nd	nd
21F213	$5.42\pm0.3$	$3.04\pm0.2$	$0.48\pm0.02$	nd	nd
21F220	$5.38\pm0.3$	$3.24\pm0.2$	$0.51\pm0.03$	nd	nd
21F221	$5\pm0.3$	$3.47 \pm 0.2$ *	$0.56 \pm 0.02$ *	$3.22 \pm 0.3$ *	248.61 ± 18.1 *
21F222	$5.83\pm0.4$	$3.24\pm0.2$	$0.53\pm0.03$	$2.95\pm0.2$	$216.18\pm13.6$
21F224	$5.47\pm0.4$	$2.8\pm0.1$	$0.44\pm0.02$	nd	nd
21F226	$5.33\pm0.2$	$3.4 \pm 0.2$ *	$0.55 \pm 0.03$ *	3.16 ± 0.3 *	251.83 ± 21.5 *
21F227	$5.83\pm0.3$	$2.97\pm0.2$	$0.5\pm0.03$	nd	nd

Table 3 Effect of microbial inoculations on Zea mays cv. "Tía María" fertilized with no N supply at the harvest day

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=30) concerning to 3 experiments with 10 replicates each (Experiment A, B and C). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different compared to non-inoculated plants with a p-value < 0.05, determined through a Dunnett's test

<sup>a</sup> Treatments correspond to non-inoculated plants (Control) inoculated with *A. brasilense* reference strains (AP1 and AP2) and *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* isolates inoculated at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of seeds

<sup>b</sup> Non determined (nd)

Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Treatment <sup>a</sup> Shoot dry weight (g)		Isolates rhizosphere population
	Mean	Plant <sup>b</sup>	$(10^{6} \text{ CFU mL}^{-1})$
21F209	$0.50\pm0.03$	(+) 0.68	$6.30 \pm 2.65$
		(-) 0.37	$4.85\pm0.21$
21F210	$0.53 \pm 0.03$ *	(+) 0.69	$5.00\pm0.05$
		(-) 0.39	$3.00\pm0.15$
21F213	$0.57 \pm 0.03$ *	(+) 0.67	$4.70\pm0.70$
		(-) 0.38	$4.85\pm1.15$
21F220	$0.54 \pm 0.04$ *	(+) 0.81	$0.50\pm0.01$
		(-) 0.37	$1.00 \pm 0.10$
21F221	$0.60 \pm 0.04$ *	(+) 0.79	$2.50\pm1.50$
		(-) 0.37	$0.25\pm0.08$
21F226	$0.50\pm0.03$	(+) 0.69	$1.80\pm0.20$
		(-) 0.36	$0.71\pm0.11$

**Table 4** Rhizosphere population of the isolates in Zea mays cv. "Tía María" and theircorresponding shoot dry weight values in experiment A

Values are shoot dry weight means  $\pm$  SE (n=10) and concentration means  $\pm$  SE (n=3). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different compared to non-inoculated plants with a p-value < 0.05, determined through a Dunnett's test. Correlation analysed by Pearson's test with no significance ( $\rho$ = 0.081 and p-value > 0.05)

<sup>a</sup> Treatment correspond to inoculation with *A. chroccocum* strain 21F209, *A. salinestris* strain 21F213, *A. oryzae* strain 21F220, *A. brasilense* strains 21F210, 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226 inoculated at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of seeds

<sup>b</sup> Shoot fresh weight referred to the plant with higher (+) and the plant with lower (-) weight within each treatment

#### 2.2 Inoculation effect on plants with reduced nitrogen supply (60% N)

In Experiment A, a higher fresh and dry weight was observed in maize plants inoculated with *A*. *brasilense* strains 21F205, 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226 and in dry weight only in the case of plants inoculated with 21F224 and 21F227 compared to non-inoculated maize plants (Table 5). The increase for dry weight for those inoculated with *A. brasilense* strains 21F205, 21F221, 21F227, *A. aestuarii* 21F226 and *A. oryzae* strain 21F224, was of 37%, 22%, 29%, 23%, and 21%, respectively, compared to the control (Table 5). Simultaneously, maize plants inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 exhibited a higher nitrogen concentration, showing an 11% increase compared to non-inoculated plants (Control). Additionally, plants inoculated with 21F222, 21F205, 21F226 and 21F221 strains presented a significant higher carbon concentration per plant with an increment of 41%, 48%, 38% and 25% respectively (Table 5).

Exp <sup>a</sup>	Treatment <sup>b</sup>	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	N content (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )	C content (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )
А	Control	$42.05\pm2.7$	$3.5\pm0.3$	$62.18 \pm 1.9$	$1405.3\pm57$
	AP1	$37.41 \pm 2.5$	$2.93\pm0.2$	$60.58\pm2.3$	$1338.7\pm201$
	AP2	$39.93\pm 2.6$	$3.1\pm 0.3$	nd	nd
	21F200	$43.01\pm2.9$	$3.53\pm0.3$	nd	nd
	21F201	$40.94\pm3.2$	$3.52\pm0.3$	nd	nd
	21F203	$41.56\pm2.4$	$3.53\pm0.3$	nd	nd
	21F205	52.18 ± 1.7 *	4.81 ± 0.3 *	$67.04\pm2.1$	1982.8 ± 164 *
	21F209	$45.74\pm3.2$	$4.23\pm0.3$	nd	nd
	21F210	$46.13\pm3.3$	$4.15\pm0.4$	nd	nd
	21F213	$45.86\pm3.3$	$3.97\pm 0.4$	nd	nd
	21F220	$43.93\pm3.5$	$3.96 \pm 0.4$	nd	nd
	21F221	48.69 ± 2.5 *	$4.24 \pm 0.2$ *	68.88 ± 5.5 *	1751.5 ± 87 *
	21F222	$47.17\pm3.5$	$4.06\pm0.4$	$54.56\pm10.7$	2093.4 ± 133 *
	21F224	$46.13\pm2.5$	$4.29 \pm 0.3$ *	nd	nd
	21F226	47.92 ± 1.7 *	$4.54 \pm 0.3$ *	$62.67\pm2.3$	1939.1 ± 60 *
	21F227	$45.30\pm2.3$	$4.33 \pm 0.2$ *	nd	nd
В	Control	$91.98 \pm 9.0$	$8.75\pm0.6$	$85.64\pm3.9$	3538.95±117
	21F221	$96.70\pm5.4$	10.36 ± 0.5 *	95.09 ± 1.4 *	4189.26 ± 197 *
	21F226	$96.68\pm7.6$	$9.88\pm0.9$	100.42 ± 3.2 *	$4057.54 \pm 82$ *
	21F221+21F226	$102.19\pm 6.9$	$10.58 \pm 0.6$ *	100.49 ± 3.9 *	4369.74 ± 166 *

Table 5 Effect of microbial inoculations on Zea mays cv. '	'Tía María" fertilized with 60% N regime
at the harvest day	

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=16). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different p-value < 0.05, determined through Dunnett's test compared to the non inoculated control

<sup>a</sup> Data corresponding to two experiments (A – August/September 2022, B – August/September 2023)

<sup>b</sup> Treatments correspond to non-inoculated plants (Control) inoculated with *A. brasilense* reference strains (AP1 and AP2) and *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* isolates inoculated at  $10^8$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of seeds, as well as the combination of *A. brasilense* (21F221) and *A. aestuarii* (21F226) both at  $0.5 \cdot 10^8$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of seeds (21F221+21F226)

During Experiment B, the plants that exhibited differences in biomass compared to the control were those inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 and plants inoculated *A.aestuarii* strain 21F226 together showing an 18% and 21% increase in shoot dry weight, respectively compared to the control (Table 5). Furthermore, all plants inoculated with any of the strains individually and with the combination of both presented significant higher N and C content per plant compared to non-inoculated plants, with increases of 16% and 18% respectively by inoculation with 21F221, increases of 17% and 15% by 21F226 and increases of 17% and 23% by the combination of both (21F221+21F226). In this experiment (60% N) as in experiment 0% N, the references strains AP1

and AP2 did not show any significant difference respect to non- inoculated control plants (Table 5).

## 2.3 Inoculation effect on plant yield with reduced nitrogen supply (75% N)

## 2.3.1 Effect on maize and rice under controlled conditions

Regarding the inoculation effects observed in maize and rice plants fertilized with a 75% nitrogen regime, notable differences were observed among the effect of inoculation of almost all microbial strains tested, particularly in terms of yield, root length, and nitrogen content in maize, and aerial biomass, yield, and nitrogen content in rice (Table 6).

For maize, the inoculation with all tested microbial strains resulted in notable increases in root biomass and yield compared to non-inoculated plants. The highest increase in root dry weight was observed with the standard strain A. brasilense AP1, the Vietnamese formulation S(04), and A. aestuarii strain 21F226, each showing a 50-51% increase. Additionally, root length was significantly enhanced by the Vietnamese formulation S(04), A. brasilense strain 21F221, and A. aestuarii strain 21F226, with increases ranging from 60% to 67%. In terms of grain yield, maize plants inoculated with A. brasilense AP1, strain 21F222, and A. aestuarii strain 21F226 showed the highest grain weight and production values, with grain weights increasing by 120%, 128%, and 112% respectively compared to non-inoculated plants, and grain production increases of 165%, 155%, and 148% respectively, additionally, the harvest index was similarly improved with increases of 7%, 6%, and 8% respectively compared to non-inoculated plants. The treatments with A. brasilense AP1, strain 21F221, A. aestuarii strain 21F226, and the Vietnamese formulation S(04) also significantly affected shoot nitrogen accumulation in plants, with increases of 66%, 53%, 8%, and 53% respectively in shoot nitrogen content, and strain AP1, strain 21F221, and strain 21F226 affected in a higher nitrogen seed accumulation by 133%, 65%, and 106%, respectively.

In rice, the most notable inoculation effect was obtained with the inoculation of strain S(04), which showed significant differences in shoot dry weight with increases of 22%, grain weight with increases of 7%, grain production with increases of 72%, and nitrogen accumulation in shoots with increases of 28% and in seeds with increases of 41%. Additionally, strain *A. brasilense* 21F221 showed significant differences compared to non-inoculated plants, with higher values in yield with increases of 3% and 32% in grain weight and grain production, in the harvest index, and in nitrogen content in shoots and seeds with increases of 35% and 52%, respectively.

Taking in account all the strains analysed, regarding the effect of inoculation on the shoot dry biomass of rice, differences were observed compared to non-inoculated plants in strains AP2, S(04), 21F222, and 21F226. In terms of yield, the differences were more widespread, with

differences in grain weight observed in all strains compared to non-inoculated plants, except for strain 21F213, and in grain production except for strains AP2, 21F210, and 21F220. Regarding nitrogen content, only strains S(04) and 21F221 showed differences compared to non-inoculated plants, as mentioned earlier.

Plant	Treatment <sup>a</sup>		Biomass			Yield <sup>b</sup>		N content	
species		Shoot dry	Root dry	Root lenght	Grain weight	Grain production	Harvest	Shoot	Seed
		weight (g)	weight (g)	(cm)	(g)	(g plant <sup>-1</sup> )	Index	(mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )	(mg 100/1000 seed <sup>-1</sup> )
Maize	Control	$40.26\pm7$	$6.0\pm0.3$	$50.96\pm0.3$	$7.32\pm0.3$	$363.73\pm12.5$	$0.90\pm0.01$	$507.35\pm1.8$	$116.14 \pm 6.5$
	AP1	$38.17\pm2.2$	$12.22 \pm 0.2$ *	$73.62 \pm 0.7$ *	$16.13 \pm 0.7$ *	958.35 ± 10.9 *	$0.96 \pm 0 *$	840.96 ± 16.6 *	271.11 ± 0.6 *
	AP2	$41.17\pm1.4$	9.97 ± 0.1 *	73.24 ± 2.1 *	$10.43 \pm 0.9$ *	552.72 ± 14 *	$0.93\pm0$	nd	nd
	S(04)	$36.02\pm1.1$	$12.01 \pm 0.2$ *	81.76 ± 1.4 *	$12.72 \pm 0.8$ *	713.97 ± 49.7 *	$0.95 \pm 0$ *	840.51 ± 2.6 *	$124.81\pm29.1$
	21F210	$29.74\pm0.8$	$8.58 \pm 0.2$ *	63.62 ± 1.4 *	10.76 ± 1.1 *	584.18 ± 6 *	$0.95 \pm 0$ *	nd	nd
	21F213	$35.2\pm0.6$	9.31 ± 0.2 *	64.34 ± 2.6 *	10.92 ± 1.4 *	553.68 ± 17.4 *	$0.94 \pm 0$ *	nd	nd
	21F220	$35.05\pm0.6$	$10.76 \pm 0.2$ *	63.58 ± 1.9 *	11.37 ± 2.5 *	564.99 ± 24.4 *	$0.94 \pm 0$ *	nd	nd
	21F221	$50.6\pm0.2$	11.26 ± 0.2 *	81.48 ± 0.1 *	11.11 ± 1.2 *	586.43 ± 7.3 *	$0.95 \pm 0$ *	776.0 ± 6 *	191.84 ± 15.4 *
	21F222	$36.25\pm1$	11.51 ± 0.2 *	79.44 ± 0.9 *	16.71 ± 0.9 *	928.71 ± 11.9 *	$0.96 \pm 0$ *	nd	nd
	21F226	$50.96 \pm 1.3$	$12.07 \pm 0.9$ *	85.94 ± 1.3 *	$15.54\pm0.2^{*}$	$903.77 \pm 21.8*$	$0.97 \pm 0*$	550.6 ± 8.4 *	239.33 ± 7 *
Rice	Control	$49.39\pm0.5$	nd <sup>c</sup>	nd	$18{,}50\pm0{,}1$	$22.74\pm0.8$	$0.32\pm0.01$	$391.87\pm6.2$	$353.84\pm3.3$
	AP1	$55.22\pm20.8$	nd	nd	19.78 ± 0.1 *	$36.35 \pm 0.5$ *	$0.37 \pm 0$	$412.6\pm12.9$	$130.28\pm6.2$
	AP2	58.68 ± 19.9 *	nd	nd	$19.28 \pm 0.1$ *	$37.37 \pm 1.9$	$0.35\pm0$	nd	nd
	S(04)	$63.2 \pm 20.2$ *	nd	nd	19.88 ± 0 *	39.19 ± 0.8 *	$0.35\pm0$	500.9 ± 21.7 *	500.72 ± 19.4 *
	21F210	$49.44\pm2.2$	nd	nd	$19.52 \pm 0.2$ *	$32.24\pm1$	$0.34\pm0$	nd	nd
	21F213	61.02 ± 1.8 *	nd	nd	$18.89\pm0.4$	35.79 ± 1.2 *	$0.31\pm0$	nd	nd
	21F220	$48.97\pm0.7$	nd	nd	$20.45 \pm 0.2$ *	$30.96\pm0.5$	$0.34\pm0$	nd	nd
	21F221	$51.64\pm0.9$	nd	nd	$19.16 \pm 0.1*$	30.12 ± 1.8 *	0.37 ± 0.01 *	530.01 ± 14.4 *	536.58 ± 10.5 *
	21F222	57.45 ± 0.8 *	nd	nd	$20.5 \pm 0.1$ *	40.1 ± 1.4 *	$0.35\pm0$	nd	nd
	21F226	54.89 ± 0.5 *	nd	nd	$20.57 \pm 0.2$ *	$34.57 \pm 0.4$ *	$0.39 \pm 0.00$ *	$408.32\pm8.8$	$355.55\pm 6.3$

Table 6 Effect of microbial inoculation in maize (Zea mays cv. "hybrid waxy maize MX10") and rice (Oryza sativa cv. "OM5451") fertilized with 75% N regime at harvest

Values are: means  $\pm$  SE (n=10) in maize and (n=9) in rice. Values marked with asterisks are significantly different to non-inoculated plants (Dunnett's test p-value < 0.05).

<sup>a</sup> Treatments: non-inoculated plants (Control), inoculated with *A. brasilense* reference strains (AP1 and AP2), Vietnamese formulation tested S(04) and *Azospirillum* and *Azotobacter* isolates at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seed

<sup>b</sup> Yield measurements being 100-filled maize and 1000-filled rice grain weight, grain production at 14% of humidity and the harvest index (grain production/ shoot dry weight) <sup>c</sup> Non-determined (nd)

## 2.3.2 Rice under field conditions

The results of field-grown rice plants are summarized in Table 6, which includes data from both non-inoculated plants (Control) and rice plants inoculated with A. brasilense strains 21F221 and A. aestuarii strain 21F226, as well as reference strains AP1, AP2 and S(04) and other strains from the collection 21F210, 21F213, 21F220, and 21F222. In terms of biomass parameters, significant differences were observed in shoot dry weight between 21F210, 21F213, 21F220, AP1 and AP2 strains and non-inoculated plants with increases of 23%, 17%, 17, 16% and 13% respectively. Also significant variations were noted in the number of panicles and the percentage of filled spikelet compared to non-inoculated plants with strain 21F221 with value increments of 8% and 3%, also on number of panicles differences were noted in inoculation with strains AP1, AP2, S(04), 21F210, 21F213, 21F220 and 21F226 with higher values in inoculation with A. aestuarii with 13% increment compared to non-inoculated plants (Table 7). Regarding yield parameters corresponding to weight of 1000 rice grains and grain production differences between non inoculated plants and plants inoculated with S(04) and 21F226 are observed with higher values of 3% and 6% in gran weight and 19% and 23% in grain production respectively, also differences were observed in grain production between non inoculated plants and plants inoculated with all strains tested except for 21F222. Observing the estimated yield values, some differences were noted compared to non-inoculated plants, with the highest values in plants inoculated with AP1 and 21F226, showing a 19% increase, followed by 21F221, 21F213, 21F220, AP2, and S(04). In terms of nitrogen accumulation, significant differences between inoculated plants and control plants were observed in plant shoot nitrogen accumulation with differences in A. brasilense strain AP1, 21F221 and A. aestuarii strain 21F226 with increments of 27%, 17% and 29% respectively (Table 7).

Treament <sup>a</sup>		Biomass			Yield <sup>b</sup>			N content	
	Shoot dry weight (kg plot <sup>-1</sup> )	Number of panicles (plant <sup>-1</sup> )	Filled spikelet (%)	Grain weight (g)	Grain production (kg plot <sup>-1</sup> )	Estimated yield (ton ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Harvest index	Shoot (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )	Seed (mg 1000 seeds <sup>-1</sup> )
Control	$12.9\pm0.3$	$5\pm0$	$93.68\pm0.9$	$21.02\pm0.2$	$9.61\pm0.03$	$5.81\pm0.21$	$0.43\pm0.01$	$258.85\pm8.3$	$353.16 \pm 15.1$
AP1	14.58 ± 0.2 *	5.27 ± 0.03 *	$95.6\pm0.4$	$20.53\pm0.5$	$10.84 \pm 0.21$ *	6.91 ± 0.09 *	$0.43\pm0$	328.46 ± 0.9 *	$344.84 \pm 11.2$
AP2	$14.95 \pm 0.3$ *	$5.33 \pm 0.03$ *	$96.64\pm0.2$	$20.33\pm0.3$	$10.43 \pm 0.17$ *	$6.58 \pm 0.1$ *	$0.41\pm0.01$	nd <sup>c</sup>	nd
S(04)	$11.31\pm0.1$	5.5 ± 0.06 *	$93.36\pm1$	$21.63 \pm 0.1$ *	$11.42 \pm 0.09$ *	6.28 ± 0.16 *	$0.5 \pm 0$ *	$243.02\pm4.5$	$322.62 \pm 11.1$
21F210	15.92 ± 0.5 *	$5.25\pm0.08$	$95.8\pm0.4$	$21.17\pm0.2$	$10.8 \pm 0.09$ *	$6.6 \pm 0.04$ *	$0.4\pm0.01$	nd	nd
21F213	15.15 ± 0.3 *	$5.29 \pm 0.08$ *	$96.11\pm0.3$	$21.32\pm0.3$	$11.42 \pm 0.15$ *	$6.55\pm0.13$	$0.43\pm0.01$	nd	nd
21F220	15.15 ± 0.1 *	$5.29\pm0.12$	$96.11\pm0.5$	$21.32\pm0.3$	$11.42 \pm 0.18$ *	$6.55\pm0.28$	$0.43\pm0$	nd	nd
21F221	$13.33\pm0.2$	5.41 ± 0.08 *	96.99 ± 0.1 *	$21.37\pm0.3$	11.59 ± 0.41 *	6.67 ± 0.09 *	0.46 ± 0.01 *	303.98 ± 4.6 *	$319.13\pm14$
21F222	$12.16\pm0.1$	$5.6\pm0.06$	$93.91 \pm 1.5$	$21.14\pm0.1$	$10.6\pm0.03$	$6.77\pm0.11$	$0.47\pm0$	nd	nd
21F226	$13.79\pm0.2$	5.63 ± 0.09 *	$94.82\pm0.7$	$22.25 \pm 0.1$ *	11.79 ± 0.06 *	6.9 ± 0.04 *	0.46 ± 0.01 *	$334.95 \pm 8.6$ *	$352.86\pm10.1$

Table 7 Effect of microbial inoculation in rice plants (Oryza sativa cv. "OM5451") cultivated in the field and fertilized with 75% N regime

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3 plots with 160-170 g seeds plot<sup>-1</sup>). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different to non-inoculated plants p-value < 0.05, determined through Dunnett's test.

<sup>a</sup> Treatments correspond to non-inoculated plants (Control), inoculated with A. brasilense reference strains (AP1 and AP2) and Azospirillum and Azotobacter isolates at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seed

<sup>b</sup> Yield measurements being 1000-filled rice grain weight, grain production at 14% of humidity and the harvest index calculated as grain production/ shoot dry weight

<sup>c</sup> Non-determined (nd)

# **3.** Inoculation effects of selected isolates on relevant agronomic indices related to nitrogen use efficiency

## 3.1. Regarding plant biomass

The Table 8 presents agronomic indices to assess nutrient use efficiency (Dobermann, 2007), calculated based on the fertilization regime, values of the aerial plant biomass (shoot dry weight) and plant nitrogen accumulation from maize grown with N free fertilization (0% N) and data form 60% N fertilization regime. These indices are shown for both non-inoculated maize and maize inoculated with *A. brasilense* strains 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226. Significant differences were observed in the values of apparent crop recovery efficiency of supplied nitrogen (RE) between inoculated with 21F221 and 21F226 and non-inoculated plants, with an increase of 19% and 20%, respectively. Additionally, differences were noted in agronomic efficiency (AE) and partial factor productivity (PFP) of supplied N, in plants inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 compared to non-inoculated plants, with increments of 24% increase in AE and a 20% increase in PFP, as well as, for inoculation with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 with increases in AE by 34% and PFP by 29%. However, in the data related to physiological efficiency of acquired N (PE) and internal utilization efficiency of N (IE), no significant differences were observed between non-inoculated and inoculated maize plants (Table 8).

Teadeed IVI	reduced in fredgrand solution (007017).								
Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Recovery	Physiological	Internal	Agronomic	Partial factor				
	efficiency of	efficiency of	efficiency of efficiency e		productivity of				
	supplied N	acquired N		supplied N	supplied N				
Control	$185,79 \pm 7$	$0,\!089\pm0,\!002$	$0,\!100\pm0,\!001$	$16{,}64\pm0{,}9$	$19{,}03\pm0{,}7$				
21F221	219,99 ± 12 *	$0,\!094\pm0,\!001$	$0,\!102\pm0,\!002$	20,57 ± 1,2 *	22,96 ± 1,2 *				
21F226	222,76 ± 7 *	$0,\!100\pm0,\!004$	$0,\!108\pm0,\!004$	22,24 ± 0,6 *	$24,62 \pm 0,7$ *				

**Table 8** Agronomic indexes of maize plants (*Zea mays* cv Tía María) fertilized with N-free Hoagland and reduced N Hoagland solution (60%N).

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=12). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different to non-inoculated plants p-value < 0.05, determined through Dunnett's test.

<sup>a</sup> Treatments correspond to non-inoculated plants (Control) and inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 or *A. aestuarii* inoculated at  $10^8$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seeds.

## 3.2 Regarding grain production

The Table 9 presents agronomic indices to assess nutrient use efficiency (Dobermann, 2007), calculated based on the fertilization regime and the values grain yield and nitrogen seed accumulation data of maize and rice plants grown with a fertilizer concentration lower than the agronomic standard (75%N). These indices are shown for both non-inoculated maize and maize inoculated with *A. brasilense* strains 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226 (Table 9). Significant differences were also observed in the internal nitrogen utilization efficiency, particularly in plants

inoculated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226, which showed a 38% increase in maize and a 28% increase in rice compared to non-inoculated plants.

Additionally, notable differences were found in nitrogen export due to 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation, this parameter measures the amount of absorbed nitrogen allocated to the agronomic part of the plant, in maize, inoculation with strains 21F221 and 21F226 resulted in 70% and 103% higher values, respectively, while in rice, the increases were 76% and 17%, respectively, compared to non-inoculated plants. These findings underscore the positive impact of *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 inoculation on nutrient use efficiency in crops under reduced nitrogen fertilization (Table 9).

	/	U		
Plant species	Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Partial factor productivity of supplied N	Internal efficiency	Nutrient export
Maize	Control	$101,9 \pm 2,6$	$13{,}97\pm0.3$	$20,\!09\pm2.1$
	21F221	161,1 ± 1,5 *	$13,\!72\pm0.6$	34,23 ± 2.5 *
	21F226	207,9 ± 3,7 *	$19,24 \pm 0.4$ *	40,88 ± 1 *
Rice	Control	$\textbf{4,88} \pm \textbf{0,12}$	$7{,}83\pm0.3$	$19{,}99\pm0.4$
	21F221	5,86 ± 0,28 *	$7,\!21 \pm 1.2$	35,11 ± 1.4 *
	21F226	$6,33 \pm 0,07$ *	$9,99 \pm 0.2$ *	23,41 ± 0.4 *

**Table 9** Agronomic indexes of maize plants (*Zea mays* cv Tía María) and rice plants (*Oryza sativa* cv. OM5451) fertilized with reduced N Hoagland solution (75%N).

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=5) in maize and means  $\pm$  SE (n=6) in rice. Values marked with asterisks are significantly different to non-inoculated plants p-value < 0.05, determined through Dunnett's test. <sup>a</sup> Treatments correspond to non-inoculated plants (Control) and inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 or *A. aestuarii.* inoculated at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seeds

## Discussion

# **1.** Impact of *Azotobacter* inoculation on phosphorus solubilization and nutrient use efficiency

Despite observing a notable capacity for phosphate solubilization in *in vitro* studies, in *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213, a significant increase in maize growth was not evident when fertilized with P-free Hoagland solution in the presence of the hydroxyapatite which is an insoluble source of P. These findings suggest that the effectiveness of phosphate solubilization in the laboratory may not fully reflect its efficacy in the soil as observed in other research (Richardson et al., 2009; Wakelin et al., 2006). The variability in the efficacy of *Azotobacter* strains in phosphate solubilization and plant growth has been documented previously (Bashan et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 1999). Several reasons could explain this discrepancy: first, it is possible that the phosphate solubilization mechanisms identified under laboratory conditions may not

operate similarly in soil (Whitelaw et al., 1999); second, it is important to consider the influence of environmental and edaphic factors, such as soil pH and the availability of other nutrients (Hinsinger et al., 2003; Hodge, 2004; Ryan et al., 2000) and third, unlike the specific associations between rhizobia and their host plants, phosphate solubilizers do not exhibit specific natural associations with host plants, which may lead to greater diversity in plant-microorganism interactions (Richardson, 2001). Therefore, to gain a more accurate and applicable understanding of how *A. salinestris* strain 21F213 works in association with maize plants, further experiments considering these factors are needed.

## 2. Impact of *Azospirillum* inoculation on nitrogen uptake and

## utilization

Based on maize plants measurements performed in N-free fertilized plants (experiment A, B and C), no significant effects were observed in plant height or the nitrogen balance index (NBI) following inoculation with A. brasilense, the lack of observed differences in plant length can be attributed to the high heritability of this trait, as documented in studies such as those conducted by Ermindo Cavallet et al., (2000) and Rural & Maria, (2000). The no significant differences in NBI between inoculated and non-inoculated plants may arise from the limited representativeness of the sample, as only a small part of the plant is analysed for measurements. However, despite the absence of differences in this traits, significant differences between non-inoculated plants and inoculated plants were noted in N-free fertilized maize (0%N), where it is highlighted the clear impact of A. brasilense strains 21F221 and A. aestuarii 21F226 on growth and nitrogen accumulation. These findings are consistent with previous results in maize outlined in the literature, where similar experimental parameters, such as seed inoculation with A. brasilense at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>, with N-free fertilization, resulted in a significant increase in nitrogen concentration in plants and grain cob (Oliveira et al., 2018). Moreover, the observed increase in stem dry matter ranging between 11% and 20% by inoculation of strains 21F221 and 21F226 are similar to those obtained performing similar experiments with another strain of A. brasilense with seed inoculation at 2.108 CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> without nitrogen fertilization (Marini et al., 2015). Furthermore, a 5% increase in shoot dry weight by effect of strain of A. brasilense on 26 maize genotype cultivated with low nitrogen input by seed inoculation at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> has been documented in the literature (Zeffa et al., 2019). This increase in dry weight due to the inoculation of has also been observed in other crops, such as sugarcane (Moutia et al., 2010).

Additionally, in experiment A from in N-free fertilized plants, the *Azospirillum spp*. population in maize rhizosphere remained stable at 10<sup>6</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> after 28 days post-seed inoculation, demonstrating its resilience, which align with Urrea-Valencia et al., (2021) research, which noted

a stabilization in *Azospirillum* after 15 days at a concentration around  $10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of fresh root post-inoculation of the seed at  $2 \cdot 10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and during whole experiment, this stabilization of the colonies is likely due to the genus's ability to colonize the root surface with the possibility of also penetrating the interior of root hairs as described in Santos et al., (2017a). Our findings also underscore the significance of microbial persistence in the rhizosphere for eliciting beneficial plant effects (El Zemrany et al., 2006) although the presence of *Azospirillum* in the rhizosphere does not necessarily guarantee effects on the plant as observed in our data.

Based on maize plants data obtained from A and B experiments performed at 60% N fertilization regime significant differences were noted between non-inoculated plants and inoculated plants, with increases in biomass and nitrogen accumulation due to inoculation, notably for strains 21F221 and 21F226 aligning with other results in the literature, such as Naiman et al., (2009) which described a 26% increase in maize biomass after *A. brasilense* inoculation, while Quadros, (2009) reported up to a 53% increase in stem dry matter yield. The effect of *Azospirillum* inoculation increasing nitrogen and other macro and micronutrient accumulation in maize plants is also well-documented in the literature (Fonseca Breda et al., 2019; Moutia et al., 2010; Picazevicz et al., 2017). However, in contrast to our findings, Hungria et al., (2010) did not observe effects on grain nitrogen content due to microbial inoculation at a similar fertilization regime.

The effect of inoculation on biomass increases and nitrogen accumulation at 75%N fertilization regime, potentially could be attributed to the Azospirillum's ability to alter maize root morphology by increasing the number of roots and root hairs, thus enhancing root-soil contact surface and, consequently, improving water and nutrient absorption by the plant (Baldani et al., 1997; Bashan et al., 2004; Dobbelaere et al., 2001; Kapulnik et al., 1983; Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000) these observations are consistent with the observed in our experiment where the effect of inoculation increased maize root dry weight and length. Historically, this effect on biomass and root morphology has been attributed to phytohormone production (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010; Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, 1994), however, in recent years, it has also been linked to A. brasilense's ability to stimulate root exudation of carboxylates, which affects the rhizosphere microbial community and promotes increased root growth (D' Angioli et al., 2017; Liebersbach et al., 2004; Skonieski et al., 2017). Even though in our experiment we noted a significant increase in maize root biomass, there was no significant differences observed in aboveground biomass, this discrepancy could be attributed to the timing of sampling, as previous research has suggested that above ground growth tends to decrease as crops develop, generally being less than root growth (Dobbelaere et al., 2001; Naiman et al., 2009). Although in some cases, rice inoculated with AP2, S(04), 21F213, 21F222 and 21F226 showed higher aerial biomass compared to non-inoculated

plants, this could be due to the sampling moment of rice plants which did not capture the full maturity phase.

The benefits in crop grain yield are primarily attributed to the increase in the quantity of grains produced in response to enhanced vegetative growth, suggesting a highly linear relationship between biomass production and crop yield (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Ghassemi-Golezani, 2012; Kang et al., 2017; Munns et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2022). The ability of members of the genus *Azospirillum* to increase yields has been studied and described for several decades, consistently demonstrating the positive impact of inoculation with *Azospirillum* on grain and forage yields (Pereg et al., 2016; Rozier et al., 2017). Specifically, the effect of *A. brasilense* inoculation on increasing maize yield is well-documented in the literature (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Di Salvo & García de Salamone, 2019; Hungria et al., 2010; Mala et al., 2010), with typical increases ranging from 16% to 30% compared to non-inoculated plants. However, our findings in maize experiment at 75%N fertilization, reveal significantly higher increases (52-104%), consistent with the results reported by Garcia et al., (2017), who recorded increases of 46% and 102% in yield through the inoculation of a commercial *A. brasilense* strain under conditions of high nitrogen availability (90%).

Regarding the results obtained in rice at 75% N fertilization, we observed an increase in grain yield due to the inoculation with strains 21F221 and 21F226. The positive effects of A. brasilense inoculation on grain production are well-documented in the literature, both in greenhouse-grown plants (Majumdar & Sahg, 2007) and in field conditions (Razie & Anas, 2008). For instance, Ferreira et al., (2015) documented comparable production results, with increases in yields ranging from 40% to 108% compared to non-inoculated controls. In another line of experimentation, for production values obtained in paddy rice fields fertilized with 75% N, studies by Salamone et al., (2010) reported yield increases within the same range as those observed in our study (20% -22.5%) as well as, the impact on the number of filled spikelets in rice plants cultivated in the field by strain 21F221 was observed in Lakzadeh et al., (2015), suggesting that inoculation enhance plant biochemical condition and this leads to increased flower and pollen production, which could contribute to the observed differences in spikelet filling. The different values obtained between both lines of experimentation in rice, greenhouse and paddy field, could be attributed to multiple factors, including variability in environmental conditions, the complex interaction between microorganisms and plants, as well as differences in nutrient availability and competition with other soil organisms in field conditions (Mehnaz, 2015).

Also, the variability in results among the measures on the different experiments, especially in terms of the response of maize plants to inoculation with *Azospirillum spp*, is a phenomenon previously observed in scientific literature (Marini et al., 2015; Skonieski et al., 2017). However,

there is no single explanation for this variability, some authors suggest it could be attributed to the nature of the association between *Azospirillum* and the plant, as it does not involve the formation of symbiotic structures, these bacteria are more vulnerable to the environment (Gyaneshwar et al., 2002), making them susceptible to variations in environmental factors and plant conditions such as pH, humidity, water activity, oxygen, temperature, and the plant's genotype (Bashan et al., 2004; Hungria, 2010; Joe et al., 2012; Oliveira et al., 2004). Examples of this environmental sensitivity have been observed under stress conditions, where responses to inoculation treatments are less consistent (Lana et al. 2012; Mehnaz et al., 2010; Naiman et al., 2009). Despite this variability, it is important to highlight that there was a general trend towards increased growth, improved nutrition, and higher production in plants inoculated with strains 21F221 and 21F226 compared to the control group.

While the variability in results from different experiments highlights the complex nature of Azospirillum-plant interactions, it also underscores the importance of understanding the optimal conditions for inoculation. In the literature, several inoculation methods for Azospirillum spp. are commonly reported, including seed coating, soil application, and foliar spray (Bashan et al., 2014). In our experiments, two different seed inoculation methods were employed: seed coating for maize in the 0% and 60% N experiments and seed imbibition for maize and rice in the 75% N experiments. Seed coating, which consist of dusting seeds with peat inoculant with or without water or adhesive, is often considered the most practical and commonly used inoculation technique because it is easy to use and requires relatively small amounts of inoculant (Bashan et al., 2014). In our study, peat was used, also described as an effective carrier for A. brasiliense in maize seeds (Barbosa et al., 2022) and carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) as an adhesive to ensure each seed received a sufficient number of bacteria, also described in Souza et al., (2022) as effective at preserving the viability of *Azospirillum spp.* (Souza et al., 2022). Despite its benefits, seed coating has limitations, particularly for small seeds, where the amount of inoculant that can be applied is limited, which may be insufficient to meet the bacteria threshold needed for successful inoculation (Bashan et al., 2014). Given these constraints, in experiments conducted under a 75% nitrogen fertilization regime, seed inoculation was performed by imbibing maize and rice seeds in the microbial inoculum, a method already reported as effective for inoculating PGPR in rice grown in paddy fields (Nguyen et al., 2021) and for Azospirillum spp. inoculation in maize (Bashan et al., 2014; Casanovas et al., 2000). In both cases seed inoculation was effective in increasing plant nitrogen use efficiency, however, to determine which method, seed coating or seed imbibition, yields better results in terms of biomass and production further specific experiments are needed. These experiments should compare both inoculation methods under the same experimental conditions including moment of sampling, plant genotype, environmental factors and substrate.

## 3. Agronomic indices related to nutrient use efficiency

In order to express the results in terms established by the CEN/TC 55 guidelines, several agronomic indices were calculated to demonstrate the beneficial effects of the selected strains 21F221 and 21F226 on nutrient use efficiency, a claim that can be expressed on the label of a commercial biostimulant according to the European Fertilizer Regulation, indicating that both strains had a positive effect on increasing nitrogen use efficiency in rice and maize, in terms of biomass production and yield. This effect manifested in a higher conversion of applied nitrogen into biomass, suggesting that strains 21F221 and 21F226 facilitate better nitrogen absorption and utilization, results being consistent with previous studies showing that inoculation with *A. brasilense* can significantly improve nutrient absorption and plant growth (Cassán et al., 2009; Hungria, 2010).

Additionally, inoculation was observed to improve nitrogen export efficiency, indicating that inoculated plants are more efficient in translocating this essential nutrient for biomass production and in mobilizing nitrogen towards the grains. These results align with the characteristics of *A. brasilense* described in the literature, which report increases in nitrogen use efficiency, contributing to greater biomass accumulation and yield (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010; Okon, 1994). A notable difference between the two strains evaluated is that only strain 21F226 shows an improvement in internal nitrogen utilization efficiency (IE). This result suggests that strain 21F226 not only improves nitrogen absorption and translocation but also optimizes the internal conversion of nitrogen into productive biomass. Studies such as those by Dobbelaere et al., (2001) and (Vessey, 2003) have demonstrated that different strains of *Azospirillum* can have varying effects on nutrient utilization efficiency, highlighting the importance of selecting specific strains for agricultural applications.

## Conclusions

Although *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213 exhibited considerable phosphate solubilization capabilities *in vitro*, this did not lead to a significant increase in maize growth under P-free Hoagland solution conditions.

Despite the observed variability in some experiments, the overall findings support the potential efficacy of strains 21F221 and 21F226 in enhancing maize and rice growth and nitrogen plant accumulation particularly when supplemented with 25-40% reduction in mineral nitrogen which demonstrates that the use of this strains could imply a potential savings in the use of fertilizers. In maize, inoculation with *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 resulted in a 20% increase in plant growth, a 26% increase in nitrogen accumulation, and a 61% increase in yield, meanwhile inoculation with *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226 showed a 24% increase in plant growth, a

13% increase in nitrogen accumulation, and a remarkable 149% increase in yield. Additionally, for rice, strain 21F221 led to a 4% increase in growth, a 26% increase in nitrogen accumulation, and a 26% increase in production, also strain 21F226 resulted in a 7% increase in growth, a 17% increase in nitrogen accumulation, and a 37% increase in yield compared to non-inoculated rice plants.

The ability of these strains to improve multiple agronomic indices related to nutrient use efficiency (NUE) as defined by the microbial biostimulants CEN/TC 455 standards, suggests they could serve as promising candidates for developing of microbial biostimulants compliant with EU fertilizer regulations and standards for future CE marking, thus promoting more sustainable and efficient agricultural practices.

# Chapter 4: Biochemical and ecological characterization of selected strains

## Introduction

The potential of *Azospirillum spp.* as a biostimulant has been the subject of considerable research over the decades, primarily focusing on its effect on large-scale cereal production such as rice, maize, sorghum, wheat, and millet (Okon & Labandera.Gonzalez, 1994). However, it would also be interesting to explore its effectiveness and applicability in other productive sectors, such as vegetable production and both annual and perennial plants (Vendruscolo & de Lima, 2021). In terms of application *Azospirillum spp.* has been used in a range of formulations, from seed inoculation to the direct application of live cell cultures via fertigation or spraying (Fukami et al., 2017). However, challenges remain in developing formulations that are consistently effective, particularly where seed inoculation may not be feasible or when multiple inoculations are required during the season (Bashan et al., 1995). Therefore, understanding the colonization process of *Azospirillum spp.*, its effects, and its survival in the soil is crucial to improving its effectiveness in these contexts.

The colonization pattern of *Azospirillum spp.* on plant roots has been extensively investigated, particularly in grass species, since the work of Lucia Baldani, (1980). The root colonization by *Azospirillum spp.* involves two phases: adsorption and anchoring, adsorption is a rapid and reversible process, is likely controlled by bacterial protein compounds, while anchoring, which is stronger and takes several hours to form, involves bacterial surface polysaccharides that permanently connect the bacteria to the root surface (Bashan et al., 2004). As colonization progresses, *Azospirillum spp.* colonies position themselves in different root sites; beginning with an increase in the number of cell aggregates at lateral branching points three days after inoculation, by day seven, cell groups are observed throughout the entire root system, and by day twelve, colonization focuses on young root areas such as the elongation and differentiation zone (Santos et al., 2017a).

Detailed characterization of *Azospirillum spp.* strains regarding their sugar metabolism, fermentation, and enzymatic production is also essential for understanding the mechanisms through which it interacts with plants exudates and soil, which in turn can provide insights into its formulation and its potential as a biofertilizer in sustainable agriculture. Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, (2000) provided a comprehensive overview of *Azospirillum spp.* physiology and biochemistry, highlighting its ability to utilize a wide variety of sugars as carbon and energy sources. Furthermore, Van Bastelaere et al., (1999) demonstrated that *Azospirillum spp.* exhibits chemotaxis toward some sugars, such as D-fucose, L-arabinose, and D-galactose, suggesting an adaptation to actively seek nutrients in the soil. Referring to the biochemical activities, Idris et al., (2007) investigated the production of specific enzymes, such as the ones involved in synthesizing indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), and Mehnaz (2015) described the capacity to produce

substances that influence rhizosphere structure and growth promotion, such as nitric oxide (NO), nitrite, nitrate reductase (NR), and lectins.

The transition from studying the effect of *Azospirillum spp*. application under controlled laboratory or greenhouse conditions to analysing its impact in field conditions poses a significant challenge. From Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, (1994) to the present day, numerous studies across various crops have concluded that, worldwide, in almost all cases inoculating *Azospirillum spp*. under natural conditions, yields a positive but very variable response in plants, largely influenced by environmental conditions and crop management practices, such as organic and mineral fertilization (Cassán et al., 2020; Pariona-Llanos et al., 2010). Additionally, agricultural practices can significantly affect soil microbial communities, favouring specific autochthonous microorganisms and microbial life strategies, which underscores the complexity and the need for an integrated approach to understanding and optimizing the use of *Azospirillum spp*. in the field (Degrune et al., 2017).

Organic fertilization practices harness natural materials such as manure, compost, crop residues, and kitchen waste to enrich soil fertility. These materials decompose gradually in the soil, facilitated by microbial activity, releasing vital nutrients like nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and micronutrients (Sharma, 2017), The decomposition process is influenced by factors like the quantity and quality of residues, soil characteristics and environmental conditions (Dail & Fitzgerald, 1999; Hamel et al., 2004). In organic fertilization, usually the soils are low in available nitrogen and microbes decompose soil organic matter (SOM), in order to access nitrogen for their nutritional needs to growth. This way, they can incorporate the mineral N into organic chains to produce amino acids, proteins, nucleic acids and other organic compounds which they use to live, and which eventually could be released to plants after the death of soil microbes (Wang et al., 2022). This microbial activity is a key component of the priming effect, when microbes are stimulated by fresh organic inputs, they increase their metabolic activity, leading to enhanced decomposition of existing SOM (Gunina & Kuzyakov, 2022), This process not only mobilizes nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus but also contributes to the formation of more stable forms of organic matter, which can improve soil structure and fertility in the long term (Fontaine et al., 2011; Kuzyakov et al., 2000). Organic fertilization then offers several advantages as it not only fertilizes plants but also improves soil structure, enhances water retention capabilities, and fosters beneficial microbial communities, thereby promoting overall soil health (Naveed et al., 2014).

Mineral fertilization involves the use of synthetic or mineral chemicals specifically designed to provide nutrients to plants. These products, such as ammonium nitrate, di-ammonium phosphate, and potassium sulphate, contain nutrients in inorganic form, which are rapidly released into the soil and easily absorbed by plants (Herencia et al., 2007). While mineral fertilization can provide nutrients quickly and in a controlled manner, it does not contribute to increase the levels of organic matter to the soil and can result in salt accumulation and leachate pollution if overused (Magdoff & Van Es, 2021).

In natural ecosystems, microbial communities play a crucial role in supporting global ecosystem services and agricultural sustainability, serving as the drivers of ecosystem functioning and homeostasis (Augelletti et al., 2019). To understand how soil microorganisms function in nutrient recycling and their role in making essential nutrients available to plants, such as nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium, it is crucial to understand the cycles of these elements. It is also important to study the microbial communities present in the soil with different functional traits by methodologies such as substrate induced respiration (SIR) which is a measurement of microbial respiration of samples after amending them with an excess of a readily nutrient source to trigger microbial activity (Aira & Domínguez, 2010). With this approach, it is possible to establish the metabolic characterization of soil microbial communities quickly, economically, and *in situ* (Campbell et al., 2003) and consequently, obtain the catabolic index which is the microbial community capacity to metabolize a selection of carbon substrates with contrasting chemical characteristics.

## Objectives

This chapter is focused to characterise *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 and *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226 and understand their performance in soil, which could influence in the biostimulant's effectiveness and application strategies.

The specific objectives were:

- 1. To study *Azospirillum* strains 21F221 and 21F226 colonization dynamics in maize rhizosphere, encompassing the determination of strain concentration during plant development and the capacity to penetrate within root structures.
- 2. To characterize both strains by evaluating the ability to metabolize various sugar compounds and to display diverse enzymatic activities.
- To evaluate the influence of both bacterial strains on the soil nitrogen forms content and the indigenous microbial community in field soils with different fertilization background, fertilized with organic or mineral inputs.

## Material and methods

## 1. Rhizosphere and root colonization

To monitor the rhizosphere concentration dynamics of *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226 over time as well as to ascertain the stabilization of their concentration and potential root penetration ability, bacterial suspensions were prepared following the same protocol as used for the plant experiments.

Microorganisms were stored in glycerol in the freezer (-80°C). When preparing the plant inoculum one loop from each strain was placed in RC solid plates (Caceres, 1982) and left at 30°C for 48h. The grown colonies were transferred to tubes with 20 mL of NBS liquid media (Beef extract 3.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>, Peptone 5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup> and Sodium chloride 5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and left with adequate aeration and agitation (150 rpm) for 72 h at 30 °C. After that time, cell concentration was measured by spectrophotometry at 600 nm and compared with a calibration curve. Then the microbial suspensions were centrifugated (Hettich model UNIVERSAL 320) at 4000 g for 10 min and resuspended in sterile NBS liquid medium to obtain a concentration of  $10^{10}$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>.

Maize seeds (*Zea Mays* cv "Tia Maria" from Les Refardes S.L) were used for the experiment, seeds were added to sterile plastic tubes. Each tube received 0.2 g of Jiffy GO M8 (peat previously sieved at 0.71 mm), followed by 0.2 mL of each inoculum and 0.70 mL of 1% (w/v) CMC (Carboxymethyl cellulose), obtaining an inoculum of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g seeds<sup>-1</sup>. The tubes were shaken by hand to ensure homogeneous distribution of the treatment to the seeds.

The experiment was conducted in the greenhouse of the Faculty of Biology at Universitat de Barcelona (41.385018, 2.120436) and followed a Latin square design with 3 treatments: a control without inoculation and seeds inoculated with *A. brasilense* strains 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226. Each treatment included 12 replicates, with each replicate consisting of one pot containing a single plant. Four pots were assigned to each sampling time point (7, 15, and 36 days post-sowing)

Pre-inoculated seeds were sown in 1 L pots containing a mixture of peat, vermiculite, and perlite (2:1:1 v/v/v) pre-hydrated with 100 mL of tap water. Two seeds per pot were sown and after a week, only one plant was left in each pot. Plants were fertilized on demand with 60% N Hoagland solution prepared with  $(NO_3)_2$  (47.2 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and KNO<sub>3</sub> (4 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), CaCl<sub>2</sub> (11.8 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and KCl (1 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) modifying Hoagland & Arnon, (1950) solution.

To collect rhizosphere samples, plants were carefully removed from the pots, and substrate not attached to the root system was excluded. Rhizosphere samples were brought to the laboratory, there the substrate attached to the rhizosphere and roots were carefully separated. In the case of

soil attached to roots, 10 g from each pot were subjected to an initial dilution in 90 ml of NaCl saline solution (9 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and stirred at 150 rpm for an hour. Then, serial dilutions ( $10^{-2}$  to  $10^{-7}$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>) were made and plated onto RC plates, incubated for 72 hours at 30°C, and *Azospirillum*-like colonies (small, round colonies that turned scarlet over time) were counted.

For root colonization assessment, roots were sterilized with 98% ethanol during 1 min, and 70% ethanol during 2 min and rinsed by sequential washing with distilled water for 2 minutes. Root segments with the most root hairs were mashed in a sterilized mortar and plated onto RC media plates. After 72 hours of incubation at 30°C, colonies with morphological characteristics resembling *Azospirillum* were selected and further purified on RC media plates. Root samples that had been previously surface-disinfected and showed colonization with *Azospirillum*-like microorganisms were considered to be colonized internally.

## 2. Biochemical characterization of the strains

For the biochemical tests, Analytical Profile Index (API)<sup>®</sup> 20E and 50CHB strips (Scharlab SL, Spain) were used following the manufacturer instructions. *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 were transferred from a frozen stock to RC media plates and incubated at 30°C for 72 hours. Subsequently, they were streaked onto LB media plates (Tryptone 10 g L<sup>-1</sup>, yeast extract 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, NaCl 5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, 15 g L<sup>-1</sup> agar) using the Scottish streak technique, allowing growth for 48 hours at 30°C in the incubator. Once isolated colonies were observed, one colony was selected and gently emulsified with an ampoule of 0.85% NaCl API medium (5 ml) to obtain a homogeneous bacterial suspension.

The API<sup>®</sup> 20E strip consists of 20 microtubes containing dehydrated substrates which during incubation are subjected to colour changes due to the metabolism. The enzyme reactions studied by this strip are;  $\beta$ -galactosidase, arginine dihydrolase, lysine decarboxylase, ornithine decarboxylase, citrate utilization, H<sub>2</sub>S production, urease, tryptophane deaminase, indole production, acetoin production, gelatinase, fermentation-oxidation of glucose, mannitol, inositol, rhamnose, saccharose, melibiose, amygdalin and arabinose. On the other hand, the API<sup>®</sup> 50CHB strip allows to determine the fermentation of 49 carbohydrates: glycerol, erythritol, D-arabinose, L-arabinose, ribose, D-xylose, L-xylose, adonitol,  $\beta$ -methyl-xyloside, galactose, glucose, fructose, mannose, sorbose, rhamnose, dulcitol, inositol, sorbitol,  $\alpha$ -methyl-mannoside,  $\alpha$ -methyl-glucoside, N-acetyol-glucosamine, amygdalin, arbutin, esculin, salicin, cellobiose, maltose, lactose, melibiose, D-turanose, D-arabiol, L-arabitol, gluconate, 2-keto-gluconate and 5-keto-gluconate.

For inoculating the microtubes, a pipette was used to distribute the bacterial suspension into the tubes of the strip, avoiding the formation of bubbles at the base of the tubes. The incubation box was then closed and incubated at 36°C for 120 hours. During incubation of the API<sup>®</sup> 20E strip, bacterial metabolism produces colour changes that are either spontaneous or revealed by the addition of reagents. For the API<sup>®</sup> 50CHB strip, during incubation, carbohydrates are fermented to acids, resulting in a decrease in pH also detected by the change in colour of the indicator.

# **3. Impact of the selected strains inoculation on two soils with different fertilization regimes**

Agricultural soils from the Parc Agrari del Baix Llobregat, specifically from the Cal Notari (41°19'06.2"N 2°03'07.0"E) and Cal Mitjà (41°19'10.6"N 2°03'11.1"E) plots, were utilized in this study. The soil characterization details are provided in Table 1. These soils were chosen due to their proximity and differing crop management practices. In the Cal Notari soil, organic fertilization methods are used, incorporating organic material from green cover crops and pruning residues, introducing approximately 4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>/year applied as mulch. Conversely, in Cal Mitjà soil conventional management practices are used, relying on mineral NPK fertilization, particularly using "Nitrosulfate 26" (Fertiberia S.A., Spain) as a nitrogen source at a rate of 200 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. This mineral fertilizer consists of ammonium nitrate and ammonium sulphate, with nitric nitrogen concentration at 6.5 % and total sulphur at 15 %.

To investigate the impact of inoculating strains 21F221 and 21F226 with the two soils with different fertilization management, two trials were conducted; (i) Inoculated soils were incubated and nitrogen forms were determined at various time points, (ii) Inoculated soils were used to measure the substrate induced respiration (SIR) using the MicroResp<sup>TM</sup> kit (The James Hutton Institute, Scotland).

Soils <sup>a</sup>	pН	EC <sup>b</sup> (dS m <sup>-1</sup> )		Total nitrogen (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Pa Olsen (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	C/N Ratio <sup>b</sup>	Texture
Cal Notari	8.0	0.44	6.10	0.42	17.6	8.47	Loam-Silt
Cal Mitjà	8.11	0.98	1.17	1.03	16.8	6.56	Sandy-Loam

**Table 1:** Characterization of soil samples with organic (Cal Notari) and mineral (Cal Mitjà) fertilization used for incubations

<sup>a</sup> Soils corresponding to Cal Notari (organic-fertilized) and Cal Mitjà (mineral-fertilized)

<sup>b</sup> Parameters analysed meaning: EC, electrical conductivity; OM, oxidable organic matter; Pa Olsen, phosphorus available detected by Olsen method; and C/N Ratio, carbon/nitrogen ratio.

For both trials, the microorganisms were inoculated in the same manner into the soils as described in section 1. The strains 21F221 and 21F226, preserved in glycerol at -80°C, were seeded on RC medium plates then incubated at 30°C for 72 hours. Subsequently, on LB agar medium, and after 48 hours of growth at 30°C, the colonies were transferred to glass tubes containing liquid LB medium. After 72 hours of incubation at 30°C with agitation, the cell concentration was measured using spectrophotometry at 600 nm and compared with a calibration curve. Aliquots were centrifuged at 4000 g for 10 minutes, and the resulting pellet was resuspended to achieve a concentration of  $5 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. Serial dilutions were performed to confirm the purity and concentration of the microorganisms.

(i) The impact of strains inoculation on nitrogen forms concentration in both soils (Cal Mitjà and Cal Notari) was examined using a randomized experimental design with three independent variables: soil fertilization types (organic and mineral fertilization), sampling time pre- and postinoculation (3 and 7 days), and inoculation treatment being a control without inoculation, and inoculation with A. brasilense strain 21F221 and A. aestuarii strain 21F226 at a concentration of 5.10<sup>5</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. Soil sample preparation involved sieving to remove large particles of organic matter and stones. Then fifty-millilitre vials containing 30 g of soil were prepared, and inoculation was performed with A. brasiliense bacterial suspension for the inoculated samples and saline solution for controls, totalling 5 vials for each combination of soils, sampling time, and with and without inoculation. The vials were kept covered in darkness for the duration of the 7-day experiment. At each sampling point, 30 g of soil were extracted; 10 g were used for dilutions to determine the concentration of Azospirillum-like microorganisms on RC medium plates and the remaining 20 g were used to perform nutrient extractions. Five g of soil were mixed with 50 mL of deionized water or potassium sulphate (KCl 2M) and agitated for 1 hour at 120 rpm, after which the samples were centrifuged at 4000 g for 5 minutes. The resulting extraction solution was used to calculate the concentration of ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) following Sims et al., (1995) methodology; nitrate (N-NO<sub>3</sub>) according to Cataldo et al., (1975) and total oxidable nitrogen (TNO) by Kjeldahl method with the autoclave as described in Bremner (1965). The soluble organic nitrogen (SON) was derived from nitrate and ammonium values using the formula: SON = TNO - (nitrate + ammonium), while mineral nitrogen (Min-N) was calculated as the sum of nitrate and ammonium. Furthermore, the rates of change in nitrogen forms were calculated by substracting the concentration values after 7 days to the concentration at the moment of inoculation, then dividing it by the number of incubation days.

(ii) In the second experiment, the CO<sub>2</sub> SIR, the catabolic index and the alpha diversity were determined using the MicroResp<sup>TM</sup> kit. Initially, sample preparation involved sieving to remove large particles of organic matter and stones, using approximately 100 g of sample. Subsequently, the water field capacity of the samples was determined according to Keen & Raczkowski (1921).

Then, the samples were inoculated with the microorganisms at a concentration of  $5 \ge 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> in both types of soil, using a saline solution (9 gL<sup>-1</sup>NaCl) to reach 50 % of the field capacity. Additionally, a control treatment without inoculation was included, using only saline solution. The MicroResp<sup>TM</sup> plates contain 48-wells for each treatment, each well was filled with the exact volume of soil (1.5 mL) and then the plates were weighed to calculate the added soil weight in the wells. Three wells per treatment and substrate were used. These plates were covered with parafilm and incubated for 5 days in darkness within a sealed and humid container, along with a pot of soda lime to capture the produced CO<sub>2</sub>. Simultaneously, detection plates were prepared with 3% agar and an indicator solution composed of 18.75 mg cresol red, 16.77 g KCl, and 0.315 g NaHCO<sub>3</sub> dissolved in 1 litre of water. These plates were stored in darkness within a sealed container in a CO<sub>2</sub>-free environment. After 5 days of incubation, the absorbance at 570 nm of the detection plates was measured, and the coefficient of variation was verified (< 5 %). Once the detection plates were verified, 25 µL per well of carbon sources were added at a concentration of 30 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> in triplicate, along with controls of distilled sterile water, to evaluate microbial metabolism. The carbon sources used in this study were sugars (glucose, galactose, fructose, lactose, arabinose), amino acids (alanine, cysteine, lysine, aminobutyric acid and glutamic acid) and organic acids (citric acid, phytic acid, maleic acid and oxalic acid). The initial absorbance (t=0) was measured before assembling the MicroResp<sup>TM</sup> structure, which was left in darkness for 6 hours, finally, after 6 hours, absorbance (t= 6 h) was measured again to complete the process, then the SIR as  $\mu$ g CO<sub>2</sub>-C hour<sup>-1</sup> could be calculated per each well.

Simultaneously with the MicroResp<sup>TM</sup> process, a portion of the inoculated soil sample was retained to calculate the concentration of *Azospirillum* present at the beginning and after 5 days of incubation, using serial dilutions and plating on RC media plates.

## 4. Statistical analysis

All data were analysed with the SPSS software package version 27.0. Data from *Azospirillum spp.* rhizosphere populations were analysed with a Dunnett's test in comparison with the non-inoculated plants (control), using a significance level of 95% for each sampling day (7, 15 and 36 days after inoculation).

Data from the effect of inoculation in nitrogen forms were firstly treated together with a threeway factorial repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test at significance levels of p-value < 0.05 for each nitrogen form determined (ammonium, nitrate, total oxidable nitrogen, soluble organic nitrogen and mineral nitrogen), the factors used in the ANOVA were time, soil and inoculation, and the interactions. Additionally, to analyse the rates of nitrogen forms accumulation a two-way factorial repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test at significance levels of p-value < 0.05 was performed for each rate (ammonium, nitrate, soluble organic nitrogen and mineral nitrogen accumulation), considering as factors soil and treatment and the interaction.

For SIR values obtained a three-way factorial repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test at significance levels of p-value < 0.05 was performed, data from carbon source was treated inside groups regarding to sugar, amino acids and organic acids. The factors, then in the statistical analysis were soils fertilization, treatment and carbon source, as well as, the interactions For catabolic index and alpha diversity index a two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test at significance levels of p-value < 0.05 was performed, considering as factors soils fertilization and inoculation treatment and the interaction between factors.

## Results

## 1. Rhizosphere colonization dynamics

The two microorganisms used in this experiment were inoculated into the seeds at a concentration of  $7 \cdot 10^8$  and  $3 \cdot 10^8$  CFU g seed<sup>-1</sup>, equivalent to  $2.40 \cdot 10^8$  and  $1.10 \cdot 10^8$  CFU seed<sup>-1</sup> for 21F221 and 21F226, respectively.

Days after inoculation	Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Azospirillum population (10 <sup>6</sup> CFU g <sup>-1</sup> substrate)	Inner root colonization
0	Control	-	-
	21F221	$240.2\pm37^{\text{b}}$	-
	21F226	$110.2\pm28^{\text{b}}$	-
7	Control	$0.02\pm0$	-
	21F221	$2.08 \pm 0.3$ *	-
	21F226	$1.33 \pm 0.6$ *	-
15	Control	$0.03\pm0.0$	-
	21F221	$0.34 \pm 0.1$ *	-
	21F226	$0.49 \pm 0.1$ *	+
36	Control	$0.14\pm0.03$	-
	21F221	$0.68 \pm 0.12$ *	-
	21F226	$0.44 \pm 0.12$ *	+

**Table 2** Azospirillum spp. strains 21F221 and 21F226 maize rhizosphere population and root inner colonization in plants fertilized with 60%N Hoagland solution

Values are concentration means  $\pm$  SE (n=4) and presence within the root colonization (n=3). Values marked with asterisks are significantly different compared to non-inoculated plants for each day, with a p-value < 0.05 determined through a Dunnett's test.

<sup>a</sup> Inoculated isolates corresponding to isolates *A. brasiliense* strains 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* 21F226 and non-inoculated (Control)

<sup>b</sup> These values are expressed in 10<sup>6</sup> CFU seed<sup>-1</sup> as the inoculation compared to the others that are expressed in 10<sup>6</sup> CFU mL of substrate<sup>-1</sup>

After seven days, the population in the soil rhizosphere *Azospirillum spp.* was  $2.08 \cdot 10^6$  and  $1.33 \cdot 10^6$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> substrate for strains 21F221 and 21F226, respectively (Table 2). Subsequently, over the course of 15 and 36 days, the *Azospirillum* spp. population found in the maize rhizosphere decreased within one magnitude order and remained stable, ranging from 0.34 to 0.68  $\cdot 10^6$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> substrate for strain 21F221 and from 0.44 to 0.49  $\cdot 10^6$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> substrate for strain 21F226. The ability to colonize inside the root was only demonstrated for *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 after 15- and 36-days post inoculation.

## 2. Biochemical strain characterization

Evaluating the data obtained from the API<sup>®</sup> 20E strip (Table 3) suggests that both isolates exhibited cytochrome oxidase activity and nitrate reductase activity. In addition, a very weak reaction for acetoin production was observed in both *Azospirillum* strains. Regarding  $\beta$ -galactosidase, distinct reactions were observed between the two strains, yielding a positive result for strain 21F221 and a weak positive result for strain 21F226.

Biochemical Tests	21F221ª	21F226 <sup>a</sup>		
Acetoin production	ww+	ww+		
Arginin dihydrolase	-	-		
ß-galactosidase	+	$\mathbf{w}^+$		
Citrate utilization	-	-		
Cytocrome oxidase	+	+		
Gelatinase	-	-		
H <sub>2</sub> S production	-	-		
Indole production	-	-		
Lysine decarboxilase	-	-		
Nitrate reduction	+	+		
Ornithine decarboxilase	-	-		
Tryptophane de aminase	-	-		
Ureasa	-	-		

**Table 3** Biochemical characteristics of *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 by Analytical Profile Index (API)<sup>®</sup> strip 20E

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3)

<sup>a</sup> -, no reaction; +, positive reaction; w+, weak positive; ww+, very week positive

Referring to the carbohydrate fermentation capacity of both strains 21F221 and 21F226 obtained in the API<sup>®</sup> strip 50CHB (Table 4), both strains presented similar results, demonstrating the ability to ferment esculin and fructose, and to a lesser extent, L-arabinose, D-fucose, glycerol, and Dxylose. However, a difference was observed between the two strains in their ability to ferment Darabinose, with a positive reaction observed in strain 21F226 and a negative reaction in strain 21F221.

Biochemical Test	21F221ª	21F226 <sup>a</sup>	Biochemical Test	21F221ª	21F226 <sup>a</sup>
Control	-	-	Glycerol	w+	w+
N-acetyol-glucosamine	-	-	Inositol	-	-
Adonitol	-	-	Lactose	-	-
Amygdalin	-	-	Maltose	-	-
D-arabinose	-	+	Mannitol	-	-
L-arabinose	$\mathbf{w}$ +	$\mathbf{w}$ +	Mannose	-	-
D-arabitol	-	-	Melezitose	-	-
L-arabitol	-	-	$\alpha$ -methyl-glucoside	-	-
Arbutin	-	-	$\alpha$ -methyl-mannoside	-	-
Cellobiose	-	-	β-methyl-xyloside	-	-
Dulcitol	-	-	Rhamnose	-	-
Esculin	+	+	Ribose	-	-
Erythritol	-	-	Salicin	-	-
Fructose	+	+	Sucrose	-	-
D-Fucose	$\mathbf{w}$ +	$\mathbf{w}$ +	Sorbose	-	-
L- Fucose	-	-	Sorbitol	-	-
Galactose	-	-	Treahalose	-	-
Glucose	-	-	D-xylose	$\mathbf{w}$ +	$\mathbf{w}$ +
Gluconate	-	-	L-xylose	-	-

**Table 4** Phenotypic characteristics of *A. brasiliense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 by Analytical Profile Index  $(API)^{\text{®}}$  strip 50CHB

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3)

<sup>a</sup> -, no reaction; +, positive reaction; w+, weak positive

## 3. Soil incubations

# 3.1. Effect of *Azospirillum* inoculation in nitrogen forms in organic and mineral fertilized soils

The statistical analysis of nitrogen forms in soils, both organically and mineral-fertilized, inoculated with strains 21F221 and 21F226, as well as non-inoculated controls, revealed significant differences (Table 5). For the factor soil type, significant differences were observed in ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>), nitrate (N-NO<sub>3</sub>), total oxidizable nitrogen (TON), soluble organic nitrogen (SON) content all with p-values <0.05. In terms of days after inoculation, significant differences were only noted in NH<sub>4</sub> and TON and for the factor treatment just showed significant differences N-NO<sub>3</sub> and Min-N content. Significant interaction effects were found between soil type and days after inoculation for NH<sub>4</sub>, N-NO<sub>3</sub>, TON, and Min-N and between soil type and treatment for NH<sub>4</sub> content.

Chapter 4: Biochemical and ecological characterization of selected strains

Soil type	Days 7 after inoculation	Treatment <sup>a</sup>		Nitrogen forms content (µg/g soil)				Azospirillum
			Ammonium (NH <sub>4</sub> )	Nitrate (N-NO <sub>3</sub> )	Total oxidable nitrogen (TON)	Soluble organic nitrogen (SON)	Mineral nitrogen (Min-N)	<ul> <li>population</li> <li>(10<sup>5</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>)</li> </ul>
Soil with organic fertilization	0	Control	$6 \pm 0.14$ bbA	$62.2\pm12.39\ \text{baB}$	$131.17 \pm 6.3$ baA	$62.86 \pm 7.13$ ababA	$68.3 \pm 12.51$ baB	-
		21F221	$5.3\pm0.14~b\beta A$	$57.97 \pm 8.16 \text{ baAB}$	$139.28\pm6.47~b\alpha A$	$76.01 \pm 7.11 \text{ aba}\beta A$	$63.26\pm8.16$ baAB	$4.5\pm1.3$
		21F226	$5.55\pm0.16~b\beta A$	$47.12 \pm 3.06$ baA	$119.06\pm4.56~b\alpha A$	$66.39\pm4.77\ ab\alpha\beta A$	$52.66 \pm 2.94$ baA	$3.0\pm0.6$
	3	Control	$5.24\pm0.14~b\beta A$	$74.49 \pm 9.47$ $ab\alpha\beta B$	$139.50\pm4.48~b\alpha A$	$59.74 \pm 13.45 \text{ ab}\alpha A$	$79.76 \pm 9.47$ $ab\alpha\beta B$	-
		21F221	$5.24\pm0.04~b\beta A$	$67.12 \pm 5.3$ ababAB	$127.94 \pm 5.82  b\alpha A$	$55.58 \pm 4$ abaA	$72.36 \pm 5.16 \text{ aba}\beta AB$	$1.5\pm0.7$
		21F226	$4.94\pm0.08~b\beta A$	71.53 ± 11.79 abαβA	$137.5\pm6.45~b\alpha A$	$61.03 \pm 8.5$ abaA	76.47 ± 11.8 abaβA	$1.5\pm0.1$
	7	Control	$5.35\pm0.12\ b\alpha B$	$94.41 \pm 7.69 \text{ ab}\beta B$	$170.47\pm11.15~b\beta A$	$70.25 \pm 17.32 \ b\beta A$	$100.23\pm8.25~ab\beta B$	-
		21F221	4.86 ± 0.09 baA	$74.58 \pm 4.43$ abbaB	$155.61 \pm 7.28$ bbA	$76.17 \pm 8.69$ bbA	$79.44 \pm 4.45$ ab $\beta AB$	$1.4\pm0.6$
		21F226	$4.76\pm0.06\ b\alpha A$	59.66 ± 16.85 abβA	$154.06\pm4.86~b\beta A$	$89.63\pm18.35~b\beta A$	$64.43 \pm 16.83 \text{ ab}\beta \text{A}$	$1.4\pm0.1$
mineral fertilization	0	Control	$3.29\pm0.14~a\alpha A$	$93.14\pm6.36\ a\beta B$	$144.78 \pm 9.28$ aaA	$48.36\pm 6.39  ab\alpha A$	$96.42 \pm 5.64$ aaB	-
		21F221	$3.33\pm0.11~a\alpha A$	$106.1\pm14.21~a\beta AB$	$128.94\pm6.34~\text{argA}$	$19.51 \pm 17.61 \text{ ab}\alpha A$	$109.43 \pm 14.17 \text{ aaAB}$	$5.0\pm0.5$
		21F226	$3.24\pm0.06~a\alpha A$	$97.63 \pm 7.24 \ a\beta A$	$135.06\pm4.36~\text{aaA}$	$38.66 \pm 11.59 \text{ ab}\alpha A$	$100.87 \pm 7.19$ aaA	$2.8\pm1$
	3	Control	$3.3\pm0.08\ \text{aaA}$	$91.44 \pm 8.67 \text{ aba}\beta B$	$119.08\pm5.11~a\alpha A$	$24.38 \pm 11.38$ abaA	$94.71 \pm 9.73$ abaB	-
	21F2	21F221	$3.53\pm0.12\;a\alpha A$	$70.17 \pm 15.98~ablphaeta AB$	$114.17\pm30.17~\text{a}\alpha A$	$40.47\pm31.77~ab\alpha A$	$73.7 \pm 15.94$ abaAB	$2.5 \pm 1.2$
		21F226	$3.7\pm0.26~a\alpha A$	77.63 ± 19.55 abαβA	$129.39 \pm 8.8$ aaA	$48.06\pm21.87~ab\alpha A$	81.33 ± 19.65 abaA	$1.1\pm0.2$
	7	Control	$4.13\pm0.18~a\beta A$	$118.31 \pm 14.79 \text{ ab}\alpha B$	$162.43 \pm 25.36 \text{ aaA}$	$39.99 \pm 25.11 \text{ ab}\alpha \text{A}$	$122.43 \pm 17.17 \text{ ab}\alpha B$	-
		21F221	$4.3 \pm 0.23$ abA	$50.85 \pm 18.61 \ ab\alpha AB$	$141.03\pm5.94~a\alpha A$	$76.71 \pm 22.89 \text{ ab}\alpha A$	$55.15 \pm 18.71 \ ab\alpha AB$	$0.7\pm0.3$
		21F226	$3.99\pm0.13~a\beta A$	45.08 ± 10.39 abαA	$119.36\pm4.46~\text{aaA}$	$67.08 \pm 12.91 \text{ abaA}$	49.08 ± 11.58 abαA	$0.9\pm0.3$

Table 5 Effect of Azospirillum spp. strains 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation in different nitrogen forms in incubated soils and Azospirillum population in the soil

Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=5) in nutrient analysis and means  $\pm$  SE (n=4) in concentration. A three-way factorial ANOVA was performed and Tukey's tests (p-value<0.05); lowercase letters (a, b) correspond to differences between soils, greek letters ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) differences between time and capital letters (A, B) between treatments. Significant factors; soil for NH<sub>4</sub>, N-NO<sub>3</sub>, TON, SON, Min-N, time for NH<sub>4</sub> and TON and treatment for N-NO<sub>3</sub> and Min-N. Significant interactions: soil\*time for NH<sub>4</sub>, N-NO<sub>3</sub>, TON, Min-N and soil\*treatment for NH<sub>4</sub>

<sup>a</sup> Treatment inoculation with Azospirillum brasilense strain 21F221 and Azospirillum aestuarii strain 21F226 at a concentration of 5.10<sup>5</sup> · CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and non-inoculated (Control)

Comparing the two soils with different fertilization practices (organic and inorganic fertilization) we observed that ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) and in total oxidable nitrogen (TON) values in soil with organic fertilization are higher than those in soil with mineral fertilization. As well as, in soluble organic nitrogen (SON) content after 7 days, which is significantly higher in organic fertilized soil compared to mineral fertilized soil.

Regarding changes in the N forms concentration significant differences were observed between inoculated and non-inoculated soils. In the organically fertilized soil, there was a significant reduction in ammonium by *Azospirillum* strains (21F221 and 21F226) inoculation at day 7, with reductions of 9% and 11%, respectively. In mineral fertilization the reduction of ammonium at day 7 was found in all treatments. Conversely, N-NO<sub>3</sub> and Min-N contents were less abundant in soils inoculated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226, regardless of the type of fertilization (organic or mineral) or the sampling time.

As for the concentrations of TON, SON and NH<sub>4</sub> in mineral fertilized soil, no significant differences are observed between inoculated and non-inoculated, although there is a tendency for an increase in SON values and a decrease in Min-N values after 7 days comparing non-inoculated soil compared to soil inoculated with 21F226, and less pronounced in 21F221 in both organically and mineral fertilized soil.

Regarding the *Azospirillum* populations found in the soil, the initial concentration was  $4.5 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for 21F221 strain and  $3.0 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for 21F226 in organic-fertilized soil, and  $5.0 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for 21F221 strain and  $2.8 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for 21F226 strain in mineral-fertilized soil respectively. Over time, in organically fertilized soil, the concentration of both strains remained at magnitude order of  $10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> being  $1.5 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and  $1.4 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> on days 3 and 7 for 21F221 inoculation, respectively, and  $1.5 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and  $1.4 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> for 21F226 inoculation on days 3 and 7, respectively. While in mineral-fertilized soil, the microorganism concentration decreased to  $0.7 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> in 21F221 and  $0.9 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> in 21F226 CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> after 7 days.

## **3.2.** Rates of nitrogen forms accumulation in two different soils influenced by microbial inoculation

The rate of nitrogen forms concentration change is shown in Table 6, where the changes are expressed in rates ( $\mu$ g/g soil/day). According to the global analysis of results (two-factorial ANOVA), differences are observed between organically fertilized soil and mineral fertilized soil in nitrate and mineral nitrogen accumulation rate and between inoculation treatments for accumulation rates of nitrate, soluble organic nitrogen, and mineral nitrogen, as well as, the interaction between soil type and inoculation treatments in accumulation rate of nitrate, SON and Min-N.
The accumulation rate of mineral nitrogen (N-Min) was higher in organically fertilized soil, and ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) accumulation rate was higher in mineral fertilized soil. No differences were observed in nitrate (N-NO<sub>3</sub>) and soluble organic nitrogen (SON) accumulation between soils.

Regarding the overall difference between treatments, significant differences are observed in the rate of N-NO<sub>3</sub>, SON and Min-N accumulation. In organically fertilized soil this difference is observed in soil inoculated with 21F226 strain were a lower rate of nitrate accumulation and mineral nitrogen accumulation is observed, the negative values from these rates represent that there is a decreasing rate, transforming, or disappearing of these nitrogen forms. Contrary regarding the rate of soluble organic nitrogen accumulation, higher values are observed when inoculated with 21F226. In mineral fertilized soil the differences in N-NO<sub>3</sub>, SON and Min-N accumulation rates are observed by inoculation of both strain in comparison with non-inoculated substrates, with lower rates values in nitrate accumulation and mineral nitrogen accumulation rate

**Table 6** Rates of nitrogen forms accumulation in two different soils during a seven-day incubation with and without *Azospirillum* inoculation

Soil	Treatment <sup>a</sup>	Rates (µg /g soil /day)					
		Ammonium (NH <sub>4</sub> ) accumulation	Nitrate (N-NO <sub>3</sub> ) accumulation	Soluble organic nitrogen (SON) accumulation	Mineral nitrogen (Min-N) accumulation		
Organically fertilized soil	Control	$0.02\pm0.06~aA$	$5.93 \pm 1.23  aB$	$7.26\pm2.41~aA$	$5.96 \pm 1.18 \ bB$		
	21F221	-0.11 $\pm$ 0.01 aA	$3.10\pm0.63\ aB$	$9.90 \pm 1.24  aAB$	$2.99\pm0.64\ bB$		
	21F226	$\textbf{-0.12} \pm 0.01 \text{ aA}$	-1.27 ± 1.14 aA	14.11 ± 1.66 aB	-1.39 ± 1.13 bA		
Mineral fertilized soil	Control	$0.11\pm0.03~bA$	$4.13\pm2.02  aB$	$-2.34 \pm 2.63$ aA	$4.54\pm2.01~aB$		
	21F221	$0.14\pm0.03\ bA$	-5.68 ± 2.59 aA	$3.24\pm2.10\ aB$	-5.21 ± 2.59 aA		
	21F226	$0.09\pm0.02\ bA$	-7.55 ± 1.70 aA	4.30 ± 1.70 aB	-7.17 ± 1.70 aA		

Means  $\pm$  SE (n=5). A two-way factorial ANOVA was performed and Tukey's tests (p-value<0.05); lowercase letters (a, b) correspond to differences between soils and capital letters (A, B) between treatments. Significant factors; soils for NH<sub>4</sub> and Min-N accumulation; treatment for N-NO<sub>3</sub>, SON and Min-N accumulation and interaction soil\*treatment in N-NO<sub>3</sub>, SON and Min-N accumulation.

<sup>a</sup> Treatment<sup>:</sup> Inoculated isolates corresponding to isolates *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 and *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226 at a concentration of  $5 \cdot 10^5 \cdot \text{CFU mL}^{-1}$  and non-inoculated (Control)

#### 3.3. Substrate induced respiration and alpha diversity index

The values of substrate induced respiration (SIR) expressed as  $\mu g \text{ CO}_2\text{-C/g soil/}$  hour in organically and mineral fertilized soils inoculated with 21F221 and 21F226 and non-inoculated soils are sown in Table 7. Significant differences are observed between different fertilized soils and carbon source group, as well as, in the interaction between both factors and the triple interaction between different fertilized soils, carbon source group and treatment.

The substrate-induced respiration (SIR) values were generally higher in organically fertilized soils compared to mineral-fertilized soils, regardless of whether the soils were inoculated. When examining the response to different carbon source groups, higher SIR values were observed for organic acids in both organically and mineral-fertilized soils, compared to sugars or amino acids, with exception of organically fertilized soil inoculated with the 21F221 strain, where no significant differences were observed between the carbon source groups.

Concerning the effect of inoculation on SIR, significant differences were noted when using organic acids as the carbon source. In organically fertilized soil, inoculation with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 led to reduced CO<sub>2</sub> respiration when organic acids were utilized, with reductions recorded for aminobutyric acid (50%), phytic acid (4%), glutamic acid (49%), malic acid (35%), and oxalic acid (45%) although, no significant effect on SIR was observed with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221 compared to non-inoculated soils. Conversely, in mineral-fertilized soil, a significant increase in SIR was observed when organic acids were used as the carbon source in soils inoculated with both strains 21F221 and 21F226, compared to non-inoculated soils, with higher SIR values recorded for citric acid (266% for both strins), phytic acid (183% and 108% respectively), malic acid (85% and 27%), maleic acid (275% and 208%), and oxalic acid (100% and 50%).

For catabolic and alpha diversity index significant differences were observed by a two-way ANOVA and a post-hoc Tukey test between soils and inoculation treatment, the interaction between soil and treatment was also significant for both parameters analysed with a significant value of 95% (Table 7).

Comparing soils, the catabolic activity is significant higher in organic fertilized soil compared to mineral fertilized soil, the same difference is also observed in alpha diversity with higher values in organic fertilized soil. Additionally, when examining the catabolic activity, we see a significant decrease of 21% in catabolic activity in organic-fertilized soil inoculated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 compared to non-inoculated soil. In mineral-fertilized soil, significant differences are also noted between non-inoculated soil and soil inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221, in this context, inoculation has a positive impact, generating a marked increase of 147% in catabolic activity.

Regarding alpha diversity value, in organic-fertilized soil, significant differences are highlighted between soil inoculated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 and non-inoculated soil, where lower values are exhibited by an 8% reduction. In contrast, in mineral-fertilized soil, significant differences are also noted between non-inoculated soils and inoculated with *A. brasilense* strain 21F221, in this context; inoculation has a positive impact, generating marked increase of 51 %.

Chapter 4: Biochemical and ecological characterization of selected strains

		Soil Induced Respiration in organic-fertilized soil			Soil Induced Respiration in mineral-fertilized soil		
Carbon sources <sup>a</sup>		(µg CO <sub>2</sub> -C/ g soil/ hour)			( $\mu$ g CO <sub>2</sub> -C/ g soil/ hour)		
Group	Substance	Control <sup>a</sup>	21F221ª	21F226 <sup>a</sup>	Control <sup>a</sup>	21F221ª	21F226 <sup>a</sup>
Sugar	Glucose	$1.7\pm0.07$ babA	$1.74\pm0.1\;\text{baA}$	$1.42\pm0.12~b\beta A$	$0.16\pm0.05\;\text{aaA}$	$0.14\pm0.03~\text{aaA}$	$0.08\pm0.03~\text{aaA}$
	Galactose	$0.63\pm0.19~\text{babA}$	$0.92\pm0.06~b\alpha A$	$0.78\pm0.04~b\beta A$	$0.02\pm0.02\;\text{aaA}$	$0.03\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.03\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$
	Fructose	$1.4\pm0.22~\text{babA}$	$1.82\pm0.38~\text{baA}$	$1.09\pm0.06~b\beta A$	$0.04\pm0.02~\text{aaA}$	$0.08\pm0.04~a\alpha A$	$0.08\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$
	Lactose	$0.56\pm0.08~\text{babA}$	$0.58\pm0.03~b\alpha A$	$0.71\pm0.04~b\beta A$	$0.01\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.02\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.04\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$
	Arabinose	$0.9\pm0.03~\text{babA}$	$0.82\pm0.07\;\text{baA}$	$0.65\pm0.14~b\beta A$	$0.01\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.03\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.04\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$
Amino acids	Alanine	$1.01\pm0.09~\text{baA}$	$1.53\pm0.23~\text{baA}$	$0.84\pm0.05~\text{baA}$	$0.09 \pm 0.03 \text{ aaA}$	$0.12\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$0.08 \pm 0.01$ aaA
	Cysteine	$0.39\pm0.07~b\alpha A$	$0.52\pm0.07~b\alpha A$	$0.23\pm0.05~\text{baA}$	$0.01 \pm 0$ aaA	$0.09\pm0.02~\text{aaA}$	$0.1\pm0.02  a\alpha A$
	Lysine	$0.17\pm0.04~b\alpha A$	$0.2\pm0.01\ b\alpha A$	$0.23\pm0.01~b\alpha A$	$0\pm0.01$ aaA	$0.03\pm0.01~\text{aaA}$	$\textbf{-0.02}\pm0.01 a\alpha A$
	Aminobutyric acid	$0.51\pm0.05\;b\alpha A$	$0.51\pm0.03~\text{baA}$	$0.25\pm0.02~b\alpha A$	$0.02 \pm 0$ aaA	$0.03 \pm 0$ aaA	$\textbf{-0.01} \pm 0.01 a \alpha A$
	Glutamic acid	$1.53\pm0.13~\text{baA}$	$1.13\pm0.01~\text{baA}$	$0.93\pm0 \qquad b\beta A$	$0.16\pm0.04~\text{aaA}$	$0.32\pm0.07\;\text{aaA}$	$0.13\pm0.04~\text{aaA}$
Organic acids	Citric acid	$1.64\pm0.11~b\beta B$	$1.25\pm0.08~b\alpha AB$	$1.3 \pm 0.05$ bbA	$0.12\pm0.02\;a\beta A$	$0.44 \pm 0.12 \ a\beta B$	$0.44 \pm 0.1$ abb
	Phytic acid	$0.91\pm0.05~b\beta B$	$0.53\pm0.09\ b\alpha AB$	$0.54\pm0.07~b\beta A$	$0.12\pm0.04~a\beta A$	$0.34\pm0.05~a\beta B$	$0.25\pm0.02\ a\beta B$
	Malic acid	$2.02\pm0.39~b\beta B$	$1.81\pm0.19\ b\alpha AB$	$1.72 \pm 0.21 \ b\beta A$	$0.41\pm0.09~a\beta A$	$0.76 \pm 0.15 \ a\beta B$	$0.52 \pm 0.1$ abb
	Maleic acid	$1.15\pm0.08~b\beta B$	$0.59\pm0.23\ b\alpha AB$	$0.75\pm0.08~b\beta A$	$0.12\pm0.05~a\beta A$	$0.45 \pm 0.1$ abb	$0.37\pm0.09~a\beta B$
	Oxalic acid	$0.47\pm0.07~b\beta B$	$0.04\pm0.07\ b\alpha AB$	$0.26\pm0.02~b\beta A$	$0.02\pm0.01~a\beta A$	$0.04 \pm 0.18 \ a\beta B$	$0.03\pm0.05~a\beta B$
Catabolic activity (µg CO <sub>2</sub> -C/g/h)		$14.83\pm0.35~\text{bB}$	$14.24\pm0.27~bB$	$11.69 \pm 0.27$ bA	$1.32\pm0.33~aA$	3.27 ± 0.36 aB	$2.43\pm0.25~aAB$
Alpha diversity (Shannon index)		$3.79\pm0.03\ bB$	$3.82\pm0.04\ bB$	$3.48\pm0.07~bA$	$0.91\pm0.09\;aA$	$1.38\pm0.07~aB$	$1.16\pm0.07\ aAB$
Azospirillum populations (10 <sup>5</sup> CFU mL <sup>-1</sup> )		-	$4.07\pm4.6~bB$	$1.78 \pm 5.3$ bA	-	$0.727\pm1.6~aA$	$0.395\pm0.4~aA$

 Table 7 Effects of carbon sources on Soil Induced Respiration and microbial activity after 5 days incubation with and without Azospirillum strains 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation

Means  $\pm$  SE (n=3) for soil respiration, catabolic activity, and the Shannon index; means  $\pm$  SE (n=4) for microorganism concentration. A three-way factorial ANOVA was performed and Tukey's tests (p-value<0.05); lowercase letters (a, b) correspond to differences between soils, greek letters ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) differences between carbon source groups and capital letters (A, B) between treatments. Significant factors; soil, carbon source group and interactions; soil\*carbon source group and triple interaction

<sup>a</sup> Control (non-inoculated and inoculated isolates corresponding to Azospirillum brasiliense strains 21F221 and Azospirillum aestuarii strain 21F226 inoculated at 5.10<sup>5</sup> CFU ml<sup>-1</sup>

The populations of strains 21F221 and 21F226 were maintained in the same range of inoculation (2 to  $4 \cdot 10^5$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>) for organic fertilized soil and decreased 10 times for mineral fertilized soils, values for strain 21F221 were slightly higher than strain 21F226 for both types of fertilized soils, being significantly higher in organically fertilized soils.

### Discussion

#### 1. Rhizosphere colonization dynamics

The stability of *Azospirillum* populations observed in our study, specifically for strains 21F221 and 21F226, in the rhizosphere of maize fertilized with a nitrogen-reduced Hoagland solution (60% N), aligns with previous findings in the literature. After 15 days, populations stabilized at approximately  $10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> substrate and remained consistent throughout the experiment. This pattern is consistent with the study by Fukami et al., (2016), where maize seeds inoculated with *A. brasilense* at  $10^5$  CFU seed<sup>-1</sup> and treated with a nutrient solution containing a 25% reduction in nitrogen content resulted in a similar rhizosphere concentration of about  $10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil after 53 days. Furthermore, Urrea-Valencia et al., (2021) reported a comparable outcome in a field study, where inoculating maize seeds at  $2 \cdot 10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> seed initially led to a decline in the population, which then stabilized after 13 days within the range of  $10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil. These stable population levels were associated with positive effects on maize yield, a result that corroborates our observations, suggesting that maintaining *Azospirillum* populations within this range is beneficial for plant growth under reduced nitrogen conditions.

In the literature, *Azospirillum* is recognized as a facultative endophyte, sometimes capable of residing inside plant tissues (Baldani, et al., 1997). The fact that strain 21F226 penetrates the root interior, while strain 21F221 behave as rhizospheric, remaining in the outer regions of the root can be related to the literature describing that some specific strains of *Azospirillum* possess distinct mechanisms to penetrate and colonize the root interior, while others primarily inhabit the mucigel layer or injured root cortical cells (Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000, Baldani et al., 1986; Patriquin et al., 1978; Shelud'ko et al., 2010). Moreover, the inside root presence of strain 21F226 in samples collected at 15- and 36-days post-inoculation, corresponds with the observations made by Santos et al., (2017a), who reported *A. brasilense* colonies inside barley roots after the same time intervals. Despite the precise mechanism by how *Azospirillum* penetrate the maize root cortex intercellular spaces remains unclear, it is theorized that could be by enzymatic degradation of the host cell wall, supported by its pectinolytic and cellulolytic activities (Atmodjo et al., 2013). Recent research by Sharifsadat et al., (2023) defines a cross-signalling mechanism between rice roots and *A. brasilense*, facilitating endosymbiosis through cell wall

loosening and biochemical changes induced by increased hydrogen peroxide levels. Future studies should be performed, to confirm the ability of 21F226 strain to colonize the inner part of the root and to determine the specific entry mechanism.

#### 2. Biochemical tests

The APIS strips used to identify strains based on their metabolic characteristics, is commonly employed in the literature to identify potential new species of *Azospirillum* (Eckert et al., 2001; Lin et al., 2012; Reinhold et al., 1987; Young et al., 2008). Strains 21F221 and 21F226 exhibit the ability to ferment L-arabinose, D-xylose, and fructose, which is consistent with previous studies in *Azospirillum spp*. (Yang et al., 2019). According to the results, strain 21F221 best match in terms of biochemical profile was as *Azospirillum brasilense* strain N8 or ATCC 29729, except for some discrepancies in urease activity and D-maltose fermentation tests (Mehnaz & Lazarovits, 2006). Furthermore, molecular sequencing of the 16S gene results confirm the identification of strain 21F221 as *Azospirillum brasilense*, according to our results then, we speculate that different strain may also give the variability in the isoenzymatic patterns or fermentation profiles as observed among other different *A. brasilense* strains (Mehnaz & Lazarovits, 2006).

Regarding strain 21F226, differences were observed in the fermentation of D-arabinose and lower beta-galactosidase activity compared to strain 21F221. Despite some similarities with other *Azospirillum* species such as *A. formose*, *A. lipoferum*, *A. thiophilum* or *A. zeae*, the D-galactose and D-glucose fermentation capacity and gelatine hydrolysis activity does not match with our results (Lavrinenko et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2012; Mehnaz et al., 2007). Moreover, genetic identification of strain 21F226 through comparison with NCBI 16S rRNA sequences reveals a 99% query cover with 99.93% similarity to *Azospirillum aestuarii*. Of note, *A. aestuarii* corresponds to a recently described species in the literature by Xu et al., (2023), with no existing records characterizing this strain using API strips, although in the article, within other methods, *A. aestuarii* is shown to have positive response to nitrate reduction and negative response to indole production, gelatinase activity and urease, the same results obtained in our study for 21F226. Given the proximity of this novel species and its apparent similarity to *A. brasiliense*, we thus compare strain 21F226 with *A. brasilense* for our purposes.

Among the enzymatic activities observed in strains 21F221 and 21F226, the positive activity of nitrate reductase stands out. This enzyme catalyses the conversion of nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-) to nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub>-), affecting the composition of inorganic nitrogen forms present (Bertero et al., 2003) and thereby contributing to the nitrogen cycle. In contrast, processes such as acetoin production, beta-galactosidase activity, and cytochrome oxidase activity are not directly involved in nitrogen cycle. The acetoin production is related with the secondary metabolite synthesis and the energetic

metabolism, while the cytochrome oxidase is involved in the electron channel in the cellular respiration and the galactosidase role is directly related with sugar hydrolysis (Juers et al., 2012; Li et al., 2023; Watson & McStay, 2020).

### 3. Incubations

The observed reduction in ammonium and nitrate content in soil incubations inoculated with *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 and *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226, rather than an increase, suggests an absence of atmospheric nitrogen fixation. This phenomenon could be attributed to the fact that nitrogen fixation is a highly energy-demanding process. In our study it seems that the absence of rhizosphere and therefore root exudates, appears to have prevented *Azospirillum* from acquiring the necessary energy from soil organic matter (SOM) or other available energy sources present in the soil (simple organic compounds, microbial exudates, or other substances), to fix nitrogen. This observation aligns with previous studies indicating that *Azospirillum* engages in a symbiotic relationship with plants, primarily colonizing the rhizosphere where it can access the nutrients and energy sources essential for its metabolic processes, including nitrogen fixation (Pereg et al., 2016; Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000) and outside this root-associated environment, the availability of energy and nutrients is insufficient to support nitrogen fixation (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010), as demonstrated in our experiment where we inoculated strains 21F221 and 21F226 into soil without plants, a condition more akin to activity in bulk soil than that associated with the rhizosphere.

Inoculation with strains 21F221 and 21F226 in organically fertilized soil resulted in a reduction in ammonium concentration after 7 days, similarly, in both soils (mineral fertilized and organically fertilized soils) inoculation with *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226 led to a decrease in nitrate concentration, although the total oxidizable nitrogen (TON) remained unchanged. Several mechanisms could independently or simultaneously occur in the soil to explain these results (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010). Firstly, the findings suggest a potential influence of *Azospirillum* on the consumption or transformation of ammonium and nitrate compounds (Cassán et al., 2020; Van Dommelen et al., 1998) as well as its capacity to mobilize nitrogen retained in organic matter (N mining), also the ability of *Azospirillum spp*. to reduce nitrate through an assimilative pathway, using nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) as a nitrogen source for synthesizing nitrogenous compounds necessary for its growth and reproduction (De Souza & De Oliveira Pedrosa, 2015) or the ability to use and metabolize ammonium to produce glutamate via glutamate dehydrogenase (Arcondéguy et al., 2001; De Souza & De Oliveira Pedrosa, 2015)

Secondly, another possible influence of the inoculation with *Azospirillum spp.* strains 21F221 and 21F226 is its impact on the native soil bacteria involved in nitrogen conversion processes

(Ferrarezi et al., 2023; Florio et al., 2019). This hypothesis could also explain the observed changes in soil respiration rate, catabolic activity, and diversity index. The alteration of both the composition and activity of the native microbial community by Azospirillum has been previously described in the literature. Banerjee et al., (2018) and Ferrarezi et al., (2023) observed that following A. brasilense inoculation, the native microbial community changed, increasing the abundance of Acidobacteria, Solirubrobacterales, Actinobacteria, and Latescibacteria, similarly, Renoud et al., (2022b) observed shifts in Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria after A. lipoferum inoculation. Changes in microbial community could explain the alterations in nitrogen biochemical forms compared to non-inoculated soils, as certain species may engage in nutritional competition and microbial displacement in the soil (Renoud et al., 2022a). In this sense, results obtained in our investigation on the respiration rates, would suggest that some phyla were capable of metabolizing sugars and organic acids used as carbon sources or Azospirillum spp. may be inhibiting or affecting populations of microorganisms responsible for metabolizing those substrates (Demirkan et al., 2014; Gulati et al., 2007; Hopper et al., 1970; Liu et al., 2016; Macias-Benitez et al., 2020). However, microbiome specific studies, will be necessary to establish a correlation between these phyla and changes in nitrogen biochemical forms and soil respiration.

The populations of 21F221 and 21F226 exhibited higher survival rates in organically fertilized soil compared to mineral fertilization. These results are consistent with Bashan et al., (1995) who reported comparable concentration levels  $(10^4 \text{ to } 10^5 \text{ CFU mL}^{-1})$  after 10 days, albeit with a notable decline in viability after 30 days. In addition, Bashan et al., (1995), linked the survival of *A. brasilense* to soil characteristics, indicating that factors like clay content, nitrogen levels, organic matter, and water-holding capacity positively affect bacterial viability, characteristics which aligns with the organically fertilized soil used in our assay. Furthermore, the higher SIR observed in organic-fertilized soil compared to mineral-fertilized soil in our study imply a greater microbial activity in organically managed soil. This relationship, as it is described on the literature, can be attributed to addition of SOM in organic-fertilized soil which serves as an organic carbon source that fosters the growth and metabolic activity of bacteria (Pariona-Llanos et al., 2010). Conversely, practices involving the use of chemical nitrates as in mineral-fertilized soil, have been shown to negatively impact soil bacterial populations (Li et al., 2023).

The impact of *Azospirillum spp*. strains inoculation on soil biochemical properties such as the catabolic index differs notably depending on soil fertilization. In organically fertilized soils, the addition of *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 led to a decrease in substrate-induced respiration (SIR) when organic acids were used as the carbon source leading to a lower catabolic index, however no differences were observed with sugars or amino acids application. This could be explained by the capacity of organic acids to release bound nutrients from soil organic matter, a process known

as the "unbutton model" (Clarholm et al., 2015), and the prioritization of A. aestuarii strain 21F226 for nitrogen acquisition over carbon in nitrogen-rich soils through the priming effect (De Souza & De Oliveira Pedrosa, 2015; Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Pardo-Díaz et al., 2021) effectively sequestering a significant portion of the available nitrogen in the soil. The application of organic acids in organically fertilized soil facilitates the availability of easily respirable organic matter increasing the amount of available organic nitrogen, thereby reducing nitrogen competition between A. aestuarii strain 21F226 and native soil microbiota. Consequently, the combination with Azospirillum inoculation does not lead to a nitrogen shortage that would otherwise elevate microbial activity; instead, it reduces it (Gunina & Kuzyakov, 2022; Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000). Another possibility is that inoculation inhibits microorganisms that respire these substrates. In contrast, in mineral-fertilized soil, easily respirable materials are scarce, and microbial activity is constrained by carbon availability, in this scenario, the solubilization of organic matter by organic acids, along with Azospirillum inoculation strains 21F221 and 21F226, is crucial for mobilizing nitrogen retained in soil organic matter to meet Azospirillum's demands, enhancing or maintaining SIR. Also resulting in a higher catabolic index, likely due to the competitive activity of introduced Azospirillum strain 21F221 and 21F226, which metabolizes these substrates, along with native microbes competing for the available nutrients (Ambrosini et al., 2016).

This aligns with the hypothesis that free-living *Azospirillum* does not fix nitrogen but instead mines the soil for it, suggesting a strategic allocation of resources based on nutrient availability (Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Pardo-Díaz et al., 2021). The ability of organic acids to mobilize nutrients such as nitrogen from soil organic matter supports the observed decrease in SIR, indicating that *Azospirillum* efficiently uses these compounds to meet its metabolic needs without relying heavily on respiration.

The Shannon index emerges as a valuable tool for understanding biological alpha diversity in an ecosystem (Pla, 2006). Exploring the effect of *Azospirillum* inoculation it also reveals distinctive patterns in organic and mineral fertilized soils decreasing in organically fertilized soil and an increasing in mineral-fertilized soil. Literature on the effects of N fixing microorganism inoculation on native microbial communities shows discrepancies, with some studies reporting a decrease in biodiversity when inoculating with *Herbaspirillum sp.* and *Azospirillum brasilense* (Pardo-Díaz et al., 2021), while others indicate an increase when inoculating *Azotobacter spp.* in combination with rice straw mulch (Mazuecos-Aguilera et al., 2024). The observed discrepancies in alpha diversity between mineral and organically fertilized soils may stem from differences in the richness of the native microbial community. In soils with a more abundant indigenous microbial community, potentially resulting in decreased diversity (Eisenhauer et al., 2013). Conversely, in soils with a less abundant native microbial community, such as mineral fertilization

soil, inoculation may promote increased biodiversity due to the greater impact of the introduced microorganism (Ambrosini et al., 2016; De-Bashan et al., 2010). For instance, in a metagenomic study conducted by inoculating bulk soil with *A. brasilense*, the main genes changing by the inoculation effect were positively correlated with six taxa that were more abundant, including three groups of *Acidobacteria, Solirubrobacterales, Actinobacteria*, and *Latescibacteria* (Ferrarezi et al., 2023). These results suggest that the effect of *Azospirillum* inoculation on biodiversity indices like Shannon can be complex and context-dependent, influencing various microbial groups differently based on environmental factors and plant interactions.

### Conclusions

In conclusion *A. brasiliense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 colonization dynamics in maize rhizosphere, demonstrate a successful establishment and persistence of the inoculated strains at a concentration of  $10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil in maize rhizosphere after 15 days through all the duration of the study, a concentration described to show positive impact on plant growth. Notably, strain 21F226 exhibited the potential to colonize and penetrate maize roots, suggesting endophytic capabilities.

The use of APIS strips for metabolic characterization, combined with molecular sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene, confirms the identification of strain 21F221 as *Azospirillum brasilense* and strain 21F226 as *Azospirillum* aestuarii. Despite minor discrepancies in 21F221 in urease activity and D-maltose fermentation and lack of extensive specific studies in the literature concerning 21F226 strain as this species has been recently described (2023). Both strains showed significant nitrate reductase activity, indicating its potential role in the nitrogen cycle.

While nitrogen fixation outside the rhizosphere appears unlikely, both strains of *Azospirillum* demonstrate a significant capacity to mobilize nutrients, particularly nitrogen, through priming effects in organically fertilized soils. This resulted in decrease in nitrate concentrations in organically and mineral-fertilized soil by strain 21F226 and decrease of ammonium concentrations in organic-fertilized soil after 7 days because of both strains inoculation, with total nitrogen oxide (TON) concentrations remaining constant and a higher soil organic nitrogen (SON) accumulation rate. This suggests that while *Azospirillum* strains may not fix nitrogen outside the root environment, they may employ alternative strategies to obtain essential nutrients, thereby influencing the composition and activity of the soil microbial community. Regarding the effect of inoculation on soil respiration (SIR), significant effects were observed only in organically fertilized soil where the SIR decreased significantly by inoculation 21F221 and 21F226 with organic acids acting as carbon sources, reducing the catabolic index. Conversely, in mineral-

fertilized soils, the presence of easily respirable materials was limited, and *Azospirillum* inoculation helped mobilize nitrogen, thereby maintaining or enhancing SIR and increasing the catabolic index.

Inoculation with *Azospirillum spp.* affected alpha diversity (Shannon index) differently depending on soil type, decreasing alpha diversity in organically fertilized soils while increasing it in mineral-fertilized soils, highlighting a context-dependent influence on biodiversity. Moreover, differences between soil fertilization type were observed in *Azospirillum spp.* population which higher values in organically fertilized soil suggesting it provides more favourable conditions for their viability compared to mineral fertilization. Chapter 4: Biochemical and ecological characterization of selected strains

## **General Discussion**

### **General Discussion**

In the early 20th century, advancements in chemical technology revolutionized agriculture by enabling the synthesis of essential nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorus, into synthetic fertilizers, thereby boosting global food production (Rahman Farooqi et al., 2021). However, the excessive use of these fertilizers has led to significant environmental pollution and highlighted the need for more sustainable agricultural solutions. In this context, microbial biostimulants/biofertilizers have emerged as promising alternatives. These formulations may consist of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) from the *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas* genera, as well as nitrogen-fixing species such as *Azotobacter, Azospirillum*, and *Rhizobium* (Bulgari et al., 2015; Mandal et al., 2023). These bacteria are capable of enhancing plant growth, nutrient use efficiency, and tolerance to abiotic stress, all while being effective and environmentally friendly (Baltazar et al., 2021; Lau et al., 2022).

Despite their potential, the use of biostimulants faces challenges, including the complexity of plant physiological effects and the effectiveness of biostimulant formulations in enhancing crop growth and stress tolerance (Jardin, 2015; Yakhin et al., 2017). Therefore, this thesis aims to isolate, characterize, and evaluate the functionality of PGPR isolates in various crops, focusing on maize and rice. This will be achieved through a combination of *in vitro* experiments, plant assays, and soil studies to develop an effective microbial biostimulant that complies with Spanish regulations (Real Decreto 999/2017) or European regulations (Regulation (EU) 2019/1009). This work aspires to advance scientific knowledge and offer innovative solutions for sustainable agriculture. It is remarkable that at the present moment, only strains of *Azotobacter*, *Azospirillum*, *Rhizobium* and mycorrhizae are accepted as microbial biostimulants under the European Regulation while in the Spanish Regulation there is no limitation in the genera of microorganisms to be used.

# *Pseudomonas fluorescens* as a candidate to develop a biofertilizer

Regarding the isolation of *Pseudomonas fluorescens*, the strategy employed was efficient in isolating 13 strains from bulk soil and from maize rhizosphere, the presence of this specie in bulk soil and associated with plant rhizosphere have been previously documented in the literature. Also most of the strains were from Soil B and Compost, although they have been described as present in a variety of environments (Muriel Rhodes, 1959). In the analysis of the *in vitro* capabilities of

the isolated strains, we observed their ability to produce indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), siderophores, and to solubilize phosphate, with different strains standing out for each characteristic.

The production of IAA by *P. fluorescens* is well-documented in the literature (Patten & Glick, 2002), among the strains tested, P7 and P10 exhibited the highest levels of IAA production with 46 and 61.41  $\mu$ g mg protein<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Given that plant growth promotion is closely associated with IAA production (Cheng et al., 2023), these two strains were selected for further plant growth promotion experiments. The results indicated significant growth improvements in maize and lettuce with P10 inoculation compared to non-inoculated plants, aligning with findings in some studies(Cipriano et al., 2016; Sah et al., 2021; Someya et al., 2008).

The capacity to produce siderophores and solubilize phosphate of the isolated P. fluorescens strains was evaluated in relation to their potential effect on enhancing plant nutrient uptake. As described, P. fluorescens can produce extracellular siderophores that sequester ferric oxides to convert them into forms available to the roots (Krewulak & Vogel, 2008; De Vleesschauwer et al., 2008) and solubilize insoluble inorganic phosphate compounds from mineral sources (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999). Strain P2b demonstrated significant siderophore production on CAS medium, forming a halo diameter of 1.93 cm, consistent with values reported by Soltani et al., (2011) who observed siderophore production capacity from 25 P. fluorescens isolated within 0.6 to 1.27 cm halo diameters. Additionally, strains P2a, P2b, and P4 solubilized hydroxyapatite, increasing soluble phosphorus concentrations by 23.5, 21.6, and 33.51  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, although these findings are noteworthy, comparable studies, such as those by Blanco-Vargas et al., (2020) and Li et al., (2017) reported even higher hydroxyapatite solubilization levels ( $66.2 \mu g$ mL<sup>-1</sup> and 593, 494, 209 or 307 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively) by different *Pseudomonas spp.* isolates. However, despite promising in vitro results, P. fluorescens P2b did not significantly enhance plant growth or phosphorus uptake in maize and sunflower under low phosphorus conditions, indicating that solubilization capacity alone may not translate directly to improved plant nutrition under field conditions.

### Bacillus subtilis as a candidate to develop a biofertilizers

*Bacillus subtilis* is one of the most widely used and studied PGPR and a highly promising candidate for agricultural applications. The genus *Bacillus* is one of the most abundantly isolated genera in the soil, among which *B. subtilis* has been isolated in the rhizosphere of various plants (Earl et al., 2008; Sivasakthi et al., 2014). This aligns with our study, where we isolated 13 strains of *B. subtilis* from bulk soil and rhizosphere source within different soil types: compost, Soil A, Soil B, and Soil D.

Regarding the results of the *in vitro* experiments, the observed capabilities are consistent with those described in the literature, which defines *B. subtilis* as having the ability to produce IAA (Khianngam et al., 2023), siderophores (Ahmad et al., 2021; Ribeiro et al., 2018), and solubilize mineral phosphorus (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999; Manzoor et al., 2017) through medium acidification by releasing organic acids (Saeid et al., 2018) such as glucuronic, malic, oxalic, acetic and lactic acids.

Similar to *P. fluorescens*, the capability of each strain *in vitro* varied, with *B. subtilis* strains B5, B7, and B17 standing out as IAA producers showing values of 34, 31, and 21  $\mu$ g mg protein<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, results comparable to those observed by Wagi & Ahmed, (2019) who reported an IAA production of 19.79  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> by *B.subtilis*. However, these values were lower compared to those obtained in our study for *P.fluorescens* strains P7 and P10. Strains B7, B17, B3, B9, and B12 were selected to observe their effect on tomato germination and growth promotion. Several articles demonstrate the ability of *Bacillus spp*. to increase germination (Malkoclu et al., 2017; Raj et al., 2003; Kaymak et al., 2009) along with our study we observed that strains B7 and B17 increased the germination percentage of tomato seeds, and strain B17 also increased seed vigour. In terms of growth promotion, strains B7 and B17 were capable of increasing cucumber, maize, and lettuce plants biomass compared to non-inoculated ones (Sahin et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2022), with notable variations depending on the maize cultivars used in the case of the inoculation effect with B7, this impact of plant genotype on the effect of inoculation with beneficial microorganisms has been previously reported in the literature (Singh et al., 2023).

For siderophore production in vitro, B. megaterium strains (MB18, MB19) were highlighted as best producers in CAS medium (0.98 and 0.85 cm halo diameter) and B. subtilis strain B12 and strains MB18 and MB19 demonstrated a high capacity to solubilize hydroxyapatite in suspension, (17, 22 and 33 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively) with values similar those obtained in (Saeid et al., 2018) for B. subtilis (33.1 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>) and B. megaterium (37 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>). In the plant trials aimed at assessing the impact of inoculation on phosphorus uptake, notable increases in both aerial and root growth were observed in sunflower and maize plants inoculated with strains B7 and B17 fertilized with limited application of soluble phosphorus. Specifically sunflower shoot dry weight increased 46% by B7 and 53% by B17 inoculation, while maize showed increases of 48% and 91% respectively, as well as, root dry weight also rose significantly, with a 68% increase in sunflower by B17 inoculation, and in maize, increases of 110% by B7 and 93% by B17 values very similar to those obtained in maize plants inoculated with B. subtilis in Lobo et al., (2019) study. Notably, strain B17 markedly enhanced phosphorus accumulation in maize, resulting in a 47% increase in phosphorus content compared to non-inoculated plants, a phenomenon previously described (Oliveira-Paiva et al., 2024). Regarding B. subtilis stains B7 and B17 capacity to improve phosphorus availability to plants may vary depending on soil type, these bacteria may work better

for improving phosphorus availability in calcareous soils compared to acidic soils, as usually P immobilizes to calcium phosphate complex in calcareous soils and bind with aluminum or iron in acidic soils (Sundra et al., 2002).

The advantages of *B. subtilis* strains B7 and B17 as plants biostimulants presents significant potential for improving phosphorus availability in soils. Given that up to 90% of applied phosphate fertilizers become immobilized in soils (Sundra et al., 2002), these strains could mobilize this "fixed P" reserves increasing the bioavailability of phosphate to plants, especially critical in crops like maize (*Zea mays L.*) (Zhang et al., 2021), as well as, the inoculation combined with mineral P fertilizers could maintain phosphate solubility for extended periods, thus maximizing the efficiency of fertilizer use and potentially reducing P input costs. In terms of fertilizer savings, B7 and B17 could theoretically reduce P fertilizer requirements, potentially reducing the environmental impact of excessive P accumulation and preserving phosphate rock reserves (Withers et al., 2014; Beltran-Medina et al., 2023).

Taking in account the results obtained, *Bacillus subtilis* strains B7 and B17 were selected as candidates for biofertilizer development that would comply with Spanish regulations (Real Decreto 999/2017), unlike *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain P10, which exhibited lower and inconsistent effects in plant bioassays.

The efficacy of inoculation methods and formulations is crucial for the successful application of these *B. subtilis* strains. In this study, inoculation via substrate application at a concentration of  $10^7$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> and direct plant application at  $10^8$  CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> demonstrated significant effectiveness. For agronomical application is necessary to develop a formulation with substances, known as coformulants, that protect strains until use. In this sense, alginate-based formulations seem to be effective (Trivedi et al., 2005) or applications and encapsulation techniques, such as Ca<sup>2+</sup>-amended alginate with humic acid (Khan et al., 2023). Future formulation studies should be performed to further develop the selected bacterial strains into commercial products.

# *Azotobacter* spp. as candidates to develop a microbial biostimulant

The genus *Azotobacter* is described as free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria with various plant growth promotion traits often associated with nitrogen fixation, production of growth hormones, fungicidal substances, siderophore production, and phosphate solubilization (Narula et al., 2000) making it a good candidate for developing a microbial biostimulant. This genus can be isolated from a multitude of different environments, possibly due to its ability to form cysts that makes them resistant to environmental changes and can make associations with plants and live in the rhizosphere of non-leguminous plants. The isolation of *Azotobacter* from maize and wheat

rhizosphere, as in our study, has also been reported in the literature (Martinez-Toledo et al., 1985; Stets et al., 2015).

As mentioned, the growth promotion capacity of *Azotobacter* is often associated with nitrogen fixation and phosphate solubilization (Chen et al., 2018; Narula et al., 2000). To investigate these traits, we performed two *in vitro* assays to evaluate the capacity of our isolates to release ammonium and solubilize mineral phosphate. Our findings indicate that the *Azotobacter spp*. isolates exhibited significantly lower ammonium release compared to *Azospirillum spp*. isolates, however *Azotobacter spp*. isolates demonstrated a superior ability to solubilize phosphate. The limited impact of our *Azotobacter spp*. isolates on nitrogen use efficiency was further substantiated by inoculation of strains in maize plants grown in nitrogen-limited environments which revealed inconsistent effects on plant growth, yield, and nitrogen accumulation, with meaningful improvements observed only in 75% N fertilization regime experiments, involving strain 21F213.

Regarding the phosphate solubilization studies, strains 21F213 and 21F200 showed the highest hydroxyapatite solubilization, followed by 21F209 with tricalcium phosphate, in line with other studies (Reyes et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 1999). The mechanism was found to be the acidification of the medium through the production and release of organic acids (Azaroual et al., 2020; Marra et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 1999), specifically malic, gluconic, glucuronic, and acetic acids by strain 21F213, and gluconic, oxalic, glucuronic, and acetic acids by strain 21F220 (Krishnaraj & Dahale, 2014; Rashid et al., 2004). Considering these results, we tested the effect of inoculation of the Azotobacter strains on phosphate solubilization and accumulation in maize cultivated without soluble phosphorus. However, no significant differences in biomass were observed in plants inoculated with strain 21F213, likely because solubilization mechanisms identified in the lab may not function similarly in soil (Whitelaw et al., 1999) or environmental factors like soil pH and nutrient availability are affecting phosphorus solubilizing capacity (Hinsinger et al., 2003; Hodge, 2004; Ryan et al., 2000). This variability in the efficacy of Azotobacter strains in phosphate solubilization and their ability to promote plant growth has already been documented previously (Bashan et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 1999). Thus, further trials are needed to assess the potential of this microorganism as a candidate for developing a microbial biostimulant aimed at enhancing phosphorus use efficiency, particularly when applied directly to the root at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>.

# *Azospirillum spp*. as candidates to develop a microbial biostimulant

*Azospirillum sp.* is probably the most studied genus of PGPR due to its ability to colonize many plant species. Multiple and complex mechanisms in the microbe-plant interaction have been described, such as nitrogen fixation, phytohormone biosynthesis, and phosphate solubilization (Santos et al., 2017b; Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010). These traits make it a promising candidate to develop a microbial biostimulant (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Gassmann et al., 2016; Okon & Labandera-Gonzalez, 1994) specially for gramineous plants (Eckert et al., 2001; Mehnaz et al., 2007; Stets et al., 2015). Aligning with the preference of *Azospirillum* to stablish interactions with gramineous plants most *Azospirillum* strains in our study were isolated from the rhizosphere of grass and maize or root surface, although is also described that some strains can colonize root tissues (Baldani et al., 1986) as observed in strain 21F226.

To determine the nitrogen-fixing capacity of *Azospirillum* strains (Okon et al.,1983 Steenhoudt & Vanderleyden, 2000; Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016), we analysed their ability to produce ammonium in suspension and their growth in nitrogen free culture media, being strains 21F221, 21F224, 21F226 and 21F227 the ones with best results. However, low mineral phosphorus solubilizing capacity was observed among the strains. Interestingly the isolates with best ammonium production were isolated from soils non-saline, rich in organic matter (7-9 %) but low in nitrogen (27-3), suggesting a relationship between the survival of *Azospirillum* and organic matter (Bashan & Vazquez, 2000) and the potential nitrogen fixing capacity and nitrogen present in the soil.

Even though various mechanisms in which *Azospirillum spp.* stimulates plant growth have been described, none have been individually identified as solely responsible; rather, it is the combination of these mechanisms that provides plant growth benefits (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010; Kennedy et al., 1997; Okon et al., 1983; Giller, 2003). This is reflected in our plant experiments, where our selected *Azospirillum spp.* strains were seed inoculated at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g seeds<sup>-1</sup> in maize and rice plants grown with a nitrogen-limited fertilization. Inoculation with *A. brasiliense* strain 21F221 and *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 inoculations affected plants increasing shoot biomass and improving root development, as well, improved plant nitrogen accumulation, and crop yields in agreement with other studies (Cassán & Diaz-Zorita, 2016; Di Salvo & García de Salamone, 2019). The plant effect by 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation was incremented when combined with nitrogen fertilization obtaining higher differences between inoculated and non-inoculated plants in experiments with 60%N and 75%N fertilization compared to those with 0%N, in agreement with study of Zeffa et al., (2019).

Additionally, some differences between strains were observed: strain 21F221 was more associated with higher and more consistent nitrogen accumulation in different parts of the plant, while strain 21F226 had a greater effect on nitrogen internal utilization efficiency (IE) and root development, thereby enhancing more the plant biomass and productivity. Based on these results, agronomic indices as described in FprCEN/TS 17700-2 showed significant effects on agronomic efficiency (RE and AE), partial factor productivity (PFP), and nitrogen export (NE), therefore, strains 21F221 and 21F226 were selected as suitable candidates for developing a microbial biostimulant under European Regulation (EU Fertilizer Products Regulation 2019/1009).

The application of Azospirillum strains 21F221 and 21F226 demonstrates considerable benefits in terms of nitrogen fertilizer savings and crop yield enhancements. Regarding nitrogen fertilizer field savings, applying a nitrogen regime of 75%N of the recommended nitrogen dose, equivalent to 163 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of urea (46% N), led to a cost savings of approximately 48.62 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> on commercial urea purchases. As well as energy production savings of 40 MMBtu ha<sup>-1</sup> (million British thermal unit), which corresponds to a total cost saving of 23.79 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> related to natural gas consumption for urea production (European Commission, 2019). In terms of yield in maize assuming optimal conditions similar to those in greenhouse trials inoculation with strain 21F221 resulted in a 55% yield increase, while strain 21F226 achieved a remarkable 148% increase translated to additional yields of 10 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> and 27 tons ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, compared to noninoculated controls. Given the European maize market price of 279.65 USD ton<sup>-1</sup> (FAO, 2023), farmers could potentially earn an additional 2796.5 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> with 21F221 application and 7550.55 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> with 21F226 application. And for rice, trials showed yield increases of 15% with 21F221 and 19% with 21F226 corresponding to additional production of 0.86 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> and 1.09 tons ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. With rice priced at 438 USD ton<sup>-1</sup> at the Vietnam market (FAO, 2023), these results suggest potential additional earnings of 376.7 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> with 21F221 application and 477.4 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> with 21F226 application under a 75% nitrogen fertilization regime.

To have a successful application of *Azospirillum* 21F221 and 21F226 strains the method of inoculation is crucial. In our study, we used a seed coating technique involving nutrient-rich peat (Jiffy GO M8) and 1% (w/v) carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) as a sticker, this method has proven effective in ensuring good microbial adhesion, uniform distribution of the inoculant and ensured plant growth effect. The most widely used method for biofertilizer application involves seed coating with microbial formulations (Nagpal et al., 2021) although this method has potential drawbacks, including seed coat damage and desiccation, which can reduce inoculant viability (Bashan et al., 2014), this can be improved with other formulations (Iparraguirre et al., 2023). As

well as using other inoculation method such as solid formulations, including granules, powders, and water-dispersible granules which have given good results for *Azospirillum* application, specifically, talc-based and biochar-based formulations have been reported to support root growth and overall plant development effectively (Prasad & Babu, 2017; Saranya et al., 2011).

To be able to develop an effective application with microbial biostimulants it is also important to study the interaction with soil native bacterial population. For this reason, we studied the effect of inoculation on soil dynamics under different fertilization practices (organic and mineral) in incubation experiments, revelling a complex interplay among strains and soil nitrogen forms. Apparently no nitrogen fixation was observed by the selected strains of *Azospirillum spp* outside the rhizosphere, in organically fertilized soil instead they were found to effectively use the priming effect to stimulate the decomposition of existing organic matter to access limiting nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus (Fontaine et al., 2011; Kuzyakov et al., 2000), nutrients necessary for their acquisition and growth (De Souza & De Oliveira Pedrosa, 2015; Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Pardo-Díaz et al., 2021). This is traduced in higher accumulation of soluble organic nitrogen (SON) —a water-soluble fraction of soil nitrogen that includes amino acids, proteins, nucleic acids, and other organic compounds— as observed in our study by strains 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation effect in soil. A similar effect is described by Bacilio et al., (2003), highlighting *Azospirillum's* nutritional and metabolic interactions with humic substances, suggesting its potential to decompose and utilize complex organic compounds.

Additionally, inoculation with selected strains of *Azospirillum* spp. was found to alter microbial communities, as evidenced by changes in soil-induced respiration (SIR), the catabolic index, and alpha diversity (Banerjee et al., 2018; Ferrarezi et al., 2023) with different effect on the organically and mineral-fertilized soils. In organic-fertilized soil, inoculation with strain 21F226 resulted in lower substrate-induced respiration (SIR) when organic acids when applied as carbon source, as in mineral fertilized soil inoculation with both strains resulted in a higher substrate-induced respiration (SIR), although no differences were observed in sugar or amino acids as carbon sources. This SIR values affected the catabolic index demonstrating a 21% decrease when inoculated with *A. aestuarii* strain 21F226 in organically fertilized soil. Regarding alpha diversity index 21F226 inoculation led to an 8% reduction in organic-fertilized soil, whereas 21F221 inoculation increased alpha diversity by 51% in mineral-fertilized soil, likely due to differences in the richness of the native microbial community in organically and mineral-fertilized soils (Eisenhauer et al., 2013).

## Conclusions

### Conclusions

Regarding the specific aims of this thesis

- Protocols for isolation, preservation, cultivation and classification were performed resulting in a new collection of 35 plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) strains, including 13 *Bacillus subtilis* and 13 *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *B. subtilis* was predominantly isolated from bulk soil (85%) and in Compost soil samples (69%) and *P. fluorescens* isolates were equally found between bulk soil and the rhizosphere of maize and wheat, with most isolates found in Soil B (54%).
- Protocols for isolation, preservation, cultivation and classification were performed resulting in a new collection of 243 nitrogen fixing bacteria (NFB), there were molecular classified 9 *Azospirillum spp.* and 4 *Azotobacter spp.* The main sources were the rhizosphere of gramineous plants, specifically grass (31%), wheat (23%) and maize (23%).
- 3. The *in vitro* determination identified notable strains according to specific characterisations. In this regard, the best performance for indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) were: *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain P10 and *Bacillus subtilis* strains B5, B7 and B17. *Bacillus megaterium*, strain MB18 showed the highest siderophore production, as well as phosphate solubilisation (iron phosphate III). Moreover *B. subtilis* strains B12 and P4b, as well as, *Azotobacter salinestris* strain 21F213 showed strong capacity to solubilize hydroxyapatite.
- 4. The *in vitro* ammonium production study revelled *Azospirillum* species the better producers compared to *Azotobacter* spp., being the best performers *A. brasilense*, strain 21F221; *A. aestuarii*, strain 21F226; *A. oryzae*, strain 21F224 and *Azospirillum spp.* strain 21F227.
- 5. The plant trials demonstrated that some isolates could effectively improve seed quality, promote growth and enhanced phosphorous and nitrogen efficiency, although the best performing *in vitro* strains did not always were the best plant outcomes.
- 6. The *in vivo* studies assessing effects in tomato germination revelled *B. subtilis* B7 and B17 at a concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> of substrate as effective to increase the germination by 14% and 11.5% respectively, compared to non-inoculated controls, as well as B17 strain to increase the seed vigour by a 60%. Additionally, B7 and B17 strains also affected plant growth, increasing the shoot dry weigh in cucumber (14.17% and 10.5%), lettuce (50%) and maize to different extend according to the plant cultivar, compared to non-inoculated plants. Furthermore, B7 and B17 inoculation at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> also improved

phosphorus use efficiency, boosting biomass growth in maize and sunflower without soluble phosphorus fertilization by 46% and 53% in sunflower, and 81% and 84% in maize, respectively. Strain B17 also increased phosphorus accumulation in maize by 47% compared to non-inoculated plants.

- 7. The *in vivo* studies for NFB demonstrate the best performance of *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 and *Azospirillum aestuarii* strain 21F226 at a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup> CFU g<sup>-1</sup> of seeds, on plant nitrogen use efficiency across different fertilization regimes (0% N, 60% N and 75%N) significantly enhancing maize and rice performance. That is, increasing maize shoot dry weight and nitrogen accumulation when grown in 0% N and 60%N compared to non-inoculated seeds, as well as, at 75%N fertilization regime the 21F221 and 21F226 inoculation increased maize yield by 61% and 148%, maize nitrogen accumulation by 59% and 8.4%, and for rice increased shoot dry weight by 4% and 7% respectively, yield by 26% and 37%, and nitrogen accumulation by 26% and 17% compared to non-inoculated seeds.
- 8. Based on claims outlined in the Technical Specifications CEN/TC455, *Azospirillum aestuarii*, strain 21F226 and *Azospirillum brasilense* strain 21F221 are proposed as promising candidates improving plant nitrogen use efficiency, notably boosting nitrogen accumulation in plant in maize for both strain and in rice for the first one.
- 9. The inoculation of *Azospirillium* strains 21F221 and 21F226 significantly influenced nitrogen dynamics in soils with different fertilization background (organic or mineral) resulting in lower nitrate (N-NO<sub>3</sub>) and mineral (Min.N) levels, while increasing soluble organic nitrogen (SON). Both strains significantly affected substrate induced respiration (SIR), specifically when organic acids were applied as carbon source, strain 21F226 reduced SIR in organically fertilized soil and strain 21F221 enhanced SIR in mineral fertilized soil.
- 10. Both *Azospirillum* strains significantly altered native microbial communities, with effects varying according to the soil fertilization background, 21F226 reduced diversity in organically fertilized soil, while 21F221 increased diversity in mineral fertilized soil.
- Bacillus subtilis strains B7 and B17 were selected candidates for developing a biofertilizer compliant with Spanish regulations (Royal Decree 999/2017) and Azospirillum brasilense strain 21F221 and Azospirillum aestuarii strain 21F226 were selected candidates for developing a microbial biostimulant compliant with European regulations (Regulation (EU) 2019/1009).

## References

### References

- Aasfar, A., Bargaz, A., Yaakoubi, K., Hilali, A., Bennis, I., Zeroual, Y., & Meftah Kadmiri, I. (2021). Nitrogen fixing *Azotobacter* species as potential soil biological enhancers for crop nutrition and yield stability. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.628379
- Achal, V., Savant, V. V., & Reddy, M. S. (2007). Phosphate solubilization by a wild type strain and UV-induced mutants of *Aspergillus tubingensis*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 39(2), 695–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.09.003</u>
- Agbenin J O. (2020). The Environmental Chemistry of Soils and Sediments, Principles and Applications. *University Press PLC*, Oxford
- Ahmad, F., Ahmad, I., & Khan, M. S. (2008). Screening of free-living rhizospheric bacteria for their multiple plant growth promoting activities. *Microbiological Research*, 163(2), 173– 181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2006.04.001</u>
- Ahmad, I., Ahmad, M., Hussain, A., & Jamil, M. (2021). Integrated use of phosphate-solubilizing Bacillus subtilis strain IA6 and zinc-solubilizing Bacillus sp. strain IA16: A promising approach for improving cotton growth. Folia Microbiologica, 66(1), 115–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12223-020-00831-3</u>
- Ahmed, N., & Shahab, S. (2009). Phosphate solubilization: Their mechanism, genetics, and application. *The Internet Journal of Microbiology*, 9. Retrieved from www.physicalgeography.net/fundamentals/10t.html
- Aira, M., & Domínguez, J. (2010). Substrate-induced respiration as a measure of microbial biomass in vermicomposting studies. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(18), 7173–7176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.03.137</u>
- Ajilogba, C. F., Babalola, O. O., & Ahmad, F. (2013). Antagonistic effects of *Bacillus* species in biocontrol of tomato Fusarium wilt. *Studies on Ethno-Medicine*, 7(3), 205–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09735070.2013.11886462</u>
- Al-Ali, A., Deravel, J., Krier, F., Béchet, M., Ongena, M., & Jacques, P. (2018). Biofilm formation is determinant in tomato rhizosphere colonization by *Bacillus velezensis* FZB42. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(30), 29910–29920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0469-1</u>
- Alewell, C., Ringeval, B., Ballabio, C., Robinson, D. A., Panagos, P., & Borrelli, P. (2020). Global phosphorus shortage will be aggravated by soil erosion. *Nature Communications*, 11(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18326-7</u>
- Alexander, M. (1977) Introduction to Soil Microbiology. 2nd Edition, John Wiley Eastern Limited, New Delhi, 467.

- Alloway, B. J. (Ed.). (2008). Micronutrient deficiencies in global crop production. *Springer Science* + *Business Media*. ISBN 978-1-4020-6859-1.
- Alori, E. T., Glick, B. R., & Babalola, O. O. (2017). Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, Article 971. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00971
- Ambrosini, A., de Souza, R., & Passaglia, L. M. P. (2016). Ecological role of bacterial inoculants and their potential impact on soil microbial diversity. In *Plant and Soil* (Vol. 400, Issues 1–2, pp. 193–207). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2727-7</u>
- Amtmann, A., & Blatt, M. R. (2009). Regulation of macronutrient transport. New Phytologist, 181(1), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02666.x
- Ancuța, D., & Renata, Ș. (2011). Comparative study of aerobic microorganisms in compost. *Forestry and Biotechnology, 15*(1).
- Andresen, E., Peiter, E., & Küpper, H. (2018). Trace metal metabolism in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 69(5), 909–954. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erx465
- Arcondéguy, T., Jack, R., & Merrick, M. (2001). P II Signal Transduction Proteins, Pivotal Players in Microbial Nitrogen Control. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 65(1), 80–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.65.1.80-105.2001</u>
- Arkhipova, T. N., Veselov, S. U., Melentiev, A. I., Martynenko, E. V., & Kudoyarova, G. R. (2005). Ability of *Bacillus subtilis* to produce cytokinins and to influence the growth and endogenous hormone content of lettuce plants. *Plant and Soil*, 272(1–2), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-004-5047-x
- Atmodjo, M. A., Hao, Z., & Mohnen, D. (2013). Evolving views of pectin biosynthesis. In *Annual Review of Plant Biology* (Vol. 64, pp. 747–779). <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105534</u>
- Augelletti, F., Stenuit, B., Agathos, S. N., & Jousset, A. (2019). Manipulation of biodiversity to steer and optimize microbial community function. In *Comprehensive Biotechnology* (pp. 29–41). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64046-8.00478-X</u>
- Awan, S., Shahzadi, K., Javad, S., Tariq, A., Ahmad, A., & Ilyas, S. (2021). A preliminary study of influence of zinc oxide nanoparticles on growth parameters of *Brassica oleracea* var. italic. *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*, 20(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2020.05.007
- Azaroual, S. E., Hazzoumi, Z., Mernissi, N. El, Aasfar, A., Meftah Kadmiri, I., & Bouizgarne, B. (2020). Role of inorganic phosphate solubilizing *Bacilli* isolated from Moroccan phosphate rock mine and rhizosphere soils in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L) phosphorus uptake. *Current Microbiology*, 77(9), 2391–2404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-020-02046-8</u>

- Babalola, O. O., Glick, B. R., Rastilantie, M., & Babalola, O. O. (2005). The use of microbial inoculants in African agriculture: Current practice and future prospects. *Agriculture & Environment*, 10(4). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260934217">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260934217</a>
- Bacilio, M., Vazquez, P., & Bashan, Y. (2003). Alleviation of noxious effects of cattle ranch composts on wheat seed germination by inoculation with *Azospirillum* spp. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 38(4), 261–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-003-0650-1</u>
- Bahulikar, R. A., Torres-Jerez, I., Worley, E., Craven, K., & Udvardi, M. K. (2014). Diversity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria associated with switchgrass in the native tallgrass prairie of Northern Oklahoma. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 80(18), 5636–5643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02091-14</u>
- Bajguz, A., & Piotrowska-Niczyporuk, A. (2023). Biosynthetic pathways of hormones in plants. *Metabolites*, 13(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo13080884</u>
- Baldani, J. I., & Baldani, V. L. D. (2005). History on the biological nitrogen fixation research in graminaceous plants: special emphasis on the Brazilian experience. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, 77(3), 549–579. <u>http://www.scielo.br/aabc</u>
- Baldani, J. I., Caruso, L., Baldani, V. L. D., Goe, S. R., & Döbereiner, J. (1997). Recent advances in BNF with non-legume plants. In *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* (Vol. 29, Issue 516).
- Baldani, J. I., Reis, V. M., Videira, S. S., Boddey, L. H., & Baldani, V. L. D. (2014). The art of isolating nitrogen-fixing bacteria from non-leguminous plants using N-free semi-solid media: A practical guide for microbiologists. *Plant and Soil, 384*(1–2), 413–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2186-6</u>
- Baldani, V. L. D., Alvarez, M. A. D. B., Baldani, J. I., & Döbereiner, J. (1986). Establishment of inoculated *Azospirillum* spp. in the rhizosphere and in roots of field grown wheat and sorghum. Retrieved from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/42936221</u>
- Baltazar, M., Correia, S., Guinan, K. J., Sujeeth, N., Bragança, R., & Gonçalves, B. (2021). Recent advances in the molecular effects of biostimulants in plants: An overview. *Biomolecules, 11*(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11081096</u>
- Banerjee, S., Schlaeppi, K., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2018). Keystone taxa as drivers of microbiome structure and functioning. In *Nature Reviews Microbiology* (Vol. 16, Issue 9, pp. 567–576). Nature Publishing Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0024-1</u>
- Barbosa, J. Z., Roberto, L. A., Hungria, M., Corrêa, R. S., Magri, E., & Correia, T. D. (2022). Meta-analysis of maize responses to *Azospirillum brasilense* inoculation in Brazil: Benefits and lessons to improve inoculation efficiency. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 170, 104276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2021.104276
- Bargaz, A., Elhaissoufi, W., Khourchi, S., Benmrid, B., Borden, K. A., & Rchiad, Z. (2021). Benefits of phosphate solubilizing bacteria on belowground crop performance for improved crop acquisition of phosphorus. *Microbiological Research*, 252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2021.126842

- Barnawal, D., Bharti, N., Pandey, S. S., Pandey, A., Chanotiya, C. S., & Kalra, A. (2017). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria enhance wheat salt and drought stress tolerance by altering endogenous phytohormone levels and *TaCTR1/TaDREB2* expression. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 161(4), 502–514. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.12614
- Barrow, N. J., & Hartemink, A. E. (2023). The effects of pH on nutrient availability depend on both soils and plants. *Plant and Soil, 487*(1–2), 21–37. Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-023-05960-5</u>
- Bashan, L. E., Hernandez, J. P., Nelson, K. N., Bashan, Y., & Maier, R. M. (2010). Growth of *Quailbush* in acidic, metalliferous desert mine tailings: Effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* Sp6 on biomass production and rhizosphere community structure. *Microbial Ecology*, 60(4), 915–927. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9713-7</u>
- Bashan, Y. (1999). Interactions of *Azospirillum* spp. in soils: A review. *Biology and Fertility of Soils, 29*(4), 284–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050635
- Bashan, Y., & de-Bashan, L. E. (2010). How the plant growth-promoting bacterium Azospirillum promotes plant growth—a critical assessment. In Advances in Agronomy (Vol. 108, pp. 77–136). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)08002-8</u>
- Bashan, Y., & de-Bashan, L. E. (2010). How the plant growth-promoting bacterium *Azospirillum* promotes plant growth—a critical assessment. *Advances in Agronomy, 108*, 77–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)08002-8
- Bashan, Y., & Vazquez, P. (2000). Effect of calcium carbonate, sand, and organic matter levels on mortality of five species of *Azospirillum* in natural and artificial bulk soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*.
- Bashan, Y., de-Bashan, L. E., Prabhu, S. R., & Hernandez, J. P. (2014). Advances in plant growth-promoting bacterial inoculant technology: Formulations and practical perspectives (1998-2013). *Plant and Soil*, 378(1–2), 1–33. Kluwer Academic Publishers. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1956-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1956-x</a>
- Bashan, Y., Holguin, G., & de-Bashan, L. E. (2004). Azospirillum-plant relationships: Physiological, molecular, agricultural, and environmental advances (1997-2003). Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 50(8), 521–577. https://doi.org/10.1139/w04-035
- Bashan, Y., Kamnev, A. A., & de-Bashan, L. E. (2013). Tricalcium phosphate is inappropriate as a universal selection factor for isolating and testing phosphate-solubilizing bacteria that enhance plant growth: A proposal for an alternative procedure. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 49(4), 465–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-012-0737-7
- Bashan, Y., Puente, M. E., Rodriguez-Mendoza, M. N., Toledo, G., Holguin, G., Ferrera-Cerrato, R., & Pedrin, S. (1995). Survival of *Azospirillum brasilense* in the Bulk Soil and Rhizosphere of 23 Soil Types. In *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* (Vol. 61, Issue 5).

- Beltran-Medina, I., Romero-Perdomo, F., Molano-Chavez, L., Gutiérrez, A. Y., Silva, A. M. M., & Estrada-Bonilla, G. (2023). Inoculation of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria improves soil phosphorus mobilization and maize productivity. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 126*(1), 21–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-023-10268-y</u>
- Bertero, M. G., Rothery, R. A., Palak, M., Hou, C., Lim, D., Blasco, F., Weiner, J. H., & Strynadka, N. C. J. (2003). Insights into the respiratory electron transfer pathway from the structure of nitrate reductase A. *Nature Structural Biology*, 10(9), 681–687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nsb969</u>
- Bhattacharyya, P. N., & Jha, D. K. (2012). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): Emergence in agriculture. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 28(4), 1327– 1350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-011-0979-9</u>
- Bjelić, D., Marinković, J., Tintor, B., & Mrkovački, N. (2018). Antifungal and plant growthpromoting activities of indigenous rhizobacteria isolated from maize (*Zea mays* L.) rhizosphere. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 49(1), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2017.1421650
- Blaise D, Venugopalan M, Singh G. (2014). Phosphorus management. In Prasad R, Kumar D, Rana D S, Shivay Y S, Tewatia R K (eds.) *Textbook of Plant Nutrient Management*. Indian Society of Agronomy, New Delhi. pp. 92–121.
- Blanco-Vargas, A., Rodríguez-Gacha, L. M., Sánchez-Castro, N., Garzón-Jaramillo, R., Pedroza-Camacho, L. D., Poutou-Piñales, R. A., Rivera-Hoyos, C. M., Díaz-Ariza, L. A., & Pedroza-Rodríguez, A. M. (2020). Phosphate-solubilizing *Pseudomonas* sp., and *Serratia* sp., co-culture for *Allium cepa* L. growth promotion. *Heliyon*, 6(10), e05218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05218
- Boddey, R. M., De Oliveira, O. C., Urquiaga, S., Reis, V. M., De Olivares, E. L., Baldani, V. L. D., & Döbereiner, J. (1995). Biological nitrogen fixation associated with sugar cane and rice: Contributions and prospects for improvement. *Plant and Soil*, 174(1–2), 195–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00032247
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *72*, 248–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3</u>
- Bremner, J. M. (1965). Total nitrogen. In A. G. Norman (Ed.), *Agronomy monographs* (Vol. 9, pp. 32–45). American Society of Agronomy. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr9.2.c32</u>
- Brown, W. L., Bressani, R., Glover, D. V., Hallauer, A. R., Johnson, V. A., & Qualset, C. O. (1988). Quality-protein maize: Report of an ad hoc panel of the advisory committee on technology innovation, Board on Science and Technology for International Development, National Research Council, in cooperation with the Board on Agriculture, National Research Council. National Academy Press.
- Bruulsema, T., & Garcia, F. (2015). Nutrient/fertilizer use efficiency: Measurement, current situation and trends. In P. Drechsel, P. Heffer, H. Magen, R. Mikkelsen, & D. Wichelns (Eds.), *Managing water and fertilizer for sustainable agricultural intensification* (pp. 8– 38).

- Bulgari, R., Cocetta, G., Trivellini, A., Vernieri, P., & Ferrante, A. (2015). Biostimulants and crop responses: A review. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture*, 31(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/01448765.2014.964649
- Burks, J. E. (1956). A synthetic medium for the axenic culture of blue-green algae. Journal of *General Microbiology*, 15(3), 513-517.
- Burris, R. H., & Roberts, G. P. (1993). Biological nitrogen fixation. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 13, 317–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nu.13.070193.001533</u>
- Burstrom, H. G. (1968). Calcium and plant growth. In Biological Reviews (Vol. 43, pp. 269-391).
- Cabra Cendales, T., Rodríguez González, C. A., Villota Cuásquer, C. P., Tapasco Alzate, O. A., & Hernández Rodríguez, A. (2017). Efecto de *Bacillus* sobre la germinación y crecimiento de plántulas de tomate (*Solanum lycopersicum* L). *Acta Biologica Colombiana*, 22(1), 37–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.15446/abc.v22n1.57375</u>
- Caceres, E. A. R. (1982). Improved medium for isolation of *Azospirillum* spp. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *44*(4), 990–991.
- Çakmakçi, R., Dönmez, M. F., Erdo/an, Ü., & Ertürk, Y. (2007). The effect of plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria on barley seedling growth, nutrient uptake, some soil properties, and bacterial counts. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, *31*, 189–199.
- Campbell, C. D., Chapman, S. J., Cameron, C. M., Davidson, M. S., & Potts, J. M. (2003). A rapid microtiter plate method to measure carbon dioxide evolved from carbon substrate amendments so as to determine the physiological profiles of soil microbial communities by using whole soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(6), 3593–3599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.6.3593-3599.2003</u>
- Cariello, M. E., Castañeda, L., Riobo, I., & González, J. (2007). Inoculante de microorganismos endógenos para acelerar el proceso compostaje de residuos sólidos urbanos. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 7(3), 26–37.
- Casanovas, E. M., Barassi, C. A., & Sueldo, R. J. (2000). Azospirillum inoculation of maize seed during imbibition. *Cereal Research Communications*, 28(1), 25-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03543570
- Cassán, F., & Diaz-Zorita, M. (2016). *Azospirillum* sp. in current agriculture: From the laboratory to the field. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 103, 117–130. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.08.020
- Cassán, F., Coniglio, A., López, G., Molina, R., Nievas, S., de Carlan, C. L. N., Donadio, F., Torres, D., Rosas, S., Pedrosa, F. O., de Souza, E., Zorita, M. D., de-Bashan, L., & Mora, V. (2020). Everything you must know about *Azospirillum* and its impact on agriculture and beyond. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 56(4), 461–479. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-020-01463-y</u>
- Cassán, F., Perrig, D., Sgroy, V., Masciarelli, O., Penna, C., & Luna, V. (2009). *Azospirillum brasilense* Az39 and *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* E109, inoculated singly or in

combination, promote seed germination and early seedling growth in corn (*Zea mays* L.) and soybean (*Glycine max* L.). *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 45(1), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2008.08.005

- Cassán, F., Vanderleyden, J., & Spaepen, S. (2014). Physiological and agronomical aspects of phytohormone production by model plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) belonging to the genus *Azospirillum*. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, 33(2), 440–459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-013-9362-4</u>
- Castellano-Hinojosa, A., Pérez-Tapia, V., Bedmar, E. J., & Santillana, N. (2018). Purple cornassociated rhizobacteria with potential for plant growth promotion. *Journal of Applied Microbiology, 124*(5), 1254–1264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13708</u>
- Cataldo, D. A., Haroon, M. H., Schrader, L. E., & Youngs, V. L. (1975). Rapid colorimetric determination of nitrate in plant tissue by nitration of salicylic acid. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 6(1), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103627509366547
- Chalk, P. M. (2016). The strategic role of 15N in quantifying the contribution of endophytic N2 fixation to the N nutrition of non-legumes. *Symbiosis, 69*(2), 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13199-016-0397-8
- Chapman, H. D., Pratt, P. F. (1973). Métodos de análisis para suelos, plantas y aguas. Mèxic: Trillas.
- Chavéz-Díaz, I. F., Cruz-Cárdenas, C. I., Sandoval-Cancino, G., Calvillo-Aguilar, F. F., Ruíz-Ramírez, S., Blanco-Camarillo, M., Rojas-Anaya, E., Ramírez-Vega, H., Arteaga-Garibay, R. I., & Zelaya-Molina, L. X. (2022). Seedling growth promotion and potential biocontrol against phytopathogenic *Fusarium* by native rhizospheric *Pseudomonas* spp. strains from Amarillo Zamorano maize landrace. *Rhizosphere, 24*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2022.100601
- Chen, G., Li, Y., Jin, C., Wang, J., Wang, L., & Wu, J. (2021). Physiological and morphological responses of hydroponically grown pear rootstock under phosphorus treatment. *Frontiers* in Plant Science, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.696045</u>
- Chen, K., Xie, S., Iglesia, E., & Bell, A. T. (2001). A PCR test to identify *Bacillus subtilis* and closely related species and its application to the monitoring of wastewater biotreatment. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 56(5–6), 816–819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530100691
- Chen, S. L., Tsai, M. K., Huang, Y. M., & Huang, C. H. (2018). Diversity and characterization of Azotobacter isolates obtained from rice rhizosphere soils in Taiwan. Annals of Microbiology, 68(1), 17–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-017-1312-0</u>
- Chen, Y. P., Rekha, P. D., Arun, A. B., Shen, F. T., Lai, W. A., & Young, C. C. (2006). Phosphate solubilizing bacteria from subtropical soil and their tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 34(1), 33–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2005.12.002</u>

- Cheng, Y., Narayanan, M., Shi, X., Chen, X., Li, Z., & Ma, Y. (2023). Phosphate-solubilizing bacteria: Their agroecological function and optimistic application for enhancing agroproductivity. *Science of the Total Environment*, 901, 166468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.166468</u>
- Chennappa, G., Mk, N., Cr, A.-P., Ys, A., & My, S. (2016). PGP potential, abiotic stress tolerance and antifungal activity of *Azotobacter* strains isolated from paddy soils. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, *54*, 418–426. <u>http://megasoftware.net</u>
- Chennappa, G., Sreenivasa, M. Y., & Nagaraja, H. (2018). Azotobacter salinestris: A novel pesticide-degrading and prominent biocontrol PGPR bacteria. In M. Zakaria, A. Banat, & M. Selim (Eds.), Recent Developments in Applied Microbiology and Biochemistry (pp. 23–43). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7146-1\_2</u>
- Chien, S. H., Prochnow, L. I., & Cantarella, H. (2009). Recent developments of fertilizer production and use to improve nutrient efficiency and minimize environmental impacts. *Advances in Agronomy*, *102*, 267–322.
- Cipriano, M. A. P., Lupatini, M., Lopes-Santos, L., da Silva, M. J., Roesch, L. F. W., Destéfano, S. A. L., Freitas, S. S., & Kuramae, E. E. (2016). Lettuce and rhizosphere microbiome responses to growth promoting *Pseudomonas* species under field conditions. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 92(12), fiw197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiw197</u>
- Clarholm, M., Skyllberg, U., & Rosling, A. (2015). Organic acid induced release of nutrients from metal-stabilized soil organic matter - The unbutton model. In *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* (Vol. 84, pp. 168–176). Elsevier Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.02.019</u>
- Clarkson, D. T., & Hanson, J. B. (1980). The mineral nutrition of higher plants. *Annual Reviews of Plant Physiology*, *31*, 239–298.
- Coniglio, A., Mora, V., Puente, M., & Cassán, F. (2019). Azospirillum as biofertilizer for sustainable agriculture: Azospirillum brasilense AZ39 as a model of PGPR and field traceability. In Azospirillum: From the Laboratory to the Field (pp. 45–70). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17597-9\_4</u>
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J. O., & White, S. (2009). The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change*, (Vol. 19(2), pp. 292–305). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.009
- Cordova-Rodriguez, A., Rentería-Martínez, M. E., López-Miranda, C. A., Guzmán-Ortíz, J. M., & Moreno-Salazar, S. F. (2022). Simple and sensitive spectrophotometric method for estimating the nitrogen-fixing capacity of bacterial cultures. *MethodsX*, 9, 101917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2022.101917</u>
- Cotxarrera, L., Trillas-Gay, M. I., Steinberg, C., & Alabouvette, C. (2002). Use of sewage sludge compost and *Trichoderma asperellum* isolates to suppress Fusarium wilt of tomato. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *34*(4), 467–476.

- Coutinho, F. P., Felix, W. P., & Yano-Melo, A. M. (2012). Solubilization of phosphates in vitro by *Aspergillus* spp. and *Penicillium* spp. *Ecological Engineering*, *42*, 85–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2012.02.002</u>
- Crews, T. E., Kurina, L. M., & Vitousek, P. M. (2001). Organic matter and nitrogen accumulation and nitrogen fixation during early ecosystem development in Hawaii. *Biogeochemistry*, 52(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010746428344
- Cui, K., Xu, T., Chen, J., Yang, H., Liu, X., Zhuo, R., Peng, Y., Tang, W., Wang, R., Chen, L., Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., He, Z., Wang, X., Liu, C., Chen, Y., & Zhu, Y. (2022).
  Siderophores, a potential phosphate solubilizer from the endophyte *Streptomyces* sp. CoT10, improved phosphorus mobilization for host plant growth and rhizosphere modulation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *367*.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133110
- D'Angioli, A. M., Viani, R. A. G., Lambers, H., Sawaya, A. C. H. F., & Oliveira, R. S. (2017). Inoculation with *Azospirillum brasilense* (Ab-V4, Ab-V5) increases *Zea mays* root carboxylate-exudation rates, dependent on soil phosphorus supply. *Plant and Soil, 410*(1– 2), 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-3044-5
- Dail, D. B., & Fitzgerald, J. W. (1999). S Cycling in soil and stream sediment: influence of season and in situ concentrations of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur. Retrieved from <u>www.elsevier.com/locate/soilbio</u>
- Dalton, D. A., Kramer, S., Azios, N., Fusaro, S., Cahill, E., & Kennedy, C. (2004). Endophytic nitrogen fixation in dune grasses (*Ammophila arenaria* and *Elymus mollis*) from Oregon. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 49(3), 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2004.04.010
- Dar, T. A., Uddin, M., Ali, A., Khan, M. M. A., & Ul Hassan Dar, T. (2017). Understanding the dynamics of phosphorus starvation and plant growth. In *Essential Plant Nutrients: Uptake*, *Use Efficiency, and Management* (pp. 147–154). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58841-4\_7
- DARP (2022) Superfícies i poduccions dels conrreus agrícolas any 2022. Generalitat de Catalunya, Departamenta d'Acció Climàtica, Alimentació i Agenda Rural. Servei d'Estadísitca i Preus Agroalimentaris.
- Das, H. K. (2019). Azotobacters as biofertilizer. In Advances in Applied Microbiology (Vol. 108, pp. 1–43). Academic Press Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2019.07.001</u>
- Das, S., & De, T. K. (2018). Microbial assay of N2 fixation rate, a simple alternative for acetylene reduction assay. *MethodsX*, 5, 909–914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2017.11.010</u>
- De Leon, D. G., Vahter, T., Zobel, M., Koppel, M., Edesi, L., Davison, J., Al-Quraishy, S., Hozzein, W. N., Moora, M., Oja, J., Vasar, M., & Opik, M. (2020). Different wheat cultivars exhibit variable responses to inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from
organic and conventional farms. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233878

- De Souza, E. M., & De Oliveira Pedrosa, F. (2015). Inorganic nitrogen metabolism in Azospirillum spp. In Handbook for Azospirillum: Technical Issues and Protocols (pp. 139–153). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-06542-7\_8</u>
- De Vleesschauwer, D., & Höfte, M. (2009). Rhizobacteria-induced systemic resistance. *Advances in Botanical Research*, 51, 223–281
- De-Bashan, L. E., Hernandez, J. P., Nelson, K. N., Bashan, Y., & Maier, R. M. (2010). Growth of *Quailbush* in acidic, metalliferous desert mine tailings: Effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* Sp6 on biomass production and rhizosphere community structure. *Microbial Ecology*, 60(4), 915–927. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9713-7</u>
- Degrune, F., Theodorakopoulos, N., Colinet, G., Hiel, M. P., Bodson, B., Taminiau, B., Daube, G., Vandenbol, M., & Hartmann, M. (2017). Temporal dynamics of soil microbial communities below the seedbed under two contrasting tillage regimes. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(JUN). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01127</u>
- Demirkan, E., Baygin, E., & Usta, A. (2014). Topraktan fitat hidrolize eden *Bacillus* sp. 'lerin taranması ve fitaz üretimi üzerine bazı besinsel ve fiziksel faktörlerin optimizasyonu. *Turkish Journal of Biochemistry*, 39(2), 206–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.5505/tjb.2014.26817</u>
- Dhaliwal, S. S., Naresh, R. K., Mandal, A., Walia, M. K., Gupta, R. K., Singh, R., & Dhaliwal, M. K. (2019). Effect of manures and fertilizers on soil physical properties, build-up of macro and micronutrients and uptake in soil under different cropping systems: A review. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 42(20), 2873–2900. Taylor and Francis Inc. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904167.2019.1659337
- Di Salvo, L. P., & García de Salamone, I. E. (2019). PGPR inoculation and chemical fertilization of cereal crops: How do the plants and their rhizosphere microbial communities respond? In *Microbial Interventions in Agriculture and Environment: Volume 2: Rhizosphere, Microbiome and Agro-ecology* (pp. 123–148). Springer Singapore. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8383-0\_4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8383-0\_4</a>
- Di Salvo, L. P., Cellucci, G. C., Carlino, M. E., & García de Salamone, I. E. (2018). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria inoculation and nitrogen fertilization increase maize (*Zea* mays L.) grain yield and modified rhizosphere microbial communities. Applied Soil Ecology, 126, 113–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.02.010</u>
- Di, Y.-N., Kui, L., Singh, P., Liu, L.-F., Xie, L.-Y., He, L.-L., & Li, F.-S. (2023). Identification and characterization of *Bacillus subtilis* B9: A diazotrophic plant growth-promoting endophytic bacterium isolated from sugarcane root. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, 42(3), 1720–1737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-022-10653-x</u>
- Díaz-Zorita, M., & Fernández-Canigia, M. V. (2009). Field performance of a liquid formulation of Azospirillum brasilense on dryland wheat productivity. European Journal of Soil Biology, 45(1), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2008.07.001</u>

- Dobbelaere, S., Croonenborghs, A., Thys, A., Ptacek, D., Vanderleyden, J., Dutto, P., Labandera-Gonzalez, C., Caballero-Mellado, J., Aguirre, J. F., Kapulnik, Y., Brener, S., Burdman, S., Kadouri, D., Sarig, S., & Okon, Y. (2001). Responses of agronomically important crops to inoculation with *Azospirillum. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 28(9), 871–879. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/pp01074</u>
- Dobbelaere, S., Vanderleyden, J., & Okon, Y. (2003). Plant growth-promoting effects of diazotrophs in the rhizosphere. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, *22*(2), 107–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/713610853
- Dobermann, A. (2007). Nutrient use efficiency measurement and management. *IFA International Workshop on Fertilizer Best Management Practices*, Brussels, Belgium, 1-28.
- Dong, X., Lv, L., Wang, W., Liu, Y., Yin, C., Xu, Q., Yan, H., Fu, J., & Liu, X. (2019). Differences in distribution of potassium-solubilizing bacteria in forest and plantation soils in Myanmar. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(5), 700. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050700</u>
- Dos Santos, F. L., Da Silva, F. B., De Sá, E. L. S., Vian, A. L., Muniz, A. W., & Dos Santos, R. N. (2019). Inoculation and co-inoculation of growth promoting rhizobacteria in irrigated rice plants. *Revista Brasileira de Ciências Agrárias*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.5039/AGRARIA.V14I3A5665
- Earl, A. M., Losick, R., and Kolter, R. (2008). Ecology and genomics of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Trends Microbiology* 16:269-275.
- Eckert, B., Weber, O. B., Kirchhof, G., Halbritter, A., Stoffels, M., & Hartmann, A. (2001). Azospirillum doebereinerae sp. nov., a nitrogen-fixing bacterium associated with the C4grass Miscanthus. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 51(1), 17–26. <u>http://www.mikro.biologie.tu-muenchen.de</u>
- Egorshina, A. A., Khairullin, R. M., Sakhabutdinova, A. R., & Luk'yantsev, M. A. (2012). Involvement of phytohormones in the development of interaction between wheat seedlings and endophytic *Bacillus subtilis* strain 11BM. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 59(1), 134–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S1021443711050062</u>
- Eisenhauer, N., Schulz, W., Scheu, S., & Jousset, A. (2013). Niche dimensionality links biodiversity and invasibility of microbial communities. *Functional Ecology*, 27(1), 282– 288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02060.x</u>
- El El Zemrany, H., Cortet, J., Peter Lutz, M., Chabert, A., Baudoin, E., Haurat, J., Maughan, N., Félix, D., Défago, G., Bally, R., & Moënne-Loccoz, Y. (2006). Field survival of the phytostimulator *Azospirillum lipoferum* CRT1 and functional impact on maize crop, biodegradation of crop residues, and soil faunal indicators in a context of decreasing nitrogen fertilisation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(7), 1712–1726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.11.025
- El Zemrany, H., Czarnes, S., Hallett, P. D., Alamercery, S., Bally, R., & Jocteur Monrozier, L. (2007). Early changes in root characteristics of maize (*Zea mays*) following seed

inoculation with the PGPR Azospirillum lipoferum CRT1. Plant and Soil, 291(1–2), 109–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-006-9178-0</u>

- El-Badry, M.A.; Elbarbary, T.A.; Ibrahim, I.A.; Abdel-Fatah, Y.M. (2016). Azotobacter vinelandii evaluation and optimization of Abu Tartur Egyptian phosphate ore dissolution. Saudi J. Pathol. Microbiology 2016, 1, 80–93.
- Elmerich, C., & Newton, W. E. (2007). Associative and endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria and cyanobacterial associations. Institut Pasteur and Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.
- Epstein, E. (1972). Mineral nutrition of plants: Principles and perspectives. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ermindo Cavallet, L., Carlos dos Santos Pessoa, A., José Helmich, J., Rogério Helmich, P., & Fabiano Ost, C. (2000). Efeito da salinidade da água de irrigação na produção da alface americana: Produtividade do milho em resposta à aplicação de nitrogênio e inoculação das sementes com *Azospirillum* spp. *Revista Brasileira de Ciências Agrárias, 1*(1).
- Escobar Ortega, J. S., Aguilar Vásquez, N. N., Ávila Alba, T., & García de Salamone, I. E. (2021). Impact of management of cover crop–soybean agroecosystems on rhizosphere microbial communities. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 72(3), 1154–1176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.13057</u>
- Etesami, H. (2018). Bacterial mediated alleviation of heavy metal stress and decreased accumulation of metals in plant tissues: Mechanisms and future prospects. In *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* (Vol. 147, pp. 175–191). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.08.032
- Etesami, H., & Maheshwari, D. K. (2018). Use of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) with multiple plant growth promoting traits in stress agriculture: Action mechanisms and future prospects. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 156, 225–246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.03.013</u>
- European Commission (2020). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, and the Committee of the Regions: A farm to fork strategy for a fair, healthy and environmentally-friendly food system
- European Commission (2019a). Fertilisers in the EU: Prices, trade and use. *EU agricultural* markets briefs: No 15 | June 2019
- European Commission (2019b). The European Green Deal (COM (2019) 640 final). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels: European Commission.
- European Council. (1991). Council Directive 91/676/EEC of 12 December 1991 concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources. Official Journal of the European Communities, L 375, 1–8.

- European Parliament and Council. (2000). *Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy*. Official Journal of the European Communities, L 327, 1–73.
- European Parliament and Council. (2019). Regulation (EU) 2019/1009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 laying down rules on the making available on the market of EU fertilising products and amending Regulations (EC) No 1069/2009 and (EC) No 1107/2009 and repealing Regulation (EC) No 2003/2003. Official Journal of the European Union, L 170, 1–114.
- Fadiji, A. E., Orozco-Mosqueda, M. del C., Santos-Villalobos, S. de los, Santoyo, G., & Babalola, O. O. (2022). Recent developments in the application of plant growth-promoting drought adaptive rhizobacteria for drought mitigation. *Plants*, *11*(22). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11223090</u>
- Fageria, N. K., Baligar, V. C., & Jones, C. A. (2010). *Growth and mineral nutrition of field crops* (3rd ed.). CRC Press.
- Falcón, M. A., Corominas, E., Pérez, M. L., & Perestelo, F. (1987). Aerobic bacterial populations and environmental factors involved in the composting of agricultural and forest wastes of the Canary Islands. *Biological Wastes*, 20, 215–226.
- Fallah, N., Tayyab, M., Yang, Z., Pang, Z., Zhang, C., Lin, Z., Stewart, L. J., Ntambo, M. S., Abubakar, A. Y., Lin, W., & Zhang, H. (2023). Free-living bacteria stimulate sugarcane growth traits and edaphic factors along soil depth gradients under contrasting fertilization. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 4296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-25807-w</u>
- Fan, Y., Lin, F., Yang, L., Zhong, X., Wang, M., Zhou, J., Chen, Y., & Yang, Y. (2018). Decreased soil organic P fraction associated with ectomycorrhizal fungal activity to meet increased P demand under N application in a subtropical forest ecosystem. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 54(1), 149–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1251-8</u>
- FAO (2023) Food Price Monitoring and Analysis. Monthly report on food price trends bulletin 4.
- FAO. (2024). Food outlook Biannual report on global food markets. *Food Outlook, June 2024. Rome.*
- Farajzadeh, D., Yakhchali, B., Aliasgharzad, N., Sokhandan-Bashir, N., & Farajzadeh, M. (2012). Plant growth promoting characterization of indigenous azotobacteria isolated from soils in Iran. *Current Microbiology*, 64(4), 397–403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-012-0083-</u>
- Ferrarezi, J. A., Defant, H., de Souza, L. F., Azevedo, J. L., Hungria, M., & Quecine, M. C. (2023). Meta-omics integration approach reveals the effect of soil native microbiome diversity in the performance of inoculant *Azospirillum brasilense*. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1172839</u>
- Ferreira, E. P. B., Castro, A. P., Martin-Didonet, C. C. G., & Fageria, N. K. (2015). Agronomical performance of upland rice cultivars inoculated with *Azospirillum brasilense* depends on the plant genotype. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 46(14), 1751– 1762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2015.1043456</u>

- Fierer, N. (2017). Embracing the unknown: Disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 15(10), 579–590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.87</u>
- Florio, A., Bréfort, C., Gervaix, J., Bérard, A., & Le Roux, X. (2019). The responses of NO2– and N2O-reducing bacteria to maize inoculation by the PGPR *Azospirillum lipoferum* CRT1 depend on carbon availability and determine soil gross and net N2O production. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.107524</u>
- Fonseca Breda, F. A., da Silva, T. F. R., dos Santos, S. G., Alves, G. C., & Reis, V. M. (2019). Modulation of nitrogen metabolism of maize plants inoculated with *Azospirillum* brasilense and Herbaspirillum seropedicae. Archives of Microbiology, 201(4), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-018-1594-z
- Fontaine, S., Henault, C., Aamor, A., Bdioui, N., Bloor, J. M. G., Maire, V., Mary, B., Revaillot, S., & Maron, P. A. (2011). Fungi mediate long term sequestration of carbon and nitrogen in soil through their priming effect. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.09.017
- Fukami, J., Nogueira, M. A., Araujo, R. S., & Hungria, M. (2016). Accessing inoculation methods of maize and wheat with *Azospirillum brasilense*. *AMB Express*, 6(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-015-0171-y</u>
- Fukami, J., Ollero, F. J., Megías, M., & Hungria, M. (2017). Phytohormones and induction of plant-stress tolerance and defense genes by seed and foliar inoculation with *Azospirillum brasilense* cells and metabolites promote maize growth. *AMB Express*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-017-0453-7</u>
- Fukushima, T., Allred, B. E., Sia, A. K., Nichiporuk, R., Andersen, U. N., & Raymond, K. N. (2013). Gram-positive siderophore-shuttle with iron-exchange from Fe-siderophore to apo-siderophore by *Bacillus cereus* YxeB. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(34), 13821–13826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1304235110</u>
- Furlani, G., Pagnanelli, F., & Toro, L. (2006). Reductive acid leaching of manganese dioxide with glucose: Identification of oxidation derivatives of glucose. *Hydrometallurgy*, 81(3–4), 234–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hydromet.2005.12.008</u>
- Furtak, K., Gawryjołek, K., Gałazka, A., & Grzadziel, J. (2020). The response of red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) to separate and mixed inoculations with *Rhizobium leguminosarum* and *Azospirillum brasilense* in presence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(16), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165751</u>
- Galloway, J. N., Dentener, F. J., Capone, D. G., Boyer, E. W., Howarth, R. W., Seitzinger, S. P., Asner, G. P., Cleveland, C. C., Green, P. A., Holland, E. A., Karl, D. M., Michaels, A. F., Porter, J. H., Townsend, A. R., & Vörösmarty, C. J. (2004). Nitrogen cycles: Past, present, and future. *Biogeochemistry*, 70(2), 153–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-004-0370-0</u>

- Gang, S., Sharma, S., Saraf, M., Buck, M., & Schumacher, J. (2020). Analysis of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) production in *Klebsiella* by LC-MS/MS and the Salkowski method. *Journal of Food Legumes*, 33(3), 181–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.21769/BioProtoc.3230</u>
- García de Salamone, I. E., Döbereiner, J., & Döbereiner, J. (1996). Maize genotype effects on the response to Azospirillum inoculation. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 21(3), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00335868
- García de Salamone, I. E., Funes, J. M., Di Salvo, L. P., Escobar-Ortega, J. S., D'Auria, F., Ferrando, L., & Fernandez-Scavino, A. (2012). Inoculation of paddy rice with *Azospirillum brasilense* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*: Impact of plant genotypes on rhizosphere microbial communities and field crop production. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 61, 196–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.12.012</u>
- García, J. E., Maroniche, G., Creus, C., Suárez-Rodríguez, R., Ramirez-Trujillo, J. A., & Groppa, M. D. (2017). *In vitro* PGPR properties and osmotic tolerance of different *Azospirillum* native strains and their effects on growth of maize under drought stress. *Microbiological Research*, 202, 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017.04.007
- Garcia, M. M., Pereira, L. C., Braccini, A. L., Angelotti, P., Suzukawa, A. K., Marteli, D. C. V., Felber, P. H., Bianchessi, P. A., & Dametto, I. B. (2017). Effects of *Azospirillum brasilense* on growth and yield compounds of maize grown at nitrogen limiting conditions. *Revista de Ciências Agrárias*, 40(2), 353–362. https://doi.org/10.19084/rca16101
- Garg, S. K., Bhatnagar, A., Kalla, A., & Narula, N. (2001). In vitro nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, survival, and nutrient release by *Azotobacter* strains in an aquatic system.*Bioresources Technology* 80(2), 101-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00081-5
- Garrido-Sanz, D., Arrebola, E., Martínez-Granero, F., García-Méndez, S., Muriel, C., Blanco-Romero, E., & Redondo-Nieto, M. (2017). Classification of isolates from the *Pseudomonas fluorescens* complex into phylogenomic groups based on group-specific markers. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, Article 413. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00413</u>
- Gassmann, W., Appel, H. M., & Oliver, M. J. (2016). Preface. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(7), 2023–2024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw110</u>
- Gatiboni, L., Brunetto, G., Pavinato, P. S., & George, T. S. (2020). Editorial: Legacy Phosphorus in Agriculture: Role of Past Management and Perspectives for the Future. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 8, 619935. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2020.619935</u>
- Gauri, S. S., Mandal, S. M., & Pati, B. R. (2012). Impact of Azotobacter exopolysaccharides on sustainable agriculture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 95(2), 331–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4159-0</u>
- Ghassemi-Golezani, K. (2012). Available online at. *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences*. Retrieved from <u>www.ijages.com</u>

- Giller, K., & Merckx, R. (2003). Exploring the boundaries of N2-fixation in cereals and grasses: A hypothetical and experimental framework. *Symbiosis*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/40797545</u>
- Girish, N., & Umesha, S. (2005). Effect of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on bacterial canker of tomato. *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection*, *38*(3), 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1080/03235400500094704
- Glick, B. R. (2012). Plant growth-promoting bacteria: Mechanisms and applications. *Scientifica*, 2012, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.6064/2012/963401</u>
- Glickmann, E., & Dessaux, Y. (1995). A critical examination of the specificity of the Salkowski reagent for indolic compounds produced by phytopathogenic bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(2), 2774–2778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.61.2.2774-2778.1995</u>
- Gobierno de España. (2017). Real Decreto 999/2017, de 24 de noviembre, por el que se establecen los requisitos para la comercialización de fertilizantes. *Boletín Oficial del Estado, núm.* 285, 1–10.
- Goldstein, A. H. (1986). Bacterial solubilization of mineral phosphates: Historical perspective and future prospects. *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture*, 1(2), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0889189300000886
- Gong, Z., Xiong, L., Shi, H., Yang, S., Herrera-Estrella, L. R., Xu, G., Chao, D. Y., Li, J., Wang, P. Y., Qin, F., Li, J., Ding, Y., Shi, Y., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Guo, Y., & Zhu, J. K. (2020). Plant abiotic stress response and nutrient use efficiency. *Science China Life Sciences*, 63(5), 635–674. Science in China Press.
- Gordon, S. A., & Weber, R. P. (1951). Colorimetric estimation of indoleacetic acid. *Plant Physiology*, *26*(1), 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.26.1.192
- Goswami, D., Thakker, J. N., & Dhandhukia, P. C. (2016). Portraying mechanics of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): A review. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2015.1127500</u>
- Grellet Naval, N., Vera, L., Leggio Neme, F., Fernández González, P., Sánchez Ducca, A., Fernández de Ullivarri, J., Romero, E. R., & Tortora, M. L. (2017). Evaluación de la cepa Azospirillum brasilense Az39 como biofertilizante para el cultivo de sorgo azucarado. Revista Industrial y Agrícola de Tucumán, 94(1), 31–39. ISSN 0370-5404
- Gulati, H. K., Chadha, B. S., & Saini, H. S. (2007). Production and characterization of thermostable alkaline phytase from *Bacillus laevolacticus* isolated from rhizosphere soil. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 34(1), 91–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-006-0171-7</u>
- Gunina, A., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2022). From energy to (soil organic) matter. Global Change Biology, 28(7), 2169–2182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16071</u>

- Gyaneshwar, P., Naresh Kumar, G., Parekh, L. J., & Poole, P. S. (2002). Role of soil microorganisms in improving phosphorus nutrition of plants. *Plant and Soil*, 245(1), 83– 93. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020665721523
- Ha, S., & Tran, L. S. (2014). Understanding plant responses to phosphorus starvation for improvement of plant tolerance to phosphorus deficiency by biotechnological approaches. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 34(1), 16–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/07388551.2013.783549</u>
- Hafez, M., Elbarbary, T. A., Ibrahim, I., and Abdel-Fatah, Y. (2016). Azotobacter vinelandii evaluation and optimization of Abu Tartur Egyptian phosphate ore dissolution. Saudi J. Pathol. Microbiology 1, 80–93. doi: 10.21276/sjpm.2016.1.3.2
- Hamel, C., Landry, C., Elmi, A., Liu, A., & Spedding, T. (2004). Nutrient dynamics: Utilizing biotic-abiotic interactions for improved management of agricultural soils. In *Journal of Crop Improvement* (Vol. 11, Issues 1–2, pp. 209–248). https://doi.org/10.1300/J411v11n01 10
- Hashem, A., Tabassum, B., & Abd\_Allah, E. F. (2019). Bacillus subtilis: A plant-growth promoting rhizobacterium that also impacts biotic stress. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 26*(6), 1291–1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2019.05.00
- Havlin, J. L., Tisdale, S. L., Nelson, W. L., & Beaton, J. D. (2016). *Soil fertility and fertilizers: An introduction to nutrient management* (8th ed.). Pearson Education India.
- He, Y., Pantigoso, H. A., Wu, Z., & Vivanco, J. M. (2019). Co-inoculation of *Bacillus* sp. and *Pseudomonas putida* at different development stages acts as a biostimulant to promote growth, yield, and nutrient uptake of tomato. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 127(1), 196–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14273</u>
- Herencia, J. F., Ruiz-Porras, J. C., Melero, S., Garcia-Galavis, P. A., Morillo, E., & Maqueda, C. (2007). Comparison between organic and mineral fertilization for soil fertility levels, crop macronutrient concentrations, and yield. *Agronomy Journal*, 99(4), 973–983. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2006.0168</u>
- Hinsinger, P., Plassard, C., Tang, C., & Jaillard, B. (2003). Origins of root-mediated pH changes in the rhizosphere and their responses to environmental constraints: A review. *Plant and Soil, 248*(1), 43–59. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022370817020
- Hoagland, D. R., & Arnon, D. I. (1950). The water-culture method for growing plants without soil (Circular No. C347, Rev. 1950). College of Agriculture, University of California.
- Hodge, A. (2004). The plastic plant: Root responses to heterogeneous supplies of nutrients. *New Phytologist, 162*(1), 9–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01015.x</u>
- Hoffman, B. M., Lukoyanov, D., Yang, Z. Y., Dean, D. R., & Seefeldt, L. C. (2014). Mechanism of nitrogen fixation by nitrogenase: The next stage. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(8), 4041–4062. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr400641x</u>

- Hopper, D. J., Chapman, P. J., & Dagley, S. (1970). Metabolism of *L-Malate* and *D-Malate* by a species of *Pseudomonas*. In *Journal of Bacteriology* (Vol. 104, Issue 3).
- Hungria, M. (2016). *Azospirillum: um velho novo aliado*. In *FERTIBIO 2016*. Embrapa Soja, C.P. 231, CEP 86001-970, Londrina, PR.
- Hungria, M., Campo, R. J., Souza, E. M., & Pedrosa, F. O. (2010). Inoculation with selected strains of *Azospirillum brasilense* and *A. lipoferum* improves yields of maize and wheat in Brazil. *Plant and Soil*, 331(1), 413–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0262-0</u>
- Idris, E. S. E., Iglesias, D. J., Talon, M., & Borriss, R. (2007). Tryptophan-dependent production of *Indole-3-Acetic Acid* (IAA) affects level of plant growth promotion by *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB42. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 20(6), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-20-6-0619
- Illmer, P., & Schinner, F. (1992). Solubilization of inorganic phosphates by microorganisms isolated from forest soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 24(4), 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(92)90055-6
- Inomura, K., Deutsch, C., Masuda, T., Prášil, O., & Follows, M. J. (2020). Quantitative models of nitrogen-fixing organisms. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 18, 3905–3924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.11.022</u>
- International Fertilizer Industry Association. (2007). Fertilizer best management practices: General principles, strategy for their adoption and voluntary initiatives vs regulations: Papers presented at the IFA international workshop on fertilizer best management practices, 7-9 March 2007, Brussels, Belgium. International Fertilizer Industry Association.
- Iparraguirre, J., Llanes, A., Masciarelli, O., Zocolo, G. J., Villasuso, A. L., & Luna, V. (2023). Formulation technology: *Macrocystis pyrifera* extract is a suitable support/medium for *Azospirillum brasilense*. *Algal Research*, 69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2022.102916</u>
- Irízar Garza, M., Blanca, M., Vázquez, V., García, G., Couoh, T., Martínez, R., Campos, T., Silva, G., Montoya, A., González, M., Concepción, J., Mendoza, A., Cabrera, G., Garza, V., Medina, A., & Francisco, J. (2003). Agricultura Técnica en México. *Agricultura Técnica En México*, 29(2), 213–225. <u>http://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=60829211</u>
- Izawa, T., & Shimamoto, K. (1996). Becoming a model plant: The importance of rice to plant science. *Trends in Plant Science*, 1(3), 95–99.
- Jain, D., Sharma, J., Kaur, G., Bhojiya, A. A., Chauhan, S., Sharma, V., Suman, A., Mohanty, S. R., & Maharjan, E. (2021). Phenetic and molecular diversity of nitrogen-fixing plant growthpromoting *Azotobacter* isolated from semiarid regions of India. *Hindawi BioMed Research International*, 2021, 6686283. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6686283
- Janati, W., Mikou, K., El Ghadraoui, L., & Errachidi, F. (2022). Isolation and characterization of phosphate solubilizing bacteria naturally colonizing legumes rhizosphere in Morocco. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.958300</u>

- Jardin, P. (2015). Plant biostimulants: Definition, concept, main categories and regulation. *Scientia Horticulturae, 196*, 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.021</u>
- Jehani, M. D., Singh, S., Archana, T. S., Kumar, D., & Kumar, G. (2023). Azospirillum—a freeliving nitrogen-fixing bacterium. In *Rhizobiome: Ecology, Management and Application* (pp. 285–308). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-443-16030-1.00001-8</u>
- Joe, M. M., Karthikeyan, B., Chauhan, P. S., Shagol, C., Islam, M. R., Deiveekasundaram, M., & Sa, T. (2012). Survival of Azospirillum brasilense flocculated cells in alginate and its inoculation effect on growth and yield of maize under water deficit conditions. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 50, 198–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2012.03.002</u>
- Jokkaew, S., Jantharadej, K., Pokhum, C., Chawengkijwanich, C., & Suwannasilp, B. B. (2022). Free and encapsulated phosphate-solubilizing bacteria for the enhanced dissolution of swine wastewater-derived struvite—An attractive approach for green phosphorus fertilizer. Sustainability (Switzerland), 14(19). https://doi.org/10.3390/su141912627
- Jones, J. B. Jr. (2012). Plant nutrition and soil fertility manual (2nd ed.). CRC Press.
- Juers, D. H., Matthews, B. W., & Huber, R. E. (2012). LacZ β-galactosidase: Structure and function of an enzyme of historical and molecular biological importance. In *Protein Science* (Vol. 21, Issue 12, pp. 1792–1807). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.2165</u>
- Kang, S., Hao, X., Du, T., Tong, L., Su, X., Lu, H., Li, X., Huo, Z., Li, S., & Ding, R. (2017). Improving agricultural water productivity to ensure food security in China under changing environment: From research to practice. Agricultural Water Management, 179, 5–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.10.009</u>
- Kapulnik, Y., Sarig, S., Nur, I., & Okon, Y. (1983). Effect of Azospirillum inoculation on yield of field-grown wheat. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 29(8), 1191–1195. https://doi.org/10.1139/m83-145
- Kaymak, H. Ç., Güvenç, I., Yarali, F., & Dönmez, M. F. (2009). The effects of bio-priming with PGPR on germination of radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) seeds under saline conditions. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 33(2), 173–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.3906/tar-0806-30</u>
- Keen, B. A., & Raczkowski, H. (1921). The relation between clay content and certain physical properties of soil. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 11, 441–449Keen, B. A., & Raczkowski, H. (2009). The relation between the clay content and certain physical properties of a soil. *The Journal of Soil Science*, 12(2), 195-203. Published online by Cambridge University Press: 27 March 2009.
- Kennedy, I. R., Pereg-Gerk, L. L., Wood, C., Deaker, R., Gilchrist, K., & Katupitiya, S. (1997). Biological nitrogen fixation in non-leguminous field crops: Facilitating the evolution of an effective association between *Azospirillum* and wheat. *Plant and Soil, 194*, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004280819561

- Khan, A., Singh, A. V., Gautam, S. S., Agarwal, A., Punetha, A., Upadhayay, V. K., Kukreti, B., Bundela, V., Jugran, A. K., & Goel, R. (2023). Microbial bioformulation: A microbialassisted biostimulating fertilization technique for sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1270039
- Khan, F., Siddique, A. B., Shabala, S., Zhou, M., & Zhao, C. (2023). Phosphorus plays key roles in regulating plants' physiological responses to abiotic stresses. *Plants*, 12(15). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI). https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12152861
- Khanghahi, M. Y., Murgese, P., Strafella, S., & Crecchio, C. (2019). Soil biological fertility and bacterial community response to land use intensity: A case study in the Mediterranean area. *Diversity*, *11*(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/d11110211</u>
- Khianngam, S., Meetum, P., Chiangmai, P. N., & Tanasupawat, S. (2023). Identification and optimisation of indole-3-acetic acid production of endophytic bacteria and their effects on plant growth. *Tropical Life Sciences Research*, 34(1), 219–239. https://doi.org/10.21315/tlsr2023.34.1.12
- Kibret, M. (2021). Introduction to soil microbiology. *Commentary*, 3(5). Department of Botany and Plant Sciences, University of Cologne.
- Kpomblekou-A, K., & Tabatabai, M. A. (2003). Effect of low-molecular weight organic acids on phosphorus release and phytoavailability of phosphorus in phosphate rocks added to soils. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 100*(2–3), 275–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00185-3</u>
- Krasilnikov, P., Taboada, M. A., & Amanullah. (2022). Fertilizer use, soil health and agricultural sustainability. *Agriculture (Switzerland), 12*(4). MDPI. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12040462</u>
- Krewulak, K. D., & Vogel, H. J. (2008). Structural biology of bacterial iron uptake. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes*, 1778(9), 1781–1804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.07.026</u>
- Krishnaraj, P. U., & Dahale, S. (2014). Mineral phosphate solubilization: Concepts and prospects in sustainable agriculture. *Proceedings of the Indian National Science Academy*, 80(2), 389–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.16943/ptinsa/2014/v80i2/55116</u>
- Krithika, S., & Balachandar, D. (2016). Expression of zinc transporter genes in rice as influenced by zinc-solubilizing *Enterobacter cloacae* strain ZSB14. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00446</u>
- Kumar, R., Kumar, S., Kumar, A., Singh, H., & Kumar, S. (2013). Effect of top dressing nitrogen and potassium on yield and yield components of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Agriways, 1(2), 90– 94.
- Kumar, S., Diksha, S. S., Sindhu, S. S., & Kumar, R. (2022). Biofertilizers: An ecofriendly technology for nutrient recycling and environmental sustainability. *Current Research in Microbial Sciences*, 3, 100094. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100094</u>

- Kumar, V., Narula, N., Kumar, V., & Narula, N. (1999). Solubilization of inorganic phosphates and growth emergence of wheat as affected by Azotobacter chroococcum mutants. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 28, 217–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050463
- Kuzyakov, Y., Friedel, J. K., & Stahr, K. (2000). Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(11-12), 1485-1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00084-5
- La Presidencia y para las Administraciones Territoriales (2017) Real Decreto 999/2017, sobre productos fertilizantes. (2017, 6 de diciembre). *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, Núm. 296, pp. 119396.
- Lakzadeh, B., Mir-Mahmoodi, T., & Jalilnezhad, N. (2015). Effects of Azospirillum bacteria and gibberellin hormone on morpho-physiological properties, yield, and yield components of corn (*Zea mays* L.). *Biological Forum – An International Journal*, 7(1), 986–993. Retrieved from <u>www.researchtrend.net</u>
- Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. *Science*, 304(5677), 1623–1627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1097396</u>
- Lana, M. do C., Dartora, J., Marini, D., & Hann, J. E. (2012). Inoculation with *Azospirillum*, associated with nitrogen fertilization in maize. *Revista Ceres*, 59(3), 399–405. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-737X2012000300003
- Lau, S. E., Teo, W. F. A., Teoh, E. Y., & Tan, B. C. (2022). Microbiome engineering and plant biostimulants for sustainable crop improvement and mitigation of biotic and abiotic stresses. *Discover Food*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s44187-022-00009-5
- Lavrinenko, K., Chernousova, E., Gridneva, E., Dubinina, G., Akimov, V., Kuever, J., Lysenko, A., & Grabovich, M. (2010). Azospirillum thiophilum sp. nov., a diazotrophic bacterium isolated from a sulfide spring. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 60(12), 2832–2837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.018853-0</u>
- Leigh, R. A., & Wyn Jones, R. G. (1984). A hypothesis relating critical potassium concentrations for growth to the distribution and functions of this ion in the plant cell. *Plant Physiology*, 97(1).
- Li, B., Zhao, L., Liu, D., Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Miao, Y., & Han, L. (2023). Bacillus subtilis promotes cucumber growth and quality under higher nutrient solution by altering the rhizospheric microbial community. Plants, 12(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12020298</u>
- Li, P., Liu, W., & Gao, K. (2013). Effects of temperature, pH, and UV radiation on alkaline phosphatase activity in the terrestrial cyanobacterium *Nostoc flagelliforme. Journal of Applied Phycology*, 25(4), 1031–1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9936-8</u>
- Li, Y., Liu, X., Hao, T., & Chen, S. (2017). Colonization and maize growth promotion induced by phosphate solubilizing bacterial isolates. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(7), 1253. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18071253</u>

- Li, Y., Zhao, X., Yao, M., Yang, W., Han, Y., Liu, L., Zhang, J., & Liu, J. (2023). Mechanism of microbial production of *acetoin* and *2,3-butanediol* optical isomers and substrate specificity of *butanediol dehydrogenase*. In *Microbial Cell Factories* (Vol. 22, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-023-02163-6</u>
- Liebersbach, H., Steingrobe, B., & Claassen, N. (2004). Roots regulate ion transport in the rhizosphere to counteract reduced mobility in dry soil. *Plant and Soil, 260.*
- Lin, S. Y., Shen, F. T., Young, L. Sen, Zhu, Z. L., Chen, W. M., & Young, C. C. (2012). Azospirillum formosense sp. nov., a diazotroph from agricultural soil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 62(5), 1185–1190. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.030585-0
- Lin, S., Litaker, R. W., & Sunda, W. G. (2016). Phosphorus physiological ecology and molecular mechanisms in marine phytoplankton. *Journal of Phycology*, 52(1), 10–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.12365</u>
- Lin, Y., Du, D., Si, C., Zhao, Q., Li, Z., & Li, P. (2014). Potential biocontrol *Bacillus* sp. strains isolated by an improved method from vinegar waste compost exhibit antibiosis against fungal pathogens and promote growth of cucumbers. *Biological Control*, 71, 7–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2013.12.010</u>
- Liu, L., Kong, J., Cui, H., Zhang, J., Wang, F., Cai, Z., & Huang, X. (2016). Relationships of decomposability and C/N ratio in different types of organic matter with suppression of *Fusarium oxysporum* and microbial communities during reductive soil disinfestation. *Biological Control*, 101, 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2016.06.011</u>
- Lobo, L. L. B., dos Santos, R. M., & Rigobelo, E. C. (2019). Promotion of maize growth using endophytic bacteria under greenhouse and field conditions. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 13(12), 2067–2074. <u>https://doi.org/10.21475/ajcs.19.13.12.p2077</u>
- López-Valdez, F., Fernández-Luqueño, F., Ceballos-Ramírez, J. M., Marsch, R., Olalde-Portugal, V., & Dendooven, L. (2011). A strain of *Bacillus subtilis* stimulates sunflower growth (*Helianthus annuus* L.) temporarily. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 128(4), 499–505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2011.02.006</u>
- Losick, R. M. (2020). *Bacillus subtilis*: A bacterium for all seasons. *Current Biology*, 30(19), R1146–R1150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.083</u>
- Lucia Baldani, V. D. (1980). Host-plant specificity in the infection of cereals with *Azospirillum* spp. In *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* (Vol. 12). Pergamon Press Ltd.
- Luna Martínez, L., Peniche, R. A. M., Iturriaga, H., Medrano, S. M. A., & Pacheco Aguilar, J. R. (2013). Characterization of rhizobacteria isolated from tomato and their effect on tomato and bell pepper growth. *Revista Fitotecnia Mexicana*, 36(1).
- Macias-Benitez, S., Garcia-Martinez, A. M., Caballero Jimenez, P., Gonzalez, J. M., Tejada Moral, M., & Parrado Rubio, J. (2020). Rhizospheric organic acids as biostimulants:

Monitoring feedbacks on soil microorganisms and biochemical properties. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00633

- Madika, A., Ameh, J., & Machido, D. A. (2019). Isolation and screening of *Bacillus subtilis* from soil for amylase production. UMYU Journal of Microbiology Research (UJMR), 2(2), 82– 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.47430/ujmr.1722.012</u>
- Magdoff, F., & Van Es, H. (2021). *Building soils for better crops: Ecological management for healthy soils* (4th ed.). Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE) program.
- Mahanty, T., Bhattacharjee, S., Goswami, M., Bhattacharyya, P., Das, B., Ghosh, A., & Tribedi, P. (2017). Biofertilizers: A potential approach for sustainable agriculture development. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 24(4), 3315–3335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-8104-0</u>
- Mahmud, K., Makaju, S., Ibrahim, R., & Missaoui, A. (2020). Current progress in nitrogen fixing plants and microbiome research. *Plants*, 9(1). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9010097
- Majumdar, B., & Sahg, R. (2007). Effects of nitrogen, farmyard manure, and non-symbiotic nitrogen-fixing bacteria on yield, nutrient uptake, and soil fertility in upland rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 77(6).
- Mala, T., Chotchuangmaneerat, S., Phuengsaeng, W., & Phumphet, J. (2010). Efficiency of Glomus aggregatum, Azotobacter, Azospirillum, and chemical fertilizer on growth and yield of single cross hybrid 4452 maize. Kasetsart Journal (Natural Science), 44(5).
- Malkoclu, M. C., Tüzel, Y., Oztekin, G. B., Ozaktan, H., & Yolageldi, L. (2017). Effects of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on organic lettuce production. *Acta Horticulturae*, 1164, 265–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2017.1164.34</u>
- Malusá, E., Sas-Paszt, L., & Ciesielska, J. (2012). Technologies for beneficial microorganisms inocula used as biofertilizers. In *The Scientific World Journal* (Vol. 2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/491206</u>
- Mandal, S., Anand, U., López-Bucio, J., Radha, Kumar, M., Lal, M. K., Tiwari, R. K., & Dey, A. (2023). Biostimulants and environmental stress mitigation in crops: A novel and emerging approach for agricultural sustainability under climate change. *Environmental Research*, 233, 116357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.116357</u>
- Manzoor, M., Abbasi, M. K., & Sultan, T. (2017). Isolation of phosphate solubilizing bacteria from maize rhizosphere and their potential for rock phosphate solubilization– mineralization and plant growth promotion. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 34(1), 81–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01490451.2016.1146373</u>
- MAPA. (2017). Solicitudes relativas al registro de productos fertilizantes en el caso de productos del subgrupo 4.4. Productos especiales basados en microorganismos. *Boletín Oficial del Estado*. Retrieved from https://www.boe.es/diario\_boe/txt.php?id=BOE-A-2017-1433

- MAPA. (2022). Anuario de estadística 2022. Subsecretaría de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación, Subdirección General de Análisis, Coordinación y Estadística. Madrid, España: Centro de Publicaciones, Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación. NIPO: 003-19-200-O.
- Mardamootoo, T., du Preez, C., & Barnard, J. H. (2021). Phosphorus management issues for crop production: A review. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 17(7), 939–952. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2020.15205
- Marini, D., Guimarães, V. F., Dartora, J., Lana, M. D. C., & Júnior, A. S. P. (2015). Growth and yield of corn hybrids in response to association with *Azospirillum brasilense* and nitrogen fertilization. *Revista Ceres*, 62(1), 117–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-</u> 737X201562010015
- Marra, L. M., Sousa Soares, C. R. F., de Oliveira, S. M., Ferreira, P. A. A., Soares, B. L., de Carvalho, R. F., de Lima, J. M., & de Moreira, F. M. S. (2012). Biological nitrogen fixation and phosphate solubilization by bacteria isolated from tropical soils. *Plant and Soil*, 357(1), 289–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1157-z</u>
- Marschner, P. (2011). Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants (3rd ed.). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.X0001-5
- Martin-Didonet, C. C. G., Chubatsu, L. S., Souza, E. M., Kleina, M., Rego, F. G. M., Rigo, L. U., Yates, M. G., & Pedrosa, F. O. (2000). Genome structure of the genus Azospirillum. Journal of Bacteriology, 182(14), 3803–3813. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.182.14.3803-3813.2000
- Martínez-Cano, B., García-Trejo, J. F., Sánchez-Gutiérrez, A. E., Toledano-Ayala, M., & Soto-Zarazúa, G. M. (2022). Isolation and characterization of plant growth-promoting compost bacteria that improved physiological characteristics in tomato and lettuce seedlings. *Agriculture (Switzerland)*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12010003
- Martinez-Toledo, M., Gonzalez-Lopez, J., de la Rubia, T., & Ramos-Cormenzana, A. (1985).
  Isolation and characterization of *Azotobacter chroococcum* from the roots of Zea mays.
  *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 31(4), 197–200.
  https://academic.oup.com/femsec/article/1/4/197/508422
- Mazuecos-Aguilera, I., Salazar, S., Hidalgo-Castellanos, J., Ortiz-Liébana, N., López-Bornay, P., & González-Andrés, F. (2024). Combined application of *N*-fixing *PGPB* and rice straw mulch compensates *N* immobilization by straw, improving crop growth. *Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture*, 11(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-024-00555-3</u>
- Mbow, C., Rosenzweig, C., Barioni, L. G., Benton, T. G., Herrero, M., Krishnapillai, M., Liwenga, E., Pradhan, P., Rivera-Ferre, M. G., Sapkota, T., Tubiello, F. N., & Xu, Y. L. (2019). Food security. In *IPCC Special Report on Land and Climate Change* (pp. 1–200). IPCC, Geneva.
- Mehnaz, S. (2015). Azospirillum: A biofertilizer for every crop. In Plant Microbes Symbiosis: Applied Facets (pp. 297–314). Springer India. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2068-8\_15</u>

- Mehnaz, S., & Lazarovits, G. (2006). Inoculation effects of *Pseudomonas putida*, *Gluconacetobacter azotocaptans*, and *Azospirillum lipoferum* on corn plant growth under greenhouse conditions. *Microbial Ecology*, *51*(3), 326–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-006-9039-7</u>
- Mehnaz, S., Kowalik, T., Reynolds, B., & Lazarovits, G. (2010). Growth promoting effects of corn (*Zea mays*) bacterial isolates under greenhouse and field conditions. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 42(10), 1848–1856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.07.003
- Mehnaz, S., Weselowski, B., & Lazarovits, G. (2007). Azospirillum zeae sp. nov., a diazotrophic bacterium isolated from rhizosphere soil of Zea mays. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 57(12), 2805–2809. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.65128-0
- Mehta, P., Walia, A., Kulshrestha, S., Chauhan, A., & Shirkot, C. K. (2015). Efficiency of plant growth-promoting P-solubilizing *Bacillus circulans* CB7 for enhancement of tomato growth under net house conditions. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*, 55(1), 33–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201300562</u>
- Meier, U. (Ed.). (2001). Growth stages of mono-and dicotyledonous plants: BBCH monograph (2nd ed.). *Federal Biological Research Centre for Agriculture and Forestry*. <u>http://space4agri.irea.cnr.it/it/file/BBCH.pdf</u>
- Merzaeva, O. V., & Shirokikh, I. G. (2010). The production of auxins by the endophytic bacteria of winter rye. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 46(1), 44–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S0003683810010072</u>
- Mingmongkolchai, S., & Panbangred, W. (2019). Display of *Escherichia coli* phytase on the surface of *Bacillus subtilis* spore using CotG as an anchor protein. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, *187*(3), 838–855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-018-2855-7</u>
- Miransari, M. (2016). Soybeans, Stress, and Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria. In Environmental Stresses in Soybean Production: Soybean Production (Vol. 2, pp. 177– 203). Elsevier Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801535-3.00008-5</u>
- Miransari, M., & Smith, D. L. (2014). Plant hormones and seed germination. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *99*, 110-121.
- Misra, S., & Chauhan, P. S. (2020). ACC deaminase-producing rhizosphere competent *Bacillus* spp. mitigate salt stress and promote *Zea mays* growth by modulating ethylene metabolism. *3 Biotech*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-020-2104-y
- Mohamed, H. I., & Gomaa, E. Z. (2012). Effect of plant growth promoting *Bacillus subtilis* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* on growth and pigment composition of radish plants (*Raphanus sativus*) under NaCl stress. *Photosynthetica*, 50(2), 263–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-012-0032-8</u>

- Mohanty, P., Singh, P. K., Chakraborty, D., Mishra, S., & Pattnaik, R. (2021). Insight into the role of PGPR in sustainable agriculture and environment. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.667150</u>
- Moutia, J. F. Y., Saumtally, S., Spaepen, S., & Vanderleyden, J. (2010). Plant growth promotion by *Azospirillum* sp. in sugarcane is influenced by genotype and drought stress. *Plant and Soil*, 337(1), 233–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0519-7</u>
- Mu, X., & Chen, Y. (2021). The physiological response of photosynthesis to nitrogen deficiency. In *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 158*, 76–82. Elsevier Masson s.r.l. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2020.11.019
- Mumtaz, M. Z., Ahmad, M., Jamil, M., & Hussain, T. (2017). Zinc solubilizing *Bacillus* spp. potential candidates for biofortification in maize. *Microbiological Research*, 202, 51-60.
- Munns, R., James, R. A., Sirault, X. R. R., Furbank, R. T., & Jones, H. G. (2010). New phenotyping methods for screening wheat and barley for beneficial responses to water deficit. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 61(13), 3499-3507. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq199
- Muriel Rhodes, B. E. (1959). The characterization of *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Journal of General Microbiology, 21.
- Murphy, J., & Riley, J. P. (1962). A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 27, 31–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(00)88444-5</u>
- Nagpal, S., Sharma, P., & Kumawat, K. C. (2021). Microbial bioformulations: Revisiting role in sustainable agriculture. In *Biofertilizers: Volume 1: Advances in Bio-inoculants* (pp. 329– 346). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-821667-5.00016-6</u>
- Naiman, A. D., Latrónico, A., & García de Salamone, I. E. (2009). Inoculation of wheat with Azospirillum brasilense and Pseudomonas fluorescens: Impact on the production and culturable rhizosphere microflora. European Journal of Soil Biology, 45(1), 44–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2008.11.001</u>
- Nakkeeran, S., Fernando, W. G. D., & Siddiqui, Z. A. (2006). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria formulations and their scope in commercialization for the management of pests and diseases. In *PGPR: Biocontrol and Biofertilization* (pp. 257–296). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-4152-7\_10
- Narayan, O. P., Kumar, P., Yadav, B., Dua, M., & Johri, A. K. (2023). Sulfur nutrition and its role in plant growth and development. *Plant Signaling & Behavior*, 18(1). Taylor and Francis Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2022.2030082</u>
- Narula, N., Kumar, V., Behl, R. K., Deubel, A., Gransee, A., & Merbach, W. (2000). Effect of Psolubilizing *Azotobacter chroococcum* on N, P, K uptake in P-responsive wheat genotypes grown under greenhouse conditions. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*.

- Nautiyal, C. S. (1999). An efficient microbiological growth medium for screening phosphate solubilizing microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 170(1), 265–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1999.tb13383.x</u>
- Naveed, M., Moldrup, P., Vogel, H. J., Lamandé, M., Wildenschild, D., Tuller, M., & de Jonge, L. W. (2014). Impact of long-term fertilization practice on soil structure evolution. *Geoderma*, 217–218, 181–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.12.001</u>
- Neilands, J. B. (1987). Universal chemical assay for the detection and determination of siderophores. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *160*(1).
- Nelson, A. D., Barber, L. E., Tjepkema, J., Russell, S. A., Powelson, R., Evans, H. J., & Seidler, R. J. (19767). Nitrogen fixation associated with grasses in Oregon. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 22(4), 621–628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/m76-078</u>
- Neyra, C. A., & Döbereiner, J. (1977). Nitrogen fixation in grasses. *Advances in Agronomy*, 29, 1–38.
- Nguyen, Q. K., Tran, N. H., Le, V. T., Le, T. M. T., Do, T. X., Le, T. Q., Tran, C. N., Tran, H. N., Pham, D. T., Ly, N. T. X., & Kantachote, D. (2021). Two strains of *Luteovulum sphaeroides* (purple nonsulfur bacteria) promote rice cultivation in saline soils by increasing available phosphorus. *Rhizosphere*, 20, 100456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2021.100456
- Nikitha, T. S., Sadhana, B., U. B. R., E., & Vani, S. S. (2017). Phosphorous and phosphate solubilizing bacteria and their role in plant nutrition. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 6(4), 2133–2144. https://doi.org/10.20546/ijcmas.2017.604.251
- Niu, B., Paulson, J. N., Zheng, X., & Kolter, R. (2017). Simplified and representative bacterial community of maize roots. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(12), E2450–E2459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1616148114</u>
- Nobahar, A., Sarikhani, M. R., & Chalabianlou, N. (2017). Buffering capacity affects phosphorus solubilization assays in rhizobacteria. *Rhizosphere*, *4*, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2017.10.002
- Noguero, M., Atif, R. M., Ochatt, S., & Thompson, R. D. (2013). The role of the DNA-binding one zinc finger (DOF) transcription factor family in plants. *Plant Science*, 209, 32–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2013.03.016</u>
- Nuss, E. T., & Tanumihardjo, S. A. (2010). Maize: A paramount staple crop in the context of global nutrition. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 9(4), 417–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2010.00117.x</u>
- Okon, Y., & Labandera-Gonzalez, C. (1994). Agronomic applications of Azospirillum: An evaluation of 20 years worldwide field inoculation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 26(12), 1591–1601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(94)90211-8</u>

- Okon, Y., Heytler, P. G., & Hardy, R. W. F. (1983). N<sub>2</sub> fixation by *Azospirillum brasilense* and its incorporation into host *Setaria italica*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 46(3), 593–598.
- Oliveira, A. L. M., Canuto, E. L., Silva, E. E., Reis, V. M., & Baldani, J. I. (2004). Survival of endophytic diazotrophic bacteria in soil under different moisture levels. *Brazilian Journal* of Microbiology, 35(4), 295–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-83822004000300005</u>
- Oliveira, R. P., Ferreira Lima, S., De Cássia, R., Alvarez, F., Divan Baldani, V. L., Oliveira, M. P., & Brasil, S. (2018). Azospirillum brasilense inoculation and management of fertilizer nitrogen in maize. Brazilian Journal of Agriculture, 93.
- Oliveira-Paiva, C. A., Bini, D., de Sousa, S. M., Ribeiro, V. P., dos Santos, F. C., de Paula Lana, U. G., de Souza, F. F., Gomes, E. A., & Marriel, I. E. (2024). Inoculation with *Bacillus megaterium* CNPMS B119 and *Bacillus subtilis* CNPMS B2084 improve P-acquisition and maize yield in Brazil. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2024.1426166
- Omer, A. M., Zaghloul, R. A., Emara, H. M., Monem, M. O. A., & Dawwam, G. E. (2016). Potential of *Azotobacter salinestris* as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria under saline stress conditions.
- Ouhaddou, R., Meddich, A., Ikan, C., Lahlali, R., Ait Barka, E., Hajirezaei, M. R., Duponnois, R., & Baslam, M. (2023). Enhancing maize productivity and soil health under salt stress through physiological adaptation and metabolic regulation using indigenous biostimulants. *Plants, 12*(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12213703</u>
- Ozaktan, H., Malkoclu, M. C., Tüzel, Y., Oztekin, G. B., & Yolageldi, L. (2017). Effects of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on organic tomato seedling production. *Acta Horticulturae*, *1164*, 63–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2017.1164.8</u>
- Özen, A. I., & Ussery, D. W. (2012). Defining the *Pseudomonas* genus: Where do we draw the line with *Azotobacter? Microbial Ecology*, *63*(2), 239–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-011-9914-8</u>
- Panigrahi, S., Mohanty, S., & Rath, C. C. (2020). Characterization of endophytic bacteria Enterobacter cloacae MG00145 isolated from Ocimum sanctum with indole acetic acid (IAA) production and plant growth promoting capabilities against selected crops. South African Journal of Botany, 134, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2019.09.017
- Pardo-Díaz, S., Romero-Perdomo, F., Mendoza-Labrador, J., Delgadillo-Duran, D., Castro-Rincon, E., Silva, A. M. M., Rojas-Tapias, D. F., Cardoso, E. J. B. N., & Estrada-Bonilla, G. A. (2021). Endophytic PGPB improves plant growth and quality, and modulates the bacterial community of an intercropping system. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.715270</u>
- Pariona-Llanos, R., Ibañez de Santi Ferrara Felipe, F., Soto Gonzales, H. H., & Barbosa, H. R. (2010). Influence of organic fertilization on the number of culturable diazotrophic

endophytic bacteria isolated from sugarcane. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 46(6), 387–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2010.08.003</u>

- Patriquin, D. G., & Döbereiner, J. (1978). Light microscopy observations of tetrazolium-reducing bacteria in the endorhizosphere of maize and other grasses in Brazil. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 24(5), 527-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/m78-089</u>
- Patten, C. L., & Glick, B. R. (2002). Role of *Pseudomonas putida* indoleacetic acid in development of the host plant root system. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(8), 3795–3801. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.8.3795-3801.2002</u>
- Payá-Tormo, L., Coroian, D., Martín-Muñoz, S., Badalyan, A., Green, R. T., Veldhuizen, M., Jiang, X., López-Torrejón, G., Balk, J., Seefeldt, L. C., Burén, S., & Rubio, L. M. (2022). A colorimetric method to measure in vitro nitrogenase functionality for engineering nitrogen fixation. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14453-x</u>
- Pelapudi, P., Ch, S., & Ganti, S. (2021). Isolation, identification and characterization of native plant growth-promoting bacteria and their plant growth promotion in *Zea mays*. *Research Journal of Biotechnology*, 16(8), 75–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.25303/168rjbt7521</u>
- Pereg, L., de-Bashan, L. E., & Bashan, Y. (2016). Assessment of affinity and specificity of *Azospirillum* for plants. *Plant and Soil*, 399(1–2), 389–414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2778-9
- Pereira, N. C. M., Galindo, F. S., Gazola, R. P. D., Dupas, E., Rosa, P. A. L., Mortinho, E. S., & Filho, M. C. M. T. (2020). Corn yield and phosphorus use efficiency response to phosphorus rates associated with plant growth promoting bacteria. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.00040</u>
- Picazevicz, A. A. C., Kusdra, J. F., & Moreno, A. D. L. (2017). Maize growth in response to Azospirillum brasilense, Rhizobium tropici, molybdenum, and nitrogen. Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental, 21(9), 623–627. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-1929/agriambi.v21n9p623-627
- Pirson, A., Tichy, C., & Wilhelmi, G. (1952). Stoffwechsel und Mineralsalzernährung einzelliger Grünalgen. I. Mitteilung. Vergleichende Untersuchungen an Mangelkulturen von Ankistrodesmus. Planta, 40(1), 199–253.
- Pla, L. (2006). Biodiversidad: Inferencia basada en el índice de Shannon y la riqueza. *Interciencia*, 31(8), Caracas
- Poirier, Y., & Bucher, M. (2002). Phosphate transport and homeostasis in Arabidopsis. The Arabidopsis Book, 1, e0024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1199/tab.0024</u>
- Prajapati, K., Yami, K. D., & Singh, A. (1970). Plant growth promotional effect of Azotobacter chroococcum, Piriformospora indica, and vermicompost on rice plant. Nepal Journal of Science and Technology, 9, 85–90. https://doi.org/10.3126/njst.v9i0.3170

- Prasad, A. A., & Babu, S. (2017). Compatibility of *Azospirillum brasilense* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* in growth promotion of groundnut (*Arachis hypogea* L.). *Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, 89, 1027–1040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201720160617</u>
- Publication, J. (2001). Growth stages of mono-and dicotyledonous plants. *BBCH Monograph*, Federal Biological Research Centre for Agriculture and Forestry.
- Qaisrani, M. M., Zaheer, A., Mirza, M. S., Naqqash, T., Qaisrani, T. B., Hanif, M. K., Rasool, G., Malik, K. A., Ullah, S., Jamal, M. S., Mirza, Z., Karim, S., & Rasool, M. (2019). A comparative study of bacterial diversity based on culturable and culture-independent techniques in the rhizosphere of maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 26(7), 1344–1351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2019.03.010</u>
- Quadros, P. D. de. (2009). Noculação de Azospirillum spp. em sementes de genótipos de milho cultivados no Rio Grande do Sul [Master's thesis, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul]. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10183/17076</u>
- Rahman Farooqi, Z. U., Ashir Hameed, M., Mohy-Ud-din, W., Ali, M. H., Qadir, A., & Hussain, M. M. (2021). Global climate change and microbial ecology: Current scenario and management. In *Microbiological Activity for Soil and Plant Health Management* (pp. 285–313). Springer Nature. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2922-8\_12</u>
- Raj, S. N., Chaluvaraju, G., Amruthesh, K. N., Shetty, H. S., Reddy, M. S., & Kloepper, J. W. (2003). Induction of growth promotion and resistance against downy mildew on pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) by rhizobacteria. *Plant Disease*, 87(4).
- Rani, A., & Goel, R. (2013). Role of PGPR under different agroclimatic conditions. In *Bacteria in Agrobiology: Plant Probiotics* (pp. 169–183). Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-27515-9\_9
- Ranum, P., Peña-Rosas, J. P., & Garcia-Casal, M. N. (2014). Global maize production, utilization, and consumption. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1312(1), 105–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12396</u>
- Rao, A., & Kishore, G. K. (2006). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria.
- Rashad, Y. M., Hafez, M., & Rashad, M. (2023). Diazotrophic Azotobacter salinestris YRNF3: A probable calcite-solubilizing bio-agent for improving the calcareous soil properties. Scientific Reports, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-47924-w</u>
- Rashid, M. S. K., N. A., S. A., & F. L. (2004). Organic acids production and phosphate solubilization by phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms (PSM) under *in vitro* conditions. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 7(2), 187–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.2004.187.196</u>
- Ravet, K., & Pilon, M. (2013). Copper and iron homeostasis in plants: The challenges of oxidative stress. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 19*(9), 919–932. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.5084

- Rawat, P., Das, S., Shankhdhar, D., & Shankhdhar, S. C. (2021). Phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms: Mechanism and their role in phosphate solubilization and uptake. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 21(1), 49–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-020-00342-7</u>
- Razie, F., & Anas, I. (2008). Effect of *Azotobacter* and *Azospirillum* on growth and yield of rice grown on tidal swamp rice field in South Kalimantan. *Jurnal Tanah Dan Lingkungan*, 10(2), 41–45.
- Reinhold, B., Hurek, T., Fendrik, I., Pot, B., Gillis, M., Kersters, K., Thieleivians, S., & De, J. (1987). Azospirillum halopraeferens sp. nov., a nitrogen-fixing organism associated with roots of kallar grass (Leptochloa fusca (L.) Kunth). International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 37(1).
- Renoud, S., Abrouk, D., Prigent-Combaret, C., Wisniewski-Dyé, F., Legendre, L., Moënne-Loccoz, Y., & Muller, D. (2022a). Effect of inoculation level on the impact of the PGPR *Azospirillum lipoferum* CRT1 on selected microbial functional groups in the rhizosphere of field maize. *Microorganisms*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10020325
- Renoud, S., Vacheron, J., Abrouk, D., Prigent-Combaret, C., Legendre, L., Muller, D., & Moënne-Loccoz, Y. (2022b). Field site-specific effects of an *Azospirillum* seed inoculant on key microbial functional groups in the rhizosphere. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.760512</u>
- Reyes, I., Valery, A., & Valduz, Z. (2006). Phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms isolated from rhizospheric and bulk soils of colonizer plants at an abandoned rock phosphate mine. *Plant and Soil*, 287(1–2), 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-006-9061-z
- Rezakhani, L., Motesharezadeh, B., Tehrani, M. M., Etesami, H., & Mirseyed Hosseini, H. (2019). Phosphate-solubilizing bacteria and silicon synergistically augment phosphorus (P) uptake by wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) plant fertilized with soluble or insoluble P source. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 173, 504–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.060
- Ribeiro, V. P., Marriel, I. E., Sousa, S. M. de, Lana, U. G. de P., Mattos, B. B., Oliveira, C. A. de, & Gomes, E. A. (2018). Endophytic *Bacillus* strains enhance pearl millet growth and nutrient uptake under low-P. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 49, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm.2018.06.005
- Richardson, A. E. (2001). Prospects for using soil microorganisms to improve the acquisition of phosphorus by plants. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 28(9), 897–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/pp01093</u>
- Richardson, A. E., Barea, J. M., McNeill, A. M., & Prigent-Combaret, C. (2009). Acquisition of phosphorus and nitrogen in the rhizosphere and plant growth promotion by microorganisms. *Plant and Soil*, 321(1–2), 305–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-9895-2</u>

Robertson, G. P., & Groffman, P. M. (2015). Nitrogen transformations. In Soil Microbiology, Ecology, and Biochemistry (pp. 421–446). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-415955-6.00014-1</u>

Rodríguez, H., & Fraga, R. (1999). Phosphate solubilizing bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion. *Biotechnology Advances*, *17*, 319–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0734-9750(99)00014-6

- Rojas-Badía, M. M., Bello-González, M. A., Ríos-Rocafull, Y., Moya, D. L., & Sánchez, J. R. (2020). Plant growth promotion of commercial vegetable crops by *Bacillus* strains. *Acta Agronomica*, 69(1), 54–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.15446/acag.v69n1.79606</u>
- Rowlett, R. S. (2010). Structure and catalytic mechanism of the β-carbonic anhydrases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* - *Proteins and Proteomics*, *1804*(2), 362–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2009.08.002</u>
- Rozier, C., Hamzaoui, J., Lemoine, D., Czarnes, S., & Legendre, L. (2017). Field-based assessment of the mechanism of maize yield enhancement by *Azospirillum lipoferum* CRT1. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07929-8</u>
- Rural, C., & Maria, S. (2000). Avaliação do inoculante "Graminante" na cultura de milho. 4, 713–715.
- Ryan, M. H., Small, D. R., & Ash, J. E. (2000). Phosphorus controls the level of colonisation by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in conventional and biodynamic irrigated dairy pastures. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 40(5), 663–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/EA99005</u>
- Saber, W. I. A., Ghanem, K. M., & El-Hersh, M. S. (2009). Rock phosphate solubilization by two isolates of *Aspergillus niger* and *Penicillium* sp, and their promotion to mung bean plants. *Research Journal of Microbiology*, 4(7), 235–250. https://doi.org/10.3923/jm.2009.235.250
- Saeid, A., Prochownik, E., & Dobrowolska-Iwanek, J. (2018). Phosphorus solubilization by Bacillus species. Molecules, 23(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23112897</u>
- Sah, S., Krishnani, S., & Singh, R. (2021). Pseudomonas mediated nutritional and growth promotional activities for sustainable food security. Current Research in Microbial Sciences, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100084</u>
- Sahin, U., Ekinci, M., Kiziloglu, F. M., Yildirim, E., Turan, M., Kotan, R., & Ors, S. (2015). Ameliorative effects of plant growth promoting bacteria on water-yield relationships, growth, and nutrient uptake of lettuce plants under different irrigation levels. *HortScience*, 50(9).
- Salamone, I. E. G., Di Salvo, L. P., Ortega, J. S. E., Sorte, P. M. F. B., Urquiaga, S., & Teixeira, K. R. S. (2010). Field response of rice paddy crop to *Azospirillum* inoculation: Physiology of rhizosphere bacterial communities and the genetic diversity of endophytic bacteria in different parts of the plants. *Plant and Soil*, 336(1), 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0487-y

- Sandini, I. E., Pacentchuk, F., Hungria, M., Nogueira, M. A., da Cruz, S. P., Nakatani, A. S., & Araújo, R. S. (2019). Seed inoculation with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* promotes growth, yield, and reduces nitrogen application in maize. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 22(6), 1369–1375. <u>https://doi.org/10.17957/IJAB/15.1210</u>
- Santoro, M. V., Bogino, P. C., Nocelli, N., Del Rosario Cappellari, L., Giordano, W. F., & Banchio, E. (2016). Analysis of plant growth-promoting effects of fluorescent *Pseudomonas* strains isolated from *Mentha piperita* rhizosphere and effects of their volatile organic compounds on essential oil composition. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(JUL). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01085</u>
- Santos, A. R. S., Etto, R. M., Furmam, R. W., Freitas, D. L. de, Santos, K. F. d. E. N., Souza, E. M. de, Pedrosa, F. de O., Ayub, R. A., Steffens, M. B. R., & Galvão, C. W. (2017a). Labeled *Azospirillum brasilense* wild type and excretion-ammonium strains in association with barley roots. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, *118*, 422–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.07.003
- Santos, K. F. D. N., Moure, V. R., Hauer, V., Santos, A. R. S., Donatti, L., Galvão, C. W., Pedrosa, F. O., Souza, E. M., Wassem, R., & Steffens, M. B. R. (2017b). Wheat colonization by an *Azospirillum brasilense* ammonium-excreting strain reveals upregulation of nitrogenase and superior plant growth promotion. *Plant and Soil*, 415(1– 2), 245–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-3140-6</u>
- Saranya, K., Santhana, P., Kumutha, K., & French, J. (2011). Potential for biochar as an alternate carrier to lignite for the preparation of biofertilizers in India. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, *4*, 167–172.
- Scherer, H. W., Mengel, K., Gutser, R., Niedermaier, T., PrünPr, H., Ullrich, K.-H., Werner, W., Kuhlmann, F., Steinhauser, H., BrändleinBr, W., & Kummer, K.-F. (2009). Fertilizers 1 Fertilizers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14356007.a10</u>
- Schisler, D. A., Slininger, P. J., Behle, R. W., & Jackson, M. A. (2004). The nature and application of biocontrol microbes: *Bacillus* spp. *Symposium*, 94(11).
- Schmidt, M. P., & Martínez, C. E. (2019). The influence of tillage on dissolved organic matter dynamics in a Mid-Atlantic agroecosystem. *Geoderma*, 344, 63–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2019.03.001</u>
- Schneiter, A. A., & Miller, J. F. (1981). Description of sunflower growth stages. Crop Science, 21(6), 901–903. <u>https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1981.0011183X002100060024x</u>
- Schwarz, G., & Mendel, R. R. (2006). Molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis and molybdenum enzymes. *Annual Review of Plant Biology,* 57, 623–647. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105437
- Seshachala, U., & Tallapragada, P. (2012). Phosphate solubilizers from the rhizosphere of *Piper nigrum* L. in Karnataka, India. *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research*, 72(3).
- Sethia, B., Mustafa, M., Manohar, S., Patil, S. V., Subramanian Jayamohan, N., & Satyan Kumudini, B. (2015). Indole acetic acid production by fluorescent *Pseudomonas* spp.

from the rhizosphere of *Plectranthus amboinicus* (Lour.) Spreng. and their variation in extragenic repetitive DNA sequences. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, 53.

- Shahid, M., Singh, U. B., Khan, M. S., Singh, P., Kumar, R., Singh, R. N., Kumar, A., & Singh, H. V. (2023). Bacterial ACC deaminase: Insights into enzymology, biochemistry, genetics, and potential role in amelioration of environmental stress in crop plants. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1132770</u>
- Shahid, M., Zaidi, A., Ehtram, A., & Khan, M. S. (2019). In vitro investigation to explore the toxicity of different groups of pesticides for an agronomically important rhizosphere isolate *Azotobacter vinelandii*. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 157, 33–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2019.03.006</u>
- Shailendra Singh, G. G. (2015). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): Current and future prospects for development of sustainable agriculture. *Journal of Microbial & Biochemical Technology*, 7(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/1948-5948.1000188</u>
- Sharifsadat, S. Z., Aghdasi, M., Ghanati, F., & Arzanesh, M. H. (2023). Harmonized biochemical modification of cell walls to get permission for entrance of *Azospirillum* sp. to rice roots. *Plant Science*, 335, 111823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2023.111823</u>
- Sharma, A. (2017). A review on the effect of organic and chemical fertilizers on plants. International Journal for Research in Applied Science and Engineering Technology, V(II), 677–680. <u>https://doi.org/10.22214/ijraset.2017.2103</u>
- Sharpley, A. N. (1995). Soil phosphorus dynamics: Agronomic and environmental impacts. *Ecological Engineering*, 5(2–3), 261–279.
- Shehzad, K., Ayub, B., Research, A., Pakistan, I., Khalid, A., & Hussain, S. (2014). Improving growth and yield of maize through bioinoculants carrying auxin production and phosphate solubilizing activity. *SSS Pakistan*. <u>http://www.sss-pakistan.org</u>
- Shelud'ko, A. V., Shirokov, A. A., Sokolova, M. K., Sokolov, O. I., Petrova, L. P., Matora, L. Y., & Katsy, E. I. (2010). Wheat root colonization by *Azospirillum brasilense* strains with different motility. *Microbiology*, 79(5), 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0026261710050140
- Shepherd, M. A., Harrison, R., & Webb, J. (2002). Managing soil organic matter Implications for soil structure on organic farms. *Soil Use and Management*, 18(3), 284–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/sum2002134</u>
- Silva Romeiro, R. da (2001). Métodos em bacteriología de plantas. Editora UFV, Viçosa.
- Sims, G. K., Ellsworth, T. R., & Mulvaney, R. L. (1995). Microscale determination of inorganic nitrogen in water and soil extracts. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 26(1–2), 303–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00103629509369298</u>
- Singh, D., Ghosh, P., Kumar, J., & Kumar, A. (2019). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs): Functions and benefits. In *Microbial Interventions in Agriculture and*

*Environment: Volume 2: Rhizosphere, Microbiome and Agro-ecology* (pp. 205–227). Springer Singapore. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8383-0\_7</u>

- Singh, S. K., Wu, X., Shao, C., & Zhang, H. (2022). Microbial enhancement of plant nutrient acquisition. In *Stress Biology* (Vol. 2, Issue 1). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s44154-021-00027-w</u>
- Singh, S., Jagota, N., Kaur, H., Kaur, R., Kaur, G., Sandhu, S., & Sharma, A. (2023). Deciphering behavioral changes in maize plants in a quest to identify species specific plant growth promoting rhizobacteria. *Total Environment Research Themes*, 6, 100043.
- Singh, V., Kumar, B. (2024). A revew of agricultural microbial inoculants and their carriers in bioformulation. *Rizosphere, 29* (100843)
- Sinha, D., & Tandon, P. K. (2020). An overview of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium: Key players of the nutrition process in plants. In Sustainable Solutions for Elemental Deficiency and Excess in Crop Plants (pp. 85–117). Springer Singapore. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-8636-1</u> 5
- Sivasakthi, S., Usharani, G., and Saranraj, P. (2014). Biocontrol potentiality of plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPR)-*Pseudomonas fluorescens* and *Bacillus subtilis*: A review. *African Journal Agriculture Research* 9 (1265-1277).
- Skonieski, F. R., Viégas, J., Martin, T. N., Nörnberg, J. L., Meinerz, G. R., Tonin, T. J., Bernhard, P., & Frata, M. T. (2017b). Effect of seed inoculation with *Azospirillum* brasilense and nitrogen fertilization rates on maize plant yield and silage quality. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 46(9), 722–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-92902017000900003</u>
- Slovenski standard kSIST-TS committee. (2021). Draft FprCEN/TS 17700-2: Plant biostimulants-Claims. Published by the Slovenski standard kSIST-TS committee.
- Smercina, D. N., Evans, S. E., Friesen, M. L., & Tiemann, L. K. (2019). Optimization of the 15N2 incorporation and acetylene reduction methods for free-living nitrogen fixation. *Plant and Soil*, 445(1–2), 595–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-019-04307-3</u>
- Smil, V. (2001). Enriching the Earth: Fritz Haber, Carl Bosch, and the Transformation of World Food Production. MIT Press.
- Socolow, R. H. (1999). Colloquium Paper: Plants and Population: Is There Time? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 96.* Retrieved from <u>www.pnas.org</u>
- Soltani, A.-A., Khavazi, K., Asadi-Rahmani, H., Alikhani, H.-A., Omidvari, M., & Dahaji, P. A. (2011). Evaluation of biological control traits in some isolates of fluorescent *Pseudomonads* and *Flavobacterium. Journal of Agricultural Science*, 4(1), 164–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jas.v4n1p164</u>
- Someya N., Tsuchia K., Sugisawa S., Tsujimoto M., & Yoshida T. (2008). Growth promotion of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) by a Rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas florescens* strin LRB3W1 under Iron-Limiting Condition. *Environmental Control Biology*, 46 (2), 139-14

- Souza, M. C., Chagas, L. F. B., Martins, A. L. L., Lima, C. A., Moura, D. M. O., Lopes, M. B., Ferreira, A. L. L., Sousa, K. Â. O., & Chagas Junior, A. F. (2022). Biopolymers in the preservation of rhizobacteria cells and efficiency in soybean inoculation. *Research, Society* and Development, 11(7), e21911729688. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v11i7.29688
- Spaepen, S., Vanderleyden, J., & Remans, R. (2007). Indole-3-acetic acid in microbial and microorganism-plant signaling. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 31(4), 425–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2007.00072.x</u>
- Sparks, D. L., Page, A. L., Helmke, P. A., Loeppert, R. H., Soltanpour, P. N., Tabatabai, M. A., Johnston, C. T., & Sumner, M. E. (Eds.). (1996). *Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 3, Chemical Methods* (J. M. Bartels, Managing Editor; J. M. Bigham, Editor-in-Chief). Soil Science Society of America Book Series, No. 5. Soil Science Society of America, Inc. & American Society of Agronomy, Inc. Madison, Wisconsin, USA.
- Steenhoudt, O., & Vanderleyden, J. (2000). Azospirillum, a free-living nitrogen-fixing bacterium closely associated with grasses: Genetic, biochemical, and ecological aspects. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 24(4), 487–506.
- Stets, M. I., Campbell Alqueres, S. M., Souza, E. M., Pedrosa, F. de O., Schmid, M., Hartmann, A., & Cruz, L. M. (2015). Quantification of *Azospirillum brasilense* FP2 bacteria in wheat roots by strain-specific quantitative PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 81(19), 6700–6709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01351-15</u>
- Stewart, W. M., & Roberts, T. L. (2012). Food security and the role of fertilizer in supporting it. *Procedia Engineering*, 46, 76–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2012.09.448</u>
- Strous, M., Pelletier, E., Mangenot, S., Rattei, T., Lehner, A., Taylor, M. W., Horn, M., Daims, H., Bartol-Mavel, D., Wincker, P., Barbe, V., Fonknechten, N., Vallenet, D., Segurens, B., Schenowitz-Truong, C., Médigue, C., Collingro, A., Snel, B., & Dutilh, B. E. (2006). Deciphering the evolution and metabolism of an anammox bacterium from a community genome. *Nature*, 440(7085), 790–794.
- Stutter, M. I., Shand, C. A., George, T. S., Blackwell, M. S. A., Bol, R., MacKay, R. L., Richardson, A. E., Condron, L. M., Turner, B. L., & Haygarth, P. M. (2012). Recovering phosphorus from soil: A root solution? *Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(4), 1977–1978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es2044745</u>
- Suansia, A., & Senapati, A. K. (2023). Plant growth-promoting activity of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa OD13 in tomato plant. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, 13(1), 214–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.9734/ijecc/2023/v13i11866</u>
- Sumbul, A., Ansari, R. A., Rizvi, R., & Mahmood, I. (2020). Azotobacter: A potential biofertilizer for soil and plant health management. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 27(12), 3634–3640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.08.004</u>
- Sundara, B., Natarajan, V., & Hari, K. (2002). Influence of phosphorus solubilizing bacteria on the changes in soil available phosphorus and sugarcane and sugar yields. *Field Crops Research*, *77*(1), 43-49.

- Torsvik, V., & Øvreås, L. (2002). Microbial diversity and function in soil: from genes to ecosystems. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 5(3), 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(02)00324-5
- Tran, H. T., Hurley, B. A., & Plaxton, W. C. (2010). Feeding hungry plants: The role of purple acid phosphatases in phosphate nutrition. *Plant Science*, 179(1–2), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2010.04.005
- Trapet, P., Avoscan, L., Klinguer, A., Pateyron, S., Citerne, S., Chervin, C., Mazurier, S., Lemanceau, P., Wendehenne, D., & Besson-Bard, A. (2016). The *Pseudomonas fluorescens* siderophore pyoverdine weakens *Arabidopsis thaliana* defense in favor of growth in iron-deficient conditions. *Plant Physiology*, 171(1), 675–693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.01537</u>
- Trivedi, P., Pandey, A., & Palni, L. M. S. (2005). Carrier-based preparations of plant growthpromoting bacterial inoculants suitable for use in cooler regions. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 21(6–7), 941–945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-004-6820-y</u>
- Tsavkelova, E. A., Klimova, S. Y., Cherdyntseva, T. A., & Netrusov, A. I. (2006). Microbial producers of plant growth stimulators and their practical use: A review. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 42(2), 117–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S0003683806020013</u>
- Turner, B. L. (2008). Soil organic phosphorus in tropical forests: An assessment of the NaOH-EDTA extraction procedure for quantitative analysis by solution 31P NMR spectroscopy. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 59(3), 453–466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2007.00994.x</u>
- Turner, B. L., & Blackwell, M. S. A. (2013). Isolating the influence of pH on the amounts and forms of soil organic phosphorus. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 64(2), 249–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12026</u>
- United Nations. (2015). *Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. Retrieved from <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals</u>
- Urrea-Valencia, S., Etto, R. M., Takahashi, W. Y., Caires, E. F., Bini, A. R., Ayub, R. A., Stets, M. I., Cruz, L. M., & Galvão, C. W. (2021). Detection of *Azospirillum brasilense* by qPCR throughout a maize field trial. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2020.103849</u>
- Van Bastelaere, E., Lambrecht, M., Vermeiren, H., Van Dommelen, A., Keijers, V., Proost, P., & Vanderleyden, J. (1999). Characterization of a sugar-binding protein from *Azospirillum brasilense* mediating chemotaxis to and uptake of sugars. *Molecular Microbiology*, 32(4), 703–714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01384.x</u>
- Van Dommelen, A., Keijers, V., Vanderleyden, J., & De Zamaroczy, M. (1998). (Methyl) ammonium transport in the nitrogen-fixing bacterium *Azospirillum brasilense*. Journal of Bacteriology, 180(10).

- Vejan, P., Abdullah, R., Khadiran, T., Ismail, S., & Nasrulhaq Boyce, A. (2016). Role of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in agricultural sustainability—A review. *Molecules*, 21(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21050573</u>
- Vendruscolo, E. P., & de Lima, S. F. (2021). The Azospirillum genus and the cultivation of vegetables: A review. Biotechnology, Agronomy and Society and Environment, 25(4), 236–246. <u>https://doi.org/10.25518/1780-4507.19175</u>
- Vessey, J. K. (2003). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. Plant and Soil, 255.
- Vessey, J. K., Pawlowski, K., & Bergman, B. (2004). Root-based N2-fixing symbioses: Legumes, actinorhizal plants, *Parasponia* sp. and cycads. *Plant and Soil*, 266, 5–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-005-0180-1
- Vicente, E. J., & Dean, D. R. (2017). Keeping the nitrogen-fixation dream alive. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 114(12), 3009–3011. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1701560114
- Vitousek, P. M., Porder, S., Houlton, B. Z., & Chadwick, O. A. (2010). Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: Mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen-phosphorus interactions. *Ecological Applications*, 20(1).
- Wagi, S., & Ahmed, A. (2019). Bacillus spp.: Potent microfactories of bacterial IAA. PeerJ, 2019(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7258</u>
- Wakelin, S. A., Anstis, S. T., Warren, R. A., & Ryder, M. H. (2006). The role of pathogen suppression on the growth promotion of wheat by *Penicillium radicum*. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 35(2), 253–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/AP06008</u>
- Wang, D., Xu, A., Elmerich, C., & Ma, L. Z. (2017). Biofilm formation enables free-living nitrogen-fixing rhizobacteria to fix nitrogen under aerobic conditions. *ISME Journal*, 11(7), 1602–1613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.30</u>
- Wang, J., Li, R., Zhang, H., Wei, G., & Li, Z. (2020). Beneficial bacteria activate nutrients and promote wheat growth under conditions of reduced fertilizer application. *BMC Microbiology*, 20(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-020-1708-z</u>
- Wang, R., Lu, J., Jiang, Y., & Dijkstra, F. A. (2022). Carbon efficiency for nutrient acquisition (CENA) by plants: role of nutrient availability and microbial symbionts. *Plant and Soil*, 476(1–2), 289–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-022-05347-y</u>
- Wang, Y., & Li, J. (2005). The plant architecture of rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Plant Molecular Biology*, 59(1), 75–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-004-4038-x</u>
- Wang, Z., & Song, Y. (2022). Toward understanding the genetic bases underlying plant-mediated "cry for help" to the microbiota. *iMeta*, *I*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/imt2.8</u>

- Wani, S. A., Qayoom, S., Bhat, M. A., Sheikh, A. A., Bhat, T. A., & Hussain, S. (2017). Effect of varying sowing dates and nitrogen levels on growth and physiology of scented rice. *Oryza*, 54(1), 97–106.
- Watson, S. A., & McStay, G. P. (2020). Functions of cytochrome c oxidase assembly factors. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(19), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21197254</u>
- Weil, R. R., & Brady, N. C. (2017). The nature and properties of soils (15th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Whitelaw, M. A., Harden, T. J., & Helyar, K. R. (1999). Phosphate solubilisation in solution culture by the soil fungus *Penicillium radicum*. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 31(5), 655–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(98)00278-4</u>
- Withers, P. J. A., Sylvester-Bradley, R., Jones, D. L., Healey, J. R., & Talboys, P. J. (2014). Feed the crop not the soil: Rethinking phosphorus management in the food chain. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(12), 6523–6530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es501670j</u>
- Woo, E.-J., Dunwell, J. M., Goodenough, P. W., Marvier, A. C., & Pickersgill, R. W. (2000). Germin is a manganese-containing homohexamer with oxalate oxidase and superoxide dismutase activities. *Nature Structural Biology*, 7(11), 1036–1040.
- Wright, S. F., & Weaver, R. W. (1981). Enumeration and identification of nitrogen-fixing bacteria from forage grass roots. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.43.6.1373-1379.1982
- Wu, G., Ling, J., Liu, Z.-X., Xu, Y.-P., Chen, X.-M., Wen, Y., & Zhou, S.-L. (2022). Soil warming and straw return impacts on winter wheat phenology, photosynthesis, root growth, and grain yield in the North China Plain. *Field Crops Research*, 283, 108545.
- Xie, C. H., & Yokota, A. (2005). Azospirillum oryzae sp. nov., a nitrogen-fixing bacterium isolated from the roots of the rice plant Oryza sativa. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 55(4), 1435–1438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63503-0</u>
- Xu, C. H., Chen, G., Liu, Y., Xiao, W., Cui, X. L., Ding, Z. G., Liu, W. H., & Wang, Y. X. (2023). Azospirillum aestuarii sp. nov., a novel nitrogen-fixing and aerobic denitrifying bacterium isolated from an estuary of a freshwater river. Current Microbiology, 80(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-023-03213-3
- Xu, W., Yang, Q., Yang, F., Xie, X., Goodwin, P. H., Deng, X., Tian, B., & Yang, L. (2022).
  Evaluation and Genome Analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* YB-04 as a Potential Biocontrol
  Agent Against Fusarium Wilt and Growth Promotion Agent of Cucumber. Frontiers in
  Microbiology, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.885430
- Yaghoubi Khanghahi, M., Strafella, S., Allegretta, I., & Crecchio, C. (2021). Isolation of bacteria with potential plant-promoting traits and optimization of their growth conditions. *Current Microbiology*, 78(2), 464–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-020-02303-w</u>

- Yahaya, S. M., Mahmud, A. A., Abdullahi, M., & Haruna, A. (2023). Recent advances in the chemistry of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium as fertilizers in soil: A review. *Pedosphere*, 33(3), 385–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedsph.2022.07.012</u>
- Yakhin, O. I., Lubyanov, A. A., Yakhin, I. A., & Brown, P. H. (2017). Biostimulants in plant science: A global perspective. In Frontiers in Plant Science (Vol. 7). Frontiers Media S.A. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.02049</u>
- Yang, Y., Zhang, R., Feng, J., Wang, C., & Chen, J. (2019). Azospirillum griseum sp. nov., isolated from lakewater. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 69(12), 3676–3681. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijsem.0.003460
- Yi, Y., Huang, W., & Ge, Y. (2008). Exopolysaccharide: A novel important factor in the microbial dissolution of tricalcium phosphate. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 24(7), 1059–1065. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-007-9575-4</u>
- Yin, L. S., Nee, Y. S., How, K. S., & Chieng, S. (2022). Comparison of siderophore production by *Bacillus aryabhattai*, *Bacillus megaterium*, and *Bacillus cereus*. Sains Malaysiana, 51(9), 3069–3079. <u>https://doi.org/10.17576/jsm-2022-5109-26</u>
- Young, C. C., Hupfer, H., Siering, C., Ho, M. J., Arun, A. B., Lai, W. A., Rekha, P. D., Shen, F. T., Hung, M. H., Chen, W. M., & Yassin, A. F. (2008). *Azospirillum rugosum* sp. nov., isolated from oil-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 58(4), 959–963. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.65065-0
- Yu, X., Keitel, C., & Dijkstra, F. A. (2021). Global analysis of phosphorus fertilizer use efficiency in cereal crops. *Global Food Security*, 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2021.100545</u>
- Zahid, M., Kaleem Abbasi, M., Hameed, S., & Rahim, N. (2015). Isolation and identification of indigenous plant growth promoting rhizobacteria from the Himalayan region of Kashmir and their effect on improving growth and nutrient contents of maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(207). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00207</u>
- Zeffa, D. M., Perini, L., Silva, M. B., de Sousa, N. V., Scapim, C. A., De Oliveira, A. L. M., Do Amaral, A. T., & Gonçalves, L. S. A. (2019). *Azospirillum brasilense* promotes increases in growth and nitrogen use efficiency of maize genotypes. *PLoS ONE*, 14(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215332</u>
- Zewide, I., & W, M. (2021). Review on macronutrients in agronomy crops. *Nutrition and Food Processing*, 4(6), 01–07. <u>https://doi.org/10.31579/2637-8914/062</u>
- Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Wang, S., Umbreen, S., & Zhou, C. (2021). Soil phosphorus fractionation and its association with soil phosphate-solubilizing bacteria in a chronosequence of vegetation restoration. *Ecological Engineering*, 164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2021.106208</u>
- Zhao, D., Reddy, K. R., Kakani, V. G., & Reddy, V. R. (2005). Nitrogen deficiency effects on plant growth, leaf photosynthesis, and hyperspectral reflectance properties of sorghum. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 22(4), 391–403.
- Zhou, W., Ling, J., Shen, X., Xu, Z., Yang, Q., Yue, W., Liu, H., Suo, A., & Dong, J. (2024). Inoculation with plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria improves seagrass *Thalassia*

*hemprichii* photosynthesis performance and shifts rhizosphere microbiome. *Marine Environmental Research*, 193, 106260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2023.106260</u>